
 

 

Am unrhyw ymholiad yn ymwneud â'r agenda hwn cysylltwch â  Emma Sullivan 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864420   Ebost: sullie@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 28 Chwefror 2018 

 

 
Bydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei ffilmio a'i wneud ar gael i weld yn fyw ac ar ffurf archif drwy wefan y 

Cyngor. Caiff y cyfarfod cyfan ei ffilmio, ac eithrio ar gyfer trafodaethau sy'n cynnwys eitemau cyfrinachol 
neu sydd wedi'u heithrio.  Bydd y gweddarllediad ar gael am 18 mis o ddyddiad y cyfarfod ar 

www.caerffili.gov.uk 

 
Mae'n bosib y gall mannau eistedd cyhoeddus gael eu ffilmio a thrwy fynd i mewn i'r Siambr rydych yn 

rhoi'ch caniatâd i gael eich ffilmio ac ar gyfer y defnydd posibl o'r delweddau a recordiadau sain hynny at 
ddibenion gweddarlledu.  

 
Mae croeso i chi ddefnyddio’r iaith Gymraeg yn y cyfarfod, a dylid rhoi cyfnod rhybudd o 3 diwrnod gwaith 

os ydych yn dymuno gwneud hynny.   
Bydd cyfieithu ar y pryd yn cael ei ddarparu ar gais. 

 
 

Os oes gennych unrhyw ymholiadau, cysylltwch â'r Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol / Swyddog Monitro 
Dros Droe bost at willigel@caerffili.gov.uk neu dros y ffôn ar rif 01443 863393 

 

 
Annwyl Syr/Fadam, 
 
Bydd cyfarfod y Cyngor yn cael ei gynnal yn Siambr y Cyngor, Tŷ Penallta, Tredomen, Ystrad 
Mynach ar Dydd Mawrth, 6ed Mawrth, 2018 am 5.00 pm i ystyried materion a gynhwysir yn yr agenda 
canlynol. 
 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

PRIF WEITHREDWR DROS DRO  
 
 

A G E N D A 
Tudalennau 

 

Pecyn Dogfennau Cyhoeddus

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


 

 

  

1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb. 
  

 
2  Cyhoeddiadau’r Maer. 

  
 

3  Cyflwyno Gwobrau. 
  

 
4  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb. 

 
Atgoffi’r Cynghorwyr a Swyddogion o'u cyfrifoldeb personol i ddatgan unrhyw fuddiannau 
personol a/neu niweidiol mewn perthynas ag unrhyw eitem o fusnes ar yr agenda hwn yn unol â 
Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 2000, Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor a'r Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer Cynghorwyr 
a Swyddogion. 

 
I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:- 
 
5  Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 23ain Ionawr 2018. 

1 - 8  
 

I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiadau canlynol o gyfarfod Cabinet. 
 
6  Diwygiadau i Awdurdodi swyddogion o fewn Is-adran Diogelu’r Cyhoedd - Cabinet 31ain Ionawr 

2018. 
9 - 14  

 
I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiad(au) canlynol:- 
 
7  Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Caerffili - Cynllun Lles 2018-2023. 

15 - 182  
 

8  Cynllun Ardal Ranbarthol Drafft. 
183 - 246  

 
9  Cyhoeddi Datganiad Polisi Talu - Deddf Lleoliaeth 2011. 

247 - 266  
 

10  I dderbyn ac i ateb cwestiynau a dderbyniwyd o dan Reol Gweithdrefn 10 (2). 
267 - 268  

 
 
Cylchrediad: 
Pob Aelod a Swyddog Priodol 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CYNGOR 
 

COFNODION O'R CYFARFOD A GYNHALIWYD YN NHŶ PENALLTA, YSTRAD MYNACH 
AR DDYDD MAWRTH, 23AIN IONAWR 2018 AM 5.00 PM  

 

 
YN BRESENNOL:  

 
Y Cynghorydd J.Bevan - Maer 

Y Cynghorydd M.Adams - Dirprwy Faer 
 

Cynghorwyr: 
 

Mrs E. Aldworth, C. Andrews, A. Angel, P.J. Bevan, C. Bezzina, L. Binding, S. Cook, D. 
Cushing, C. Cuss, W. David, D.T. Davies, M. Davies, K. Dawson, N. Dix, C. Elsbury, K. 
Etheridge, M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, Mrs C. Forehead, J.E. Fussell, A. Gair, Ms J. Gale, N. 
George, C. Gordon, R.W. Gough, D.T. Hardacre, L. Harding, D. Harse, M. James, V. James, L. 
Jeremiah, Mrs B. Jones, S. Kent, G. Kirby, Ms P. Leonard, C.P. Mann, Mrs P. Marsden, B. 
Miles, S. Morgan, Mrs G. Oliver, B. Owen, T. Parry, Mrs L. Phipps, D.V. Poole, D.W.R. Preece, 
Mrs D. Price, J. Pritchard, J.E. Roberts, R. Saralis, Mrs M.E. Sargent, J. Scriven, G. Simmonds, 
S. Skivens, Mrs E. Stenner, C. Thomas, A. Whitcombe, R. Whitin 
 

Ar y cyd gyda: 
 

C. Harrhy (Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro), M.S. Williams (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Cymunedau 
Dros Dro), D. Street (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol), R.M. Harris 
(Rheolwr Archwilio Mewnol a Dirprwy Swyddog Monitro Dros Dro), S. Harris (Pennaeth Cyllid 
Corfforaethol Dros Dro), D. Marr (Dirprwy Swyddog Monitro, Cyngor Caerdydd), T. Stephens 
(Rheolwr Rheoli Datblygu), C. Forbes-Thompson (Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
Dros Dro), E. Sullivan (Uwch Swyddog Gwasanaethau Pwyllgor) a R. Barrett (Swyddog 
Gwasanaethau Pwyllgor) 

 
 
1.  TREFNIADAU FFILMIO GWE-GAMERA A PHLEIDLEISIO 
 

Atgoffodd y Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro y rheini a oedd yn bresennol fod y cyfarfod yn cael ei 
ffilmio a byddai'n cael ei ddarparu ar gyfer y cyhoedd yn fyw a'i archifo drwy wefan y Cyngor.  
Dywedodd y byddai penderfyniadau yn cael eu gwneud drwy godi dwylo. 

 
  
2. YMDDIHEURIADAU DROS ABSENOLDEB 
 

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb oddi wrth y Cynghorwyr A. Collis, Ms E. Forehead, 
D. Havard, A. Higgs, A. Hussey, G. Johnston, Mrs A. Leonard, J. Ridgewell, J. Simmonds a J. 
Taylor. 

 
 

 

Page 1

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 5



 

 

3. CYFLWYNIAD GAN Y PRIF WEITHREDWR DROS DRO  
 

Croesawodd y Maer Mrs Christina Harrhy i’w chyfarfod Cyngor cyntaf yn ei swydd fel Prif 
Weithredwr Dros Dro newydd Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili. Fe wnaeth Mrs Harrhy ddiolch 
i’r Cyngor a thalu teyrnged am waith ei rhagflaenydd, Mr Chris Burns.  Wrth gyfeirio at yr heriau 
diweddar a wynebwyd gan y Cyngor, canmolodd ymrwymiad staff yn ystod yr amser anodd hwn 
a siaradodd am ei bwriad i fwrw ymlaen â'r uchelgais a'r blaenoriaethau a osodwyd gan yr 
Arweinydd er mwyn sefydlu sylfeini cadarn ar gyfer symud y sefydliad ymlaen i gyflawni 
rhagoriaeth. 

 
Eglurodd y Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro mai ei blaenoriaeth gyntaf fyddai sefydlu uwch strwythur 
rheoli diwygiedig i gyflwyno'r agenda newydd, a rhoddir diweddariad i'r Aelodau yn fuan, a bod 
y gwaith hwn eisoes wedi dechrau gyda phenodiad diweddar Mr Mark S. Williams fel 
Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Cymunedau Dros Dro. Amlinellodd Mrs Harrhy ei blaenoriaethau 
hefyd ar gyfer y misoedd i ddod, gan gynnwys gweithio i rannu amcanion i sefydlu cyfeiriad 
teithio cyffredinol, dilyniant y Cynllun Ariannol Tymor Canolig, gan ganolbwyntio ar ganlyniadau 
penodol mewn perthynas â chyrhaeddiad addysgol a'r rhaglen Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif, gan 
fodloni Safon Tai Ansawdd Cymru erbyn 2020 a rheoli’r galw cynyddol ar draws Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol.   
 
Wrth gloi, soniodd y Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro am ei hymrwymiad i'r rôl a chroesawodd y cyfle i 
weithio gydag Aelodau etholedig wrth symud ymlaen.  Fe wnaeth y Cyngor longyfarch Mrs 
Harrhy a Mr Williams am eu penodiadau diweddar. 

 
 
4. CYHOEDDIADAU'R MAER 
 

Cyfeiriodd y Maer at y nifer o ddigwyddiadau a gynhaliwyd ar draws y fwrdeistref sirol ers y 
cyfarfod diwethaf a diolchodd i'r Dirprwy Faer, y Cynghorydd M. Adams, am fynychu'r rhan 
fwyaf o'r digwyddiadau hyn ar ei ran yn ystod cyfnod gwella.  Diolchodd i’r Aelodau a 
fynychodd ei Wasanaeth Carolau Nadolig a gynhaliwyd yn Ysgol Gyfun Rhymni a thalodd 
deyrnged i dalent y disgyblion o ysgolion cyfrannog.    

 
     
5. CYFLWYNO GWOBRAU 
 

Gwobr Cymdeithas Rhagoriaeth mewn Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus - Perfformiwr sydd 
wedi Gwella Fwyaf   

 
Hysbyswyd yr aelodau bod adran Glanhau Adeiladau'r Cyngor yn ddiweddar wedi ennill gwobr 
‘Perfformiwr sydd wedi Gwella Fwyaf mewn Gwasanaeth Glanhau Adeiladau' yng Ngwobrau 
Rhwydwaith Perfformiad Gwobr Cymdeithas Rhagoriaeth mewn Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus 
2017.  Mae'r wobr hon yn cydnabod y gwelliannau sylweddol a weithredwydwyd gan y tîm, sy'n 
cynnwys meysydd fel ansawdd, perfformiad, cost, hyrwyddo rhagoriaeth ac ymrwymiad i 
ddarpariaeth gwasanaethau rheng flaen. 
 
Daeth Viv Jones, Kirsty Thomas, Sian Phelps, Nicola Jenkins, Rhian Evans a Julie Howe o’r  
Tîm Glanhau Adeiladau ymlaen i dderbyn gwobr oddi wrth y Maer a derbyn llongyfarchiadau 
gan y Cyngor am eu cyflawniad. 

 
 
6. DATGANIADAU O DDIDDORDEB 
 
 Ni chafwyd datganiadau o ddiddordeb ar ddechrau nac yn ystod y cyfarfod. 
 
 
7. CYNGOR – 21AIN TACHWEDD 2017  
 

Page 2



 

 

PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo'r cofnodion canlynol fel cofnod cywir a'u llofnodi gan y 
Maer. 
 
Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 21ain Tachwedd 2017 (cofnodion rhif. 1-20). 
 

 
8. CYNGOR ARBENNIG – 5ED RHAGFYR 2017 
 
 Cofnod Rhif 5 – Dynodi Pennaeth Gwasanaeth Cyflogedig Dros Dro  
 

Wrth gyfeirio at y drafodaeth a gofnodwyd am ôl-lenwi swyddi perthnasol o fewn y Swyddfa 
Weithredol, rhoddodd yr Arweinydd y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf mewn perthynas â phenodiadau.  
Eglurodd fod yr Awdurdod bellach mewn sefyllfa i ystyried penodi Dirprwy Brif Weithredwr 
parhaol a Phennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol/Swyddog Monitro a chadarnhaodd y bydd 
manylion y cynigion mewn perthynas â'r rhain a phenodiad uwch swyddi eraill yn cael eu cylchu 
i Aelodau'n fuan, gyda'r bwriad y bydd y cynigion yn cynnig strwythur a sefydlogrwydd wrth 
symud ymlaen. 

 
Gofynnwyd am eglurhad am yr amserlenni, hysbysebion a phrosesau cyfweld ar gyfer penodi i’r 
swyddi hyn ac a fyddai'r cynigion yn cael eu cyflwyno i'r Cyngor am ystyriaeth.  Cadarnhaodd 
yr Arweinydd y bwriedir cychwyn gweithredu’r strwythur newydd cyn gynted ag y bo modd a 
chadarnhaodd y Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro y byddai ei hadroddiad i'r Aelodau yn amlinellu'r 
rhesymeg yn erbyn pob un o'r swyddi ac a fydd y rhain yn cael eu hysbysebu a'u penodi yn 
fewnol neu’n allanol. 

 
 Yn dilyn trafodaeth ar yr uchod   
  

PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo'r cofnodion canlynol fel cofnod cywir a'u llofnodi gan y 
Maer. 

 
Cyngor Arbennig a gynhaliwyd ar 5ed Rhagfyr 2017 (cofnodion rhif. 1-5).   

 
 

9. CABINET 15FED TACHWEDD 2017 - EITEM BRYS – DDIM YN AMODOL AR ALW I MEWN 
– PARCIO NADOLIG AM DDIM AR GYFER TREF CAERFFILI  

 
Nododd yr Aelodau argymhellion yr adroddiad a'r penderfyniad a gymerwyd gan y Cabinet ar 
15fed Tachwedd 2017 i gymeradwyo cyflwyno cyfnod parcio am ddim o 2 awr ar draws holl 
feysydd parcio talu ac arddangos tref Caerffili am bythefnos yn y cyfnod cyn Nadolig 2017. 
Cafodd y penderfyniad hwn ei wneud fel mater o frys oherwydd yr amgylchiadau unigryw a 
oedd o ganlyniad i’r gweithfeydd gwella’r priffyrdd ar gylchfan Pwll-y-pant. 

 
 

 ADRODDIADAU'R SWYDDOGION 
 

 Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i'r adroddiadau canlynol. 
 
 

10. SIARTER AR GYFER CEFNOGI A DATBLYGU AELODAU CLLLC 
 

Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i’r adroddiad a gafodd ei arnodi gan Bwyllgor Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd ar 23ain Tachwedd 2017.  Gofynnodd yr adroddiad am gymeradwyaeth i 
gadarnhau ymrwymiad y Cyngor i Siarter Cymru ar gyfer Cefnogi a Datblygu Aelodau 
Cymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru. 

 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili oedd y cyntaf yng Nghymru i dderbyn dyfarniad Siarter Cymru 
ar gyfer Cefnogi a Datblygu Aelodau Lleol Cymru yn 2007, sydd wedi ei adnewyddu'n 
llwyddiannus ddwywaith yn 2011 a 2014.  Nod Siarter Lleol Cymru yw datblygu,  adnabod a 
rhannu arferion da wrth gefnogi a datblygu Aelodau etholedig, ac mae’n ddatganiad cyhoeddus 

Page 3



 

 

a meincnod safon ansawdd ar gyfer cyflwyno cefnogaeth a datblygiad effeithiol i Aelodau.  
 

Roedd yr Aelodau'n falch o gydnabod cyflawniad parhaol y Cyngor wrth gwrdd â gofynion y 
Siarter fel y'i hatodwyd i'r adroddiad a mynegodd yr angen i’r arfer da sy'n cael ei wneud yn yr 
ardal hon barhau. 

 
Fe'i cytunwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhellion yn yr adroddiad yn cael eu cymeradwyo.  
Cytunwyd ar hyn yn unfrydol drwy godi dwylo. 

 
PENDERFYNWYD am y rhesymau a nodwyd yn yr adroddiad, bod ymrwymiad i Siarter 
Cymru ar gyfer Cefnogi a Datblygu Aelodau Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili yn cael ei 
ail-gadarnhau.  
 
 

11. GWEITHDREFN YMGYNGHORI CYNLLUNIO AR GYFER CEISIADAU SY'N CYNNWYS 
 MASTIAU TELATHREBU  
 

Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i’r adroddiad, a gafodd ei gyflwyno i Bwyllgor Craffu Adfywio a’r 
Amgylchedd ar 12fed Rhagfyr 2017.  Gofynnodd yr adroddiad am gymeradwyaeth y Cyngor ar 
gynnig i ddiwygio gweithdrefn gyfredol yr awdurdod cynllunio lleol o ran masiau telathrebu. 

 
Nodwyd bod y Cyngor wedi penderfynu yn 2005 i fabwysiadu gweithdrefn ymgynghori lle dylai 
unrhyw gais am ganiatâd cynllunio, neu hysbysiad am fastiau telathrebu, fod yn amodol ar 
broses ymgynghori cyhoeddus gyda'r holl sefydliadau addysg leol o fewn 300m a phob 
datblygiad preswyl o fewn 250m i'r safle arfaethedig.  O ystyried y costau gweinyddu sylweddol 
sy'n gysylltiedig â'r ymarferion ymgynghori hyn o'u cymharu â chyfradd ymateb isel iawn a 
ffioedd cais statudol statudol isel, cynigiwyd bod y gofyniad yn cael ei leihau fel bod mastiau 
telathrebu yn destun gweithdrefnau ymgynghori tebyg i ddatblygiadau eraill.Byddai hyn yn 
golygu mai dim ond eiddo cyfagos a fyddai’n derbyn llythyr ymgynghorol ond byddai hysbysiad 
safle yn cael ei bostio ymhob achos a byddai'r angen i ymgynghori gydag ysgolion lleol yn cael 
ei gadw. 

 
Cyfeiriwyd y Cyngor at ganllawiau'r diwydiant sy'n gysylltiedig â mastiau telathrebu a dywedodd 
y byddai cydymffurfiad y datblygwr â'r rhain yn bodloni'r gofynion o safbwynt 
cynllunio.Gofynnodd Aelod a fyddai'r ardal o amgylch mastiau telathrebu yn amodol i 
ganllawiau cynllunio atodol ac eglurodd y Swyddog, er nad oes angen ymgynghori penodol ar y 
mater hwn, rhaid i bob cais o'r fath gynnwys tystysgrif cydymffurfio â chanllawiau'r Comisiynydd 
Rhyngwladol ar Ddiogelu rhag Ymbelydredd nad yw’n Ïoneiddio, sy'n cael eu hystyried yn 
sicrwydd digonol bod mastiau o'r fath yn dderbyniol o safbwynt iechyd y cyhoedd. 

 
Fe'i cytunwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhellion yn yr adroddiad yn cael eu cymeradwyo.  
Cytunwyd ar hyn yn unfrydol drwy godi dwylo. 

 
PENDERFYNWYD am y rhesymau a nodwyd yn yr adroddiad, bod lefel yr 
ymgynghoriad cynllunio ar gyfer ceisiadau sy'n cynnwys mastiau telathrebu yn cael eu 
lleihau i'r hyn sy'n gysylltiedig â cheisiadau a hysbysiadau eraill, yn amodol ar 
weithdrefn ddiwygiedig i gynnwys hysbysiad safle ym mhob achos ac ymgynghori â 
phob sefydliad addysg lleol o fewn 300m.  
 

 
12. CYNLLUN GOSTWNG TRETH Y CYNGOR 2018/19  
 

Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i'r adroddiad, a oedd yn gofyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cyngor o’r Cynllun 
Lleihau Treth y Cyngor ar gyfer blwyddyn ariannol 2018/19.  Argymhellodd yr adroddiad i 
barhau i weithredu Cynllun Lleihau Treth y Cyngor ar gyfer blwyddyn ariannol 2018/19 ar yr un 
sail â’r cynllun a ddefnyddiwyd yn 2017/18.  

 
Gan nad yw rheoliadau 2018 yn cynnwys unrhyw newidiadau sylweddol i hawlwyr, cynigiwyd 

Page 4



 

 

bod y Cyngor yn parhau â'i gynllun lleol yn unol â'r rheoliadau a ddiwygiwyd yn ddiweddar ar 
gyfer y flwyddyn ariannol 2018/19, yn effeithiol o 1af Ebrill 2018, ac mae'n parhau i ymarfer y 
disgresiwn lleol a gytunwyd yn flaenorol fel y’i darparwyd o fewn Rhan 5 o'r Rheoliadau 
Gofynion Rhagnodedig fel y'u nodir yn yr adroddiad. 

 
Fe'i cytunwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhellion yn yr adroddiad yn cael eu cymeradwyo.  
Cytunwyd ar hyn yn unfrydol drwy godi dwylo.   

 
PENDERFYNWYD, am y rhesymau a nodir yn yr adroddiad, y dylai Cynllun Lleihau 
Treth y Cyngor barhau am y flwyddyn ariannol 2018/19, ynghyd â'r disgresiwn lleol a 
gytunwyd yn flaenorol. 

 
 
13. CWESTIYNAU A DDERBYNIWYD O DAN REOL GWEITHDREFN 10(2)  
  
 Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i’r Cwestiwn canlynol o dan Reol y Weithdrefn 10(2). Yn unol â'r 

diwygiadau i'r cyfansoddiad, rhoddir yr ateb hefyd.   
 

FFORWM ARDAL ADFYWIO  -  I'R AELOD CABINET AR GYFER CARTREFI A LLEOEDD 
GAN Y CYNGHORYDD K. ETHERIDGE  
 
I ofyn i Aelod Cabinet dros Gartrefi a Lleoedd faint o arian a gafodd ei ddyrannu i’r Fforwm Ardal 
Adfywio ers Mawrth 2017 -2018 a  
 
1.    Dyrannu i bob Ward  
2.  Sut cafodd yr arian ei wario, a pha feini prawf a ddefnyddiwyd a gall prosiectau gael eu 

diffinio 
3.   All Aelodau Ward gynnig am brosiectau sy’n buddio eu wardiau a thrigolion  
4. A yw'r weithdrefn a'r cyllid yn cael eu cytuno ar ôl trafodaeth gyda Phwyllgorau Rheoli 

Canol Trefi lle mae un yn bodoli, ac a oes unrhyw drafodaeth gyda Chynghorau Trefi  
5.   Beth sy’n digwydd mewn Wardiau pan na fydd pwynt 4 yn gymwys  
6.  Diffinio unrhyw danwariant ar gyfer y cyfnod hwn ar draws y Fwrdeistref  
7.  Cadarnhad y bydd dyraniadau yn y dyfodol ar gael o Fawrth 2018  
 
YMATEB ODDI WRTH Y CYNGHORYDD L. PHIPPS, AELOD CABINET DROS GARTREFI 
A LLEOEDD 
 
C1  Dyraniad ar gyfer pob Ward. 

 
O ganlyniad i benderfyniadau a wnaed yn y Cyngor Arbennig ar 25ain Chwefror 2015 
mewn perthynas â chynigion cyllideb 2015/16 a strategaeth ariannol tymor canolig 
2015/2018 ni dderbyniodd cyllideb refeniw’r Fforwm Ardal ddyraniad cyllideb ar gyfer 
2017/2018.  O ganlyniad i hyn, ar gyfer 2017/18 doedd dim dyraniad cyllid refeniw 
Fforwm i Wardiau.   
 
Er bod nifer o Wardiau wedi defnyddio eu dyfarniadau cyllido blaenorol o gyllideb 
refeniw Fforwm yr Ardal yn llawn, mae nifer o Wardiau yn cynnal dyraniad cyllideb 
weddilliol sy'n deillio o danwariant yn eu dyfarniadau cyllido blaenorol.  O’r 31ain Mawrth 
2017, cyfanswm y tanwariant gweddilliol o gyllid y Fforwm Ardal oedd £70,498.72 

  

Page 5



 

 

 
C2  Sut cafodd yr arian ei wario, a pha feini prawf a ddefnyddiwyd a gall prosiectau 

gael eu diffinio  
 
Hyd yn hyn yn 2017/18 mae gwariant ar brosiectau o fewn y Wardiau hynny gyda chyllid 
gweddilliol y Fforwm Ardal wedi bod fel y ganlyn:- 

 Cefn Fforest – Atgyweirio Arhosfan Bws Trelyn Uchaf £2,454 

 Dwyrain Rhisga – Gosod Panel Solar Ysgolion £4,396.50 

 Pen-yr-heol – Gosod Panel Solar Ysgolion £10,000 

 Tŷ Sign – Gosod Panel Solar Ysgolion £3,582.50 

 Trinant – Gosod Panel Solar Ysgolion £1,885  
 
Cyfanswm gwariant cyllideb y Fforwm Ardal 2017/18 hyd yma = £22,318 
 
Yn ychwanegol at yr uchod o fewn Wardiau gyda dyraniad cyllideb gweddilliol y Fforwm  
Ardal mae yna ymrwymiadau parhaus i nifer o brosiectau sydd ar waith i'w gweithredu'n 
llawn a'u talu.  Cyfanswm amcangyfrifedig cyllid y Fforwm Ardal a nodwyd i gefnogi 
prosiectau a ymrwymwyd yn flaenorol yw £14,423.31  
 
Ar hyn o bryd mae cyllideb weddilliol heb ei chlustnodi’r Fforwm Ardal yn cyfateb i 
£33,757.41, sy'n cynnwys £29,345.25 o ddyraniad cyllideb flaenorol i Wardiau penodol 
a £4,412.16 ychwanegol nad oedd wedi'i ddyrannu i Wardiau penodol yn flaenorol. 
 
Does dim meini prawf penodol bod rhaid i brosiect sy’n ceisio am gyllid y Fforwm Ardal 
fodloni.  Fodd bynnag, mae'r prosiectau a gyflwynwyd yn flaenorol wedi ceisio 
gweithredu gwelliannau amgylcheddol lleol er mwyn gwella ymddangosiad ardaloedd 
lleol ac annog mwy o gyfranogiad lleol er mwyn cyfrannu at ymdrechion i sicrhau 
datblygiad mwy cynaliadwy. 

 
C3  Gall Aelodau’r Ward gynnig am brosiectau sy’n buddio eu wardiau a’u 

preswylwyr.  
 
Yn yr ardaloedd hynny lle mae gan Ward gyllideb weddilliol y Fforwm Ardal o 
ddyraniadau cyllid blaenorol gall Aelodau'r Ward gyflwyno cynigion ar gyfer prosiectau 
i'r Grŵp Rheoli Canol Trefi/Partneriaeth Gymunedol berthnasol.    
 
Lle mae Ward â dyraniad cyllid gweddilliol y Fforwm Ardal y tu allan i ardal y Grŵp 
Rheoli Canol Trefi/Partneriaeth Gymunedol, mae'n ofynnol i'r Aelodau Ward gyflwyno'u 
cynnig prosiect i Reolwr Adfywio Cymunedol y Cyngor i'w ystyried a'i gymeradwyo 
mewn ymgynghoriad â'r Aelod Cabinet perthnasol ar yr amod bod yr holl Aelodau Ward 
yn cytuno â'r cynnig. 

 
 C4  A yw'r weithdrefn a'r cyllid a gytunwyd ar ôl trafodaeth gyda Phwyllgorau Rheoli 

Canol y Dref lle mae un yn bodoli, ac a oes unrhyw drafodaeth gyda Chynghorau 
Trefi. 
 
Fel y nodir uchod, mae cynigion yn cael eu hystyried gan Grwpiau Rheoli Canol Trefi 
(GRCT) pan maent yn cael eu cyflwyno o'r Wardiau hynny sy'n rhan o GRCT.  Nid oes 
cysylltiad penodol â Chynghorau Tref ar gynigion prosiect ond mae'r GRCT yn cynnwys 
cynrychiolwyr o'r Cyngor Tref briodol.    
 

C5  Beth sy’n digwydd mewn Wardiau pan nad yw pwynt 4 yn gymwys. 
 
Lle mae Ward â dyraniad cyllid gweddilliol y Fforwm Ardal y tu allan i ardal y Grŵp 
Rheoli Canol Trefi/Partneriaeth Gymunedol, mae'n ofynnol i'r Aelodau Ward gyflwyno'u 
cynnig prosiect i Reolwr Adfywio Cymunedol y Cyngor i'w ystyried a'i gymeradwyo ar yr 
amod bod yr holl Aelodau Ward yn cael eu hystyried a'u cymeradwyo yn unol â'r cynnig. 
 

Page 6



 

 

C6  Diffinio unrhyw danwariant ar gyfer y cyfnod hwn ar draws y Fwrdeistref. 
 
Fel y nodwyd uchod, mae cyllideb weddilliol heb ei chlustnodi’r Fforwm Ardal ar hyn o 
bryd yn gyfanswm o £33,757.41, sy'n cynnwys £29,345.25 o ddyraniad cyllideb 
flaenorol i Wardiau penodol a 4,412.16 ychwanegol na ddyrannwyd yn flaenorol i 
Wardiau penodol. 
 

C7  Cadarnhad y bydd dyraniadau’r dyfodol ar gael o Fawrth 2018.   
 
Daeth y penderfyniadau a wnaed yn y Cyngor Arbennig ar 25ain Chwefror 2015 mewn 
perthynas â chynigion cyllideb 2015/16 a strategaeth ariannol tymor canolig 2015/2018 
i ben i ddyfarnu dyraniadau cyllid refeniw blynyddol i gyllideb refeniw'r Fforwm Ardal.    

 
 
 
 Terfynwyd y cyfarfod am 5.22 p.m. 
 
 

Wedi'i gymeradwyo fel cofnod cywir ac yn ddarostyngedig i unrhyw ddiwygiadau neu 
gywiriadau a gytunir a'u cofnodi yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhelir 6ed Mawrth 2018, fe'u 
llofnodwyd gan y Maer. 

 
 

_______________________ 
MAER 

Page 7



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 8



COUNCIL - 6TH MARCH 2018 

SUBJECT: AMENDMENTS TO AUTHORISATION OF OFFICERS WITHIN THE 
PUBLIC PROTECTION DIVISION 

REPORT BY: ACTING DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES AND SECTION 151 
OFFICER 

1.1 The report, which was presented to Cabinet on 31st January 2018, provided Members with an 
update on the changes to the legislation applicable to officers of the Public Protection Division 
and sought Council approval to amend the Council’s Constitution to include the Public Health 
(Wales) Act 2017. 

1.2 The report detailed that Officers within the Public Protection Division require additional 
authorisation under the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 in order to enforce the legislation and 
carry out their duties. 

1.3 The Act aims to address a number of specific public health concerns, and to create social 
conditions that are conducive to good health and where avoidable harms can be prevented.  It 
includes provisions relating to obesity, tobacco and nicotine products, special procedures 
(acupuncture, body piercing, electrolysis, tattooing), intimate piercing, health impact 
assessments, pharmaceutical services, and toilets for public use.  There are staged 
commencement dates for the different Parts of the Act which will be enforced/implemented by 
a variety of organisations.  The Parts of the Act which are the enforcement responsibility of 
the local authority include Part 5 Intimate Piercing, Part 4 Special Procedures and Part 3 
Tobacco and Nicotine products. 

1.4 Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the 
recommendations in the report be approved. By a show of hands this was unanimously 
agreed. 

RECOMMENDED to Council that for the reasons contained in the Officers report: - 

(i) the implementation of the legislation be endorsed by Council; 

(ii) that the Council’s Constitution and terms of reference be amended by adding 
the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017; 

(iii) that Officers within the Public Protection Division be authorised under the 
Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 in order to enforce the legislation and carry out 
their duties. 

1.5 Members are asked to consider the report and endorse the recommendations from Cabinet. 

Author:  C. Evans, Committee Services Officer, Democratic Services 
Ext. 4210 

Appendix 1: Report to Cabinet dated 31st January 2018. 
Page 9

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 6



 

 
 

 

 

CABINET – 31ST JANUARY 2018 
 

SUBJECT: AMENDMENTS TO AUTHORISATION OF OFFICERS WITHIN THE 
PUBLIC PROTECTION DIVISION 

 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR, SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To inform Cabinet of changes to the legislation applicable to officers of the Public Protection 

Division prior to presentation of the report to Council to amend the Council’s Constitution to 
include the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017.  

 
1.2 To obtain additional authorisation for officers under the above Act.  
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Officers within the Public Protection Division require additional authorisation under the Public 

Health (Wales) Act 2017 in order to enforce the legislation and carry out their duties. 
 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 Public protection is a statutory duty of the authority and contributes towards the Healthier 

Caerphilly priority within the Caerphilly single integrated plan, Caerphilly Delivers.  The Public 
Protection Division also contributes to the following Well-being Goals within the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 
• A prosperous Wales  
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A globally responsible Wales. 

 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 As a result of the introduction of new legislation and following a review of existing 

authorisations it is considered that the Council’s Constitution should be amended to include 
the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017. 

 
4.2 The Act aims to address a number of specific public health concerns, and to create social 

conditions that are conducive to good health and where avoidable harms can be prevented.  It 
includes provisions relating to obesity, tobacco and nicotine products, special procedures 
(acupuncture, body piercing, electrolysis, tattooing), intimate piercing, health impact 
assessments, pharmaceutical services, and toilets for public use.  There are staged 

APPENDIX 1

Page 10



commencement dates for the different Parts of the Act which will be enforced/implemented by 
a variety of organisations.  The Parts of the Act which are the enforcement responsibility of 
the local authority are summarised below. 

 
4.3 Part 5 Intimate piercing  
 The provision relating to Part 5 of the Act - intimate piercing came into force on 1st January 

2018.  The Act prohibits the intimate piercing of a person who is under the age of 18 in Wales, 
in any setting.  It will also be an offence to make arrangements to perform such a procedure 
on a person under 18.  This Part of the Act can be enforced by police and local authorities.  

 
4.4 Part 4 Special procedures  
 The Act creates a mandatory licensing scheme for practitioners and businesses carrying out 

special procedures in Wales.  The four special procedures specified in the Act are 
acupuncture, body piercing, electrolysis, and tattooing. It will be an offence for a practitioner to 
carry out any of these special procedures without a licence, or to perform any procedure from 
premises or vehicles that are not approved.  There will be provision to add to the list of special 
procedures (or to remove procedures) via regulations, to take account of new practices and 
changing trends, and any emerging evidence of public health risk.  The commencement date 
for Part 4 is yet to be confirmed. 

 
4.5 Part 3 Tobacco and nicotine products 
 The Act re-states restrictions on smoking in enclosed and substantially enclosed public and 

work places.  Additionally, it places restrictions on smoking in outdoor care settings for 
children, school grounds, hospital grounds and public playgrounds.  The Act gives Welsh 
Ministers a regulation-making power to extend the restrictions on smoking to additional 
premises or vehicles, where it’s considered that this is ‘likely to contribute towards the 
promotion of the health of the people of Wales’. 

 
4.5.1 The Act establishes a national register of retailers of tobacco and nicotine products.  All 

retailers who sell either tobacco products or nicotine products in Wales will have to register in 
order to be permitted to sell these products - it will be an offence to sell tobacco/nicotine 
products from premises (including mobile units) in Wales if they are not on the national 
register.  

 
4.5.2 The Act provides Welsh Ministers with a regulation-making power to add to the offences 

which contribute to a Restricted Premises Order (RPO) in Wales.  (An RPO prohibits the sale 
from a premises of any tobacco products to any person, by the business or any of its staff for 
a period of up to one year).  Such offences must relate to the supply, sale, transport, display, 
offer for sale, advertising or possession of tobacco and nicotine products.  The Act also 
prohibits the handing over of tobacco and/or nicotine products to a person under the age of 
18.  This relates to situations where, for example, a delivery driver knowingly hands over 
tobacco or nicotine products to someone under the 18 who is unaccompanied by an adult.  

 
4.6 In other provisions the Act places a duty on the Welsh Ministers to make regulations which 

require public bodies to carry out health impact assessments in specified circumstances and 
requires the Welsh Government to publish a national strategy on preventing and reducing 
obesity.  Under the Act, each local authority in Wales will be required to prepare and publish a 

local toilets strategy for its area.  The Act also contains measures aimed at improving the 
planning and delivery of pharmaceutical services, and strengthening the role of 
community pharmacy, in promoting and protecting public health.  The Act makes a minor 
technical amendment to the Food Hygiene Rating (Wales) Act 2013 so that the receipts from 
fixed penalty notices for non-compliance with the food hygiene rating scheme must be used 
by food authorities (primarily local authorities) to enforce the scheme.  

 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 The proposals contribute to the Well-being Goals as set out in the Links to Strategy above.  

Page 11



 
 Having regard to the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development 

principle in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act the Public Health (Wales) Act 
has a strong focus on prevention.  Authorising officers to enforce the Public Health Act will 
enable them to prevent intimate piercing of under 18 year olds, reduce the harm caused by 
smoking, and impose tighter controls on acupuncture, body piercing, electrolysis, and 
tattooing.   

 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no potential equalities implications of this report and its recommendations on 

groups or individuals who fall under the categories identified in Section 6 of the Council's 
Strategic Equality Plan.  There is no requirement for an Equalities Impact Assessment 
Questionnaire to be completed for this report. 

 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Enforcement activities are carried out within existing work programmes and the authorisation 

of officers under the Act has no direct financial implications.   
 
7.2 The minor amendment to the Food Hygiene Rating (Wales) Act 2013 means that receipts 

from fixed penalty notices issued in connection with the food hygiene rating scheme will come 
to Local Authorities.  The Council has issued 15 fixed penalty notices and 104 warning letters 
since the scheme became mandatory in November 2013.  The Food Safety Expert Panel in 
Wales have advised that as the mandatory display has been in place for some time 
enforcement should be more robust.  As we are now no longer sending out warning letters, 
but directly moving to a fixed penalty notice for non-display food hygiene rating, the level of 
receipts may rise.  The fixed penalty fine is £200 (reduced to £150 if paid within 14 days) and 
will result in a small amount of additional income which can only be used for food hygiene 
activities. 

 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 None. 
 
 
9. CONSULTATION 
 
9.1 This report has been sent to the Consultees listed below and all comments received are 

reflected in this report. 
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That Cabinet note the implementation of this legislation and refer the recommended changes 

to the Council’s Constitution to Council for determination.  The Council's Monitoring Officer to 
make the necessary amendments to the Council's Constitution. 

 
10.2 That the Council’s Constitution and terms of reference be amended by adding the Public 

Health (Wales) Act 2017. 
 
10.3 That Officers within the Public Protection Division be authorised under the Public Health 

(Wales) Act 2017 in order to enforce the legislation and carry out their duties. 
 

Page 12



11. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1 In order to comply with statutory requirements and to ensure proper and effective enforcement 

of the legislation.  
 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER 
 
12.1 Local Government Act 1972, The Public Health (Wales) Act 2017.  The discharge of duties 

under the above legislation is a Cabinet function. 
 
 
Author: Ceri Edwards – Environmental Health Manager  
Consultees: Cllr Eluned Stenner, Cabinet Member for Environment and Public Protection 
 Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services 
 Rob Hartshorn, Head of Policy and Public Protection 
 Richard Harris, Audit Manager, Deputy Monitoring Officer 
       Lisa Lane, Corporate Solicitor 
 Sue Ead, Solicitor 
 Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer (Equalities and Welsh Language) 
 Shaun Watkins, HR Manager 
 Mike Eedy, Finance Manager 
 

Page 13



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 14



 

 
 

 

 

COUNCIL - 6TH MARCH 2018 
 

SUBJECT: CAERPHILLY PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD – WELL-BEING PLAN 2018-
2023 

 
REPORT BY: INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To inform Council that the Caerphilly Public Services Board has finalised its draft Well-being 

Plan for the area; ‘The Caerphilly We Want 2018-2023’ and to request that Council approve 
the Plan under Section 43(5) of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The draft Well-being Plan for the area has been developed through collaborative partnership 

activity commencing when the Act came into force on the 1st April 2016.  The Plan has been 
based upon the local assessment of well-being for the area and has been informed by 
extensive stakeholder and community consultation. 

 
2.2 The statutory consultation period ended on the 18th of December 2017, the final draft plan 

reflects the responses received. 
 
2.3 The Plan must be approved by the Board’s statutory partners: the local authority, Natural 

Resources Wales, Aneurin Bevan University Health Board, and South Wales Fire and Rescue 
Service.  In the case of the local authority the Plan must be agreed by full council.  The Plan 
must be published within one year of a local government election. Subject to statutory partner 
approval the Plan will be ratified by the Caerphilly Public Services Board at its meeting of the 
13th of March 2018. 

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 The production of the Well-being Plan by the Public Services Board is a requirement of the 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  The Board must set local well-being 
objectives and must take all reasonable steps to meet those objectives. In so doing the Board 
must maximise their contribution to the 7 national well-being goals: 

 
• A prosperous Wales 
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales  of cohesive communities 
• A Wales  of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 
• A globally responsible Wales. 

 

Page 15

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 7



3.2 The local Well-being Plan, ‘The Caerphilly We Want 2018-2023’ sets out how the Public 
Services Board has developed its local objectives for well-being (the Well-being Objectives) 
and the steps it intends to take to meet them. 

 
 

4. THE REPORT 
 

4.1 The Caerphilly Public Services Board (PSB) has developed ‘The Caerphilly We Want 2018-
2023’ (appended to this report).  Following public and stakeholder consultation, and the 
feedback of Public Services Board partner members, the plan has been further refined and 
amended to reflect consultation responses and is now in a position to progress to final 
statutory partner approval. 

 

4.2 The draft Plan has been shaped by the PSB’s desire for it to reflect a new approach and new 
ways of working.  It is underpinned by the 5 ways of working in the Sustainable Development 
Principle.  The feedback from residents and partners that there are many positive aspects to 
living and working in Caerphilly county borough, has become central to the draft plan.  

 

4.3 The draft Well-being Plan – ‘The Caerphilly We Want 2018-2023’ includes 4 high level 
objectives: 

 

 Positive Change - A shared commitment to improving the way we work together 

 Positive Start - Giving our future generations the best start in life 

 Positive People - Empowering and enabling all our residents to achieve their own 
potential 

 Positive Places - Enabling our communities to be resilient and sustainable 
 

4.4 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, requires PSB’s to set out the steps 
that will be taken to achieve the objectives.  The draft well-being plan includes a delivery plan 
that sets out areas for collaborative activity under 4 Enablers and 5 Actions that together will 
meet the high level objectives.  

 

4.5 The activities and actions will change throughout the lifetime of the 5-year Well-being Plan 
and it has already been established that some issues may be better delivered by regionalised 
arrangements, either because partners operate at a higher geographical level, work is funded 
at a regional level, or other external drivers dictate that a regionalised delivery makes more 
sense; the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, for example. Other activity will need to be local at 
the county borough area, or smaller geographies, because delivery partners operate at that 
level, or community action is required such as the Lansbury Park Coalition for Change. 

 

4.6 ‘The Caerphilly We Want’ Draft Delivery Plan (appended to this report) sets out the Enablers 
and Actions that the Public Services Board wish to take to meet their aspirations for the 5-year 
timeframe of this, their first plan. Sitting beneath the Delivery Plan will be the groups of staff 
and resources that the individual Board members wish to dedicate to the delivery aims. The 
Board have also agreed that they will take direct delivery responsibility for aspects of the plan 
as follows: 

  

Ref. Action Area PSB Lead Organisation 

   1. Best Start in Life  Public Health Wales 

   2a. Volunteering  Gwent Association of 

Voluntary Organisations  

   2b. Apprenticeships Caerphilly County Borough 

Council 

Page 16



   3. Good Health and Well-being  Aneurin Bevan University 

Health Board  

   4a. Safer Communities  Gwent Police 

   4b. Resilient Communities Caerphilly County Borough 

Council 

   5. Protect and Enhance the Local 

Natural Environment  

National Resources Wales 

 
 Within each Action Area and Enabler, groups of staff, community members and the private 

and third sectors have begun to be identified.  Each theme will have a lead officer who will be 
expected, in conjunction with the collaborative group, to set short, medium and long term 
programmes of activity for the duration of the plan.  These action plans are currently being 
developed in more detail and will be in place in time to commence delivery by the statutory 
deadline. 

 
4.7 Section 43(5) of the Act defines that the function of approving the local well-being plan rests 

with full council. 
 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 The Well-being Plan must consider those collective actions and activities that will maximise 

well-being for the area in a sustainable way, that is, in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle in the Act.  In assessing the contribution that can be made the Plan has 
been drafted to consider the following elements which make up the “5 ways of working”: 

 

 Involving local communities and other stakeholders 

 Collaborative and collective action 

 Long term change to secure the well-being of future generations 

 Integrating actions and activities across the goals and the work programmes of partners  

 Preventative activity to consider preventing issues that will damage well-being 
 
 Each of the high level objectives in the Final Draft ‘The Caerphilly We Want 2018-2023’ is 

supported by an assessment of how the sustainable development principle has been used in 
drafting the plan. 

 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Promoting equalities is a fundamental requirement of the Future Generations legislation, with 

specific resonance for meeting the well-being goals of - A more Equal Wales, and A Wales of 
Cohesive Communities.  An Equalities Impact Assessment screening has been completed in 
accordance with the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and supplementary guidance.  No 
potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low level or minor negative impact has been 
identified; therefore a full EIA has not been carried out. 

 
 Groups and communities of interest representing the protected characteristics in the Equality 

Act 2010 have been engaged in the development of this Well-being Plan.  Appendices 4, 5 
and 8 to the Plan (appended to this report) detail the groups consulted with and summarise 
the responses. 

 

Page 17



7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no financial implications related to this report. Public Services Board Partners have 

committed to providing support in kind in delivering the Well-being Plan. 
 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The responsibility to discharge the statutory duties placed on the Board applies across all 

statutory partners equally.  There are no direct personnel implications. 
 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 This report has been sent to the Consultees listed below and all comments received are 

reflected in this report. 
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That Council notes that the Caerphilly Public Services Board has produced its final draft Well-

being Plan and approves the Plan so that it can progress to final publication before the 3rd of 
May 2018.  

 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 To allow Caerphilly County Borough Council to meet its collaborative duty under the 

sustainable development principle in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
to develop a local Well-being Plan for the area, in conjunction with partners. 

 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Section 43(5). 
 
Author: Kathryn Peters, Corporate Policy Manager, and PSB Coordinator 

peterk@caerphilly.gov.uk  
Consultees: Cllr David Poole - Leader of Caerphilly County Borough Council and PSB Chair 
 Cllr James Pritchard- Chair Partnerships Scrutiny Committee 
 Cllr Dianne Price – Vice Chair Partnerships Scrutiny Committee 
 Christina Harrhy- Interim Chief Executive Caerphilly County Borough Council 
 Rob Hartshorn - Head of Policy and Public Protection, Caerphilly County Borough 

Council 
 Lisa Lane - Corporate Solicitor 
 Richard Harris – Interim Monitoring Officer 
 Mike Eedy - Principal Accountant 
 Anwen Cullinane - Senior Policy Officer (Equalities and Welsh Language) 
 Shaun Watkins - Principal HR Officer 
 Paul Cooke - Senior Policy Officer, Caerphilly County Borough Council 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix Draft Well-being Plan: ‘The Caerphilly We Want 2018-2023’ 
 

Background Papers: 
https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/content/draft-well-being-plan (also available) 
Report to Council 24th January 2017 - Local Assessment of Well-being 
Reports to Partnerships Scrutiny Committee 14th September 2017 and 20th February 2018 - Draft 
Well-being Plan 

Page 18

mailto:peterk@caerphilly.gov.uk
https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/content/draft-well-being-plan


 
 

1 
 

 

 

 
 

Caerphilly Public Services Board 
Well-being Plan 2018-2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Board Member Organisations 
 

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Gwent Association of Voluntary Organisations 
Gwent Police 

Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

Natural Resources Wales 
Public Health Wales 

South Wales Fire and Rescue Service 
Wales Community Rehabilitation Company 

Welsh Government 
 

APPENDIX

Page 19



 
 

2 
 

 
CONTENTS PAGE 

 Page 
The Vision of Caerphilly Public Services Board  
  
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  
  
‘The Caerphilly We Want’ Well-being Plan  
  
The Well-being Objectives  
  
Objective 1: Positive Change – A shared commitment to improving 
the way we work together 

 

  
Objective 2: Positive Start – Giving our future generations the best 
start in life 

 

  
Objective 3: Positive People – Empowering and enabling all our 
residents to achieve their own potential 

 

  
Objective 4: Positive Places – Enabling our communities to be 
resilient and sustainable 

 

  
Consultation and Engagement Activity for the Well-being Plan  
  
How We Will Deliver – Key Principles  
  
The Well-being Objectives of Partner Organisations (February 2018)  
  
Appendices:  
  
Appendix 1 – Moving towards the objectives  
Appendix 2 – Well-being Delivery Plan  
Appendix 3 – Response analysis  
Appendix 4 – Summary of online survey responses  
Appendix 5 – Summary of written responses  
Appendix 6 – Advice from the Future Generations Commissioner  
Appendix 7 – Response to Future Generations Commissioner advice  
Appendix 8 – Summaries of engagement workshops  
 
 

Page 20



 
 

3 
 

 

 
The Vision of Caerphilly Public Services Board 
 
Caerphilly Public Services Board (the Board) is committed to improving the well-being of 
all residents living in the county borough area.  Its focus will be on working together more 
effectively and a shared commitment to work differently, to bring about positive changes in 
the economic, environmental, social and cultural landscape of the area.  
 
Assessing the current well-being of the area has determined the local Well-being 
Objectives that the Board will focus on over the 5-year timeframe of this ‘The Caerphilly 
We Want’ Well-being Plan.  These objectives are intended to achieve long term change in 
the way we work together as public sector organisations, and how we work with 
businesses, the third sector and our residents.  This change will bring about improvements 
in well-being for both current and our future generations.   
 
In order to focus its combined resources, the Board will promote activity that is ‘outside the 
day job’ of each individual member organisation, in order to make changes that can have a 
significant impact on improving well-being. This will involve prioritising the ‘added value’ 
the Board can achieve by working together, however, activity will need to be funded from 
within existing budgets. The actions taken will be truly collaborative in nature, and will 
involve a number of organisations working together to deliver improvements.   
 
The actions highlighted through the Local Assessment of Well-being are those that are 
intended to bring about long-term improvement in well-being for our residents.  The Board 
understands that securing improved well-being of its residents prevents need, and reduces 
the demand on services further down the line.  Working together across partner 
organisations is considered to offer the best chance of securing maximum impact for 
public sector budgets that are constantly being reduced.   
 
The Board will continue to involve communities, the private and third sectors, and other 
groups and bodies with an interest in improving the well-being of the area, in its action 
planning and activities.  Long-term change is a journey, with this first Well-being Plan for 
the area setting out what the Board intends to achieve over the next five years. However, 
the Board also has to consider a 25-year horizon in order to achieve improved well-being 
for our future generations. 
 
The Board will use the five ways of working set out in the Sustainable Development 
Principle (Involvement, Collaboration, Long-Term, Integration and Prevention) to drive 
forward the change that is required.  Working together to achieve the local Well-being 
Objectives will not be undertaken in silos, and we will measure the success of the work we 
do in relation to the improvements in the well-being of our residents.  The accountability for 
delivering the actions in the Well-being Delivery Plan will rest directly with individual Board 
members.  

Page 21



 
 

4 
 

 

 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act) established Public 
Services Boards across Wales with a  statutory function to assess the well-being of their 
area, and produce Well-being Plans on a five year cycle, in line with the local government 
election cycle. 
 
Within Caerphilly county borough the Board brings together the Chief Officers and Leaders 
for all the public services operating across the county borough area, together with the 
Third Sector.  More information on membership of the Board can be found on the Board 
website: 
 
 https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/. 
 
The Board published its first Local Assessment of Well-being in March 2017.  The 
published Assessment was the outcome of an extensive process of data collection, 
analysis and refinement, together with extensive consultation and engagement with local 
residents, partner organisations, the business sector and third sector.  The Assessment 
will be re-visited and updated over the next few years as new information becomes 
available and further work enables the Board to have a better insight into the factors and 
local conditions that can affect well-being. 
 
The Assessment identified a large number of issues that need to be addressed in order to 
improve the well-being of our residents, however, there was a recognition amongst Board 
members that these issues needed to be prioritised, in order to ensure that working 
collaboratively will have the maximum impact.  This is discussed in more detail later in this 
Plan. 
 
The Act sets out seven National Well-being Goals for Wales which public services must 
work towards to improve social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being.  These 
are summarised below: 
 

Page 22

https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/


 
 

5 
 

 
 
The Act also sets out how public services should use the Sustainable Development 
Principle, which stipulates that “We must act in a manner in which we ensure that the 
needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations 
to meet their own needs.”  In order to evidence how this has been applied we must use 
integrated, preventative and collaborative approaches that take account of the long-term 
and involve our communities.  These five ways of working have informed our approach to 
the development of this Well-being Plan, which can be summarised as follows: 
 
Integration 
 
The Delivery Plan that will support the delivery of the Well-being Plan does not sit directly 
under the individual Well-being Objectives.  Rather, it identifies a series of outcome 
orientated actions and activities to respond to the issues facing the county borough.  The 
detailed actions have been supported by action planning with partners and communities.   
 
As areas of work are delivered in collaboration, and across the aims and objectives of 
contributing partners, so they integrate across the Well-being Objectives of each public 
body and contribute to the National Well-being Goals for Wales.  The chosen actions and 
activities are those which the Board considers will collectively maximise their contribution 
towards the National Well-being Goals. 

 
Collaboration 
 
Throughout the development of the Assessment of Well-being and the Well-being Plan, 
partners have been involved in all aspects, from the identification and prioritisation of the 
issues to be addressed, through to the development of the Well-being Objectives and the 
Delivery Plan. 
 
The Board recognises its collective responsibility to ensure the well-being of our future 
generations, and the necessity of working collaboratively to secure the best outcomes for 
local people across public sector delivery in the area. Board members will strengthen their 
ability to effect change by making delivery against the Well-being Plan central to core 
activity of their own organisations, and sharing accountability for its success. 

Page 23



 
 

6 
 

 
Long-term 
 
The Board recognises that many of the issues identified in the Assessment of Well-being 
are due to the historical legacy of the area and entrenched problems that cannot be 
addressed in the short term.  Therefore, these will need to be tackled over the longer term, 
with incremental change and creative solutions needed. While this plan sets actions and 
activities for the first five years it is written with an eye on long term sustainable change. 
 
Involvement 
 
The communities of the county borough have provided a wealth of insight into the 
conditions they, and our future generations, require for well-being.  The Board is grateful 
for the time, effort, and careful consideration of all those that have helped to shape the  
Well-being Plan and Objectives.  As we move into delivery against the Well-Being Plan the 
Board are keen to keep this dialogue open and involve residents in shaping and delivering 
the actions and solutions.  Only by working with local residents, their representatives and 
the private and third sector can we hope to achieve our shared objectives.  The Board 
welcomes direct contact from local communities to understand the lived experiences of 
people living and working within the area.   

 
Prevention 
 
The Board recognises that preventing problems from occurring is much more effective 
than dealing with the effects when problems do occur.  Therefore, the Board is committed 
to changing the way we work together so that preventative action is embedded in all the 
work that we do. 
 
Identifying the early interventions that can be delivered collaboratively by Board members 
(and with communities) will be an ongoing process.  Allocating resources to partnership 
activity is a challenge when faced with decreasing budgets; however, it is only by working 
together that improvements to well-being can be made. 
 
 
 

Page 24



 
 

7 
 

 
 
‘The Caerphilly We Want’ Well-Being Plan 
 
Context 
 
The county borough area is diverse both geographically and demographically. The Local 
Assessment of Well-being paints a picture of well-being in the area and provides a wealth 
of information that has helped inform this Plan. It can be accessed on the PSB website: 
 
https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/content/what-does-wellbeing-mean-you 
 
The Board operates in a local, regional and national policy context.  A number of key 
strategic drivers have been taken into account as part of this first Well-being Plan for the 
county borough.  For the purposes of the document, local is defined as the Caerphilly 
county borough local authority area. Some delivery will take place on a Gwent footprint 
(i.e. covering the local authority areas of Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Monmouthshire, 
Newport and Torfaen), and regional strategic planning for the ten authorities of South East 
Wales is focusing on the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, the ambitious vision for a vibrant 
well-connected economy in the South Wales area.  The Ministerial Valleys Taskforce is 
focusing on similar aims for communities along the M4 corridor.   
 
With the exception of the local authority, Board members operate at wider geographies 
than Caerphilly county borough, and therefore this Well-being Plan is written to be mindful 
of, and build upon, the Well-being Objectives of the partner organisations.  The associated 
Well-being Delivery Plan includes actions that are based on what partner organisations 
can deliver for the local area.  However, there is a need to ensure consistency of delivery 
outside the county borough for the Gwent footprint, and City Deal footprint in particular.  
 
The Regional Area Plan required by the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 
is determining the needs of the population for health and social care support.  The 
Population Needs Assessment for the Area Plan and the Well-being Assessment for the 
Well-Being Plan have naturally identified issues that overlap. To illustrate one such 
example, loneliness and isolation linked to an ageing population has been identified in 
both assessments.  Actions within the Well-Being Plan will compliment those of the 
Regional Area Plan, particularly where they prevent poor well-being escalating into a need 
for care and support. 
 
Deliverable and tangible outcomes for the City Deal and Valleys Taskforce support and sit 
alongside this local Well-being Plan, and it will be imperative to maximise the benefits from 
these initiatives for the county borough.  Local Government Reform has set a regional 
direction for strategic economic development, land use and transportation.  The actions 
and activities in this Well-being Plan will compliment (not contradict or duplicate) and 
support and enhance (not undermine) regional planning arrangements. 
 
As part of the Well-being Delivery Plan we will seek to explore opportunities for project 
delivery with neighbouring PSB’s, where identified actions have common points of interest 
or where collective action may enhance or maximise the impacts of the work of the Board. 
 

Page 25

https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/content/what-does-wellbeing-mean-you


 
 

8 
 

 

Future Trends 
 
The local Assessment of Well-being has extrapolated (as far as is possible) the future 
trends for the county borough under the seven National Well-being Goals.  This is further 
supported by Welsh Government’s Future Trends report.  The Board is encouraged that 
this key resource will contribute to decision making over the lifetime of the plan and 
beyond.   
 
However, this Well-Being Plan is not intended to be a static document.  Additional 
research has recently been commissioned jointly by the five Gwent PSB’s, which will help 
to identify the social, economic, environmental and cultural factors that are likely to affect 
the Gwent area in the future, over the short, medium and longer term.  This research will 
be used to inform any revisions to the Well-being Plan moving forward, and also this first 
version of the Well-being Delivery Plan and subsequent versions. 
 
The actions and activities set out in the Well-being Delivery Plan will be achieved over 
variable timeframes.  Each activity is intended to result in an incremental improvement in 
well-being, and as actions are achieved and evidenced best practice embedded, new 
activity will be undertaken. Future Assessments of Well-being and informed decision 
making will assist in this process moving forward. 
 
 

Page 26



 
 

9 
 

 

The Well-Being Objectives 
 
 
How did we arrive at the Well-being Objectives? 
 
The Assessment of Well-being published in March 2017 identified 37 issues for 
consideration and possible further work by the Board, in order to have a deeper 
understanding of the causes and factors influencing these issues and how they impact on 
well-being.  A series of prioritisation exercises were undertaken with a range of 
participants (including residents and communities) which identified six priority areas for the 
Board to consider.  A response analysis exercise was undertaken into each of these 
priority areas to identify why the issue is important, what work is currently ongoing, what 
good practice exists and what more could be done in the future. 
  
In formulating the Well-being Plan and Well-being Objectives, the Board was particularly 
conscious that a different approach and new ways of working are needed.  This requires a 
move away from the silo working that characterised some of the work under the former 
Single Integrated Plan.  Therefore, the Well-being Objectives are designed to be cross-
cutting in nature and make the maximum contribution to the National Well-being Goals.  
The Board were also keen to reflect that residents recognised the assets the area has, in 
particular the attractive local environment and strong sense of community, and that the 
plan should be positive and not focused on ‘need’. The Objectives have therefore been 
framed in a positive way. 
  
What was clear from all the work undertaken throughout the Assessment process and the 
development of the Well-being Plan was that four clear themes were emerging – people, 
places, a focus on early years, and the need for fundamental change to the way we work 
to enable a more joined up approach in the future.  This has led to the development of the 
four Well-being Objectives that will drive this Well-being Plan: 
 
• Positive Change – a shared commitment to improving the way we work together 
• Positive Start – giving our future generations the best start in life 
• Positive People – empowering and enabling all our residents to achieve their own 

potential 
• Positive Places – enabling our communities to be resilient and sustainable 
 
Further detailed information on the approach used to refine the issues identified in the 
Well-being Assessment and the development of the Well-being Objectives is provided in 
Appendix 1. 
 
The four Well-being Objectives have been developed to drive the delivery of the Well-
being Plan.  They have been written as an integrated set, with links and overlaps between 
them, as the Board recognises that achieving good well-being is a complex interaction 
between a myriad of factors.    Therefore, coordinating our resources and activity will have 
the greatest effect on improving well-being.   
 
The detailed Well-being Delivery Plan that sets out the steps for how we will deliver 
against these Objectives is included at Appendix 2.  This Delivery Plan identifies the short, 
medium and long term steps we will take, and how the Sustainable Development Principle 

Page 27



 
 

10 
 

and five ways of working have been taken into account.  This document also identifies how 
we will monitor progress and measure success.

Page 28



 
 

11 
 

 
 

P
age 29



 
 

12 
 

Objective 1: Positive Change – A shared commitment to improving the 
way we work together 
 
What our communities and stakeholders say 
 
“Positive Change has to happen first to enable the other P’s to succeed.” (Participant 
at Future Scenarios workshop, 25th October 2017) 
 
“We need a strong commitment to collaborative working with the community and 
make sure we work with those outside of the self-selecting part of the community.  
We have to find a way to engage with other parts of the community in a meaningful 
way.” (Participant at Future Scenarios workshop, 25th October 2017) 
 
“Jointly communicate positive messages about the county borough – listen to 
residents/service users.”  (Participant at Future Scenarios workshop, 25th October 2017) 
 
“Good partnership working is essential.  The benefits are wide ranging, from saving 
costs and resources to fewer overloads on staff and time constraints, and overall 
can provide a much better experience for the client or service user.” (Online survey 
response) 
 
Why we chose this objective 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations legislation sets a clear direction for public sector 
bodies to work together. The Board is fully committed to changing the way their 
organisations collaborate and has committed to directing resources to enable the delivery 
of the Plan, as far as is possible. To do this a number of positive ‘Enablers’ have been 
identified, where real change can demonstrably happen, thereby improving the well-being 
of local residents. These ‘Enablers’ will underpin the action areas in the Well-being 
Delivery Plan. 
 
The Board recognises that in order to improve the way we work together as organisations, 
the drive for this needs to come from the Board members.  We need to ensure that all our 
staff understand the importance of the approach being adopted and the need for change. 
 
Throughout the engagement activity it was highlighted that there are multiple buildings, 
land, infrastructure, staff and other assets which could potentially be used more effectively.  
The Board also needs to consider new technological advances including energy 
generation and use, IT and communications, and other technological developments in 
order to adopt a more sustainable approach to how it delivers services. Board members 
will consider how they spend their budgets to maximise the benefits to local communities,  
including making sure (where possible) that goods and services purchased are 
sustainable, low carbon and ethically responsible. 
 
Also emerging from the engagement activity was a very strong message that the Board 
needs to improve how and when it engages with residents and local communities, to 
enable them to be more involved in the work of the Board.  This will help to ensure that the 
Board, its partners and our local communities work together to deliver ‘The Caerphilly We 
Want’. 
 
 

Page 30



 
 

13 
 

Contribution to the National Well-being Goals 
 
A prosperous Wales Using financial resources in ways that benefit local 

communities including joint purchasing, sharing assets, 
embracing new technologies and sustainable purchasing will 
help ensure a prosperous Wales. We recognise the need to 
maximise the use and value of all of our assets including our 
staff, who are the catalyst for positive change.  
As supplies of fossil fuels become scarcer their cost will 
increase, so switching to alternative energy sources will help 
to prevent rising costs in the future.  

A resilient Wales Lower consumption of fossil fuels will help to protect the 
natural environment and local ecosystems. Improved 
management of our assets, sustainable and ethical 
procurement and embracing new technologies will all 
contribute to a resilient Wales.  

A healthier Wales  Enabling residents and local communities to be meaningfully 
involved in the delivery of the Well-being Plan will empower 
individuals, ensure opinions are valued and important and 
generate ownership.   

A more equal Wales All residents and local communities will be encouraged to be 
involved in the delivery of the Well-being Plan, regardless of 
where they live in the county borough.  The characteristics of 
individuals or communities will not be a barrier to 
involvement. 

A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

The ability of individuals and communities to influence the 
delivery of the Well-being Plan will encourage them to do 
more to help themselves, and to undertake community 
initiatives that will foster a sense of belonging and community 
pride. 

A Wales of vibrant 
culture and thriving 
Welsh language  

This objective will respect the cultural and historical traditions 
of the local area and the differences between our 
communities, ensuring that all parts of the county borough are 
involved helping to deliver the Well-being Plan. 

A globally responsible 
Wales 

Reducing our carbon footprint and increasing our use of 
renewable energy sources will have positive impacts on the 
local environment, and also at a national and global level. 
Behaviour change towards a more sustainable approach will 
have a huge impact on the local and global environment.  

 
 

Page 31



 
 

14 
 

 

Objective 2: Positive Start – Giving our future generations the best start 
in life 
 
What our communities and stakeholders say 
 
“I had a life changing experience aged 6 years and got no help to deal with what 
happened that day and it has affected me all my adult life and is still affecting me in 
adulthood.” (Attendee at Caerphilly Borough Mind meeting, 12th December 2017) 
 
“Mental health issues are showing at a very young age.  More support is needed.  
Some children won’t understand the issue let alone how to cope” (Participant at 
Upper Rhymney Community Engagement meeting, 3rd October 2017) 
 
“Children need a good start in life to thrive and go on to live happy, fulfilled and 
productive lives, especially in the first few years.  However, the positive start must 
continue throughout the child’s life and this can only be done through engaging 
parents.” (Online survey response) 
 
Why we chose this objective 
 
Protecting the well-being of children and young people (particularly in their early years) is 
the biggest determinant of their life chances and a positive transition into adulthood, and 
there is a wide range of evidence that demonstrates that by investing in the first few years 
of a child’s life, this will improve outcomes throughout the rest of their lives.  All Board 
members recognise their responsibilities to children and young people, and that 
maximising the potential of young people is key to ensuring that they build resilience that 
will last throughout their lives.  Young people need safe and secure childhoods where they 
are nurtured, supported and developed, including routes into training and employment, 
and an environment that supports their health and well-being.  This will help to ensure that 
that they live healthy lives where they can achieve their educational potential, be part of a 
healthy workforce and contribute to a prosperous Caerphilly county borough.  A number of 
actions have been captured within the Well-being Delivery Plan that will support children 
and young people to have the best start in life. 
 
Unfortunately there are inherent inequalities amongst children born within the county 
borough due to a wide variety of factors.  There are a number of deprived communities 
and pockets of deprivation right across the county borough, particularly in the north, the 
Mid Valleys area and the Caerphilly Basin.  There is a proven link between deprivation and 
poor health, poor educational attainment, low literacy and numeracy skills, low earnings 
and high unemployment.  Being born into a deprived household can therefore directly 
affect the potential of that child. 
 
In addition, some children are, sadly, exposed to adverse childhood experiences which 
can affect how they grow and develop.  Adverse childhood experiences are highly stressful 
events that can directly harm a child or affect the environment in which they live, such as 
growing up in a household exposed to drug use, alcohol misuse or domestic violence.  
Prevention of adverse childhood experiences is likely not only to improve the early year’s 
experiences of children in the county borough, but also reduce levels of health harming 

Page 32



 
 

15 
 

behaviour across the whole life of an individual, thereby reducing the negative impacts on 
their family and community. 
 
Children experiencing adverse childhood experiences are more likely to perform poorly in 
school, more likely to be involved in crime and ultimately less likely to be a productive 
member of society.  There is also evidence that the likelihood of a child experiencing 
adverse childhood experiences is higher in more deprived areas, which could exacerbate 
the impact on the child even further. 
 
Intervention in the early years, together with a focus on reducing and preventing adverse 
childhood experiences, will positively impact on the life chances of the individual and our 
future generations, and reduce the demand on services in the long term. 
 
Contribution to the National Well-being Goals 

 
A prosperous Wales Giving every child born in the county borough the best start in 

life will ensure that they have the support they need to reach 
their full educational potential, that they are able to secure 
rewarding and meaningful employment and that they become 
productive members of society in the future, thereby 
contributing to a more prosperous Caerphilly county borough. 

A resilient Wales Ensuring good maternal health, that children grow up in a 
safe and caring environment, and reducing poverty and 
deprivation will ensure that all children have the support they 
need to grow and develop, thereby ensuring they build their 
resilience throughout the course of their lives.  

A healthier Wales  Enabling children to have the best start in life will mean that 
they are less likely to suffer abuse and maltreatment, physical 
injury or psychological problems.  As adults they will be less 
likely to engage in health harming behaviours and have a 
reduced risk of developing diseases such as cancer, heart 
disease, diabetes and poor mental health. 

A more equal Wales Tackling the issues that cause inequality amongst children 
(such as deprivation and adverse childhood experiences) will 
help to ensure that every child will reach their full potential 
regardless of where they live in the county borough, and 
thereby help to contribute to a more equal Caerphilly county 
borough. Those living in areas of deprivation are at greater 
risk of experiencing multiple adverse childhood experiences.  

A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Supporting children to have the best start in life will help to 
reduce youth offending, anti-social behaviour and other crime 
levels, and lead to safer communities for all our residents.  
Tackling adverse childhood experiences will also mean that 
children are not exposed to these factors, and therefore they 
will be less likely to repeat the patterns of behaviour when 
they reach adulthood, having a positive effect on both their 
own family and the wider community. 

A Wales of vibrant 
culture and thriving 
Welsh language  

Children who are more engaged with education in general are 
more likely to benefit from improved access to opportunities 
to participate and engage in Welsh language, sporting and 
cultural activities.  Participating in sporting/arts activities in 

Page 33



 
 

16 
 

particular can help to build confidence for those taking part.   

Page 34



 
 

17 
 

 

A globally responsible 
Wales 

Engaging fully with educational opportunities will allow 
children to discover how their actions locally can affect global 
well-being, and help them to understand what actions they 
can take to help safeguard the future of the planet. Positive 
early intervention can prevent higher healthcare costs in 
adulthood.  

 

Page 35



 
 

18 
 

 

Objective 3: Positive People – Empowering and enabling all our 
residents to achieve their own potential 
 
What our communities and stakeholders say 
 
“Longevity, lifestyle, quality of life – we have to keep making small steps to improve 
people’s lifestyles and life expectancy.  Lots of small schemes have come and 
gone; we need to retain good practice” (Participant at Upper Rhymney Community 
Engagement meeting, 3rd October 2017) 
 
“How do we empower people?  Need knowledge of the local area.  Local services 
are disappearing which means it is difficult to see the 4P’s and feel empowered 
about it happening.” (Participant at Lower Islwyn Community Engagement meeting, 10th 
October 2017) 
 
“Residents need a clear path for information – someone to call, or a named 
person/service.  Also a place where people can go for more information [website] 
and social media presence.” (Participant at Lower Islwyn Community Engagement 
meeting, 10th October 2017) 
 
“Closure of GP surgeries in localities makes preventative health care difficult for 
people with no transport, disabled people and those relying on public transport” 
(Participant at Upper Rhymney Community Engagement meeting, 3rd October 2017) 
 
Why we chose this objective 
 
The Board member organisations exist to provide services for, and on behalf of, residents 
and the environment in which they live.  However, there needs to be a fundamental shift in 
how we plan, shape and deliver services in collaboration with each other, but more 
importantly, with communities.  We want residents to be able to access the services they 
need to help them look after their own well-being.  As well as actions that empower 
residents to look after their own physical, mental and well-being needs, we want to support 
them to become productive and active community members.  
 
Our older population is increasing and is predicted to rise even more sharply in the years 
to come. The positive contribution older residents provide to society is significant and 
recognised. By supporting residents to have a healthy and independent life for as long as 
possible, this contribution can be maximised and the demand on already stretched 
services can be reduced. 
 
Currently, most services are delivered when our residents are in need, such as treating an 
illness or dealing with a family that is in crisis.  We need to shift all public services to 
become more preventative in nature, so that problems are identified and addressed before 
individuals reach crisis point or require treatment for a health condition, for example.  This 
will also include providing residents with the support, advice and guidance they need in 
order to be able to take ownership of and manage their own lives. 
 

Page 36



 
 

19 
 

Equipping residents to adopt healthy behaviours will help them to take responsibility for 
and manage their own physical health, mental health and well-being. Lifestyle choices are 
a key cause of health inequalities and can have a major impact on healthy life expectancy.   
 
One of the major issues identified in the Assessment was the relatively high level of 
unemployment and, in particular, economic inactivity within the county borough.  
Unfortunately, some of our local residents have never worked or are employed in very low 
skilled jobs as they lack the qualifications, skills or confidence they need in order to 
engage fully with the labour market.  Some of our residents come from families where no-
one has worked for generations, and therefore they will require intensive support and 
opportunities to develop and build on their knowledge and skills. 
 
Throughout our engagement, volunteering was seen as a way of individuals making the 
first steps towards future employment, by allowing them to experience the world of work 
and help them to develop the skills that future employers will require.  It will also help to 
build their confidence and contribute to their personal well-being.  It has benefits from an 
organisational perspective, with volunteers contributing their own knowledge and skills to 
the organisation.  Corporate volunteering can also help to fulfil an organisation’s 
contribution to local communities, by allowing staff the opportunity to regularly offer their 
time to help local organisations or causes. 
 
Apprenticeships were also seen as a route to sustainable and well paid employment.  Not 
only finding work but also having opportunities to progress were seen as vital from our 
engagement activity.  Apprenticeship opportunities for all residents, both younger and 
older, were thought to be extremely important, with increasing employability being 
fundamental to tackling poverty and reducing inequality amongst our residents. 
 
The Board recognises that different groups within our overall population (such as older 
people, carers, children and young people, people with disabilities etc.) may have specific 
needs that require targeted interventions.  Alongside the work that has been undertaken in 
relation to develop this Well-being Plan, the Greater Gwent Health, Social Care & Well-
being Partnership has undertaken a Population Needs Assessment, which identifies the 
needs of people requiring care and support.  The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 
Act 2014 introduced a duty on local authorities and local health boards to prepare and 
publish this Assessment, and to address these issues via an Area Plan.  The Area Plan 
will be published in April 2018 and there are overlaps between the Area Plan and this 
Well-being Plan.  Therefore, the plans will complement one another in terms of delivery, 
ensuring that actions are not duplicated.  The Area Plan can be accessed at the following 
link: 
 
WEBLINK TO FINAL VERSION OF AREA PLAN (still draft) 
 
However, the Board recognises that every resident has the potential, regardless of their 
personal circumstances, to make a positive contribution to the area in which they live and 
society as a whole.   
 
Contribution to the National Well-being Goals 

 
A prosperous Wales Good health and personal resilience will ensure that residents 

are able to fully engage with the labour market and help 
contribute to a prosperous Caerphilly county borough.  A well-

Page 37



 
 

20 
 

educated and highly skilled population will enable residents to 
take full advantage of the employment opportunities that exist 
in the local area and wider region. 

Page 38



 
 

21 
 

 

A resilient Wales A good education and well developed skill-set will enable 
residents to respond positively to the constantly changing 
world that we all live in, and enable them and their families to 
be more resilient and adaptable to change in the future. 
Individuals with improved health will be empowered to 
contribute positively society.   

A healthier Wales  Equipping our residents with the skills and knowledge they 
need to improve and manage their own health and well-being 
is an important part of ill health prevention. Lack of 
employment has a huge impact on individuals’ physical and 
mental well-being.  Being in employment improves feelings of 
self-worth, self-confidence, encourages better social 
interaction and helps individuals to feel that they have a place 
and value in society.  Demand on already stretched services 
can be reduced by supporting residents to have a healthy and 
independent life for as long as possible.  

A more equal Wales Every individual deserves the opportunity to fulfil their 
potential, regardless of their socio-economic characteristics, 
background or circumstances.  The right education enhanced 
with the appropriate skills will provide them with the tools 
necessary to enter and maintain employment, and take 
advantage of ongoing development and training opportunities 
that may be available. 
Those living in areas of deprivation are at greater risk of poor 
health, so adopting healthy behaviours and reducing the 
inequality gap in life expectancy should promote equality.  

A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

A lack of educational qualifications, poor literacy and 
numeracy levels, high unemployment, long-term sickness and 
lack of aspiration are unfortunately entrenched in many of our 
deprived communities and smaller pockets across the county 
borough.  This can feel like a self-fulfilling prophecy, with 
individuals unable to break out of these circumstances.  This 
can lead to a lack of interaction within the community, and 
increased levels of crime and anti-social behaviour, together 
with increased levels of alcohol and drug use. 

A Wales of vibrant 
culture and thriving 
Welsh language  

A lack of interaction with the local community will mean that 
individuals and families do not take advantage of the social 
opportunities that exist.  In addition, lower household income 
will limit the opportunities that both adults and children have 
to participate in activities such as sport, leisure and the arts. 
Improving health empowers individuals to be active members 
in their community.  

A globally responsible 
Wales 

A strong local economy where there is high employment will 
help to contribute to the economy both regionally and 
nationally, and thereby contribute to a strong global economy. 
Improving resident’s health will prevent higher healthcare 
costs.  

 
 

Page 39



 
 

22 
 

 

Objective 4: Positive Places - Enabling our communities to be resilient 
and sustainable 
 
What our communities and stakeholders say 
 
 “Need community hubs – some groups can be very ‘parochial’ it’s their space not 
shared space, other areas have nothing.  People are key to community cohesion but 
not every community has that key link person.  We need to find them.” (Participant at 
Upper Rhymney Community Engagement meeting, 3rd October 2017) 
 
“The housing boom is taking over spaces in the countryside.  Also taking over 
services such as education, transport etc. which also has a knock on the effect on 
the area, which affects people’s well-being.” (Participant at Lower Islwyn Community 
Engagement meeting, 10th October 2017) 
 
Why we chose this objective 
 
The environment in which we live has a large part to play in individual personal 
perceptions of well-being.  Having attractive, well-used and connected communities with 
easy access to the natural environment, affordable and sustainable housing, and low 
crime levels will support community resilience. The Board members will collaborate in this 
approach in a more sustainable way, taking collective action to promote positive places 
that provide for community and personal well-being. 
 
As previously discussed, for some of our more deprived communities long-term economic 
inactivity has become normalised and poverty and disadvantage are entrenched.  The 
‘Deep Place’1 approach being adopted in Lansbury Park in Caerphilly (as a way of 
addressing the issues experienced by local residents) will be a model for how we can 
potentially replicate improvements in well-being in less advantaged communities across 
the county borough.  This will help these communities to be much more resilient to 
inevitable change in the future, and give them the tools and support to enable them to help 
themselves. 
 
From the Assessment and our engagement activity, we know that residents value the 
fantastic green environment in which they live, which provides direct benefits and space 
for relaxation, physical activity, learning and connection with nature.  There are also a 
wealth of other benefits for the natural environment on which our existence and quality of 
life depends – from the regulation of the climate, to food production, energy production, 
lowering flood risk and reducing the effects of air and other pollution.  A network of healthy 
and connected green spaces that are biodiverse with healthy functioning ecosystems are 
essential for well-being, and we need to ensure that local communities are able to help 
protect and look after them, both now and in the future. 
 
In comparison with other local authority areas with similar characteristics, the county 
borough does not have a high incidence of crime.  However, pockets of crime do exist, 
                                            
1 The Deep Place method is an innovative approach to sustainable community and economic renewal, which 
seeks to unify local economic development with a local employment strategy, and combines the existing 
range of interventions with a direct approach to creating employment for marginalised populations. 

Page 40



 
 

23 
 

either temporally or spatially.  Our community engagement highlighted that whilst crime 
levels are relatively low, there are concerns around crime and disorder and anti-social 
behaviour in particular.  Feeling unsafe within the local community has a significant impact 
on personal well-being, particularly for more vulnerable individuals, but can also impact on  
perceptions of the community as a whole.   
 
The visual impacts of low level environmental crime (e.g. litter, fly tipping and off road 
motorcycling) can blight an area, and the effects are often more acute in more deprived 
areas, where the lack of consideration by a few can affect the whole community. 
 
One of the issues raised by residents during the community engagement activity was the 
need to travel to access health services, particularly larger hospitals outside of the county 
borough.  This was a particular issue for individuals with accessibility issues, due to poor 
public transport and current poor health.  A more preventative approach to the delivery of 
healthcare is needed, by ensuring that the right healthcare professionals with the right 
skills are in the right places at the right times. 
 
The Board recognises the strong connections residents have with their communities, 
which enhances their cultural and social identities and helps to support the historical 
legacy of the area.  The county borough has a rich arts scene which has developed from 
Welsh cultural traditions, with many opportunities for individuals to enjoy activities such as 
visual arts, dance, music and sport.  These activities can also help to reduce feelings of 
loneliness and isolation and enable residents to be more active members of their 
communities.  Opportunities for fluent Welsh speakers and Welsh learners to use the 
language in their everyday lives was a very important message from the Assessment, and 
will help to achieve the Welsh Government’s vision of a million Welsh speakers by 20502. 
 
Contribution to the National Well-being Goals 

 
A prosperous Wales The way in which we manage our environment and green 

infrastructure is a vital component of a low carbon society, 
providing the natural resources on which we all depend for 
our quality of life.  They can also provide employment and 
other benefits such as inward investment and tourism.  
Having well-connected communities with low crime levels will 
encourage individuals to bring up their families within our 
communities, and encourage businesses to start, develop 
and grow, thereby providing employment for local people and 
supporting the foundational economy. 

A resilient Wales Creating healthy, green, well-functioning, well-connected and 
sustainable communities will help us adapt and respond to 
the future challenges we face.  
A network of connected green spaces and habitats can 
deliver multiple benefits for environmental, social, economic 
and cultural well-being for both individuals and nature.  

                                            
2 http://gov.wales/topics/welshlanguage/welsh-language-strategy-and-policies/cymraeg-2050-welsh-
language-strategy/?lang=en 

Page 41



 
 

24 
 

 

A healthier Wales  Communities with better public open space help residents to 
be more active and engaged, with better mental and physical 
health, and an attractive local environment is a key 
component of this.  Living in a low crime area will impact 
positively on feelings of general well-being, and being able to 
access appropriate healthcare services close to where 
residents live will also help to improve well-being.  
Opportunities for taking part in cultural and sporting activities 
will help to reduce feelings of isolation and loneliness. 

A more equal Wales The socio-economic circumstances of residents should not be 
a barrier to their enjoyment of the facilities and activities 
available within the county borough, particularly in view of the 
potential benefits to their well-being.  Similarly, there should 
be equality in the provision of appropriate healthcare services 
close to where residents live across all our communities.  

A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Respect for shared public spaces and intolerance of the anti-
social behaviour that can blight them will encourage feelings 
of pride, and help residents to value them.  Good quality 
green spaces are vital for promoting positive perceptions of 
the county borough, as is ensuring that residents feel they are 
connected to the spaces that surround them.  Cultural and 
sporting activities offer an ideal opportunity to enhance the 
well-being of individuals and help to bring communities 
together in shared enjoyment and support of these activities. 

A Wales of vibrant 
culture and thriving 
Welsh language  

The natural environment is an important component of how 
people feel connected to where they live and their own 
personal identity, particularly in relation to the rich historical 
legacy that is evident in much of the surrounding area.  
Utilising our green spaces for sport and recreational activity, 
whether formal or informal, will improve the physical and 
mental well-being of our residents.  Opportunities for 
residents to enjoy cultural and sporting activities will help to 
ensure that their social and cultural identities are protected 
and enhanced.  Providing opportunities for residents to use 
the Welsh language in their everyday lives which also help to 
ensure that the use of the language thrives within the county 
borough. 

A globally responsible 
Wales 

By protecting and looking after our local environment and our  
natural resources, we understand  and respect the impact our 
local actions have on the global environment and strive to 
meet our global obligations.  

 
 

 
 
 

Page 42



 
 

25 
 

Consultation and Engagement Activity for the Well-being Plan 
Chapter 4 (Involvement) of Shared Purpose: Shared Future (SPSF 3) of the statutory 
guidance on the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 outlines that the 
Board is required to fully consult with the following statutory consultees: 
 
• The Future Generations Commissioner 
• The Board’s invited participants 
• It’s other partners 
• Such of the persons who received but did not accept an invitation from the Board under 

Section 30 as the Board considers appropriate 
• The Local authority’s overview and scrutiny committee 
• Relevant voluntary organisations as the Board considers appropriate 
• Representatives of persons resident in the area 
• Representatives of persons carrying on business in the area 
• Trade unions representing workers in the area 
• Such persons with an interest in the maintenance and enhancement of natural 

resources in the Board’s area, as the Board considers appropriate 
• Any other persons who in the opinion of the Board are interested in the improvement of 

the area’s economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being 
 
The Board agreed that the statutory 12 week consultation period on the Draft Well-being 
Plan would take place between 25th September and 18th December 2017.  Individual  
e-mails were sent to the following, together with a copy of the Draft Plan and the Draft 
Delivery Plan: 
 
• The Future Generations Commissioner 
• The Welsh Government 
• Members of Parliament for the area 
• Welsh Assembly Members for the area 
• Elected Members and Town/Community Councillors for the area 
• Gwent Association of Voluntary Organisations (on behalf of voluntary organisations in 

the area) 
• Unison, GMB and Unite 
• Caerphilly Business Forum 
 
The Draft Well-being Plan was reported to Partnerships Scrutiny Committee on 14th 
September 2017.  In addition, the Draft Plan and supporting documentation was published 
on the Board website on 25th September 2017, together with an online survey that could 
be used to record responses to the Draft Plan.  The online survey was also publicised via 
social media channels including Facebook and Twitter.  A summary of the online survey 
results can be found in Appendix 4. 
 
A number of written responses were received and a summary of the main points of each is 
provided in Appendix 5. 
 
A number of targeted face-to-face engagement events were held including five community 
engagement workshops, one in each of the five community areas; a Future Scenarios 
workshop (all the partners involved in the work around the Act); Interact (a network of 
organisations working with children and young people); a series of meetings with the 

Page 43



 
 

26 
 

Valley Voices network; and a Board workshop to consider the action areas (or steps to be 
taken), together with a wider focus on monitoring and accountability for the Plan.   
A summary of the write-ups for each of these engagement events can be found at 
Appendix 8. 
 
It should be noted that both the written responses and the face-to-face meetings provided 
a wide range of comments and suggestions in relation to the Action Areas that will be 
taken forward via the Well-being Delivery Plan.  All the comments have been distributed to 
the appropriate Action Area Leads, to enable them to be used to inform the detailed 
actions under each of the Action Areas. 
 
 

Page 44



 
 

27 
 

 

How We Will Deliver – Key Principles  
 
 
The Well-being Delivery Plan (see Appendix 2) will outline the actions to be taken in 
collaboration, who will be involved and the expected timeframe for completion of each 
individual action.   
 
Tracking progress 
 
At the PSB workshop on 4th December 2017 the Board agreed that whilst it is difficult to 
agree the specifics of any reporting framework until the actions are defined, a set of 
guiding principles were decided.  Each Action Area Group will be empowered to set their 
own measures, but in line with the agreed guiding principles: 
 
Principles 
 
• The purpose of reporting has to be clear. 
• The measures chosen should be meaningful and show if we are making a difference.  
• The number and types of measures should be appropriate for the actions and 

outcomes, and should not be limited to data or metrics.  Quality of narrative and 
understanding of the situation is as important as data.   

• Effective communications is key.  Written reports should be supplemented with verbal 
presentations.  The PSB should feedback to those who report information.  

• Action Areas should consider interrelated datasets so there can be improved analysis 
of cause and effect. 

• The PSB Champion will present the report to the Board. 
 
How will we be accountable? 
 
Performance reporting will be on 6-monthly basis, but there will be an opportunity for 
interim reporting as exception based quarterly reports if decisions are needed or issues 
are emerging.  There must be flexibility in the whole process (see Accountability). 
 
A close working relationship between the PSB Champion and Action Area Lead is 
important for effective reporting. The PSB Champion will present reports to the Board and 
this role will help the Action Area Group to flag up information and updates the PSB, who 
will need to understand the deeper issues affecting outcomes.   

 
This close working relationship will enable the conflicting need to have routine reporting, 
and at the same time allow for more flexible reporting. This will help in deciding what 
issues may need to be flagged up if, for example, a decision is needed that cannot wait 
until the next reporting period.  This will be a new way of connecting reporting with 
narrative, exception reporting and feeding back.  This will also provide accountability if 
information has not been provided.    
 
Performance reports are placed on the monitoring section of the Board website 
(https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/content/monitoring-scorecards) 

Page 45

https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/content/monitoring-scorecards


 
 

28 
 

 and form part of the meeting papers for each quarterly Board meeting. 
 
 
 
The local authority Partnerships Scrutiny Committee receives a summary exception report 
at each of its meetings and has the ability to call Board Members to account for delivery 
progress. 
 
The national indicator set (where it can be extrapolated for the county borough area) will 
be used where appropriate.  The national indicators will not match closely to actions, 
however, this national measurement will show progress over time for the area. 
 
The Public Services Boards in Gwent have commissioned Happy City 
(http://www.happycity.org.uk/) to develop: 

 
i. A Thriving Places Index will report on the local conditions for well-being across 

Gwent.  It will help the Boards to understand and assess the determinants of well-
being and establish the foundation for better decision-making and resource use, 
which will help improve the well-being of our residents. 
 

ii. A Happiness Pulse for Gwent, which will be an accessible, informative tool that will 
measure three key areas of personal well-being – how people feel, how they act and 
how they relate to others, as well as exploring how residents engage with life in their 
communities.  It will be designed to be engaging and informative for individuals, 
whilst providing vital data for the Boards on how they can better support residents to 
improve their well-being. 
 

In the round, the combination of outputs, case studies, population outcomes, national 
indicators, Thriving Places Index and Happiness Pulse data will help to track progress over 
time. 
 
 
 

Page 46

http://www.happycity.org.uk/


 
 

29 
 

 

The Well-being Objectives of Partner Organisations  
(February 2018) 
 
Board member organisations that are subject to the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 within their own right are required to set and meet their own public body 
Well-being Objectives. Each public body is required to consider the Well-being Objectives 
of other organisations, and those of the Public Services Board, in considering how they will 
maximise their contribution to the National Well-being Goals for Wales. 
 
Gwent Police and the Gwent Police and Crime Commissioner are invited partners with full 
membership of the Board.  Subject to central government legislation, the Police and Crime 
Commissioner is required to set the local Police and Crime Plan for the Force area. Due to 
the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, there is a mutual cooperation 
requirement placed on Gwent Police, the Police and Crime Commissioner, the local 
authority, the local Health Board, the local Fire and Rescue Service and Probation 
Services to have regard to and cooperate with each other’s priorities. 
 
Police and Crime Plan priorities run for the term of office of the Commissioner, but the 
Well-being Objectives of Board partners run for variable timeframes.  
 
Aneurin Bevan University Health Board 
 
• Support every parent expecting a child and give every child in Gwent support to ensure 

the best start in life. 
• Support adults and children in Gwent to live healthily and to age well, so that they can 

retain independence and enjoy a high quality of life into old age. 
• Promote mental well-being as a foundation for health, building personal and community 

resilience. 
• Encourage involvement of people who use our services and those they support, in 

jointly owned decisions regarding their own health and care plans, and in wider service 
planning and evaluation so that we, with our partners, deliver outcomes that matter 
most to people. 

• Ensure we maximise the effective use of NHS resources in achieving planned 
outcomes for services and patients, by excellent communication, monitoring and 
tracking systems in all clinical areas. 

• Promote a diverse workforce able to express their cultural heritage, with opportunities 
to learn and use Welsh in the workplace. 

• Develop our staff to be the best that they can be with high levels of employee well-
being and, as the largest employer in Gwent, promote NHS careers and provide 
volunteering and work experience opportunities. 

• Reduce our negative environmental impact through a responsible capital building 
programme and a sustainable approach to the provision of building services including; 
carbon and waste management, undertaking procurement on a whole life-cycle cost 
basis and support local sourcing, promote sustainable and active travel and, improve 
environmental health. 

• Plan and secure sustainable and accessible healthcare services, ranging from 
prevention through to treatment, rehabilitation and recovery that meet current and 

Page 47



 
 

30 
 

future needs and address health inequities and differing levels of need across our 
communities. 

• Continue to integrate our actions with wider public, independent and voluntary sector 
partners with the aim of developing streamlined, who system services for people who 
use our services and those they support. 

 
Gwent Police and The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
• Taking action to prevent and reduce crime by working with partner organisations and 

communities to tackle crimes that present the greatest threat, harm and risk and 
especially those crimes committed against the most vulnerable.  

• Provide excellent support for all victims of crime with a particular focus on preventing 
further serious harm.  

• Ensuring that the police, partners and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
engage with communities to encourage, help and support them to work together to 
keep themselves safe. 

• Ensuring that police work closely with partner organisations to tackle anti-social 
behaviour effectively. 

• Ensuring that Gwent Police and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner are 
high performing organisations which value and invest in our staff to achieve value for 
money in delivering impressive services that meet the needs of all our communities.  
 

Natural Resources Wales 
 
• Champion the Welsh environment and the sustainable management of Wales’ natural 

resources. 
• Ensure land and water in Wales is managed sustainably and in an integrated way. 
• Improve the resilience and quality of our ecosystems. 
• Reduce the risk to people and communities from environmental hazards like flooding 

and pollution 
• Help people live healthier and more fulfilled lives. 
• Promote successful and responsible business, using natural resources without 

damaging them. 
• Develop NRW into an excellent organisation, delivering first-class customer service 

 
South Wales Fire and Rescue Service (Strategic Themes) 
 
• Reduce risk by reducing the number of deliberate fires; obtaining and sharing 

information where possible with other agencies to reduce risk and improve community 
well-being; explore and understand the reasons behind fire related injuries. 

• Undertake engagement to obtain views on service delivery, risk and priorities. 
• Ensure that we attract, develop and retain a suitably resilient workforce that reflects our 

communities and is capable of delivering services. 
• Ensure ICT systems and services are available to enable efficiency and support 

service delivery. 
• Work with others to be more efficient and effective. 

 
Public Health Wales 
 

Page 48



 
 

31 
 

• Build capacity and support system change, to protect and improve health and reduce 
inequalities. 

• Give our children the best start in life including opportunities to grow, play and learn in 
a healthy and safe environment. 

• Support the NHS to deliver high quality, equitable and sustainable services that meet 
the needs of citizens at every stage of their life. 

• Minimise public health risks from current and emerging diseases, environmental 
hazards and emergencies. 

• Influence policy, planning and design to create sustainable, culturally thriving and 
cohesive communities, to tackle the wider determinants of health and to break the 
cycle of poverty and disadvantage. 

• Maximise the potential of our natural and cultural resources to promote physical and 
mental health and well-being and create a low carbon, environmentally resilient Wales. 

• Strengthen our role in global health and sustainable development, realising the benefits 
of international engagement. 

 
Welsh Government 

Prosperity for All: The National Strategy 
 

http://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf 
 

• Prosperous and Secure 
 Support people and businesses to drive prosperity 
 Tackle regional inequality and promote fair work 
 Drive sustainable growth and combat climate change 

 
• Healthy and Active 

 Deliver quality health and care service fit for the future 
 Promote good health and well-being for everyone 
 Build healthier communities and better environments 

 
• Ambitious and Learning  

 Support young people to make the most of their potential 
 Build ambition and encourage learning for life 
 Equip everyone with the right skills for a changing world 

 
• United and Connected 

 Build resilient communities, culture and language 
 Deliver modern and connected infrastructure 
 Promote and protect Wales’ place in the world 

Page 49

http://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf


  Appendix 1 

MOVING FROM THE ISSUES IDENTIFIED IN THE WELL-BEING ASSESSMENT TO 
THE OBJECTIVES FOR THE WELL-BEING PLAN 
 
 
The Caerphilly Public Services Board’s (the Board’s) local Assessment of Well-being 
was published in March 2017.  This document aimed to identify the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural factors that impact on the lives of Caerphilly borough 
residents, for both current and future generations 
 
In developing the Assessment we engaged extensively with a large cross section of our 
communities including residents, the business community and the third sector, and 
specific target groups such as young people and the Caerphilly 50+ Forum. 
 
The Assessment also drew on relevant data and the expertise of local people and 
organisations in considering the strengths and assets of our communities, which can be 
built upon to help improve the well-being of these communities.   
 
The Assessment was in the main structured around the seven Well-being Goals for 
Wales, and at the end of each section was a list of emerging issues which could 
potentially have been considered by the Board in terms of further detailed work.  Some 
of these issues were ‘single organisation’ issues which could not addressed via 
collaborative action by the Board.  There were also issues which were duplicated, so 
these were merged and/or amended. 
 
This exercise resulted in a list of 36 issues, which are summarised below: 
 
1. Maximising the benefits of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal for Caerphilly 

county borough. 
2. Developing a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system, including 

maximising the benefits of the Metro. 
3. Linking public transport to the provision of active travel opportunities.  
4. Providing training, apprenticeships, employment and volunteering opportunities 

that are appropriate for all sectors of the community. 
5. Ensuring young people have the right support and opportunities to enable them 

to pursue a path into work (either vocational or academic) including careers 
advice, mentoring and work experience. 

6. Protecting and enhancing local habitats for biodiversity. 
7. Improving the provision of, access to and promotion of community outdoor 

spaces, green spaces and the wider countryside. 
8. Fostering a greater sense of “community spirit”.  
9. Reducing the risks of flooding including protecting vulnerable homes, communities 

and infrastructure. 
10. Managing the use of natural resources sustainably, and helping communities to 

understand the need to reduce our ecological footprint. 
11. Ensuring that we maintain safe, secure supplies of clean water. 
12. Reducing low level environmental issues (e.g. dog fouling, litter and fly-tipping) 

by fostering respect, responsibility and ownership of local areas. 
13. Balancing the need for development with protecting the environment. 
14. Reducing the life expectancy and healthy life expectancy inequality gap between 

the most and least deprived populations in the county borough. 

Page 50



  Appendix 1 

15. Facilitating a shift from treatment of ill health to a society that enables people to 
adopt healthy behaviours. 

16. Improve the proportion of adults and children within the county borough who are 
a healthy weight.  

17. Further reduce smoking rates and the uptake of smoking. 
18. Identifying and breaking the cycle of Adverse Childhood Experiences.  
19. Improving access to GP and hospital appointments.  
20. Providing improved broadband and IT infrastructure, to enable greater digital 

inclusion. 
21. Providing better and more easily accessible information and services to 

empower people to improve their own well-being.  
22. Supporting opportunities in the community for lifetime education, hobbies and 

interests. 
23. Tackling loneliness and isolation for all age groups.  
24. Ensuring people feel safe in their community, by reducing crime and anti-social 

behaviour and the fear of crime. 
25. Developing suitable housing to meet the variety of people’s needs, including 

affordable housing. 
26. Supporting people with dementia to live well in their communities. 
27. Reducing the victimisation of vulnerable sections of the community, including 

domestic abuse, hate crime and bullying. 
28. Reducing the effects of substance misuse on individuals and communities. 
29. Making provision for the arts and support opportunities for the direct participation 

of local people. 
30. Maximising the use of public sector land, buildings and other assets for 

community use. 
31. Developing an appealing and coherent tourism and leisure experience for 

residents and visitors to the county borough. 
32. Working in partnership to conserve and protect our natural heritage and the built 

environment. 
33. Promoting use of Welsh in workplaces and public facing institutions and 

businesses to make it easier to converse in Welsh and to use the language in 
everyday life. 

34. Ensuring homes and public buildings are sustainable and energy efficient, to 
reduce our carbon footprint. 

35. Making communities more resilient to global pressures by supporting 
opportunities for renewable energy and community food growing. 

36. Maintaining and enhancing sustainable and attractive communities and town 
centres. 

 
The Prioritisation Process 
 
The PSB were conscious that it would not be possible to take all these issues forward in 
terms of further detailed work or potentially response analysis.  Therefore, it agreed to 
undertake a prioritisation exercise to identify what were they main priority issues that 
need to be addressed, at least in the first iteration of the Well-being Plan.  In order to 
inform this prioritisation further engagement work was undertaken, which comprised of 
four main elements. 
 
  

Page 51



  Appendix 1 

 Assessing each issue using a ‘prioritisation tool’ 

 Consulting with statutory partners 

 Holding a Future Scenarios 2 meeting with professionals representing partner 
organisations 

 Holding 3 ‘Have we got it right?’ community consultation events 

 An online consultation and smaller scale events with targeted groups 
 
The prioritisation tool 
 
A prioritisation tool was developed by the Council’s Corporate Policy Team, in 
conjunction with partner organisations.  It incorporated the five ways of working set out 
in the WFG Act, plus additional criteria relating to policy drivers and resources.  The 
purpose of this tool was to evaluate each of the 36 issues in a transparent and 
unbiased way using common criteria.  Each of the criteria was assigned a score ranging 
from 0 and up to 4, depending on how important each individual criterion was felt to be.  
The potential scores for each of the criteria are detailed below, with a maximum score 
available of 29 points: 
 

 Issue Score Weighting criteria 

1. Data trends/research 0 Data trend indicates that no intervention is 
required 

  1 Data trend indicates that some intervention 
is required 

  2 Data trend indicates that significant 
invention is required 

2. Collaboration 1 Collaboration would add minimal value 

  2 Collaboration would add some value 

  3 Collaboration would add significant value 

  4 Collaboration is critical 

3. Integration across well-
being goals 

1 Contributes to 1-2 goals 

  2 Contributes to 3-4 goals 

  3 Contributes to 5 or more goals 

Involvement 

4a. Identified by the public 0 Not identified by the public 

  1 Issue is of some importance 

  2 Issue is of moderate importance 

  3 Issue is of significant importance 

    

4b. Identified by stakeholders 0 Not identified by stakeholders 

  1 Issue is of some importance 

  2 Issue is of moderate importance 

  3 Issue is of significant importance 

Long-term 

5. Long-term 0 Interventions likely to have no long-term 
impact on well-being goals 

  1 Interventions likely to have minimal long-
term impact on well-being 

  2 Interventions likely to have moderate long-

Page 52



  Appendix 1 

term impact on well-being 

  3 Interventions likely to have significant long-
term impact on well-being 

Prevention 

6a. Impact of preventative 
action on well-being 

0 Likely to have negative or no impact on 
well-being 

  1 Likely to have minimal positive impact on 
well-being 

  2 Likely to have moderate positive impact on 
well-being 

  3 Likely to have significant positive impact 
on well-being 

6b. Impact of preventative 
action on service demand 

0 Likely to have no impact or increase 
service demand 

  1 Likely to have minimal impact on reducing 
service demand 

  2 Likely to have moderate impact on 
reducing service demand 

  3 Likely to have significant impact on 
reducing service demand 

7. Strategic/policy drivers 0 There are no significant strategic/ policy 
drivers 

  1 There are some significant strategic/policy 
drivers 

  2 There are many significant strategic/policy 
drivers 

8. Use of resources 
(efficiency/effectiveness) 

1 This will require significant additional 
resources 

  2 This will require moderate additional 
resources 

  3 This will require minimal additional 
resources 

 
 
The criteria of ‘involvement’ and ‘prevention’ were split into two sub-categories and 
given double weighting, in an attempt to take account of the potential importance of 
these criteria in terms of the effects on the well-being of individuals and public services 
in terms of service demands. 
 
A group of representatives from partner organisations was established, which included 
the Council, Natural Resources Wales, Public Health Wales, the Gwent Association of 
Voluntary Organisation and the Gwent Community Cohesion Forum.  They agreed the 
criteria detailed above and as a group assessed each of the 36 issues detailed above 
against the agreed criteria.  This resulted in a ranked list of issues by score, and the top 
12 issues identified are shown overleaf. 
 
  

Page 53



  Appendix 1 

Rank Issue Score  
(max 29) 

1 Providing training, apprenticeships, employment and 
volunteering opportunities that are appropriate for all sectors of 
the community 

25.0 

2 Identifying and breaking the cycle of Adverse Childhood 
Experiences 

24.5 

3 Facilitating a shift from treatment of ill health to a society that 
enables people to adopt healthy behaviours 

23.5 

4 Reducing the life expectancy and healthy life expectancy 
inequality gap between the most and least deprived populations 
in the county borough 

22.5 

5 Tackling loneliness and isolation for all age groups 22.0 

=6 Reducing low level environmental issues (e.g. dog fouling, litter 
and fly tipping) by fostering respect, responsibility and ownership 
of local areas 

21.5 

=6 Ensuring people feel safe in their community, by reducing crime 
and anti-social behaviour and the fear of crime 

21.5 

=8 Protecting and enhancing local habitats for biodiversity. 
 

21.0 

=8 Providing better and more easily accessible information and 
services to empower people to improve their own well-being. 

21.0 

=8 Reducing the victimisation of vulnerable sections of the 
community, including domestic abuse, hate crime and bullying. 

21.0 

=8 Ensuring homes and public buildings are sustainable and 
energy efficient, to reduce our carbon footprint. 

21.0 

12 Developing suitable housing to meet the variety of people’s 
needs, including affordable housing. 

20.5 

 
 
Future Scenarios 2 
 
On 2nd February 2017 a second ‘Future Scenarios’ meeting was held with professionals 
from partner organisations, with over 70 individuals attending.  The meeting was split 
into workshops, and they were asked whether the list of 36 issues covered what they 
expected to see emerging from the Well-being Assessment.  A number of workshop 
groups raised financial literacy as an issue that was missing from the list, and it was 
agreed that this would be added to the original list.  The wording of this issue was 
agreed as: 
 
‘Improving financial literacy to help people make informed choices regarding their 
personal and family finances’ 
 
Each of the workshop groups were asked to prioritise their top 5 issues from the list of 
37, and overleaf is a summary of the top 12 prioritised issues that emerged from this 
meeting. 
 
  

Page 54



  Appendix 1 

Rank Issue No. of 
groups 

identifying 
this as a 
priority 

1 Ensuring young people have the right support and 
opportunities to enable them to pursue a path into work (either 
vocational or academic) including careers advice, mentoring 
and work experience 

7 

2 Providing training, apprenticeships, employment and 
volunteering opportunities that are appropriate for all sectors of 
the community 

6 

3 Developing suitable housing to meet the variety of people’s 
needs, including affordable housing 

5 

=4 Identifying and breaking the cycle of Adverse Childhood 
Experiences 

4 

=4 Facilitating a shift from treatment of ill health to a society that 
enables people to adopt healthy behaviours 

4 

=6 Reducing the life expectancy and healthy life expectancy 
inequality gap between the most and least deprived 
populations in the county borough 

3 

=6 Maximising the benefits of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
for Caerphilly county borough 

3 

=8 Developing a modern, integrated and sustainable transport 
system, including maximising the benefits of the Metro. 

2 

=8 Improving the provision of, access to and promotion of 
community outdoor spaces, green spaces and the wider 
countryside. 

2 

=8 Fostering a greater sense of “community spirit”. 
 

2 

=8 Balancing the need for development with protecting the 
environment. 
 

2 

=8 Ensuring people feel safe in their community, by reducing 
crime and anti-social behaviour and the fear of crime. 

2 

 
 
Community engagement events 
 
Three community engagement events were held in order to gain feedback on the 37 
issues and to undertake the prioritisation exercise.  The details of dates and venues are 
shown below: 
 

 Blackwood Methodist Church, 8th February 2017 

 Elim Community Church (Pontlottyn), 13th February 2017 

 Bedwas & Trethomas Community Hall, 23rd February 2017 
 
A total of 48 residents and community representatives attended these meetings.  The 
format of the meeting was the same as the Future Scenarios meeting, where 

Page 55



  Appendix 1 

participants were asked to identify any missing issues and then prioritise their top 5 
issues.  No missing issues were identified at this stage.  Below is a summary of the top 
11 issues that emerged from these engagement meetings: 
 

Rank  Issue No. of 
groups 

identifying 
this as a 
priority 

1 Providing training, apprenticeships, employment and 
volunteering opportunities that are appropriate for all sectors 
of the community 

5 

2 Ensuring young people have the right support and 
opportunities to enable them to pursue a path into work 
(either vocational or academic) including, careers advice, 
mentoring and work experience 

 
4 

=3  Improving access to GP and hospital appointments 
 

3 

=3 Supporting people with disabilities and other long term health 
conditions to live well in their communities 

3 

=3 Balancing the need for development with protecting the 
environment 

3 

=3 Identifying and breaking the cycle of Adverse Childhood 
Experiences 

3 

 
=7 

Reducing low level environmental issues (e.g. dog fouling, 
litter and fly-tipping) by fostering respect, responsibility and 
ownership of local areas 

 
2 

=7 Reducing the life expectancy and healthy life expectancy 
inequality gap between the most and least deprived 
populations in the county borough 

 
2 

=7 Ensuring people feel safe in their community, by reducing 
crime and anti-social behaviour and the fear of crime 

2 

=7 Developing suitable housing to meet the variety of people’s 
needs, including affordable housing 

2 

=7 Ensuring that we maintain safe, secure supplies of clean 
water 

2 

 
 
Online consultation and targeted groups 
 
An online survey was developed along the same lines as the content of the face to face 
workshop type meetings and was advertised via the PSB website and social media 
channels.  The survey was completed by 152 residents or organisations and a further 
31 individuals at targeted group events.  Again respondents were asked to identify their 
top 5 priority issues, with the top 12 overall summarised overleaf. 
 
  

Page 56



  Appendix 1 

Rank Issue No. of 
responses 

1 Improving access to GP and hospital appointments. 
 

76 

2 Providing training, apprenticeships, employment and 
volunteering opportunities that are appropriate for all sectors 
of the community. 

68 

3 Ensuring young people have the right support and 
opportunities to enable them to pursue a path into work 
(either vocational or academic) including, careers advice, 
mentoring and work experience. 

 
53 

4 Ensuring people feel safe in their community, by reducing 
crime and anti-social behaviour and the fear of crime. 

49 

5 Developing a modern, integrated and sustainable transport 
system, including maximising the benefits of the Metro. 

41 

6 Reducing low level environmental issues (e.g. dog fouling, 
litter and fly-tipping) by fostering respect, responsibility and 
ownership of local areas. 

 
40 

7 Tackling loneliness and isolation for all age groups.  
 

38 

=8 Improving the provision of, access to and promotion of 
community outdoor spaces, green spaces and the wider 
countryside. 

36 

=8 Facilitating a shift from treatment of ill health to a society that 
enables people to adopt healthy behaviours. 

36 

10 Maintaining and enhancing sustainable and attractive 
communities and town centres 

35 

11 Developing suitable housing to meet the variety of people’s 
needs, including affordable housing. 

34 

12 Supporting people with disabilities and other long-term health 
conditions to live well in their communities 

33 

 
 
Summary of issues emerging from the 4 prioritisation elements 
 
In order to identify the priority issues to be reported back to the Board, the results of the 
4 prioritisation elements were combined.  The table overleaf shows the top 12 issues 
identified by each of the 4 prioritisation exercises combined into a single table, in order 
to show which issues were identified most frequently and with the highest rankings. 
 
  

Page 57



  Appendix 1 

Rank Issue Prioritisation element ranking 

 P
ri

o
ri

ti
s
a
ti

o
n

 

to
o

l 

 F
u

tu
re

 

S
c
e
n

a
ri

o
s

 

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

e
n

g
a
g

e
m

e
n

t 

 O
n

li
n

e
 s

u
rv

e
y

 

1 Providing training, apprenticeships, 
employment and volunteering 
opportunities that are appropriate for all 
sectors of the community 

 
1 

 
2 

 
2 

 
2 

2 Identifying and breaking the cycle of 
Adverse Childhood Experiences 

2 
 

=4 =3 * 

3 Ensuring people feel safe in their 
community, by reducing crime and anti-
social behaviour and the fear of crime 

 
=6 

 
=8 

 
=7 

 
4 

4 Developing suitable housing to meet the 
variety of people’s needs, including 
affordable housing 

 
12 

 
3 

 
=7 

 
11 

5 Ensuring young people have the right 
support and opportunities to enable them 
to pursue a path into work (either 
vocational or academic) including, 
careers advice, mentoring and work 
experience 

  
1 

 
1 

 
3 

6 Facilitating a shift from treatment of ill 
health to a society that enables people to 
adopt healthy behaviours 

 
3 

 
=4 

  
=8 

 
7 

Reducing the life expectancy and healthy 
life expectancy inequality gap between 
the most and least deprived populations 
in the county borough 

 
4 

 
=6 

 
=7 

 

8 Reducing low level environmental issues 
(e.g. dog fouling, litter and fly-tipping) by 
fostering respect, responsibility and 
ownership of local areas 

 
=6 

  
=7 

 
6 

9 Improving access to GP and hospital 
appointments 

  =3 1 

 
10 

Maximising the benefits of the Cardiff 
Capital Region City Deal for Caerphilly 
county borough 

 =6 =3  

11 Balancing the need for development with 
protecting the environment 

 =8 
 

=3  

12 Tackling loneliness and isolation for all 
age groups 

5   7 

13 Developing a modern, integrated and 
sustainable transport system, including 
maximising the benefits of the Metro 

  
=8 

  
5 

  

Page 58



  Appendix 1 

Rank Issue Prioritisation element ranking 

 P
ri

o
ri

ti
s
a
ti

o
n

 

to
o

l 

 F
u

tu
re

 

S
c
e
n

a
ri

o
s

 

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

e
n

g
a
g

e
m

e
n

t 

 O
n

li
n

e
 s

u
rv

e
y

 

14 Supporting people with disabilities and 
other long-term health conditions to live 
well in their communities 

   
=3 

 
12 

15 Improving the provision of, access to and 
promotion of community outdoor spaces, 
green spaces and the wider countryside 

  
=8 

  
=8 

16 Ensuring that we maintain safe, secure 
supplies of clean water 

  =7  

17 Fostering a greater sense of “community 
spirit” 

 =8   

18 Protecting and enhancing local habitats 
for biodiversity 

=8    

19 Providing better and more easily 
accessible information and services to 
empower people to improve their own 
well-being 

 
=8 

   

20 Reducing the victimisation of vulnerable 
sections of the community, including 
domestic abuse, hate crime and bullying 

 
=8 

   

21 Ensuring homes and public buildings are 
sustainable and energy efficient, to 
reduce our carbon footprint 

 
=8 

   

22 Maintaining and enhancing sustainable 
and attractive communities and town 
centres 

   10 

 
* It is assumed that this issue scored poorly in the online survey as an explanation of 
what ACEs are was not provided. 
 
 
As a result of this analysis it was recommended that the following priority issues were 
considered by the Board for further detailed work and response analysis: 
 
1. Providing training, support, apprenticeships, employment and volunteering 

opportunities that are appropriate for all ages and sectors of the community. 
2. Identifying and breaking the cycle of Adverse Childhood Experiences. 
3. Ensuring people feel safe in their community, by reducing crime and anti-social 

behaviour and the fear of crime. 
4. Developing suitable, sustainable housing to meet the variety of people’s needs, 

including affordable housing. 
  

Page 59



  Appendix 1 

5. Facilitating a shift from treatment of mental and physical ill health to a society that 
enables people to adopt healthy behaviours, to reduce the inequality gap in life 
expectancy and healthy life expectancy between the most and least deprived 
populations in the county borough. 

6. Reducing low level environmental issues by fostering respect, responsibility and 
ownership of local areas.  Improving the provision of, access to and promotion of 
community outdoor spaces, green spaces and the wider countryside. 

 
In relation to the issue ‘Ensuring young people have the right support and opportunities 
to enable them to pursue a path into work (either vocational or academic) including, 
careers advice, mentoring and work experience’, it was felt that this could be tackled 
under the priority relating to training, apprenticeships, employment and volunteering. 
 
Public Services Board meeting 7th March 2017 
 
At this meeting the Board was presented with the full list of 37 issues that had been 
identified from the Well-being Assessment, together with the results of the four 
elements of the prioritisation exercise that was undertaken. 
 
The recommendation made was that the six priority areas identified above were agreed 
for further detailed work and response analysis.  Further, individuals were to be 
nominated by Board members in order to ‘lead’ on the further detailed work and 
response analysis, who were to be drawn from the most appropriate lead organisation 
in relation to each priority issue.  The results of this detailed work were to be reported 
back to the Board at its June 2017 meeting, in order to help inform the development of 
the Well-being Objectives. 
 
The Board approved these recommendations. 
 
Response Analysis 
 
Following the March 2017 Board meeting, further detailed work and research was 
undertaken into each of the priority issues detailed above.  For ease of discussion and 
the further work required the first priority area was split into ‘apprenticeships’ and 
‘volunteering’, as it was felt that the response analysis activity would be better focused 
in this way.  Each of the nominated lead officers was provided with a template to be 
populated with the relevant information for each individual priority issue.  The rationale 
for using the template was that the Board members would easily be able to compare 
the information provided across all the priority issues. 
 
The template requested information in relation to a number of key areas, as 
summarised below: 
 

 Outcomes to be worked towards under the priority? 

 What contribution can working towards these outcomes achieve for well-being in 
Caerphilly county borough?  

 What is the case for prioritising work on this issue?   

 It is an issue that could be tackled over the short, medium or long term? 

 How could it contribute to the 7 Well-being Goals? 

 How could it link into the other areas of response analysis? 

Page 60



  Appendix 1 

 Where are we now (evidence of the current situation)? 

 What is currently being done and by whom? 

 Do we have a comprehensive picture of all activity e.g. private sector, third sector, 
community interventions? 

 How effective is the current work? 

 How well does what is currently being done take account of the 5 ways of working? 

 What more could be done? 

 Conclusions and recommendations for the Board 
 
For five of the seven priority areas (including apprenticeships and volunteering 
separately) workshop sessions were held with invited professionals that operate within 
the individual priority areas.  The purpose of this was to help inform the development of 
the response analysis template and ensure that all the required information was 
captured as fully as possible.  The finalised reports for each priority area are 
summarised in Appendix 3 of the Well-being Plan. 
 
It was decided that it was unfeasible to progress further detailed work and research for 
the ‘suitable, sustainable housing’ priority area, as this was felt to be a Council priority 
rather than one that could be taken forward by the Board collaboratively. 
 
Public Services Board meeting 6th June 2017 
 
At its meeting on 6th June the Board received a report which summarised all the further 
detailed work and research around the each of the priority areas.  They agreed that all 
the areas with the exception of ‘suitable, sustainable housing’ be taken forward and 
developed in objectives for the Well-being Plan. 
 
In relation to ‘suitable, sustainable housing’ the Board members supported the view that 
this was principally about local authority investment, rather than an issue that could be 
dealt with by the PSB.  A suggestion was made that this priority could be reshaped to 
become more targeted activity utilising the Lansbury Park ‘Coalition for Change’1 
model, with the intention of sharing the learning regarding targeted interventions that 
work in this area and implementing these in other deprived communities across the 
county borough.  The Board approved this suggestion and agreed that this be taken 
forward into the Well-being Plan. 
 
Caerphilly Standing Conference meeting 16th June 2017 
 
The Caerphilly Standing Conference is the wider partnership that supports the PSB and 
the work around the Well-being Assessment and Plan. It includes representatives from 
85+ organisations from the public, private and voluntary sectors who operate within or 
deliver services in the county borough, and can be local, regional or nationally based.  
They meet twice yearly and were fully involved in the development of the Well-being 
Assessment. 

                                            
1
 St James 3 (covering part of the Lansbury Park estate in Caerphilly town centre) was identified as the 

most deprived Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) in Wales in the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 
2014.  Dr Mark Lang was appointed to undertake a ‘Deep Place Study’ into the estate, which resulted in a 
multi-agency ‘Coalition for Change’ partnership being established between all the public sector partners 
that operate in or deliver services to residents of the estate 

Page 61



  Appendix 1 

The purpose of the meeting was to introduce the agreed priorities to the wider 
partnership, to identify how the organisations can support the priorities by using the five 
ways of working (ICLIP), to identify current good practice and to begin the process of 
developing the action plan or steps that will sit alongside this first iteration of the  
Well-being Plan. 
 
Attendees were also asked to provide their views in relation to four key questions 
against each priority area: 
 
1. Working in partnership, what can you/your organisation contribute to this priority? 
2. What key actions should we take together? 
3. How can we link this to the other priorities? 
4. What do we need to do differently/overcome? 
 
The aim was to capture ideas for collaborative working to address the priority issues, 
how the attendees could support these and what they thought the initial steps might be.  
The comments from this meeting fed into the draft action plan that sits alongside the 
Well-being Plan. 
 
Developing the objectives – the Four Positives 
 
Although the structure of the Well-being Assessment was based on the Well-being 
Goals, and the subsequent response analysis based on the key issues identified in the 
Assessment, it has been an ongoing point of discussion throughout the process that the 
Plan was unlikely to be based on either of these structures.  
 
Our residents were clear that artificial headings, be they the goals or the themes of the 
Single Integrated Plan, appeared largely designed to allow partners and delivery 
organisations to structure their support, rather than reflecting real life or different 
aspects of well-being.  They understood that individual well-being is a complex 
interaction of many factors and issues that do not fit neatly into “silos”.  This resonated 
with the PSB, which was also keen to ensure that the new Plan recognised the 
fundamental change from the previous delivery structures to a new culture and new 
ways of working.  The PSB required the new Plan to fully reflect the Sustainable 
Development Principle and the 5 ways of working. 
 
When the findings of the response analysis were presented at the Standing Conference 
on the 16th June 2017, clear messages came from the partners who attended.  These 
messages include the need for a different structure from that in the Single Integrated 
Plan, that the goals and themes were not appropriate structures for the new Plan and 
that the Plan should facilitate a change in culture and move delivery away from the 
previous silos. 
 
The other strong theme from the Well-being Assessment was that residents recognised 
the many positives associated with living in the county borough, including the attractive 
environment and strong community spirit.  This was also felt to differentiate the Well-
being Plan (based on an assessment of all the factors that influence well-being, both 
positive and negative) from the Single Integrated Plan, which was based on a needs 
assessment and therefore tended to be focused on negatives. 
 

Page 62



  Appendix 1 

All the feedback and comments were considered and the proposal for a “Positive 
Caerphilly” began to emerge, building on local assets and promoting a positive “can do” 
approach.  It was felt that in order to ensure that partners were supported to operate 
together in line with the Sustainable Development Principle and 5 ways of working, that 
there should be an overarching objective around positive change.   
 
Three other clear areas were identified by partners and during the engagement 
process.  The first was based on ensuring that our young people – our future 
generations – were given the best start in life.  The second area was to empower and 
enable all our residents to achieve their full potential.  The fourth area reflected the 
desire to enable our communities, particularly the most disadvantaged, to be more 
resilient and sustainable. 
 
At their meeting on the 5th September 2017 the Board agreed their draft Well-being 
Plan ‘The Caerphilly We Want’ based on 4 high level objectives: 
 

 Positive Change - A shared commitment to cross-sectoral change 

 Positive Start - Giving our future generations the best start in life 

 Positive People - Empowering and enabling all our residents to achieve their own 

potential 

 Positive Places - Enabling our communities to be resilient and sustainable 

 
 

Page 63



  Appendix 2 

 

‘The Caerphilly We Want’ Draft Delivery Plan  
 
Enablers 
 
Enabler 1 – Communications 

 Develop and implement a meaningful, long term engagement and communications strategy to involve and inform stakeholders. 

 Jointly communicate the positive messages about the county borough to our residents, businesses and potential inward investors. 
 
Enabler 2 – Working together  

 Provide leadership to facilitate the change that needs to happen and enable new ways of working. 

 Maximise the synergies with key local, regional and national strategies and plans.   

 Establish the necessary methods to facilitate joint working and sharing of good practice. 

 Identify and implement joint projects that provide benefits from partnership working and the sharing of resources. 
   

Enabler 3 – Procurement  

 Ensure that when we spend our money we maximise the benefits to our communities wherever possible.   

 Work together to maximise the value for money we gain by jointly purchasing goods and services.  

 Ensure that where possible, the goods and services we purchase are sustainable, low carbon and ethically responsible. 
 

Enabler 4 – Asset management     

 Maximise the use and value of all our assets.  

 Work together to reduce our energy use and increase our generation and use of green energy. 
 

 
Action Areas 
 
Action Area 1 – Best start in life 

 Maximise investment in the early years of a child’s life to build resilience across the whole of their lives, thus helping to reduce the 
demand on services in the future. 

P
age 64



  Appendix 2 

 

 Raise awareness and understanding of the importance of early life experiences (including adverse childhood experiences), with 
professionals and residents working together to reduce inequalities across the county borough. 

 Work with services and residents to reduce and/or prevent the impact of adverse childhood experiences for our current and future 
generations.  

 
Action Area 2 – Volunteering and apprenticeships 

 Develop a co-ordinated programme of volunteering, maximising it as a route to personal well-being and employment, including 
promoting corporate volunteering.  

 Establish an all age apprenticeship programme across PSB member organisations with a co-ordinated point of access. 

 Maximise the opportunities for residents through the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal and the Valleys Task Force. 
 

Action Area 3 – Good health and well-being  

 Improved joint working with an emphasis on prevention to address current and future health challenges.  

 Invest in the well-being of our staff. 

 Provide primary and community health services closer to home. 

 Ensure front line staff have the necessary skills and expertise to provide joined up services that meet the needs of residents.  

 Equip our residents with the skills and knowledge to manage their physical, mental and well-being needs in partnership with services.  
 
Action Area 4 – Safer, resilient communities   

 Support our most disadvantaged communities to be resilient and cohesive and enable them to help themselves. 

 Support the partnership activity in Lansbury Park and develop an approach that can be rolled out to other disadvantaged 
communities. 

 Support housing partners to deliver appropriate, affordable and sustainable homes.  

 Work with regional partners to create safe, confident communities and promote community cohesion. 

 Work in partnership to tackle irresponsible use of green space. 
 
Action Area 5 – Protect and enhance the local natural environment 

 Protect, enhance and promote our natural environment, including encouraging and supporting community involvement.  

 Identify and remove the barriers to people accessing green spaces.  

 Increase the contribution that the environment makes to the health and well-being of our residents.  

P
age 65



  Appendix 3 

CAERPHILLY PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD 
Response Analysis  

 
1. Priority Issue(s):  
 

Providing training, support, apprenticeships and employment opportunities that are 
appropriate for all ages and sectors of the community. 

 
2. Outcomes to be worked towards under this priority: 

 
1. Increase employability in order to tackle poverty and reduce inequality. 
2. Reduce economic inactivity, particularly amongst the long-term unemployed. 
3. Ensure that local residents receive a good education, including adequate numeracy and 

literacy skills. 
4. Raise aspirations amongst children and adults so they recognise the value and 

importance of the labour market, in order to improve their well-being. 
 
3. What contribution can working towards these outcomes achieve for well-being in 

Caerphilly County Borough? 
 
What is the case for prioritising work on this issue? 
 
Within the context of the new legislative backdrop of the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act, employability refers to a set of characteristics which increase an 
individual’s chances of being in and maintaining work, particularly good work. These 
characteristics include skills and qualifications as well as labour market demand, job 
vacancies, recruitment processes and employment policy.  
 
Caerphilly county borough is one of economic diversity and while areas in the south of 
the county borough tend to be more prosperous, economic deprivation becomes more 
prevalent as you move further north, although there are pockets of deprivation across 
the county borough.  Increasing employability is fundamental to tackling poverty and 
reducing inequality.  Economic inactivity is a major issue within the county borough, 
particularly in relation to residents who are permanently sick or disabled. 
 
Almost a third of the county borough’s population have no qualifications (significantly 
higher than the Wales average), with low levels of basic numeracy and literacy skills in 
some of our more deprived communities being a particular issue.  This will seriously 
affect the ability of these individuals to secure good quality employment or access 
education and training opportunities.  For parents this may also affect their ability to 
support their children effectively through the education system, and could also impact 
on the aspirations that these parents may have for their children. 
 
The county borough has high levels of households where no adult is in paid 
employment.  Workless households are more at risk of being in poverty and are 
especially at risk of living in persistent poverty, and being unemployed adversely 
affects both mental and physical well-being.  Children in workless households are 
much more likely to have poorer health and educational outcomes, both as children 
and later as adults.  
 
From the work undertaken to inform the well-being assessment we know that the 
National Curriculum in education is becoming more restricted, for both academic and 

Page 66



  Appendix 3 

vocational subjects.  The lack of work placement opportunities for schoolchildren was 
highlighted as a major issue, together with the importance of apprenticeships as a 
route into employment.  It is essential that education and training provision reflects 
demand and considers the needs of businesses as well as individuals. Better use 
needs to be made of labour market intelligence to identify future skills needs and shape 
education and training provision moving forward. 
 
The evidence to support a focus on employability is overwhelming. However, 
employability cannot be seen outside the wider context of the economy, growth 
sectors, creation of jobs and opportunities for work experience and in particular 
apprenticeships as a route to sustainable and well paid employment. Finding work is 
important but staying in work and having opportunities to progress is vital. Building a 
strong economy with a focus on relevant skills, and moving people on in work is critical 
to generating higher wages and a high skill economy. Under-employment is also an 
issue, which is linked to the growing problem of in work poverty. 
 
The Welsh Government has committed to delivering 100,000 all age apprenticeships 
over the next five years. It is unclear at present what the impact of the introduction of 
the Apprenticeship Levy will be nationally, regionally or locally. 
 
Is it an issue that could be tackled over the short, medium or long-term? 
 
It is likely that in order to solve some of the issues highlighted above, any interventions 
will need to be multi-faceted in nature and take place over a variety of timeframes.  
There are a number of long-term factors that will require generational change – the 
historical legacy of the previous industrial nature of traditional employment in the area, 
leading to poor health in older residents; the high level of families in some of our more 
deprived areas where family members may have not worked in generations; the 
challenge of parents not recognising the importance of education for their own children, 
leading to lack of aspiration; the effects of ongoing welfare reform on families and 
individuals within our communities.  Short term initiatives are likely to have a minimal 
impact on these issues – it will require concerted effort by all PSB partners to achieve 
the step-change in improvements that are required. 
 
How could it contribute to the 7 Well-being Goals? 
 
This issue has links with many of the well-being goals: 
 
A prosperous Wales – a well-educated and highly skilled population will enable 
residents to take full advantage of the employment opportunities that exist within the 
local area and the wider region, particularly with the ongoing development of the Cardiff 
Capital Region City Deal. 
 
A resilient Wales – a good education and well developed skill set will enable individuals 
to respond positively to the constantly changing world of work that we all live in, and 
enable them and their families to be more resilient and adaptable to change in the 
future. 
 
A healthier Wales – lack of employment has a massive impact on individuals’ physical 
and mental well-being.  Being in employment improves feelings of self-worth, self-
confidence, better social interaction and having a place and value in society. 
 

Page 67



  Appendix 3 

A more equal Wales – every individual deserves the opportunity to fulfil their potential, 
regardless of their socio-economic characteristics, background or circumstances.  
Being well-educated with the appropriate skills will provide them with the tools 
necessary to enter and maintain employment, and take advantage of ongoing 
development and training opportunities that may be available. 
 
A Wales of cohesive communities – lack of educational qualifications, poor literacy and 
numeracy levels, high unemployment, long-term sickness and the lack of aspiration 
that these issues lead to are unfortunately entrenched in many of our deprived 
communities and smaller pockets across the county borough.  This can be a self-
fulfilling prophecy, where individuals feel unable to break out of these circumstances.  
This can lead to additional issues a lack of interaction within the community, and 
increased levels of crime and anti-social behaviour, together with increased levels of 
alcohol and drug use. 
 
A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language – a lack of interaction with the 
local community will mean that individuals and families do not take advantage of the 
social opportunities that exist.  In addition, low household income will limit the 
opportunities that both adults and children have to participate in activities such as 
sport, leisure and the arts. 
  
How could it link into the other areas of response analysis? 
 
Volunteering – volunteering will often by the first step into employment for some 
individuals.  This will help to increase feelings self-confidence, self-worth and self-
belief, and enable individuals to build resilience and engage with the world of work in 
the future. 
 
Adverse Childhood Experiences – while no communities should be considered to be 
free from ACEs, those living in areas of deprivation are at greater risk of experiencing 
multiple ACEs, including verbal/physical/sexual abuse, parental separation, domestic 
violence, mental illness, alcohol/drug abuse or incarceration. 
 
Housing – every individual and family deserves a safe, secure and suitable home to 
live in.  Lack of household resources may mean that individuals live in households 
which are unsuitable, but they have limited opportunities to improve their situation.  
Affordable housing is also becoming more of an issue, particularly in the south of the 
county borough. 
 
Mental and physical ill health – lack of employment can have a significant impact on 
the mental and physical well-being of individuals.  Long-term sickness is a particular 
issue within the county borough, and these individuals are often the furthest removed 
from the labour market. 
 

4. Where are we now? 
 

Evidence of current situation – data, research, etc. 
 
There is extensive evidence in the well-being assessment in terms of quantitative and 
qualitative information, which describes the current position within the county borough 
in terms of educational attainment, economic activity, worklessness, earnings and work 
related benefit claimants. 

Page 68



  Appendix 3 

 
The current employability landscape is complex, with a wide range of different policies 
and programmes aimed at supporting people into employment and increasing skills. 
Whilst there is potential for duplication there are also gaps in provision, and a need for 
the public, private and third sector to work together more effectively to coordinate 
existing provision, and also a need to identify gaps to ensure those most at risk of 
poorer outcomes are engaged and have their needs met. 
 
There are currently a significant number of employment support programmes, training 
provision, work based training and apprenticeship providers and contacts across the 
county borough.  However, how well these are coordinated to ensure that the needs of 
the participants are met is unclear, or how they maximise employment opportunities 
both locally and regionally. 
  
What is currently being done and by whom? 
 
Caerphilly County Borough Council  
 
The Council provides a range of employment support services: 
 

 Communities for Work – Communities First areas; adults 25+ who are economically 
inactive or long-term unemployed (12 months +) with complex barriers to  
employment; young people aged 16-24 years who are NEET 

 Community Regeneration Employability Support – Replacing Communities First 
Employment Support; new structure to also encompass LIFT programme; no  
specific eligibility but will fill gaps for those not eligible for other ESF support 

 Bridges Into Work 2 – adults aged 25 years + who are economically inactive or long 
term unemployed and living in non-Communities First areas; helps by improving  
skills in areas that are in demand by employers, including free vocational courses 

 Working Skills for Adults 2 – all residents in the county borough aged 16+ who are 
employed or self-employed; offers a range of tailored training including essential  
skills 

 Inspire 2 Work – young people aged 16-24 who are NEET and are living in  
non-Communities First areas; have no means of engaging with formal or informal 
education, training, volunteering or employment; tailored package of 1-1 support to  
help participants return to education or enter work 

 Youth Engagement and Progression – tailored support for young people aged 16 to 
18 who are most at risk of becoming NEET.  This focuses on the six areas of the 
national framework relating to this area of operation 

 The Progress Scheme – a traineeship programme which offers work experience 
and qualifications to care leavers aged 16 to 19.  This has been endorsed by the 
Children’s Commissioner for Wales.  It is funded by ESF and backed by Welsh 
Government. 

 
The latter two services are managed by the Engagement and Progression Co-ordinator 
(EPC) as part of the Youth service delivery from the Education Department. Youth 
Engagement and Progression is geared towards ensuring that all such young people 
receive the appropriate support via the EPC and a team of three youth workers to 
enable them to obtain suitable opportunities in education, employment or training.    
 
 
 

Page 69



  Appendix 3 

The Progress scheme is run by the EPC in collaboration and partnership with the 16+ 
Social Services team.  Staff from Social Services identify suitable clients and the EPC 
will seek work experience opportunities within the Council and organise free study with 
a training provider.  The Children’s Commissioner is asking all Councils to provide 
similar support and Welsh Government will shortly be visiting the Council to discuss 
how it delivers and implements the scheme. 

 
These services are also supported by other Council departments for the provision of  
work experience, work placements etc.  An individual or organisation makes a referral 
into the programme, and a Triage Worker contacts the client to complete an initial ‘light 
touch’ diagnostic to obtain basic eligibility/needs information.  The Triage Worker then 
makes an initial decision on the most suitable route and refers the client to appropriate 
employment support stream. 
 
The Council’s Procurement Team are responsible for developing the majority of 
contracts that include social clauses, but once a contract has been let they are not 
involved in the ongoing management of contracts, so are unable to evaluate the 
benefits of the social clauses within our communities.  There is a need to ensure that 
outcomes are captured by the department monitoring the contract, and that these are 
fed into a central evaluation. 
 
In relation to the Council’s Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) programme, a 
partnership exists between Caerphilly Homes, the Council’s Community Regeneration 
Team and the contractors employed in delivering WHQS.  This has provided a variety 
of opportunities for those who are most disadvantaged within our communities, 
including apprenticeships, full time employment and work placements. 
 
South Wales Fire and Rescue Service 
 
SWFRS provides a range of corporate apprenticeship opportunities in fields such as  
HGV Technician, Human Resources, Service Performance and Communications,  
Finance and Community Safety.  The qualification levels of these opportunities include 
Level 2, Level 3, BTEC and AAT, with most 2 years in length and the HGV Technician 
being 4 years in length. 
 
SWFRS take on approximately 150 Firefighters per annum who, until recent times,  
would have undertaken a qualification that was classed as an apprenticeship.  They  
recently refined the qualification as it no longer meets their needs, however this means  
that it is no longer classed as an apprenticeship.  They are assessing where they go  
with this particular group of staff in the future, and whether a qualification can still be 
offered. 
 
SWFRS also run Fire Cadets (Young Firefighters) over 2-3 years where young people 
can work towards a BTEC Level 2 in Firefighting in the community (planning to move 
over to a SFJ qualification this year).  They also run ‘Firefighter for the day’ (no 
recognised qualification available) and the ‘Phoenix Project’ for young people with 
behaviour issues (can lead to Level 1 Firefighter Skills for young people awarded by 
Agored Cymru). 
  
 
 
 

Page 70



  Appendix 3 

Department for Work and Pensions 
 
From July and October 2017, DWP will be asking customers who make a new claim for 
Employment Support Allowance (ESA) to go into their Jobcentre much earlier in their 
new claims to discuss their return to work and/or what support they need. To support 
these changes they are piloting a variety of concepts nationally to see what best 
supports the customers.  In Caerphilly county borough they are piloting ‘Journey to 
Employment’ through contracted provision with a disability specialist organisation to 
offer health support, mentoring, employability skills, training and job search.  
 
Under Universal Credit Full Service there will be Youth Obligation, where 18-24 year  
olds will have intensive support for 6 months to find work, apprenticeship, traineeship 
or a relevant training course.  If they fail to enter one of these opportunities then they 
can be offered mandatory work experience.  If they fail to take this up, it could result in 
no further payment of benefit.   
 
DWP works closely with all key stakeholders regarding employment and training 
opportunities, and this needs to continue.  DWP also have their own flexible support 
fund to purchase additional support/training. 
 
ITEC Skills 
 
This organisation supports learners and employers through traineeships, employability 
skills, apprenticeships and Jobs Growth Wales: 
 

 Traineeships – provides opportunities for work placements that can lead onto one of 
the programmes listed below 

 Employability skills – for people aged 18+ who are receiving a benefit such as Job 
Seekers Allowance (JSA) or Universal Credit (UC).  This programme focuses on 
high quality work placements leading to jobs, assisted by employability workshops, 
upskilling in essential skills and dedicated support staff.  It consists of 12 weeks in a 
training centres and a 14 week meaningful work placement with a local employer 

 Apprenticeships – Workforce Development Wales provides up to £5,000 of fully 
funded training for each individual and allows employers to invest in the skills and 
development of their employees.  In addition they can provide Level 2 training in 
Manufacturing, Management, Hospitality & Catering and Health & Social Care, as 
these sectors have been prioritised by Welsh Government.  Individuals must be on 
a contract of at least 16 hours per week, and the qualification level they are able to 
undertake will depend on their age, and how long they have worked for the 
company. 

 
Educ8 
 
The Educ8 Group offers a series of interlinked opportunities including Jobs Growth 
Wales, apprenticeships and employability projects: 
 

 Jobs Growth Wales – Educ8 (via VSP) holds the largest JGW contract in Wales and 
delivers a wide range of jobs for young people (aged 16-24 years) in a variety of 
sectors, including Social Media & Marketing, Childcare, Business Administration 
and much more 
 
 

Page 71



  Appendix 3 

 Apprenticeships – Educ8 delivers two strands of fully-funded (by Welsh 
Government) apprenticeship programmes:  
o New apprenticeship opportunities within high quality organisations for individuals 

looking to start a new career  
o Apprenticeships (including Higher Apprenticeships) for employed individuals 

who wish to up-skill.  Educ8 delivers apprenticeships in a wide range of sectors 
which complement local labour market information, including Engineering & 
Manufacturing, Childcare & Health Care, Social Media & Marketing, Customer 
Service & Business Admin, Advice & Guidance, Leadership & Management 

 Employability Projects – a series of WCVA funded projects, including Active 
Inclusion, which support young people (16-24 years) and older people with 
vocational training, work placement and job search support. 

 
Charter Housing Association  
 
Charter operates a number of ‘Active Inclusion’ type projects.  These focus on areas 
such as skills development, digital skills/inclusion and entrepreneurial projects, with 
clients who are claiming Universal Credit.  They also operate the DWP funded ‘Steps to 
Work’ project, aimed at those most as risk of being affected by welfare reform. 
 
Do we have a comprehensive picture of all activity e.g. private sector, third sector, 
community interventions? 
 
The majority of the information provided above has been collated from the workshop 
session that was held with partners and key stakeholders on 10th May 2017.  There are 
a number of key things that are immediately apparent. 
 
Firstly, the information provided only focuses on the organisations that were 
represented at the meeting.  Contact has been made with all the PSB partners, to 
ascertain what support, work experience or apprenticeship programmes they may 
operate, to enable the information to be fed into this document. 
 
Secondly, a number of attendees at the workshop highlighted that many of the larger 
businesses that operate within the county borough will also have apprenticeship 
opportunities that could be referenced here, but this information is not available from 
one source.  There is also the question of whether any of these businesses are making 
use of the support and training programmes highlighted above. 
 
Thirdly, there is a gap in our knowledge of the training opportunities offered by local 
colleges and how these help to upskill individuals to enable them to access 
employment opportunities.  In addition, links they may have with local businesses in 
terms of addressing skills gaps will also be of great interest. 
 
How effective is the current work? 
 
A number of issues were raised during the workshop: 
 

 There is ongoing support and continued progression available for individuals if they 
need or require it 

 There is a lot of activity and interventions taking place but no-one is responsible for 
capturing what is being delivered, or the outcomes for individuals, in one place 
 

Page 72



  Appendix 3 

 There is a lack of opportunities for part-time apprenticeships generally, and for older 
individuals e.g. over 50’s 

 There is a serious lack of careers provision, resulting in young people being 
unaware of the opportunities available to them in terms of both academic and 
vocational routes into employment 

 There is a lack of early intervention with individuals facing multiple barriers including 
problems at home, low educational attainment, inappropriate 
behaviour/relationships and lack of follow up by agencies 

 More than one organisation can be trying to claim for the same individual, as they 
do not understand that organisations are different agencies with different funding 
streams.  This may result in an individual being ‘claimed’ by more than one  
organisation, possibly leading to claw back of funding 

 There is a reluctance to share personal information between organisations, even  
when they are dealing with the same individuals  

 There is a lack of understanding of the bigger picture, with provision needing to be 
person centred not organisation centred.  There is too much of a focus on meeting 
targets rather than helping people 

 There are too many restrictions on the people we can work with in terms of eligibility 
criteria, and ongoing welfare reform also has an impact on who can be supported 

 There was a view that individuals did not know how or where to access information  
on apprenticeship opportunities, and whether they are available at the right levels.  
In addition, individuals still have a very ‘traditional’ perception of apprenticeships in 
that they perceive them being linked to trades (e.g. carpentry, plumbing etc.).  
There needs to be better publicity and information so that young people (and 
parents) understand the variety of apprenticeships available (some very technical 
routes), as well as higher level (degree level) opportunities.   
The importance of linking in to the Cardiff City Region apprenticeship workstream  
that is being developed was recognised. 

 
How well does what is currently being done take account of the 5 ways of working? 

 
Involvement  
- Both ITEC skills and Educ8 offer learner forums where participants meeting one a 

month to discuss issues and gain feedback on programme delivery. Learners voice 
is very important is the training offered 

- CCBC Youth Service operate via the National Principles of Participation 
- Involvement needs to take place in its broadest sense – need to bring outputs and 

outcomes together 
 
Collaboration  
- There is an established ESF Steering Group,  an Education & Training Forum and a 

Work Based Learning Forum for the county borough where those running ESF 
projects or providing education/training/work based learning meet to try and better 
coordinate provision  

- ITEC Skills work in partnership with Llamau to meet the needs of young people who 
have more basic support needs 

- Charter work in partnership with Gingerbread to offer services to young parents 
- There was a recognition that referral processes between and within organisations 

need to be improved 
- Need to identify skills gaps that exist so we can get more individuals into these 

training areas e.g. Engineering 

Page 73



  Appendix 3 

 
- Need for regional workshops to look at key sectors and bringing together training 

providers, education providers and employers 
- Procurement teams across the region could map their needs 
 
Long-term 
- There was a recognition of the need to break the cycle in terms of lack of 

ambition/aspiration, attitudes to work/education and agencies underestimating what 
individuals are capable of 

- It was felt that there is a lack of knowledge regarding opportunities that are 
available 

- Some individuals do not operate by ‘social norms’ e.g. they do not attend 
appointments, they arrive late, they offer excuses for non-attendance etc.  It was 
noted that our expectations can be very different to individuals we are working with, 
particularly if their priorities are where am I sleeping tonight? Will I eat today?  

 
Integration  
- Integration of services is critical to ensure better joined up working 
 
Prevention 
- Early intervention has to start within the family – what is acceptable behaviour?  

Also needs to happen in early years provision and school settings 
- How can we better use information and data as indicators – who is most likely to 

have rent arrears?  Is there damage within the home?  Are parents able to cope 
with situations, can something simple cause a crisis? 

- Need better use of statistical information to prove that preventative action works 
e.g. NEETs (the Council can evidence this by the year on year improvements in 
NEETs figures for Year 11 school leavers since 2011).  This also links into ACEs 

 
5. What could be done? 

 
A number of areas have been suggested where it is felt that the PSB could provide 
added value moving forward: 
 

 Establish how people enter and progress within a single clearly defined 
employability system – what are the different routes and access points currently? 
How well known and understood are they across sectors and participants? Is there 
a clear set of expectations at point of first contact and a clearly designed 
progression route?  Possible use of high profile role models/celebrities to advocate 
apprenticeships as a viable option for career development. 

 

 Simplify the overall landscape and offer, making sure all provision meets the needs 
of the employer, with clear pathways to employment for all participants. 
 

 Centralised monitoring and evaluation of different training, support and work 
programmes, and sharing of data and learning with all partners. 

 

 Review current delivery models and explore the benefits of regional opportunities, in 
particular the City Deal.  Link into work being undertaken in relation to 
apprenticeships. 
 
 

Page 74



  Appendix 3 

 

 Encourage skills providers to link their delivery and funding plans to opportunities 
created by strategic investments and business growth in their areas. Aligning and  
raising the level of the skills market designed to meet employer needs, with a  
system that can be responsive to industry changes, particularly in growth sectors. 
 

 Better communication and linkages between organisations and within organisations. 
 

 Better information sharing, including using Data Protection consents as an enabler 
to sharing information instead of a barrier. 
 

 Better opportunities for early intervention to prevent problems from occurring in the  
first place, rather than dealing with the resulting consequences. 
 

 Need for more work placements within the Council, particularly in departments such  
as Leisure Services. 
 

 Need to resolve the issue of health and safety barriers to work placements and work 
experience.  Could be a development opportunity for staff in terms of supervising 
individuals on placements. 
 

 Need for more opportunities linked to the equalities agenda e.g. women in non-
traditional work areas (STEM, IT, Engineering), disabled people, minority ethnic  
groups etc. 
 

 Need to do things smarter with better collaboration and less duplication. 
 

 Funding needs to be longer term and planning for sustainability is currently very  
difficult.  Interventions are often only funded for 1-2 years. 
 

 Need to give consideration to what the jobs market will be like in the future in order  
to influence education and training opportunities.  Also need to make use of  
emerging technologies. 
 

 Need for better links between the PSB and businesses, especially in growth 
employment areas. 
 

 Earlier intervention to guide young people towards jobs/skills.  
 

 Gwent PSBs need to discuss and act together on regional issues. 
 

 PSB needs to identify support and resources for Careers Wales, to ensure that an 
enhanced service is available to all young people. 

 
6. Conclusions and Recommendations 

 
At a strategic level, the following could be adopted and reported on by the CCBC lead 
officers for skills and employment, who will seek regular input from internal and 
external partners: 
 

 Develop an all age apprenticeship programme in each PSB partner organisation,  

Page 75



  Appendix 3 

linking to regional apprenticeship developments and promoting this approach to  
partner agencies to encourage a similar and aligned development. 

 Monitor and evaluate skills, training and employment support programmes, sharing  
data and improving communications with partners. 

 All PSB partners to increase the number of work placements in their respective 
organisations. 

 Ensure that all young people in schools are able to access work experience  
placements, with particular regard to the requirement for risk assessments to be  
carried out in each case to satisfy the duty of care incumbent on schools. 

 Lobby Welsh Government to secure funding to re-invigorate careers support  
provision. 

 Work at a regional level with the Learning, Skills & Innovation Partnership (LSKIP)  
and relevant partners to identify current and future skills gaps and make relevant 
changes to provision to enable local people to participate effectively in the labour 
market.  

 
 
  

Page 76



  Appendix 3 

CAERPHILLY PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD 
Response Analysis 

 
1. Priority Issue(s):  

 
Provide volunteering opportunities that are appropriate for all ages and sectors of 
the community. 

 
2. Outcomes to be worked towards under this priority: 
 

1. Coordinated approach to volunteering to enable all PSB partners to promote 
volunteering for wellbeing effectively 

2. Corporate social responsibility to enable staff of PSB organisations to volunteer. 
3. Recognise and utilise volunteering as a first step to the employment market. 

 
3. What contribution can working towards these outcomes achieve for well-being in 

Caerphilly County Borough? 
 
Why promote volunteering, what does it achieve?  
 
People and communities: 

 gain new skills and knowledge 

 boost their own job and career prospects 

 enjoy a sense of achievement and fulfilment 

 develop personally and boost self esteem 

 enjoy better physical and mental health 

 connect to and better understand your community 
(WCVA 2017) 

 
Welsh government launched its own volunteering policy “Supporting communities, 
changing lives” in 2015 – Extract: 
 
The benefits of volunteering  
 
Volunteering is recognised by the Welsh Government and the Third Sector Partnership 
Council as a ‘good thing’ for Wales, to be supported and promoted. It has benefits for the 
individual in building their social networks, improved health, well-being and skills as well 
as creating a sense of belonging to an issue or a community. Communities benefit from 
volunteering in a variety of ways including through the creation of social cohesion in 
addition to increased social capital. Organisations benefit from the involvement of 
volunteers through their contribution to the achievement of the organisation’s mission in 
addition to the flexibility and added value they bring in experience and skills. Public 
services benefit from involving volunteers to enhance and extend their services and from 
working with Third sector organisations to involve volunteers in new citizen-centred 
delivery models. Whilst organisations are encouraged to work with volunteers, the Welsh 
Government is committed to ensuring that paid staff should not be removed in order to 
directly replace them with volunteers. 
  
Short, medium or long term? 
 
There is opportunity for short term action i.e. agreement to corporate social responsibility 
and volunteering by PSB partners. 

Page 77



  Appendix 3 

 

 Could have positive impact on people seeking work – link to Apprenticeships, training 
theme. 

 Positive impact for communities. 

 Positive impact of a comprehensive and cohesive approach to volunteering across 
PSB partners on staff as social responsibility and on communities they support. 

 
4. Where are we now? 

 
Together WCVA, County Voluntary Councils and Volunteer Centres provide an 
integrated programme of volunteering support that aims to help more people get 
involved in volunteering (to benefit their community and for their own personal 
development), and to help volunteer-involving organisations to recruit and support 
their volunteers 
 
We want to see... 
- More people and communities benefit from volunteering 
- Organisations better able to recruit, support and involve volunteers 
- Raised profile of and recognition for volunteering 
- Better advocacy and strategic leadership for volunteering 
 
There is also a range of volunteering opportunities offered through the PSB partners, 
and wider i.e. CCBC Countryside, Supporting People, Caerphilly Volunteering Team 
(learning disability support),  Families First, Flying Start and Communities First 
- ABUHB – Ffrind I Mi, CHaaT 
- SWF&R – Young Firefighters 
- Gwent Police – Specials, Cadets, Crime Prevention Panels 
 
There is a need to map others i.e. Welsh Government, Probation, Community 
Rehabilitation, OPCC, NRW etc. 
 
GAVO Volunteering Centre:  support volunteers and volunteering organisations, 
Investors In Volunteering, Gwent Volunteer Managers Network 
 
Third Sector:  there are thousands of volunteers and many volunteering opportunities 
 
Is this a comprehensive/complete picture? 
 
No.  Volunteering offer is currently fragmented.  
 
How effective is current work? 
 
Plenty of case studies to prove the effectiveness with individuals and organisations.  
See SPICE, Communities First, Caerphilly Volunteering, DWP corporate 
volunteering scheme etc.   
 
Barriers? 
 
In school settings – health and safety, volunteer supervision. 
 
 

 

Page 78

http://www.wcva.org.uk/funding/advice/cvcs


  Appendix 3 

 
5. What could be done? 

 
Examples of Good Practice: 
 
Timebanking - SPICE - Experience of a reward based system for volunteering. 
 
Anne-Marie Lawrence – anne-marie@justaddspice.org and  
Ben Dineen - ben@justaddspice.org 
 
Corporate social responsibility – Department of Work and Pensions -  employee 
volunteer programme. 
 
Barclays, Lloyds and other banking groups – employee fundraising match and 
volunteering programmes. 
 
Business in the Community – mentor match schemes. 
 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

 
  

Page 79

mailto:anne-marie@justaddspice.org
mailto:ben@justaddspice.org


  Appendix 3 

CAERPHILLY PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD 
Response Analysis 

 
1. Priority Issue(s):  
 

Adverse Childhood Experiences  
 
2. Outcomes to be worked towards under this priority: 
 

1. Identifying and breaking the cycle of Adverse Childhood Experiences  
 
3. What contribution can working towards these outcomes achieve for well-being in 

Caerphilly County Borough? 
 
Preventing ACEs in a single generation, or reducing their impact on children, can 
benefit not only those individuals but also future generations.  
 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are highly stressful events that occur during 
childhood that directly hurt a child (e.g. sexual, physical abuse) or affect them 
through the environment in which they live (e.g. growing up in a house being 
exposed to alcoholism, drug use and domestic violence).  These events have a 
profound impact on the individual and are remembered through into adulthood.  
 
In Wales 47% of adults reported suffering at least one ACE during their childhood, 
and 14% suffering 4 or more. ACEs are known to have direct and immediate effects 
on a child’s health and can increase risk of adopting health harming behaviours 
during adolescent and into adulthood (see Figure 1).  These behaviours in 
themselves lead to increased risk of illnesses and non-communicable diseases such 
as mental ill health, cancer, heart disease and diabetes later in life (see Figure 2). 
Adults with 4+ ACEs are five times more likely to have low mental wellbeing than 
those with no ACEs. 
 

 
Figure 1: ACEs increase individuals’ risks of developing health–harming behaviours 

 
 
 

 

Page 80



  Appendix 3 

Individuals experiencing more ACEs are more likely to perform poorly in school, 
more likely to be involved in crime and ultimately less likely to be a productive 
member of society.  Preventing ACEs could reduce levels of heroin/crack cocaine 
use, incarceration, violence perpetration and victimisation, and cannabis use.  
Health, social, criminal justice and educational systems, as well as the long-term 
economic benefit of the country, are all likely to benefit if ACEs are prevented.   
 
Children of those affected by ACEs are at increased risk of exposing their own 
children to ACEs, so it is a cycle which can continue within families.  
 

Adverse Childhood Experiences ACEs - The Life Course

Early Death

Social, Emotional and 
Learning Problems

Adopt Health Harming 
Behaviours and Crime

Disrupted Nervous, Hormonal 
and Immune Development

ACEs Adverse 
Childhood Experiences

Non Communicable Disease, Disability, 
Social Problems, Low Productivity

DEATH

BIRTH

Developed from Felitti et al. 1998

LI
FE

 C
O

U
R

SE

 
Figure 2: Model of ACE impacts across the life course 

 
 

How reducing and preventing ACEs contributes to the 7 Wellbeing Goals 
 

Prosperous Individuals are more likely to: 

 perform better at school and less likely to be unemployed, 
receiving benefits or involved in crime 

 be productive members of the population 

Resilient  Individuals will be empowered to engage with, and contribute 
to enhancing, the natural environment 

Healthier  Children are less likely to suffer abuse and maltreatment, 
physical injury and psychological problems 

 Adults will have reduced risk of developing cancer, heart 
disease, diabetes, low mental health and well-being 

 Reduced levels of health harming behaviours across the life 
course 

More equal  Those living in areas of deprivation are at greater risk of 
experiencing multiple ACEs, so tackling ACEs should lead to 
greater equality. 

Page 81



  Appendix 3 

Cohesive 
Communities 

 Reduction in youth offending, anti-social behaviour and other 
crime will lead to safer and more cohesive communities. 

 Reduction in violence perpetration in adults will lead to safer 
communities 

 Addressing ACEs will lead to constructing mechanisms for 
communities to do things for themselves so communities are 
not waiting for or expecting support 

Vibrant culture 
and thriving 
Welsh language 

 Those more engaged in education are more likely to be given 
the opportunity and empowered to participate/engage in Welsh 
language, sports and culture etc.  

 Participating in sports and arts can help to mitigate the effects 
of ACEs, by building confidence and providing diversionary 
activities.   

 By increasing participation in society more broadly, cultural 
output will reflect more diverse life experiences, which will in 
turn reduce alienation 

Globally 
responsible 

 Prevent higher healthcare costs in adulthood 

 Education in regards to children being informed in food, 
nutrition, physical activity in order that they can become 
involved in sports/healthier lifestyles for future generations 

 
 

This priority area links with the other potential PSB priority areas of the response 
analysis as tackling ACEs will: 

 mean that individuals are more likely and able to engage with training, employment 
and volunteering. 

 help to ensure people feel safe in their community, by reducing crime and anti-
social behaviour. 

 facilitate a shift from treatment of ill health to a society that enables people to adopt 
healthy behaviours. 

 
4. Where are we now? 

 
Professor Mark Bellis led a study examining the prevalence of ACEs in the Welsh 
adult population and their impact on health and well-being across the life course. 
This study was undertaken in 2015 by Public Health Wales in collaboration with 
Liverpool John Moores University.  Although data are not available at a local level, it 
identified that prevention of ACEs is likely not only to improve the early years 
experiences of children born in Wales but will also reduce levels of health-harming 
behaviours across the life course. The benefits of preventing and addressing ACEs, 
improving resilience and protective factors to enable individuals to cope with ACEs 
are therefore in the interest of health, education and criminal justice agencies as well 
as to the long-term economic benefit of the country (Figure 3).   
 

Page 82



  Appendix 3 

 
Figure 3: Potential benefits of preventing ACEs in future generations  

 
Reflected in population terms, reducing ACEs could potentially result in:  

 over 125,000 less smokers, or e-cigarette users, across Wales 

 over 55,000 fewer people who have ever used heroin or crack cocaine  

 a reduction in the number of individuals who report low mental wellbeing by just 
over 100,000, with an associated reduction in costs  

 a reduction by more than a quarter (27%) of adults living with low mental well-
being in Wales. 

 
In terms of what is currently being done, Wales is pioneering a range of national 
policies and programmes which aim to: 

 Identify and intervene where children may already be victims of abuse, neglect or 
living in adverse childhood environments; 

 Better equip parents and care-givers with the necessary skills to avoid ACEs 
arising within the home environment and encourage development of social and 
emotional well-being and resilience in the child;  

 Ensure that indirect harms from for instance, domestic violence, substance 
misuse and other mental and behavioural problems in the family setting are 
identified, addressed and their impact on children minimised. 

 
The Building a Brighter Future: Early Years and Childcare Plan 2013-2023 and 
The Healthy Child Wales programme set out the policy framework and plan for 
supporting families to ensure their children attain their health and developmental 
potential and aims to increase family resilience. This includes: 

 Influencing Welsh national public health strategies to enhance healthier 
communities; 

 Delivery of key public health messages throughout the child’s first seven years of 
life from conception so families are supported to make long-term health 
enhancing choices; 

 Promotion of bonding and attachment to support positive good parent-child 
relationships resulting in secure emotional attachment for children; and, 

 The promotion of positive maternal and family emotional health and resilience.  
 

There are a number of national tackling poverty programmes targeted at the most 
deprived communities in Wales including Flying Start, Families First and 
Communities First.  

Page 83



  Appendix 3 

 
Together for Mental Health – a Strategy for Mental Health and Well-being in 
Wales sets out the policy framework for tackling low mental well-being which is 
committed to person-centred holistic care, engaging in all aspects of a person’s life. 
This includes: 

 the promotion of mental well-being and, where possible, preventing mental health 
problems developing. 

 joint working across sectors to address the range of factors in people’s lives 
which can affect mental health and well-being.  

 
The Together for Children and Young People programme is a multi-agency 
service improvement programme which was established to consider ways to 
reshape, remodel and refocus the emotional and mental health services provided for 
children and young people in Wales, in line with principles of prudent healthcare. The 
strategy acknowledges that tackling problems such as poverty and drug and alcohol 
misuse are important, as well as making sure people have strong communities, 
healthy schools, good workplaces and strong relationships. 
 
The collective initiative Cymru Well Wales aims to ensure co-ordinated system-
based working across public services, voluntary and private organisations at a 
national and local level. Through Cymru Well Wales, Wales can exploit assets not 
just in the health systems but the professionals, volunteers and other resources that 
make up our schools and workplaces, housing, police, fire and rescue services. 
Cymru Well Wales is re-aligning these assets to accomplish a shared set of goals. 
The first of these is improving outcomes in the early years, with a focus on the first 
two years of life. 
 
The Police are fundamental in preventing ACEs; not just as a service which 
responds to crises, but as part of the ACE prevention process.   The OPCC have 
submitted a bid to the Home Office transformation fund for funding to adopt an all 
Wales Policing approach to vulnerability through an ACE informed lens. 
 
Whilst there is considerable good practice occurring locally, such as through the 
Families First programme, there would be benefit in all partners explicitly recognising 
their role in identifying and addressing ACEs, with partners working more 
collaboratively and in an integrated way to meet the needs of individuals and 
communities. 
 

5. What could be done? 
 

In order to effectively reduce ACEs in Caerphilly county borough and improve 
individuals’ life course prospects, strategic action across organisational boundaries 
could be taken at three levels:  
 
Preventing Exposure to ACEs – This could include, for example, action to address 
ACEs within policy documentation, early pregnancy intervention to identify parents 
who have experienced ACEs; focusing on early years; prioritising parents for 
treatment support e.g. mental health; substance misuse and developing resilience in 
individuals and communities. 
 
 
 

Page 84



  Appendix 3 

Recognising Risk and Early Intervention – Action to recognise risk and early 
intervention to address ACEs could include for example, behaviour management and 
support in schools for children experiencing ACEs, support to Looked After Children 
and individuals within the Youth Offending Services. Building resilience in children 
and young people and in the communities are actions that are imperative to 
preventing and mitigating impact of ACEs. 
 
Treatment and Care – Action could include identification of adults who have 
experienced trauma from ACEs and implement evidence based interventions for 
trauma; services acting in ACE informed way including identifying root causes as 
well as dealing with symptoms.  
 
A number of actions could be undertaken at a system wide level to break the cycle of 
ACEs, including: 
 

 Improving awareness of the importance of early life experiences on the long-term 
health, social and economic prospects of children 

 Information should be made available to a wide range of professionals (health, 
education, social, criminal justice and others) on ACES, their consequences and 
how they can be prevented (ACE informed professionals) 

 Information should be disseminated to the public and especially those planning or 
having children (ACE aware communities) 

 Raising awareness of ACEs within the educational sector and developing 
resilience in children (ACE informed schools) 

 Investing in early years universal (population wide) interventions along with 
additional resource proportionate to need for vulnerable children (such as those 
in deprived areas who are at greater risk) which is cost-effective and essential to 
ensure a healthy and productive population 

 Strengthening evidence informed universal service specifications, ensuring 
effective pathways into additional support, monitoring of intervention coverage 
and content and, routine audit of fidelity to intervention specifications 

 Policing approach to vulnerability through an ACE informed lens 

 Using established and emerging evidence of what works to prevent and mitigate 
ACEs. 

 
Addressing ACEs is a combination of short, medium and long-term work.  Much of 
this work, such as raising awareness and embedding the knowledge of ACEs in 
professionals and the public, could be undertaken in the short-term.   
 
All five ways of working are required in order to effectively identify and break the 
cycle of Adverse Childhood Experiences. 
 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

This is an opportunity to break the cycle of ACEs within Caerphilly county borough.  
 
ACEs are having a detrimental and long lasting effect on the population and there is 
evidence to suggest that preventing and reducing ACEs will contribute towards 
improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Caerphilly 
county borough. 
 

Page 85



  Appendix 3 

 
ACEs can have a negative impact on a person’s health and wellbeing but they also 
increase the risk of low educational attainment and unemployment, drug use, 
teenage pregnancy and criminal behaviour. Children of those affected by ACEs are 
at increased risk of exposing their own children to ACEs, so it is a cycle which can 
continue within families. Tackling ACEs is vital in order to break this cycle, both 
preventing and mitigating their effects.  
 
Building resilience in children exposed to ACEs will play an important role in helping 
these children to reach their full potential and to reduce the likelihood of such ACEs 
being passed on to subsequent generations. Likewise, working with parents, carers, 
families and all relevant staff to raise awareness of the impact that ACEs can have 
on children will educate and create well informed, ACE aware communities.  
Preventing ACEs in a single generation or reducing their impact on children can 
benefit not only those individuals but also future generations. 
 
Tackling ACEs is not a single organisational issue but requires involvement and 
action by all PSB member organisations working in collaboration for the prevention 
and long term wellbeing of Caerphilly county borough current and future generations.  
 
This report asks the PSB to: 
 
 support ACEs as a priority area for the Well-being Plan with focus on prevention, 

recognising risk, early intervention and treatment. 
 

 nominate appropriate senior representatives to join a task and finish group to 
further develop the ACEs response section of the Well-being Plan. 

 
  
Reference 

 
Bellis, M A; Ashton, K; Hughes, K et al 2016: Adverse Childhood Experiences and their 

impact on health harming behaviours in the Welsh Adult population.  Public Health 

Wales and Centre for Public Health, Liverpool John Moores University 

  

Page 86



  Appendix 3 

CAERPHILLY PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD 
Response Analysis 

 
1. Priority Issue(s):  
 

Ensuring people feel safe in their community, by reducing crime and anti-social 
behaviour and the fear of crime. 

 
2. Outcomes to be worked towards under this priority: 

 
1. Reductions in crime and disorder 
2. Improved community confidence 
3. Less people entering the criminal justice system 

 
 
3. What contribution can working towards these outcomes achieve for well-being in 

Caerphilly County Borough? 
 
What is the case for prioritising work on this issue? 
 
The Well-being Assessment (WBA) has highlighted the key crime and disorder data for 
the local authority area. This is supplemented by more focussed documents including 
the Safer Gwent Strategic Assessment 2015-16 and regular quarterly and annual 
reports provided by the Safer Gwent Analyst covering key crime types. Quarterly fire 
crime data, and partnership anti-social behaviour data, completes the data picture. In 
comparison to other localities with similar demographics the local authority is not a high 
crime area. However, pockets of higher incidence do exist, either temporally or 
spatially. The qualitative responses of the community to key questions around what 
public sector bodies should prioritise highlights the, often very personal, concerns 
around crime and disorder, anti-social behaviour particularly. This is to be expected in 
the context of well-being, as feeling unsafe in a community has a significant effect on 
quality of life, whether the respondent is a direct victim of crime and disorder, or fears 
that they may be at some time in the future. The visual aspects of low level 
environmental crime can blight an area and the effects are particularly acute in more 
deprived areas where lack of consideration by a few may affect many. 
 
Is it an issue that could be tackled over the short, medium or long-term? 
 
Acute issues can benefit from a collaborative partnership approach where they are 
affecting a location over a short time period (weeks or months) e.g. spikes in particular 
crime types, pockets of youth disorder, problem individuals and properties. More 
concerted activity is required over the medium term for other intransigent issues 
(months or years) e.g. the night time economy, deliberate fire setting such as grass 
arson, landscape crime etc. 
 
Ultimately however, crime and disorder, while it shows a downward trend over time, will 
never be a ‘solved’ issue because of the wider societal causes of criminal and anti-
social behaviour. The commitment of partners, improved methodology and practice, 
changes in legislation, responsive activity and decreases in the causative factors will 
be long term areas of focus. Preventative activity and support for victims tend to be 
areas that are delivered in partnership, or through specific funded programmes of work, 
as they are often outside core delivery and core budgets. 

Page 87



  Appendix 3 

 
How could it contribute to the 7 Well-being Goals? 
 
The priority issue firmly contributes to Cohesive Communities. However Prosperous 
Communities are more likely to be places where people have aspirations for 
themselves and their families, employers are more likely to be attracted into a safe low 
crime area. Environmental crime affects biodiversity and Resilient Communities. 
Mental health and well-being is affected by the perception of the community people live 
in, unhealthy behaviours such as drinking to excess and substance misuse affect not 
only the individual but children and other family members. Activity under this priority 
contributes to Healthier Communities. Equality of opportunity and equality of 
treatment by society, leading to Equal Communities, are issues for more vulnerable 
individuals including young people, people with protected characteristics, older people, 
domestic abuse victims etc. 
 
How could it link into the other areas of response analysis? 
 
Volunteering – Crime prevention activity is supported by voluntary activity and 
community action, Neighbourhood Watch groups and local Crime Prevention Panels 
being the most manifest. Direct delivery and support for local policing is provided by 
Special Constables and Police Cadets.  
 
ACE’s – Adverse Childhood Experiences include being exposed to domestic abuse 
and parental substance misuse, parental incarceration, physical/verbal/sexual abuse, 
all of which are tackled by crime and disorder agencies. 
 
Sustainable communities – Suitable housing that meets peoples need extends to the 
security of the built environment and secured by design principles. 
 
Physical and mental ill health – Mental health and well-being is both a cause and effect 
of crime and disorder. Suffers of mental ill health should be supported to live well in 
communities. However, individuals in crisis are often dealt with by Police due to a lack 
of safe alternatives for their care. New legislation preventing the use of police custody 
creates unmet need. Sport as a diversionary activity for young people contributes to 
physical health. 
 
Protection and use of the environment – Respect and responsibility for the environment 
through educational and preventative initiatives, and enforcement activity for landscape 
and environmental crime protects the environment for its use by all. There is a renewed 
community interest in protecting the environment. 
 

4. Where are we now? 
 
Evidence of current situation – data, research, etc. 
 
Comparing 15-16 to 16-17 data for the county borough as a whole shows: 
 

Reductions Increases 

16% ASB 63% Robbery 

40% Rape 50% Public Order 

32% Drug offences 16% Misc. crimes against society 

18% Dwelling burglary 14% Bicycle theft 

Page 88



  Appendix 3 

 
However, there are variations across the authority area, between local policing sections 
and between local authority wards. Crime figures may be generally low in a category 
such that small changes reflect as big percentages. Crime patterns vary as they are 
closely linked to the behaviour of, often a few, individuals. Figures as yet unratified 
by the Home Office for 2016-17 data. 
 
For the 12 rolling months ending December 2016 the crime rate was 56.9 per 1000 
population, an increase of 1.8% on the previous period. There is a disparity between 
Caerphilly North +14% (Bargoed/Rhymney/Ystrad Mynach) and Caerphilly South -9% 
(Bedwas/Caerphilly). 
 
What is currently being done and by whom? 
 
There are a number of collaborative partnership activities already working on this issue 
as it closely aligns to the former Safer Caerphilly strand and is the mechanism by which 
the statutory Community Safety Partnership (CSP) activity is delivered. Safer Gwent 
exists as an advisory group under the sponsorship of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. Its current work plan seeks to complement and support local 
partnership activity and add consistency through regional projects including ASB team 
support, IDVA provision, Safer Gwent coordinator post, Safer Gwent analyst etc. The 
Safer Caerphilly Delivery Group currently acts as the statutory CSP incorporating the 
PSB partners; Gwent Police, Local Authority, Police and Crime Commissioner, 
SWFRS, Fire Authority, ABUHB, National Probation Service, Community Rehabilitation 
Company. In addition the Youth Offending Service, Youth Service, Communities First, 
regional domestic abuse provision and regional substance misuse provision, and 
regional community cohesion coordination representatives also sit around the table. 
Three Elected Members attend. The group has an action plan that includes partnership 
activity for a 12 month period. 
 
The Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Board 
operates at a Gwent level and includes the CSP partners; it also has a regional action 
plan. The Gwent Substance Misuse Area Planning Board operates at a Gwent level 
and includes the CSP partners; it also has a regional action plan. Other local and 
regional plans for crime and justice have not included domestic abuse and substance 
misuse activity to any great extent as the regional boards have been driven by Welsh 
Government funding criteria that have dictated that delivery is on a wider geographical 
area than local authorities. The Integrated Offender Management arrangements also 
sit at a Gwent level, with local case management. The Gwent CONTEST Board 
supports the Governments Counter-terrorism strategies and assists partners to deliver 
the PREVENT and CHANNEL strands of CONTEST. 
 
The Blaenau Gwent and Caerphilly Youth Offending Service (YOS) operate across 
two Gwent local authority areas with a remit of reducing the numbers of young people 
in the criminal justice system. The YOS managers and local authority community safety 
leads across Gwent are responsible for delivering an annual business plan to support 
the Welsh Government Promoting Positive Engagement (PPE) funding to divert young 
people from low level anti-social behaviour and crime to prevent first time entrants into 
the criminal justice system. PPE funding co-supports projects that in many cases are 
joint funded by the Police and Crime Commissioner (Safer Gwent funding).  
 
 

Page 89



  Appendix 3 

PSB members have direct core delivery arrangements that support this response 
analysis area e.g. the Fire Crime Unit in South Wales Fire and Rescue Service, Local 
Authority CCTV and Community Safety Wardens etc. Voluntary sector activity will 
include Special Constables, Police Cadets, Crime Prevention Panels and 
Neighbourhood Watch groups. 
 
Local partnership case management arrangements exist for, anti-social behaviour, 
partnership tasking including support for victims, offender management and 
resettlement, street homelessness etc. 
 
Do we have a comprehensive picture of all activity e.g. private sector, third sector, 
community interventions? 
 
We have a good picture due to longstanding partnership processes and good 
communication channels. However, there may be more activity that is underway, 
particularly community and third sector interventions, which is not known or linked into 
existing partnership arrangements. 
 
How effective is the current work? 
 
Crime data and statistics that demonstrate the effectiveness of partnership activity are 
best shown as long term trends unless they are related to short term activity to resolve 
an acute problem when progress should be measured over a shorter time frame. There 
have been longstanding reductions in anti-social behaviour, crime, first time entrants to 
the criminal justice system etc. Other areas show increases that aren’t necessarily poor 
performance as they reflect increased reporting e.g. domestic abuse. Others are 
affected by different recording methods so comparison with historical data is not 
meaningful. Issues such as community cohesion are not easily measured and would 
tend to be a subjective report by individuals. Feeling safer is measured by a biennial 
household survey (relatively small sample size) and showed a small decrease at last 
survey. Victim satisfaction, those dealt with by Gwent Police, is higher than whole 
population perceptions of crime and disorder in the area, possibly reflective of the 
personal subjectivity around well-being as opposed to the reality of being assisted by 
the police and victim support agencies. Police and Crime Commissioner and ‘Your 
Voice’, the community/policing engagement process, reflect a continuing demand for 
policing ‘presence’. Partnership communications are an effective way to demonstrate 
activity and allay community fears. However partnership communications, ‘good news 
stories’ have decreased over recent years due to reductions in local CSP staffing. 
 
A recent Wales Audit Office report, ‘Community Safety in Wales’ (October, 2016), is 
particularly critical of the confused landscape around community safety. It makes a 
number of key recommendations including improving strategic planning, board 
structure, funding/budgets, performance management, risk management and citizen 
engagement. 
 
How well does what is currently being done take account of the 5 ways of working? 
 
The involvement of local residents as part of ongoing engagement is only achieved by 
Gwent Police (Your Voice) and the Police and Crime Commissioner (Police and Crime 
Plan). Engagement has recently been achieved through the development of the well-
being assessment for the area, however crime and justice ‘partnership’ engagement 
activity has all but ceased in recent years due to staffing cuts. Collaboration is strong 

Page 90



  Appendix 3 

as agencies realise that they cannot deliver the agenda alone, partnership activity was 
mandated by statute 20 years ago and has had time to develop, with new expectations 
added over time. Crime and disorder reduction tends to take an incremental, 
‘immediate activity’ approach to problem solving; however the long-term aim is for 
safer communities. There is good integration among crime and disorder partners and 
linkages to other partners core activity and objectives in the main, although all bodies 
are operating under a time of decreasing resources and the ability to contribute 
resources to solve problems that are outside the usual sphere of delivery is becoming 
limited. Funding is often short term and subject to external approval. Activity is wholly 
preventative whether that be activity against individuals, places or specific problems. 
In summary: 
 
Involvement   
Collaboration   
Long-Term   
Integration   
Prevention   

 
What is planned?  
 
The action plan of the Safer Caerphilly Delivery Group has been slimmed down over 
recent years due to cuts in partnership resources. Activity still exists around anti-social 
behaviour, crime reduction, domestic abuse and substance misuse, however project 
work has decreased. Safer Gwent has a work programme that seeks to strengthen 
collaborative opportunities to improve service delivery, its draft for 2017/18 includes 
activity around the regionalised anti-social behaviour process, links to the PSBs,  
publicity/promotion/profile, restorative justice, community cohesion, cyber-crime and 
the response to the Wales Audit Office report. 
 
Local partners are currently trialling a ‘Caerphilly Community Well-being Forum’ that 
will meet on a monthly basis to task agencies around problem individuals and problem 
places. This has been developed from the former Partnership Tasking process and 
whereas this was police led, its replacement will be led by all partners with equal ability 
to influence the people and places that are discussed. Partners round the table include 
ASB officers, police CADROs, Tenancy Enforcement, funded youth diversion projects, 
fire crime officers, POVA, victim support agencies, Community Safety Wardens etc. Its 
remit will also consider the needs of repeat and vulnerable victims. 
 

5. What could be done? 
 

Our organisations could improve the way we involve the community.  Greater 
engagement, consultation and communication with residents is necessary. This has 
been identified in the recent WAO report. 
 
The PSB could consider a strengthened Communications and Engagement Strategy as 
the Well-being Plan develops to include positive ‘good news’ stories on its delivery 
successes. This should not dilute established brands such as ‘Safer Caerphilly’ and 
‘Safer Gwent’ but the links to this activity as being that of the PSB partners should be 
made. A stakeholder analysis attached to the strategy document would identify the 
stakeholders most interested in what is being done or being sought to achieve.  
The communication strategy should identify the vehicles that are to be used to get in 
touch with those stakeholders and the community e.g. digital, face-to-face, focus 

Page 91



  Appendix 3 

groups, with mechanisms for involving the more hard to reach communities/groups.  
 
It must be ensured that there is no duplication of effort. Agencies can advise on who 
are the best the best groups to involve, and highlight past good examples of 
involvement.  
 
There are a number of examples of community involvement from Police ‘Your Voice’ 
meetings, to Neighbourhood Watch meetings to Councillor Surgeries but the outcomes 
need to be communicated amongst stakeholders.  
 
It would be a disaster if each organisation wrote their own involvement strategy. The 
community would be overwhelmed with contacts resulting in a poor level of 
engagement. One good quality Public Sector survey could be adopted rather than 
stakeholders addressing surveying the public in isolation.   
 
It has been identified that one hard to reach group is those aged between 25-35 years 
old because they are often at work all day. It is vital that any involvement strategy will 
need to include those hard to reach groups. Public sector staff should be easy to reach. 
ABUHB employ over 14000 staff members and CCBC in excess of 8000, a large 
number of whom will be Caerphilly residents.  
 
There will also be disengaged members of the community and vulnerable groups  that  
need to be involved. We need to consider methods of infiltrating those communities to 
deliver vital messages that we actually affect those who would not normally engage.   
 
Software such as ‘Mosaic’ employed by SWFRS is a very useful tool that could help 
shape an involvement strategy.   
 
There are a number of collaborative partnership activities already taking place which 
have been well documented in this report. Collaboration is something the CSP (by its 
very definition) has been doing for a number of years. There are very few community 
improvement activities that stakeholders deliver independently as a single service.  
 
Moving forward, it is vital that we maintain consistency across Gwent. By virtue of Safer 
Gwent, we have a regional collaborative group in existence that could be developed 
further.  
 
In some areas of PSB responsibility there are drivers for a more regionalised approach 
to strategic planning and accountability, crime and disorder appears to be one such 
area. Local case management and place based delivery would continue as it does 
currently but strategic planning could happen at the regional level. Currently Safer 
Gwent would have to report to 5 PSB’s. This is not an efficient use of partnership 
resources. If Safer Gwent became a delivery arm of the 5 PSB’s then strategic 
planning and activity would need to be consistent across the Gwent region and 
performance accountability would need to be provided to the 5 PSB’s in the same 
format. The local authority Partnerships Scrutiny Committee would retain democratic 
oversight. 
 
The Well-being Plan drives collaboration. Agencies could consider options such as: 
pooled budgets; joined services; and shared buildings. Partners have been talking 
about collaborative measures for some time, but we must now aim to enhance and 
improve those collaborative arrangements and make them meaningful.  

Page 92



  Appendix 3 

  
It is felt that the Third Sector are not yet ‘collaboration ready’ in the wider sense, but 
are a key partner and so the challenge is to make sure the sector feels empowered and 
therefore ready and able to work more collaboratively with us. Equally commissioners 
of services don’t automatically look at the third sector in terms of their collaboration and 
delivery. Third sector organisations offering similar products/services should work 
together when it comes to bidding for funding.  
 
Agencies could make better use of volunteers when considering collaboration with 
partners. Police and fire cadets are a valued resource.  
 
In considering the long term outcomes, consideration should be given to the definition 
of long term. Partners consider 5-10 years as being a distant horizon in terms of day to 
day incremental activity to improve this objective, while the reality is it is much longer. 
We should consider long term to cover a generational cycle - possibly 10-25 years. 
Breaking generational cycles has been mentioned previously in this report, the 
outcomes of which won’t be evident for some years.  
 
Early intervention and prevention is a key theme when considering long term 
outcomes: Flying Start; Families First; First 1000 Days for children – all concentrate on 
early years. We will not see the benefits of these programmes until later in life and is 
also difficult to quantify the results. We must prevent trauma in early years as this 
dictates the behaviour (to a degree) of the adult in future years.  
 
Social prevention theory works, but requires all agencies to act preventatively.  
Preventative anti-poverty programmes, along with the early years and youth 
intervention programmes will assist in changing behaviours and therefore preventing 
offending behaviour by children and young people, ASB perpetrators, and future 
criminals. Prevention is more than supporting the victims, but rather providing support 
to prevent people from becoming victims and/or perpetrators.  
 
Agencies must adopt an ‘invest to save’ mentality. It is commonplace amidst budget 
cuts for intervention/prevention measures to be abandoned as we are forced to deal 
with the ‘here and now’ and pressure is felt to deliver statutory services. Welsh 
Government funded programmes in youth crime prevention have been less supportive 
of early stage intervention projects. Focus must remain on early intervention and 
prevention otherwise we are not going to overcome the generational change we desire. 
If we don’t invest in prevention, the cure will cost more in the future.  
 
Integration across the Police and Crime Plan, each Well-being Plan, Safer Gwent 
Action Plan and the Well-being Objectives of other bodies must be adopted to ensure 
consistency.  
 
Additional work identified? 
 
In the short term there may be additional work in response to putting early intervention 
measures in place. We must recognise the pressures, share the problems and 
maximise our resources. Importantly, we need to ensure that any messages being 
delivered are the same with no conflicting advice.  
 
 
 

Page 93



  Appendix 3 

Recognition that early intervention is key and all partners need to adopt the same 
approach as it has a knock on effect for other services. There are very clear links to 
collaboration, involvement and integration.  
 
Working more collaboratively? 
 
Focusing on the prevention agenda should be more explicitly recognised among 
partners, taking a collaborative approach to maximise our resources. Community 
reassurance and confidence in agencies requires further work.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 
Examples of evidenced good practice elsewhere 
 
Connect Gwent – A service of third sector organisations, funded by the PCC, who are 
working to ensure victims receive the support, information and guidance they need 
within Caerphilly and surrounding authorities. This one-stop shop for victims is an 
excellent example where agencies are brought together, working collaboratively to 
prevent duplication, sharing information to support victims and witnesses while at the 
same time addressing the issues around types of crimes and behaviours.  
 
Youth Offending Service – A strong partnership of police, social services, probation, 
and victim services.  
 
SWFRS – An excellent example of how step changes can result in reducing demand 
on a service and therefore a better targeted deployment of resources as well as the 
knock on effect benefits for other services. The service reported that their focus 10/15 
years ago was in the main, responsive, responding to approximately 1000 house fires a 
year, often resulting in deaths. A step change was stimulated and a shift to 
preventative work, education and awareness raising was necessitated. More recent 
figures show a huge reduction in the number of house fires in Caerphilly accounting for 
200 incidents per year. Learning must be achieved from this. A preventative approach 
to the delivery of the service has greatly improved the safety of the community and by 
default has benefited other services for example, the health service not dealing with 
what would have been the physical and mental harm of those fires. And crime 
investigation time by the Police.  
 
Other good examples of collaborative working: 
 
The regionalised IDVA Service and Gwent ASB coordination- previously highlighted in 
this report, along with the Safer Gwent Analyst and Safer Communities Co-Ordinator. 
Each has provided an improved and more consistent service to communities. 
 
Are additional resources required or re-tasking of existing resources? 
 
Given the very difficult financial times we are experiencing, the luxury of additional 
resources to assist in the delivery of services is not anticipated. Rather, organisations 
accept we must work smarter with what we already have, enhancing and improving 
what we deliver and how we work.  

 
6. Conclusions and Recommendations 

 
There is an opportunity to use the Safer Gwent Group to deliver a consistent 
community safety response across Gwent. Most statutory partners are regional bodies 

Page 94



  Appendix 3 

and there is no longer local partnership capacity to facilitate local action plans, 
recording and reporting. Some regional collaborative arrangements already exist in 
specific areas e.g. offender management, substance misuse, domestic abuse. 
However, there stills needs to be local delivery as delivery arms remain local e.g. 
operational policing staff, local authority services (tenancy enforcement, community 
safety wardens, CCTV etc.). Some legislation relates specifically to local authority 
duties, or the geographic area of the local authority e.g. counter-terrorism, domestic 
abuse. And democratic oversight is at local authority scrutiny committee.  
 
The PSB may wish to consider a tiered response; with strategic planning and analysis 
held regionally, but tactical and operational issues held locally. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 95



  Appendix 3 

CAERPHILLY PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD 
Response Analysis 

 
1. Priority Issue(s):  

 
Facilitating a shift from treatment of mental and physical ill health to a society 
that enables people to adopt healthy behaviours, to reduce the inequality gap in 
life expectancy and healthy life expectancy between the most and least deprived 
populations in the county borough.  

 
2. Outcomes to be worked towards under this priority: 

 
1. Improving health  
2. Narrowing the gap in health inequalities to reduce the gap in healthy life expectancy.  

 
3. What contribution can working towards these outcomes achieve for well-being in 

Caerphilly County Borough? 
 

Currently, people in the most deprived areas of Wales live more years in poor health 
compared to those who live in the least deprived areas.  In Caerphilly county borough 
between 2010 and 2014, the healthy life expectancy was over 18 years longer for those 
living in the least deprived areas compared to those living in higher levels of deprivation.  
These inequalities are having a profound effect on the country’s prospects and growth. 
With more of the adult population living in poor health, productivity losses are rising and 
more losses in taxes and welfare are being experienced.  

 
 

 
  

Page 96



  Appendix 3 

Specific examples of the importance of promoting healthy behaviours and reducing the 
inequality gap:  

 
a) Keeping people healthy across the life course including promoting healthy 

behaviours and protecting health 

 Smoking is currently the largest single preventable cause of ill health and death 
in Wales. It directly contributes to health inequalities as smoking is two and half 
times higher in deprived populations. 

 Heavy drinking increases the risk of unemployment and could account for more 
than 800,000 working days lost due to absences from work and nearly 1 million 
working days lost due to job loss and reduced employment opportunities in 
Wales. For every £1 spent on motivational interviewing and supportive 
networks for people with alcohol dependence, £5 is returned to the public 
sector in reduced health, social care and criminal justice costs. 

 By 2035 it is predicted that almost three in four adults will be overweight or 
obese. If rates continue to rise, by 2050, this will have a cost to society and the 
economy of £2.4 billion. 

 Cancer is a major cause of ill health in Wales and deprivation is linked to 
poorer uptake of all screening programmes. Screening can be cost effective 
and early identification can lead to patients living longer and to fewer 
emergency hospital admissions and diagnostic tests. 

 
b) Building resilience across the life course 

 Interventions that are accessible to all along with additional resource 
proportionate to need for vulnerable children work well and are cost effective 

 Interventions for children and young people, especially the most vulnerable, 
could lead to long-term savings by reducing the risk of health and social 
problems and by improving education, training and employment prospects 

 Every pound invested in early years interventions returns up to £16.80 

 Every pound invested in parenting programmes to prevent conduct disorder 
returns £8 over 6 years 

 Mental ill health in childhood costs society between £11,000 and £59,000 per 
year, per child 

 Mental ill health costs society in Wales £7.2 billion every year 
 

c) Plan and secure sustainable and accessible health and social care services that 
meet current and future needs and address health inequities  

 Preventing ill health across the population is generally more effective at 
reducing health inequalities than clinical interventions. 

 
This priority area links with the other areas of the response analysis as: 

 healthier individuals are more likely, and able, to engage with training, employment 
and volunteering; 

 tackling, for example, mental ill health and substance misuse will support  breaking 
the cycle of Adverse Childhood Experiences; and 

 a population which is more physically active, using the countryside and active travel, 
will contribute to increasing the use of the environment in a sustainable and 
responsible way.   

 
 
 

Page 97



  Appendix 3 

How this priority area links with the 7 wellbeing goals: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Where are we now? 
 

a) Keeping people healthy across the life course including promoting healthy 
behaviours and protecting health   

 
There is an array of published evidence, for example, from NICE, which outline 
effective actions for addressing health behaviours, including policy interventions 
through to interventions at a community or individual level.   
 
Whilst there are many examples of projects and services undertaken in Caerphilly 
county borough these are often short-term funded. Due to the nature of the 
funding and target driven approach, it has been challenging for these projects and 
services to apply the 5 ways of working.  Through small changes across multiple 
parts of the system, such as minor adjustments to routine practice, has the 
potential to achieve a greater impact on our outcomes than developing short-term 
projects.  

    
  

Prosperous 

Individuals are more likely to: 

 perform better at school and less likely to be unemployed, 
receiving benefits or involved in crime 

 be productive members of the population  

Resilient 
Individuals will be empowered to engage with, and contribute to 
enhancing the natural environment. 

Healthier 

People will be healthier across the life course through: 

 reduced levels of health harming behaviours 

 being protected from disease and ill health 

 having a good start in life 

 promotion of mental wellbeing and prevention of mental ill 
health 

 having services that are sustainable and accessible, that 
meet needs and address health inequalities 

More equal 
Those living in areas of deprivation are at greater risk of poor 
health, so adopting healthy behaviours and reducing the 
inequality gap in life expectancy should promote equality. 

Cohesive 
communities 

Improved health empowers individuals to be active members of 
their community. 

Vibrant 
culture and 
thriving Welsh 
language 

Improved health empowers individuals to participate/engage in 
Welsh language, sports and culture etc.  Participating in sports 
and arts can help to improve physical and mental health and 
wellbeing. 

Globally 
responsible 

Prevent higher healthcare costs. 

Page 98



  Appendix 3 

b) Building resilience across the life course 
 
There is a strong economic case for investing in the early years of life as early years 
programmes are often less expensive than the services needed to address the 
physical, mental, behavioural and socio-economic consequences of poor early child 
development. 
 
The chart below illustrates that the bulk of public spending (health, education, income 
support, social care and crime) currently occurs later in the lifecourse; this is at odds 
with the evidence of where we may be able to have the greatest impact on outcomes 
i.e. conception to age 2-3. Realigning system investment into these very early years 
will not only improve outcomes for the younger generation, but will reap rewards for 
the whole of society by preventing problems in the future.  
 

 
 

Access to quality early education and care improves children’s outcomes, especially 
among children living in disadvantaged areas or with special education needs. 
However, although intensive interventions in early years is key, it is recognised that both 
universal and targeted follow up interventions later in a child’s and teenager’s life are 
important in order to maintain the gain in early years. 

 
The Building a Brighter Future: Early Years and Childcare Plan 2013-2023 and The 
Healthy Child Wales programme set out the policy framework and plan for supporting 
families to ensure their children attain their health and developmental potential and aims 
to increase family resilience. There are a number of national tackling poverty 
programmes targeted at the most deprived communities in Wales including Flying 
Start, Families First and Communities First.  However, there are significant top-down 
changes to these programmes, and the impact of which is currently unclear.  
 
Promoting mental wellbeing and preventing mental ill health will contribute to reducing 
inequalities, improve physical health, reduce health-risk behaviour and increase life 
expectancy, economic productivity, social functioning and quality of life. The benefits of 
protecting and promoting mental health are felt across generations and accrue over 
many years.  Investment in mental health interventions for children and young people, 
especially the most vulnerable, is likely to lead to long-term savings by reducing the risk 
of mental health problems in later life, rates of offending and contact with the criminal 

Page 99



  Appendix 3 

justice system.  These investments will also contribute to an improvement in educational 
attainment and future employment prospects. 

 
Together for Mental Health – a Strategy for Mental Health and Well-being in Wales 
sets out the policy framework for tackling low mental well-being which is committed to 
person-centred holistic care, engaging in all aspects of a person’s life. This includes: 

 the promotion of mental well-being and, where possible, preventing mental health 
problems from developing; 

 joint working across sectors to address the range of factors in people’s lives which 
can affect mental health and well-being.  

 
1. Plan and secure sustainable and accessible health and social care services that meet 

current and future needs and address health inequities  
 

New workforce models must be explored with partners that incorporate a wider variety 
of professionals with different skills and expertise to reflect the needs of the population.  
Enhancing multidisciplinary/interdisciplinary working, ensuring that appropriate 
governance is in place will make prudent use of resources whilst providing service users 
with a more effective service.  The Frailty Programme integrates services that help 
prevent admissions to hospital and supports early discharges from hospital through a 
hospital at home model. 
 
Through the Care Closer to Home Strategy, individuals will have access to a skilled 
primary and community care workforce, reducing reliance on secondary care services. 

 
5. What could be done? 
 

A key enabler for all health interventions is system working to improve the population’s 
health and wellbeing i.e. taking a whole systems approach which aligns services, 
resources and accountability to delivery and shared outcomes.  A collaborative 
approach with an emphasis on prevention will help address the current and future 
health wellbeing challenges in Wales.  Enabling people to take more control of their 
health and wellbeing is fundamental to the sustainability of public services and 
improving community wellbeing.  A public sector wide response, which included 
involvement by the public and communities, can create the conditions to make it easier 
for people to adopt the health promoting behaviours, reduce harmful health behaviours 
and take control of their own wellbeing.  Consideration needs to be given to advocating 
at PSB level for change in project/programme funding and performance reporting 
mechanisms to create a system-wide way of working. 
 
Some specific examples of what could be done are outlined below: 

 
Keeping people healthy across the life course including promoting healthy behaviours 
and protecting health, for example: 

 reducing the prevalence of smoking 

 reducing the prevalence of alcohol and substance misuse 

 promoting physical activity 

 promoting healthy diet and obesity 

 Protection from disease and early identification 

 Preventing violence and abuse 

 Investing in school based social and emotional learning to reduce conduct disorder 

Page 100



  Appendix 3 

Building resilience across the life course 

 Ensuring a good start in life for all – ensuring good maternal health, a safe and 
caring environment for children as well as reducing poverty and deprivation. 

 Promoting mental wellbeing and preventing mental ill health will improve physical 
health and reduce health risk behaviours, poor education and unemployment. 

 Supporting lifelong learning and promoting wellbeing in the workplace. 
 

Plan and secure sustainable and accessible health and social care services that meet 
current and future needs and address health inequities  

 employ sustainable principles in commissioning services. 

 ensuring the right people with the right skills in the right place and time, such as 
social prescribers. 

 
6. Conclusions and Recommendations 

 
The PSB is asked to support the following as priority areas for the Wellbeing Plan: 

 

 Keeping people healthy across the life course including promoting healthy 
behaviours and protecting health 

 Building resilience across the life course, including focusing on early years (link to 
ACEs priority) and mental wellbeing 

 Plan and secure sustainable and accessible health and social care services that 
meet current and future needs and address health inequities. 

 
Unfortunately, due to the timescales, an engagement event involving wider partners is 
yet to be held, and further work to develop this response section for the Wellbeing Plan 
will be necessary. 

 
  

Page 101



  Appendix 3 

CAERPHILLY PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD 
Response Analysis 

 
1. Priority Issue(s):  
 

Improving the provision of, access to and promotion of community outdoor 
spaces, green spaces, and the wider countryside.  Reducing low level 
environmental issues by fostering respect, responsibility and ownership of local 
areas 

 
2. Outcomes to be worked towards under this priority:  

 
1. Increased recognition that green spaces are fundamental to well-being in Caerphilly 

county borough 
2. Use and management of green spaces is driven by communities 
3. Green spaces are an integral part of collaborative action to tackle inequality and 

poor physical and mental health and well-being 
4. An overarching county borough wide vision for green spaces is used to drive 

resourcing and delivery 
5. The value and potential of the county borough’s substantial green space resource is 

maximised through collaborative action 
 

3. What contribution can working towards these outcomes achieve for well-being in 
Caerphilly County Borough? 
 
Why do Caerphilly county borough’s green spaces matter? 
 
Over 80% of Caerphilly county borough is green space, from parks to upland 
commons, allotments to paths, rivers to protected sites. The landscape is of high 
quality and there is a wealth of biodiversity. People in the county borough highly 
value these green spaces, which provide direct benefit to communities by offering 
space for relaxation, physical activity, learning and connection with nature. More 
than this, green spaces provide a wealth of other benefits as the natural systems on 
which our existence and quality of life depends - from the regulation of climate to 
food production, energy provision, lowered flood risk and reducing the effects of air 
and other pollution.   
 
A network of healthy and connected green spaces are essential for well-being and 
yet the provision and maintenance of good quality green space is challenged by 
conflicting issues – from agriculture, industry, development, energy production, 
climate change and anti-social behaviour such as dog-fouling, off-roading, wildfires, 
litter and fly-tipping.  Urban areas, particularly in the south of the county borough, 
are under increasing pressure from development, and it is these urban fringe areas 
that are often of most importance to residents and wildlife. 
 
There is no strategic over-arching approach to the provision or use of green space in 
the county borough and, in some cases, a lack of recognition of the myriad direct 
and indirect well-being benefits that a well-maintained network of green spaces can 
provide, or the potential for the green space resource to enable and deliver even 
greater benefits in the future. 
 
 

Page 102



  Appendix 3 

 
How do green spaces link to the other topic areas undergoing response analysis? 
 
There is a substantial body of evidence to suggest that investing in green spaces 
can deliver multiple benefits for environmental, social, economic and cultural well-
being. These benefits link directly to the other topic areas considered in the 
response analysis. For example:- 
 
PHYSICAL ACTIVITY: Those living closer to green space are more likely to use it, 
and more frequently1. At a population level, higher levels of exposure to natural 
environments are associated with lower all-cause mortality, rates of Type 2 
Diabetes, cardiovascular and respiratory disease, and more positive maternal and 
pregnancy outcomes2. Green spaces also enable safe active travel for people, 
normalising physical activity as part of everyday life.   
 
MENTAL HEALTH: People exercising outdoors report higher feelings of well-being, 
and lower feelings of stress and anxiety, than those doing the same exercise 
indoors1. Self-esteem levels are significantly improved and feelings of anger, 
confusion, depression and tension all significantly improve after activity outdoors3. 
 
INEQUALITY: Socio-economic inequalities in health may be narrower in places with 
better access to green spaces, compared to those with poorer access4. 
 
EARLY YEARS: Exposure to green space during pregnancy has been linked to 
better maternal health and pregnancy outcomes, such as healthy birthweight2. In 
early years, green spaces allow for natural and creative play, and enables children 
to learn to take risks and encourages global citizenship.  
 
COMMUNITY SAFETY: Evidence points to lower levels of crime in residential areas 
with more green space5. Conversely, poorly maintained green spaces contribute to a 
feeling of vulnerability and fear of crime and are a significant factor in reducing use 
of green spaces. 
 
ACEs: Green spaces make an important contribution to improving the physical and 
mental well-being of individuals, supporting personal and emotional resilience. For 
children, playing in nature strengthens resources to cope with stress and contributes 
towards better physical skills, concentration and social co-operation.  
 
SKILLS, JOBS & ECONOMY: Local businesses and property developers benefit 
from additional green space through job creation, visitor spending and house 
prices1. Managing and improving green spaces provides multiple opportunities for 
training and employment. A high quality landscape has also been shown to attract 
inward investment and businesses to an area. 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE: Green spaces can reduce the risks associated with heat stress, 
lower flood risk and help to regulate climate. Trees and other vegetation provide 
carbon storage, as well as providing green corridors for active travel that reduces 
CO2 emissions.  
 
EXPOSURE TO POLLUTANTS: Green space contributes directly to reducing 
people’s exposure to air pollution particularly in urban areas. 
 

Page 103



  Appendix 3 

 
GOOD QUALITY HOMES & PLACES: Green space is a vital component of good 
place design, allowing for active travel, greater community cohesion and benefits for 
physical and mental health, as well as reducing potentially harmful noise pollution. 
 
BIODIVERSITY/WILDLIFE: Many species make use of the county borough’s green 
spaces. Together, these natural systems play a wide range of roles underpinning the 
benefits that society relies on – for example, food production, clean water and 
pollination.  
 
How do green spaces contribute to the 7 well-being goals? 
 

Prosperous Green spaces are a vital component of a low carbon society, 
providing the natural resources on which we all depend for 
our quality of life. Provides jobs and income including inward 
investment and tourism. 

Resilient Green spaces are critical in helping us adapt and respond to 
the future challenges we face, by increasing our resilience 
and by encouraging us to live more sustainable lifestyles.  

Healthier Areas with more accessible green space are associated with 
better mental and physical health. People are more active if 
they live in inspiring and attractive natural environments.  

More equal Evidence shows that socioeconomic inequalities in health 
and opportunities may be narrower in places with better 
access to green spaces, compared to those with poorer 
access 

Cohesive 
communities 

Green spaces for socialising, interaction and events 
enhances community cohesion and social ties, especially in 
disadvantaged communities.  

Vibrant culture 
and thriving Welsh 
language 

Green spaces are an important component of connection to 
place and personal identity.  

Globally 
responsible 

In better looking after our own environment and the range of 
natural resources, we also respect the global environment 
and help meet our global obligations.  

 

 
 
4. Where are we now? 

 
Current situation – the green space resource 
 
The county borough is rich in wildlife, which is protected by a variety of statutory 
(local, national and international) designations and non-statutory designations. This 
includes a National Nature Reserve at Aberbargoed Grasslands (which is also a 
Special Area of Conservation), some 10 Sites of Special Scientific Interest and 190 
Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation. Despite these protective measures, the 
biodiversity of the county borough is declining, reflecting losses being experienced in 
other parts of the UK and across the world.   
 
 
 
 

Page 104



  Appendix 3 

There are 5 Country Parks in the county borough, in addition to a range of other 
managed outdoor recreation facilities. The Country Parks attract in excess of 1.2 
million visits per annum, with Pen y Fan Pond being the most visited. As well as these 
more iconic sites, there are numerous other green spaces – from allotments to upland 
commons, playgrounds to river corridors.  
 
In addition, there is a network of Public Rights of Way that extends to some 500 miles, 
although access is not uniform throughout the county borough.  
 
Current situation – the use of green spaces 
 
Caerphilly County Borough Council has a good understanding of the county 
borough’s green space resource and usage, as well as the constraints affecting this – 
for example, access/physical restrictions, geographic constraints and anti-social 
behaviour.  Natural Resources Wales have data which can help to distil the potential 
of the county borough’s green spaces, including how the green space relates to wider 
well-being issues, such as health and socio-economic data.   
 
The Natural Resources Wales report for Caerphilly PSB reinforces the view that green 
space and trees make a significant contribution to peoples’ physical and mental health 
and well-being, but notes that not everyone has access to the green space, and 
emphasises the importance of path networks, woodlands and other green 
infrastructure in improving accessibility. 
 
Caerphilly’s green spaces and well-being – what is being done and by whom? 
 
There are many examples of past and current projects, using green space in the 
county borough to deliver multiple benefits linked to well-being. Many of these involve 
collaboration between public and third sector partners, for example:-  
 

 Project Bernie (partnership project between South Wales Fire and Rescue 
Service, Caerphilly Countryside Service, Welsh Wildlife Trust, South Wales Police, 
Caerphilly CBC, Caerphilly Community Safety Partnership,  Gwent Police and 
Amelia Trust Farm) to address the risk of grass fires 

 There is an active Rural Development Programme (RDP) delivering innovative 
rural projects across the county borough 

 Successful and long standing ‘Walking for Health’ Project, targeting cardiac 
recovery patients 

 Groundwork Wales’ ‘Go Green for Health’ project, working with people with 
chronic conditions and delivering lots of quantified physical and mental health 
benefits 

 Increasing physical activity and outdoor participation for hard to reach groups – for 
example, NRW’s Come Outside! project  

 Targeted interventions in natural environments to improve mental health – Actif 
Woods 

 Groundwork Wales’ horticultural ‘Roots to Life’ project at Pontllanfraith offers a 
community growing approach, and there are lots of other allotment groups across 
the borough 

 Sustainable Play – Groundwork Wales’ project that supports families to play 
outdoors, with the added value that families take on more ownership and 
responsibility for their local environment 

Page 105



  Appendix 3 

 GC Enterprises is a social enterprise run by Groundwork Wales operating in the 
Upper Rhymney Valley, in partnership with Caerphilly CBC. This operation 
supports the sale of reused furniture to families in need and also contributes to 
reducing low level environmental issues, by collecting used furniture for free within 
the borough 

 Healthy Rivers – Groundwork Caerphilly run a partnership programme with NRW, 
Dwr Cymru, Caerphilly CBC, Staedtler and Western Power to make environmental 
improvements on rivers, with the aim of improving river habitat for native fish. It 
engages with local communities through river care days and provides volunteering 
and training opportunities 

 Sustainable Fisheries Programme – WG funded, NRW run program with the aim 
to increase angling tourism within Wales, protect and enhance the water 
environment for fish and contribute to wellbeing of local communities by improved 
provision of angling and recreation. 

 Junior and adult ranger schemes  and volunteering schemes run by Caerphilly 
CBC Countryside Service 

 Biodiversity Partnership and a range of education events 

 Non-native invasive plant species project led by Caerphilly CBC (and covering 
Blaenau Gwent, RCT, Monmouthshire and Torfaen) 

 Mynydd Maen Partnership between Caerphilly CBC, Torfaen CBC, Commoners, 
Pontypool Parks and local interest groups, e.g. Twmbarlwm Society 

 
How effective is the current work? 
 
While there are numerous examples of existing or past projects/initiatives, these have 
often tended to be either pilots or short-term funded. Mainstreaming has proved 
challenging and projects tend to be carried out in isolation meaning that the overall 
impact is fragmented.  Fortunately there is always a solid core of countryside sites 
and activities that allows momentum to be continued. There is much past and current 
good practice in involving people and communities in their green spaces, from 
Community Green Flag to the ‘Roots for Life’ project. There could be enormous 
benefit from working with greater collaborative effort to address common objectives, 
greater involvement of people and longer-term interventions focussed on prevention. 
 
Understanding the current challenges 
 
There are three types of challenge affecting green spaces in the county borough –  
(1) threats to the physical resource itself, (2) irresponsible use of green spaces and 
(3) encouraging use of green spaces.  
 
1. Threats to the physical resource  
 

The main threats to green spaces and biodiversity in the county borough are 
development, land use change, agricultural intensification, pollution, disease, 
introduction of non-native species, disturbance, neglect, over exploitation, 
climate change and a lack of knowledge.  Within the county borough, wildlife is 
threatened by many human activities but the two key threats are from 
development and changes in land management. The demand for new housing, 
roads, industrial and business developments has in the past resulted in losses in 
wildlife in the county. As well as threatening the amount of green space 
resource that we will have in future, these factors also contribute to an 
increasingly fragmented resource, which is less resilient to change and less able 

Page 106



  Appendix 3 

to provide the natural systems on which we depend. This may be compounded 
by possible out comes as a result of Brexit. Whilst the City Deal may provide a 
range of benefits, it seemingly does little to directly address various 
environmental concerns, although it may prove to have significant benefits in 
relation to pollution levels. 
 

2. Irresponsible use of green spaces 
 

Fly-tipping is a significant health risk for local communities, impacting the most 
vulnerable hardest. It poses a threat to humans and wildlife, damages the 
environment, and spoils enjoyment of towns and countryside. A depleted natural 
environment blighted by fly-tipping impacts not only on long-term health and 
wellbeing, but also on our ability to grow the economy. It can affect both the 
tourism and inward investment potential of an area, as well as the value of 
homes and represents a significant cost to the taxpayer.  
 
Wildfires are an ongoing issue in the county borough (and more widely). 85% of 
fires are deliberate. Wildfires affect environmental and social well-being and 
have significant cost implications for taxpayers. While partnership projects  
(e.g. Project Bernie) have focused resources on this issue, understanding and 
tackling the root causes of deliberate fire setting is challenging.   
 
Off roading is the third primary target of the Landscape Crime Toolkit, a multi-
agency initiative covering the Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly and Torfaen areas. 
The problems associated with off roading are largely in the upland areas, 
however, inappropriate vehicle use causes damage throughout the county 
borough.  Other issues also significantly affect use and enjoyment of green 
spaces, including dog fouling and noise pollution.  

 
3. Encouraging use of green spaces 
 

Even in a green area like the county borough, not everyone has access to green 
space that will help support well-being. Resources are not always located near 
to the people that would benefit from them most, or are not managed in ways 
which make them accessible, easy and attractive to use. 
 
Lack of knowledge is commonly given as a reason for not using green spaces. 
People feel they don’t know what’s out there, what can be used and what they 
can do when they are there.  
 
Poor quality/lack of facilities is often cited as reasons for not using green 
spaces. Creating a dialogue between those who manage green spaces and 
communities to establish what people, particularly those not using green 
spaces, want from those spaces is an essential precursor to increasing use and 
improving access. Engaging communities is particularly necessary for socially 
excluded groups who are at greater risk of poor health, have less access to, and 
use green spaces less. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



  Appendix 3 

Proximity and connectivity influence the use of green space. Insufficient 
footpaths or the presence of busy and dangerous roads prevent easy access 
and deter use, particularly for children. Only a small proportion of older people 
regularly use green space, and while health issues may play a part so do a 
sense of vulnerability from busy roads, fears of crime or poorly maintained 
facilities. Public transport to green spaces is vital.  
 
Low self-esteem, poor confidence and embedded cultural perceptions can 
be barriers to participation and are inextricably linked to use of green spaces. 
Successful interventions involve people in order to understand their interests, 
aspirations and barriers and demonstrate benefits by building motivation, 
confidence and knowledge, encouraging and enabling participants to get 
involved. Enabling behaviour change is key.  
 
A risk averse approach from land owners and managers mean that 
opportunities to enhance community participation and ownership are often 
missed.  

 
5. What could be done? 

 
Whilst all services are under pressure financially and staff are stretched, there is still 
a high-quality green space resource within the county borough boundary, upon 
which we can build to deliver against all of the well-being goals. 
 
We need to adopt a different approach to this resource, one that looks at the whole 
picture and understands how a healthy and resilient environment supports economic 
and social prosperity. Some initiatives identified earlier have gone some way to 
supporting this, but more could be done with appropriate resources. It will have to 
involve working at scale to join things together and develop collective solutions. 
There will need to be a focus on behaviour change approaches to encourage 
communities to use green spaces (for example, linked to the existing Large Scale 
Change project, a partnership approach led by ABUHB). Such approaches have 
worked elsewhere around the world and in the UK, for example: 
 
The Chopwell Wood Health Project near Gateshead has combined GP referral 
schemes, educational programmes and woodland activities to promote visitation and 
physical activity. It reported that 91% of referrals complete their prescribed 
programme, a high attendance for activities (also linked to social cohesion) and an 
increase in childrens’ understanding of nature. 
 
Key opportunities  
 
Environmental and community resilience 
There is opportunity to reconnect habitats, and improve connectivity for the resilience 
of both people and nature. Areas of despoiled land and the urban fringe can play a 
significant role in this. Further involving people and communities in their local green 
spaces is key – for example, the Healthy Rivers programme works with community 
groups on better quality river environments (water quality, recreation, improving 
blight, pollution, removing barriers to fish migration). Improving green space 
provision and connectivity will also improve resilience to future climate change (e.g. 
by reducing flood risk). 
 

Page 108



  Appendix 3 

Regeneration with an environment focus 
Several projects already exist that will involve significant environmental regeneration. 
There is an £3 million Canal regeneration project and a joint Torfaen project bid 
(outdoor hub). There is also the large ‘Uplands restoration project’ with Blaenau 
Gwent, Torfaen and Caerphilly. The Upper Sirhowy Landscape Study helped tie 
communities to environmental regeneration, with the hub of proposals for 
employment and recreation being the site of the former Markham Colliery.  
NRW and Caerphilly CBC have commissioned some work to consider sustainable 
options for the future of Cwmcarn, which is currently being restocked with 70% 
broadleaf woodland. There is the potential to improve accommodation, bring in 
business partners/third sector, increase training and employment opportunities and 
other visitor facilities to create a more rounded attraction. 
 
Using environment for physical and mental health 
People are healthier and happier if they have contact with nature. There is untapped 
potential to link the green space resource to primary care, social care and 
community development – making connections and systemic links between and 
those who manage green space and/or outdoor activity providers, and those who 
work with people who would most benefit from getting outdoors. Use of green space 
is an important component of social prescribing, as evidenced elsewhere in Wales 
and the UK (e.g. Actif Woods). There is opportunity to link to the existing Large Scale 
Change project, a partnership project led by ABUHB and focussed on getting ‘more 
people more active more often’ in Caerphilly and the Heads of the Valleys.  
 
Publicly owned and managed land 
WG public forest resource (managed by NRW) is there for people and provides 
green space at scale, with an emphasis on a sense of wilderness/remoteness and 
an opportunity to ‘get away from it all’. There is a huge opportunity to confirm what 
resources should be spent, where and why. Collaboration with third sector 
organisations could enable access to different sources of funding, plus deliver 
according to the well-being goals. Sirhowy Country Park and Parc Cwm Darran also 
have NRW forestry interests and are very well-used sites with significant potential for 
projects. There are large areas of publicly controlled land to the east of Caerphilly 
and in proximity to communities identified as being the most deprived in Wales 
where an exciting project, funded through the RDP and designed from the 
community up, is likely to start shortly. There will be other opportunities to increase 
and/or improve green space on publicly-owned land – for example, in hospital 
grounds. 
 
Social enterprise, training, skills and jobs 
Green spaces are important resources for community participation, volunteering and 
learning new skills. Significant opportunity to look at boosting social enterprise – for 
example, establishing adventure/corporate training away days in country parks.  The 
recent success of the woodworking RDP funded project, which involves the 
woodland training scheme, who make products from surplus timber and then sell 
these.  There is also significant potential for low level offenders undertaking 
community-based sentences to participate in land management and, in so doing, 
learn new skills in preparation for employment.  
 
 
 
 

Page 109



  Appendix 3 

Network of flagship sites 
The county borough has a growing number of award winning countryside and urban 
parks designated as Green Flag standard, as well as a growing number of 
community managed Green Flag sites. The potential to increase or further make use 
of these and other flagship sites is there – one example is Aberbargoed Grasslands. 
Historically, the site has been under-grazed and under-managed and prone to 
vandalism such as burning. In 2005, Caerphilly CBC took over the management of 
the site. Since then the condition of the site has improved and antisocial behaviour 
such as arson, fly-tipping and off-roading have greatly reduced.   
 
Working with communities to get the most out of green spaces 
There are significant opportunities to use green spaces for socialising, interaction 
and events, which enhances community cohesion and social ties. Reinforcing local 
landscapes makes places more beautiful, interesting and distinctive, giving places 
character and helping to engender community pride. By actively engaging with 
communities and listening to feedback, it’s possible to change perceptions and 
create green spaces at the heart of communities, for the benefit of all.  
 
Different models of funding 
There is potential to explore the use of participatory budgeting and also private 
sector investment, through Corporate Social Responsibility. If we can understand 
and communicate the true contribution of green spaces to well-being, shared budget 
scenarios and programme bending across the public sector may also become a 
possibility.  
 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

Conclusions 
 
The high quality and extent of the county borough’s green spaces is a huge asset, but 
their current contribution to well-being, along with their potential to deliver greater 
benefits in future, often goes unrecognised. These natural resources underpin our 
existence and our quality of life – from physical activity, mental well-being and 
opportunities for social interaction, to climate regulation, food production and economic 
investment. The provision, maintenance and use of these natural assets is challenged 
by conflicting issues – from agriculture, industry, development and climate change, to 
anti-social behaviour issues such as dog-fouling, off-roading, wildfires, litter and fly-
tipping.   
 
Whilst green space services are under pressure financially and staff are stretched, 
there is still a high-quality resource within the borough’s boundaries upon which we can 
build to deliver against all of the well-being goals. 
 
There are numerous examples of existing or past projects/initiatives working with the 
county borough’s green spaces to deliver well-being. However, these have tended to 
be either pilots or short-term funded. Mainstreaming has proved challenging and 
projects tend to be carried out in isolation meaning that the overall impact is 
fragmented.  There is much past and current good practice in involving people and 
communities in their green spaces and there could be enormous benefit from working 
with greater collaborative effort to address common objectives, greater involvement of 
people and longer-term interventions focused on prevention. 
 

Page 110



  Appendix 3 

We need to adopt a different approach to this resource, one that looks at the whole 
picture and understands how a healthy and resilient environment supports economic 
and social prosperity. Some past initiatives have gone some way to supporting this but 
more could be done with appropriate resources. It will need to involve working at scale 
to join things together and develop collective solutions and to focus on behaviour 
change approaches to encourage communities to use green spaces. Such approaches 
have worked elsewhere around the world and in the UK. 
 
Why are green spaces a priority? 
 

 Engagement shows that green spaces are really important to people 

 They provide cross-cutting benefits across all response analysis topic areas and all 
well-being goals 

 The county borough’s green spaces are a huge asset that few places have and 
much of the land is in public ownership. The potential to enhance well-being is 
considerable.  

 Green spaces provide a cost-effective way to improve the physical and mental 
health of everyone in the county borough. 

 A network of green spaces is critical in helping us adapt and respond to the future 
challenges we face, helping us to become more resilient. 

 Green spaces are a vital component of good place design, enabling active travel, 
greater community cohesion and encouraging inward investment. 

 
What are the risks if green space is not a priority for the PSB?   
 

 The potential benefits of delivering cost effective action across multiple aspects of 
well-being will not be realised. 

 Quality of green spaces may decline due to lack of strategic oversight and 
resources. This will affect use of spaces for physical activity, mental well-being and 
social interaction. 

 Poorer quality environments result in negative perceptions of place and inhibit 
economic investment - reduced desirability of places for working, living and playing. 

 Poor quality green spaces have a reduced ability to provide the things we need for 
life/quality of life – such as clean air and water, biodiversity and food. 

 Increased ill health – poor quality physical environments are themselves detrimental 
to physical and mental health. 

 Costs to taxpayers may increase if irresponsible use of green spaces (wildfires, fly 
tipping) is not tackled collaboratively. 

 Work on green spaces will continue to be largely reactive and the benefits of a 
proactive, strategic approach that recognises the true value of green spaces to the 
county borough will not be realised. 

 
Recommendations for the PSB:- 
 
1) Leadership and collaborative action is needed from PSB members – integrated 

planning and investment that is asset-based and ensures that limited resources are 
targeted to greatest effect. 

2) Focus on the cross-cutting, preventative potential of green spaces to deliver well-
being – for example, to provide a ‘natural health service’. This needs to be part of 
the ‘day job’ and not an add-on.  

3) Take collaborative action to tackle the irresponsible use of green spaces. 

Page 111



  Appendix 3 

4) Focus on behaviour change and education through the curriculum. Help everyone 
to understand how and why green spaces are important to them.  

5) Involve and empower people and communities – talk, listen and act; overlap the 
vision of communities and stakeholders to find fertile ground for meaningful change. 

6) Support regional working on green spaces where it makes sense. 
7) Elevate and value green spaces so that they become community hubs that 

underpin well-being for all. 
 

References: 
 
1. Houses of Parliament PostNote – Green Space and Health, 2016 
2. Natural England Access to Evidence Information Note EIN020, 2016 
3. New Economics Foundation – Natural Solutions, 2012 
4. NRW briefing note – Adverse Childhood Experiences 
5. Great Outdoors. Briefing Statement from Faculty of Public Health with Natural England, 

2010 
 

  

Page 112



  Appendix 3 

SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES 
 
The Deep Place Approach to Community Renewal 
The Deep Place method is an innovative approach to sustainable community and economic 
renewal.  It has been designed to address issues in localities where long-term economic 
inactivity has become normalised and where poverty and disadvantage are entrenched. 
 
The central principle of the Deep Place approach is that economic inactivity is the ultimate 
‘cause of the causes’ of poverty.  Conventional approaches tend to direct resources solely at 
the secondary causes of poverty, including poor housing, low educational attainment and 
poor health performance.  Deep Place seeks to unify these with a local economic 
development and employment strategy.  It combines and collates the existing range of 
interventions with a direct approach to creating employment for marginalised populations. 
 
Method 
Reconnecting economically and socially marginalised communities with employment 
opportunities is the primary means for combating long-term poverty and social exclusion.   
 
Phase One: a Deep Place study begins with a localised ‘deep’ quantitative and qualitative 
profiling of the community to comprehensively map the key challenges and opportunities in 
the locality.  This phase combines official statistics and agency-led health, housing and 
educational data with community views.   
 
Phase Two: begins with an analysis of the local economy to identify key local ‘anchor 
institutions’.  Anchor organisations are the foundational economy bedrock of a locality and 
include local government, hospitals, universities, colleges and utility companies.  These 
become the trigger for local economic revitalisation by developing social procurement and 
recruitment practices linked to ‘targeted recruitment and training’ of locally marginalised 
populations.   
 
Phase Three: is the delivery stage of a Deep Place programme and is achieved by bringing 
all potential contributing agencies into a ‘coalition for change’, which seeks to unify and 
coordinate services and responses. 
 
A Profile of Lansbury Park 
This profile has been undertaken using the Atmosphere, Landscape and Horizon (ALH) 
framework developed by the Centre for Regeneration Excellence Wales (CREW) as a tool to 
assess communities and their social integration.  It is consistent with the Deep Place 
approach because of its focus on the socio-cultural impact of long-term poverty.  It also 
provides an analytical framework that can identify the connection between the physical 
characteristics of a place and lived experience of residents.  These insights are central to the 
development of a Deep Place Plan for a community.  The ALH analysis also provides a 
baseline profile against which future change can be measured.  
 
The community profile derived from the ALH framework identifies three domains that have a 
significant impact on the level of social exclusion experienced within a community.  These 
domains are: 

 Landscape 

 Atmosphere: the ‘Atmosphere’ refers to the ‘feel’ of a place 

 Horizon: the ‘Horizon’ of a community describes the sense of socio-economic horizon 
experienced by residents.   

 

Page 113



  Appendix 3 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 114



  Appendix 3 

 
 
A Five-Year Deep Place Plan 
The scale of the challenge in Lansbury Park merits a commitment over many years to fully 
eradicate poverty and create a vibrant community that people want to live in.  The Five Year 
duration of the programme proposed in this Report should be seen as a first stage 
programme, which should be followed by subsequent review and further planning in five year 
stages.  A number of key initiative underpin the first five years: 
 
Governance 
Landscape 
Atmosphere 

 Demographic Change 

 Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 

 Economic Inactivity 
 
Horizon 

 Income Maximisation 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 115



  Appendix 4 

 
Summary of Responses to Online Survey 

 
 
Background and purpose 
 
An online survey was designed to gather the views of local residents and/or organisations 
who were unable to attend one of the other engagement events held during October and 
November 2017.  The purpose of this was offer an opportunity for these residents and/or 
organisations to express their views on the draft Well-being Plan that was published for 
consultation on 25th September 2017. 
 
Method 
 
The online survey was designed and analysed using Snap survey software.  The questions 
replicated those asked at the face-to-face engagement events as far as possible.  A link to 
the survey was published on the Public Services Board website and was publicised using 
social media channels (e.g. Facebook, Twitter) and via targeted e-mails to established 
networks. 
 
By the closing date of 18th December 2017 a total of 34 responses were received, and the 
analysis that follows is based on these responses.  The small number of responses means 
that the analysis that follows cannot be considered to be representative of the wider 
population.  
 

  
Results 
 
Demographic Profile 
 
35.3% of respondents were male and 64.7% were female. 
 
5.9% of respondents were aged 18-29 years, 35.3% were aged 30-49 years, 44.1% were 
aged 50-64 years and 14.7% were aged 65 years and over. 
 
Specific equalities questions were not asked, however respondents were asked to identify 
whether the proposed well-being objectives would impact on them in terms of their age, 
ethnic origin, language requirements, disability, sexual orientation or gender.  The only 
comment made related to ensuring that young people out of school should be part of the 
process and solutions.  One respondent completed the questionnaire in Welsh. 
 
Respondents were asked to provide their postcode to enable us to map the responses.  All 
34 provided this information but due to the small numbers additional analysis at smaller 
geographical levels could not be undertaken.  However, there was a fairly even geographical 
spread across the county borough, apart from the Upper Rhymney Valley. 
 

Page 116



  Appendix 4 

Positive Change – A shared commitment to cross-sectoral change 
 
33 respondents answered this question, and of these 48.5% agreed and 48.5% strongly 
agreed with this well-being objective.  Nine respondents made additional comments in 
relation to this objective, with a summary of the main points shown below: 
 

 Good partnership working is essential.  The benefits are wide ranging, from saving costs 
and resources to less overload on staff and time constraints, and overall can provide a 
much better experience for the client or service user. 

 How will the views of residents and local organisations will be taken on board with this 
objective. 

 There needs to be an emphasis on the effective use of assets. 

 At the moment it is just words – how will progress be monitored and what teeth will ensure 
that the recommendations are carried out. 

 Changing culture (organisational and behavioural) is fundamental if public bodies and 
PSBs are to meet the duties of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, and 
support the level of change required to deliver improved well-being outcomes for local 
people and communities. 

 It will rely on good communication. 
 
58.3% of male respondents strongly agreed with this objective, compared with 40.9% of 
female respondents.  All respondents aged 18-29 years and 60% of respondents aged 65 
years and over strongly agreed with this objective.  Half of respondents aged 30-49 years 
and a third of respondents aged 50-64 years also strongly agreed with this objective. 
 
  
Positive Start – Giving our future generations the best start in life 
 
32 respondents answered this question, and of these 34.4% agreed and 56.3% strongly 
agreed with this well-being objective.  Nine respondents made additional comments in 
relation to this objective, which are summarised below: 
 

 Agree that children need a good start in life to thrive and go on to live happy, fulfilled and 
productive lives, especially in the first few years.  However, the positive start must 
continue throughout the child’s life and this can only be done through engaging parents 
and the wider family more – it is no good providing a short term solution. 

 How will the LEA support this? Many children with additional needs and/or looked after 
children are not being catered for now, unless schools dip into their own budgets in many 
cases. 

 Positive start has to be followed up by a positive transition into adulthood and the 
development of confidence, pride, respect and community/civic involvement. 

 All children deserve a positive start.  Services like Flying Start should be across class – 
there are many children living in tidy, clean homes in areas that are seen as better than 
others, with good income to provide materialistic goods.  Children will still be suffering 
from bad parenting and neglect from substance misuse and pressures of paying bills and 
domestic abuse which are hidden by the way they appear. 

 The Flying Start programme is a fantastic programme which can tackle obstacles earlier. 

 Blaenau Gwent strongly agrees with this well-being objective as focusing on children and 
young people (from conception onwards) supports the ‘prevention’ agenda. We also 
recognise the cross-cutting nature of this well-being objective, particularly around the 
ACEs agenda. 

 Education for parents. 

Page 117



  Appendix 4 

 
58.3% of male respondents strongly agreed with this objective, compared with 50% of female 
respondents.  All respondents aged 18-29 years and 60% of respondents aged 65 years and 
over strongly agreed with this objective.  Half of respondents aged 30-49 years and 46.7% of 
respondents aged 50-64 years also strongly agreed with this objective. 
 
 
Positive People – Empowering and enabling all our residents to achieve their own potential 
 
32 respondents answered this question, and of these 40.6% agreed and 53.1% strongly 
agreed with this well-being objective.  Six respondents made additional comments in relation 
to this objective, which are summarised below: 
 

 We can all work together to help address poor health and help clients be more 
independent. This would be enabled by better information sharing and early recognition of 
issues before it becomes a crisis.  Preventative measures are always preferable and by 
working together closely with clients/service users this can be achieved. 

 This needs to be an umbrella approach.  There are more takeaways in Blackwood High 
Street than healthy food shops – to the outsider people in Blackwood like to gamble and 
order takeaway.  Volunteer programmes only access a small percentage of people – it 
would be better to utilise community partnerships and already set up groups and clubs.  
Try and support these instead of reinventing the wheel every 4 years. 

 There are many opportunities for people to learn skills within their environment – a major 
factor in communities are unemployed people not looking after accommodation both 
outside and in their home.  A scheme to enable people to take pride in their homes could 
be adopted, working with Communities First in upskilling people in DIY and garden 
maintenance, actually working in their own home or elderly neighbours etc. instead of a 
community venue/classroom. 

 Blaenau Gwent strongly agrees with this objective i.e. apprenticeships, volunteering and 
improving people’s health etc.  However, there is an opportunity for the plan to include 
further information on how this will link to existing and future labour market opportunities. 

 Need to find a way to engage people who don’t already volunteer. 
 
58.3% of male respondents strongly agreed with this objective, compared with 45.5% of 
female respondents.  80% of respondents aged 65 years or over and half of respondents 
aged 18-29 years strongly agreed with this objective.  In addition, 46.7% of respondents aged 
50-64 years and 41.7% of respondents aged 30-49 years also strongly agreed with this 
objective. 
 
 
Positive Places – Enabling our communities to be resilient and sustainable 
 
34 respondents answered this question, and of these 41.2% agreed and 50% strongly 
agreed with this well-being objective.  Seven respondents made additional comments in 
relation to this objective, which are summarised overleaf. 
 

 The introduction of health and wellbeing hubs within local existing amenities would be 
useful.  This would mean that people don’t have to travel too far out of the area to access 
services and is already working well for things like hearing aid repair/advice sessions.  
Residents would be more likely to attend local hubs instead of having to go to outlying 
areas for advice/treatment. 

Page 118



  Appendix 4 

 This means employing communities to take responsibility for their issues and resolutions.  
Give them the power and the money to make it happen. 

 Good environmental management underpins the provision of ecosystem services.  Would 
like to see more recognition of the natural environment in supporting health & well-being 
and links to the other three positives.  Need to ensure that the environment is definitely 
protected and enhanced to deliver the Positive Places, and not as an add-on or optional 
activity. 

 Blaenau Gwent strongly agrees with this objective and its integrated approach which 
connects safety, social capital, cohesion and the natural environment.  We also support 
the mobilisation of communities (as equal partners) in taking ownership and pride in their 
own communities. 

 We really need to replace something for the children and vulnerable adults now 
Communities First has gone. 

 If communities do participate then feedback would help. 
 
Two thirds of male respondents strongly agreed with this objective, compared with 40.9% of 
female respondents.  All respondents aged 18-29 years and 80% of respondents aged 65 
years and over strongly agreed with this objective.  46.7% of respondents aged 50-64 years 
and a third of respondents aged 30-49 years also strongly agreed with this objective. 
 
Respondents were asked for suggestions on how their community and/or organisation (if they 
were responding on behalf of an organisation) could assist the PSB to make the 4 Positives 
happen.  16 respondents commented on this question are their responses are summarised 
below: 
 

 We are currently working closely in partnership with other organisations and clients to 
provide a holistic service for our clients.  Home visits to clients can pick up on issues that 
would not be necessarily discussed on the telephone and many clients have had no 
intervention from statutory services previously.  The client will then be helped to access 
information and services which they would not otherwise have known about or perhaps 
due to lack of confidence, sensory impairment etc. would be unable to deal with on their 
own. 

 Need real power to go to communities.  This needs to be devolved to them “no strings”. 

 Caerphilly is an area of deprivation with areas where poverty is a real problem. Some of 
the problems are historical, with the demise of the mining industry the big one.  We have 
developed in Wales a siege mentality to this, looking for outside help when I believe the 
solution lies in our own hands.  The engine of society is businesses and we have not 
done enough to help enterprise flourish. The driving force in lifting Caerphilly and Wales 
out of this rut must be job creation, training and radical policies to make this happen. 

 Utilise library service points as places to distribute information and meet the local 
community. 

 There is a critical need for the bodies concerned to get their feet on the ground and to talk 
to people. 

 Start with the little things, for example, Police are required to deal with disrespectful 
behaviour. 

 It is really important that we maintain our historic sites, which in turn can provide 
opportunities for placements, volunteers and workers who, whilst learning valuable skills, 
learn about their heritage and the building of the communities we are looking to support. 

 Talking with present service providers, their workforce and users. 

 I would like to know more about voluntary opportunities available.  This could be included 
in Council Tax statement letters for future new residents. 

Page 119



  Appendix 4 

 Consideration of collaborative engagement approaches in mobilising local people and 
communities to support the delivery of local area well-being plans would be welcomed.  
Further to this, consideration of best methodologies/approaches for successfully 
undertaking collaborative work with local people and communities (as equal partners), 
including the co-design/re-design of services to support the delivery of the well-being plan 
would be welcomed. 

 
The Draft Well-being Plan included a high level summary of the draft action areas and 
possible actions that may be undertaken to help deliver the Well-being Plan and associated 
objectives.  11 respondents made comments on this question, with the responses 
summarised below: 
 

 Partnership and collaborative working are key to the provision of a modern, functional 
service, whatever it may be.  Cutting costs and paring down has its place and I think 
everyone now has had experience of this and the changes it has brought (positive and 
negative)  but with regards to procurement, cheap is not always best.  Sometimes it’s 
down to who provides the best service not the cheapest.  Organisations must be less 
precious about working collaboratively and learn to share experiences and ideas – only 
then will it work well.  I still feel that some services/organisations like to work at arm’s 
length and perhaps this is why there is less real engagement with processes and change. 

 Include young people 11-25 to build sustainable resilience and know-how, which will 
change attitudes and opinions for the future. 

 It is the how that matters. 

 I think it is of paramount importance that the Council and its sites provide opportunities to 
get school leavers, long term unemployed etc. into work by offering volunteering 
opportunities and apprenticeships. 

 Outside cosmetics of the home is an area where I feel the Council lets their properties 
down.  I understand the costs and budgets cuts cause a huge barrier to overcome issues, 
but we do live in a world where we buy and judge with our eyes.  If areas were updated 
and regenerated in areas such as Ty Sign, people with positive work ethics and parenting 
styles would move into the area, creating a better balance to support future generations 
growing up in the area and maintain the changes you hope to achieve for the years 
ahead. 

 Is there scope to include actions which look to address in-work poverty issues? 

Page 120



  Appendix 5 

 
Summary of Written Responses to 12 Week Consultation 

 
Future Generations Commissioner – on 20th September 2017 the Commissioner provided 
written feedback as part of the 14 week consultation period with her office, which is included 
at Appendix 6.  This advice was reiterated in her letter of 18th December 2017.  We have 
used the advice to inform the development of the final Well-being Plan, with many of the 
specific comments being considered by the Action Area Groups that have been and will be 
established.  A summary of our response to the advice offered by the Commissioner is 
provided in Appendix 7. 
 
Welsh Government – the response from the Welsh Government was categorised in three 
ways: 
 

 Category A – significant issues which we hope would be addressed prior to publication of 
the final plan, relating to compliance with statutory requirements or major concerns with 
key elements of the Plan 

 Category B – issues which, if addressed prior to publication, would strengthen the final 
plan.  These issues would add genuine value to the plan if prioritised alongside early 
development 

 Category C – matters which would strengthen the plan but could be addressed as it 
continues to develop and evolve 

 
Two Category A areas for development were identified – cohesiveness and clarity 
(particularly with regard to structure and flow and the use of technical language, and the need 
for greater clarity around the objectives and steps) and maximising contribution to the 
national well-being goals (the need to more explicitly address the issue of integration of the 
objectives and how one objective can affect another).  It is worth noting that these issues had 
already been addressed by the time the response was received. 
 
In addition, a number of Category B and Category C areas for development were identified.  
These have been dealt with either in the final Well-being Plan itself or the Well-being Delivery 
Plan, and will continue to inform the work of the Action Area Groups moving forward.  In 
relation to the comments around ‘Long term thinking and future scoping’, the “futures” work 
commissioned from Ash Futures Ltd will help to fill some of the gaps identified moving 
forward. 
 
Aneurin Bevan University Health Board – the response supported the 4 Positives approach 
and made some suggestions with regard to presentation of the document. 
 
 
 
Aneurin Bevan Gwent Public Health Team – the response made reference to the amount of 
work that has gone into developing the Well-being Plan and stated that it captures the main 
issues affecting the well-being of the population of the county borough.  Specific comments 

Page 121



  Appendix 5 

were made around the ‘Positive Start’ Well-being Objective and some of the Action Areas, 
which have been incorporated in the final versions. 
 
Caerphilly 50 Plus Forum – the response stressed the need to respond to the predicted 
increase in the ageing population and demographic change.  Specific reference was made to 
issues such as creating age friendly communities, the role of carers and the importance of ‘a 
good old age’.  These comments have been addressed within the Plan where appropriate, 
but it is important to note that this Plan should be considered alongside the Area Plan, which 
deals specifically with those groups within the population that have care and support needs. 
 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council – as a neighbouring local authority area they were 
pleased to see the range of collaborative opportunities available and the positive synergies 
with their Well-being Plan. 
 
Gwent Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) 
Partnership Board – the response recognised to strong association between their work and 
adverse childhood experiences, and felt this could be strengthened within the Plan. 
 
NSPCC Wales – the response urges the Board to prioritise preventing and protecting 
children from abuse, neglect and other forms of childhood adversities. 
 
Arts Council of Wales – the response highlights the opportunities for them to work 
collaboratively with the Board to find innovative ways of using arts and creativity to embed 
the sustainable development principle.  They also provide a number of case studies that 
illustrate what is possible by working collaboratively with artists or arts organisations. 
 
Oxfam – the response expressed concern that the Draft Plan contains insufficient detail on 
how the Board will tackle income inequality that concentrates pay, opportunities for 
progression, and social value to roles predominantly carried out by men, thereby limiting the 
ability of women to move out of poverty.  
 
Royal Society for the Protection of Birds – the response states that if we are to secure the 
benefits of healthy ecosystems for current and future generations and at the same time halt 
and reverse biodiversity decline in line with international commitments, there is an urgent 
need to ensure we live within environmental limits. 
 
Hub Cymru Africa – the response recommends that the Plan should reflect the human 
dimension within the procurement action area. In addition to the focus on sustainable, low 
carbon and ethically responsible procurement, the Plan could further consider issues such as 
Fair Trade procurement, promoting global citizenship with people of all ages and how to 
welcome and support refugees and asylum seekers in the area. 

Page 122



 

 

By email 

 

 

20/09/2017 

 

 

Advice from the Future Generations Commissioner for Wales: Caerphilly PSB 

 

 

Dear Caerphilly Public Services Board and supporting officers, 

 

Thank you for seeking my advice on how you might take steps to meet your draft well-being objectives. My team 

have found regular conversations with your supporting officers and the opportunity of attending your Public 

Services Board (PSB) meeting earlier this month very helpful in giving them an understanding of how you work 

together as a PSB; the method you have taken to well-being planning and your intentions to deliver the objectives 

and take steps in a different way. As they will have discussed with you, I was keen that my advice would be useful 

to you and the context within which you work, so I hope you have also found these regular touch-points helpful 

and that they have given you some guidance along the way. 

 

At your PSB on the 5th September, the following draft objectives were discussed, which I am using as the basis for 

this advice: 

 

• Positive change: a shared commitment to cross-sectoral change. 

• Provide leadership to facilitate the necessary organisational culture change, and shift to new 

ways of working in accordance with the sustainable development principle. 

• Use our assets and resources more intelligently and sustainably.  

• Support our residents and partners to contribute fully to the Caerphilly we want. 

• Positive start: giving our future generations the best start in life. 

• Investigate opportunities to invest in the early years to build resilience across the life course and 

improve outcomes for current and future generations.  

• Create an Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) informed Caerphilly county borough to enable 

collaborative strategic action that can reduce and prevent ACEs and build resilience in children. 

• Positive people: empowering and enabling all our residents to achieve their own potential. 

• Facilitate a shift towards collaborative working with an emphasis on prevention to address 

current and future health and well-being challenges. 

• Develop a co-ordinated programme of volunteering, maximising it as a route to personal well-

being and employment, including promoting corporate volunteering.  

• Establish all age apprenticeship programmes across PSB member organisations with co-ordinated 

points of access. 

Page 123

palmea
Text Box
Appendix 6



 

 

• Equip our residents to manage their health and well-being needs in partnership with services.  

• Positive places: enabling our communities to be resilient and sustainable. 

• Support our most disadvantaged communities to be resilient, cohesive and enable them to help 

themselves. 

• Protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and foster community action on 

environmental issues. 

• Work with regional partners to create safe, confident communities and promote community 

cohesion. 

• Increase the contribution that the environment makes to the health and well-being of residents. 

• Provide primary and community health services closer to home. 

 

I understand that you have also been working on a draft delivery plan, which I have also used to give you this 

advice on how you might take steps to meet your draft objectives.   

 

As you know, in setting draft objectives and taking steps to meet them, PSBs must use the five ways of working to 

challenge business as usual and to maximise their contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals. My 

advice is in two parts – firstly, is intended to help you consider how you might do this effectively. Secondly, it is 

based on your draft objectives and provides prompts, resources and contacts to help you demonstrate through 

your well-being plan that you have used the five ways of working and seven well-being goals to shape your steps. 

The purpose of this advice is not to give you my opinion on your well-being objectives or your draft plan. These 

are determined and owned by you, as a collective PSB. 

 

I would encourage you to read this in conjunction with my response to your well-being assessment. I was keen 

that it was a 'feed-forward', rather than 'feedback', helping you to consider how to approach continuous 

assessment and well-being planning. As you know, I have recently published 'Well-being in Wales: Planning today 

for a better tomorrow', which highlights key findings and recommendations for all PSBs and public bodies on the 

key areas of change needed to make better decisions for future generations. Both of these resources are also 

intended as advice to you. 

 

Adopting different ways of working to take steps to meet your draft objectives: 

 

Setting objectives and steps is not business as usual. In the past, we have drawn out themes and priorities and 

written plans that show what we are doing anyway. Achieving the ambitions of this Act is about the 'what' and 

the 'how' i.e. what are you doing to contribute to our shared vision of the seven national well-being goals? The 

goals acknowledge that sustainable development connects the environment in which we live, the economy in 

which we work, the society in which we enjoy and the cultures in which we share, to people and their quality of 

life, so what are you going to do differently together? And, how you are applying the sustainable development 

principle to shape your actions for Caerphilly?  

Page 124



 

 

To adapt your ways of working in this way requires a fundamentally different approach. You need to give 

yourselves the time and space as a PSB to question whether current approaches to public service delivery are fit 

for the future and explore key pressures and tensions in delivery for each of your objectives. I am encouraged to 

hear that some of you are already having these conversations at PSB about integrating budgets, making the well-

being plan the 'day job' and seeking to take action together. This is good to hear and I am advising all PSBs that, 

taking this time and space means having an honest discussion about the tensions between policy issues and 

current practice within your organisations in relation to each objective. But this should then be focused on action 

- what new approaches you will take together in the steps you will take to meet your objectives and maximise 

contribution to the seven national well-being goals. I would like to understand what each draft objective and step 

you are setting means for Caerphilly and how this is different to what you have done before.  

 

I would advise that you will need to demonstrate how your PSB has considered the following in relation to each 

of your objectives:  

 

• Long-term: What do you understand about the long-term trends, opportunities, risks and likely scenarios 

for this issue? What are they and have you explored their impact on your steps? Are there current gaps in 

your data or understanding? What fore-sighting or future trends information do you need to understand 

this issue better? What capacity, confidence and expertise do you need to fill gaps in knowledge? The 

work you have commissioned with the Gwent area PSBs will hopefully provide you with future scenarios 

for your area. These can be extremely powerful in starting a discussion about the opportunities, risks and 

mitigating actions we can take for the long term.  

To inform the action you take, you will need to adequately map and consider the future trends for each of 

your objectives. My office is working with others to build capacity in this area and, as your support team 

are aware, Welsh Government have been adding to the 'Future Trends' report resources, which you 

should make most use of by accessing through Objective Connect or by contacting David Thomas. The 

Oxford Martin 'Now for the long-term' report shows global and national future trends that we all need to 

react to in carrying out sustainable development. 

 

• Prevention: In considering this issue, do you have an understanding of what you are trying to prevent? 

What are the root causes of the issue and when would be the best point to intervene? Are you clear on 

whether it is primary prevention i.e. seeking to prevent something before it has even occurred; secondary 

prevention i.e. preventing something from getting worse; or tertiary prevention i.e. softening the impact 

of something that has ongoing effects; that is needed? This is the difference between encouraging 

someone to wear a bicycle helmet (primary prevention of head-injury); putting someone in the recovery 

position if they have fallen from their bike (secondary prevention of the injury worsening) and counselling 

after the accident (tertiary prevention to help ongoing injuries from worsening).  

Many PSBs haven't used their assessments to fully understand both the current situation and the scale 

and nature of the response required. I appreciate you might not know the full picture yet, but I want to 

Page 125

http://www.oxfordmartin.ox.ac.uk/downloads/commission/Oxford_Martin_Now_for_the_Long_Term.pdf
http://www.oxfordmartin.ox.ac.uk/downloads/commission/Oxford_Martin_Now_for_the_Long_Term.pdf


 

 

see all PSBs exploring how they break cycles and dig deeper into data to see the implicit messages in the 

data to better understand the causes and effects of key issues and trends to inform your steps. 

 

• Collaboration: It is important that the people who sit around the PSB table can bring the best range of 

insights, constructive challenge, data and solutions to the PSB. I commend the time your support officers 

dedicate to working across the Gwent area and I am pleased to hear the positive collaborations and pilot 

approaches being undertaken as a result. Have you got the right people around the table, at the right 

level to make decisions around this issue? Who else might you need to be collaborating with to better 

understand this? As recommended in my report on the Well-being Assessments, now is a timely 

opportunity to review the invited membership of the PSB and consider who are the 'unusual' suspects 

that you may need to work with to take steps to meet this objective? 

In delivering the steps, how might your organisations collaborate? You will need to demonstrate how 

your PSB is considering the steps that need to be taken together and across organisational boundaries in 

order to effectively meet your objectives. This could include co-locating staff, breaking down traditional 

structures, arranging job-swaps and secondments and, importantly, pooling resources. I will want to see 

how you have considered these benefits and how the steps you will take move you towards achieving this 

collaboration.  

 

• Integration: For each objective, how are you going to move away from just doing something that meets 

the objective, and instead, demonstrate that you are taking steps which maximise your contribution to 

each of the goals? Instead of looking at this issue in a traditional and general sense, have you looked at 

the definition for each of the goals to widen your understanding of well-being for this issue and the 

opportunities which might exist for meeting these goals through each of your objectives?  How well do 

you understand the contribution your organisation makes at the moment to this objective? And do you 

understand how different is the contribution you will need to make going forward for this objective?  

How can you plot what's going on elsewhere in your organisations, the strategies and plans at a regional 

or a national level, to connect with others on achieving this objective? Have you acknowledged the 

barriers or tensions that have arisen between member organisations and what steps can you (or others) 

take to remove them? Who else is needed around the PSB table to help you interconnect decision-making 

and improve well-being for this issue? 

 

• Involvement: I know you have tried to continuously involve people in the development of your well-being 

objectives over the last few months and I am glad to hear this is planned to continue. I want to see a 

demonstrated focus on this for all PSBs that goes beyond the usual consultation and ad-hoc engagement. 

How are you taking steps to understand the lived experiences of people in your area and how is this 

shaping your actions? How are you actively seeking better ways of involving people in decision-making? 

How can you collaborate with members of the community in meeting these steps? As with the Social Care 

Page 126



 

 

Wales Board, what options are there for involving people with lived experience on Boards and 

partnership groups? 

This advice should be taken by all PSBs, but I appreciate every PSB has taken a different approach to drafting their 

well-being objectives and will be going about delivering their well-being plan in the context that is right for them. 

Your support officers have worked hard to help you achieve this level of progress in assessing well-being for the 

area, drafting your objectives and steps, but I must emphasise that it is your leadership that is required to adopt a 

new way of working.  

 

This leadership and partnership working permeates at every level of your organisation. Consistency in 

representation and how you take messages back from PSB to your own organisations is critical to building 

relationships and creating action. One of my recommendations within the 'Well-being in Wales' report suggests 

that we need to move away from seeing PSBs as formal, local authority-led committee meeting, with members 

having built stronger relationships and having a better understanding of each other's motivations. In order to gain 

this mutual understanding and respect of each other's professions, in some areas, PSB meetings are now PSB 

workshop sessions, taking place in each of the member organisation's workplaces or in a place relevant to the 

topic for discussion. In some areas, giving PSB members objectives to lead has established more commitment to 

the work. Alongside this, you will also need to demonstrate how each of your organisations are taking all 

reasonable steps in the exercising of their functions to meet the PSB’s objectives.  I appreciate that during the 

first phases of implementation of the Act this may be challenging as the objectives of individual public bodies 

have been set. So, whilst I am sympathetic to the needs of PSBs and public bodies to have time to work towards 

alignment I will want to see that the work of the PSB is not seen as something separate to the priorities of its 

member bodies. 

 

How the PSB is supported also has on well-being planning. Although not a 'water-tight' model, where support is 

multi-agency, this enables better resourcing of the PSB and, inevitably, allows easier integration between 

organisations, departments and issues. You should feel that the well-being plan of the PSB helps you to integrate 

your work and challenge current practices within your departments. The draft objectives and steps you have 

provided me suggest corporate centres of your organisations working in a very different way. So, in order to truly 

own this plan and ensure the steps you take are understood and undertaken by the member bodies of the PSB, 

you should consider closer working arrangements, a multi-agency virtual team with a senior leader or more 

formal secondments, co-location and joint resourcing. There are several resources that may be of use, such as 

Designing Multi-Agency Partnerships and Leading Culture Change.  

 

Advice on how you might take steps to meet your draft objectives: 

 

Setting your draft plan has already drawn on a number of sources of evidence and your own professional 

knowledge. I know you have done a lot of work to get from 65 initial areas identified in your assessment to four 

draft objectives. This advice is intended to give you ideas, information and contacts that might help to 

Page 127



 

 

demonstrate how you have considered the steps you will take in the context of Caerphilly. In setting your draft 

objectives in this way, it was pleasing to hear that you are trying to move away from treating these topics as 

separate and foster an asset based approach. I would encourage you to continue with this focus and build on 

developing these inter-connections in agreeing and delivering your steps to meet these objectives. 

 

• Positive change: a shared commitment to cross-sectoral change. 

For every objective, you should consider what your role and action is in making this change, as Chief Executives, 

Leaders, Chairs and senior managers. This objective demands strong leadership, as I have advised above, that 

permeates throughout each of your organisations. To take steps to meet this objective, you will need to be brave 

in pooling resources, changing policies and taking risks by trying different approaches. You will need to 

communicate these changes within each of your organisations. The seven areas of change in the Act: corporate 

planning, financial planning, workforce planning, procurement, assets, performance management and risk are the 

core organisational activities where applying the five ways of working would ensure the sustainable development 

principle frames how you work. I would advise that you critically challenge your current practices within these 

areas using the five ways of working in taking steps to meet this objective. 

 

As public bodies, you have many statutory responsibilities and deliver a multitude of services on a daily basis for 

the people of Caerphilly. The duties of the Act are not intended to be an additional burden, but a way of 

maximising the benefit of these activities. My team have told me about how this is already being realised in some 

areas of business in Caerphilly. For example, the innovative Deep Place Study for Lansbury Park, creating a 

'Coalition for Change' at PSB level has potential to be transformative for the well-being of residents. I will be 

interested to see how the Act is being applied in practice by all members of the PSB on the estate. Secondly, the 

partnership project between the Sirhowy Valley Honeybee Company Ltd, Caerphilly County Borough Council and 

Ynysddu Primary School, where the hives in the school educate people about the importance of pollinators to our 

environment and make local honey is a simple venture that has multiple benefits. Also, the commitment by the 

Council to install solar panels on twenty new schools and the Council's trial of electric vehicles as pool cars and 

installation of electric charging points. These sorts of initiatives change behaviour and challenge what's gone 

before, as well as providing economic, environmental, social and cultural improvements to people's well-being. 

 

In setting your draft objectives and steps, you must maximise your contribution to the well-being goals. For each 

objective, it is important to consider how you can have a positive impact across each goal, as with the examples 

of above. For instance, your draft delivery plan includes actions around procurement and I am aware the Council 

is part of the work my office are doing with Value Wales to pilot new approaches to procurement in the context 

of the Act. As your assessment identified, most people in Caerphilly are employed in the manufacturing sector 

and there are many local businesses and industrial sites. How can your organisational policies seek to help 

sustainable local businesses grow? How can your procurement also champion equality? How can policies seek to 

grow the Welsh language in the area? Alun Davies AM announced funding for growing bilingual small businesses 

recently to increase visibility of Welsh in our communities. In seeking to enable entrepreneurship and growth, 

Page 128

http://gov.wales/newsroom/welshlanguage/2017/support-use-of-welsh-within-small-businesses/?lang=en


 

 

how about introducing initiatives that stipulate people set up sustainable enterprises that maximise their 

contribution to the seven goals? And how can your procurement procedures be the maximum of what you can do 

to contribute to a globally responsible Powys? Your draft actions include seeking to ensure the goods and services 

you procure are sustainable, low carbon and ethically responsible. You may find Forum for the Future resources 

useful in this respect.  

 

Furthermore, although the public sector only accounts for a relatively small amount of Wales’ emissions, you are 

uniquely placed to influence emissions far more widely in areas such as transport, energy, land use and 

procurement. The Welsh Government recently published carbon emission levels subdivided by Local 

Authority. The Welsh Government also released a Call for Evidence to explore the most effective mechanisms for 

achieving a carbon neutral public sector by 2030 and I wrote to you urging you to consider and contribute before 

the deadline. I will be hosting an event on the 9th November, in partnership with Welsh Government and Natural 

Resources Wales to: explore how the public services in Wales can involve people in collaborating and integrating 

their work, to take greater account of the long-term carbon implications of their activities, and help prevent the 

effects of climate change becoming even worse.  

 

It is pleasing to see that your draft delivery plan considers how you can work together to make the best use of 

your assets. Together, you have a large amount of public sector estate, responsibility for infrastructure and a say 

in how public buildings are designed and refurbished. There are tangible actions that you can take, such as how 

you plan, design and locate development (as part of your Local Development Plan), how you refurbish buildings, 

improve infrastructure and locate public spaces, which can have a positive impact on well-being.  The Closing the 

Circle report on the circular economy and the Welsh Environment is a useful report by Constructing Excellence in 

Wales, giving practical examples in where the public sector can look to minimise waste and resources in future 

projects. You can also take inspiration from some of the projects mentioned in the recent Constructing Excellence 

Awards, such as the Active Classroom. Having a consideration of how 'green' these buildings are, both in terms of 

energy efficiency and sustainable construction, is a quick win for you as a PSB. The Wildlife Trust in Wales report 

into green infrastructure outlines how green infrastructure delivers a wide range of proven, tangible, and cost-

effective economic, social and environmental benefits. The Design Commission for Wales also has case studies 

and resources on design that focuses on users, maximises energy efficiency and has been shown to significantly 

improve patient recovery in health.  In each of these areas my office can connect you to these people and 

organisations who may be able to assist you as you develop your work.  

 

Opening up land and buildings to the community could be a way of encouraging residents to contribute to the 

'Caerphilly we want'. People often feel disconnected from their surroundings and apathetic towards the services 

of the area. Across the UK, austerity has meant that buildings, land and services have been transferred to 

community ownership and, in many cases, it has increased the strength of community cohesion and well-being 

for the people involved. The Welsh Government National Assets Working Group captured some Welsh examples 

that you might wish to explore, but there are many national organisations promoting better use of publicly owned 

Page 129

https://www.forumforthefuture.org/our-work
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/climatechange/welsh-emissions/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/climatechange/public-sector-decarbonisation/?lang=en
http://www.cewales.org.uk/files/4214/9372/0980/Closing_the_circle_Circular_economy_Opportunity_for_the_welsh_built_environment_Report.pdf
http://www.cewales.org.uk/files/4214/9372/0980/Closing_the_circle_Circular_economy_Opportunity_for_the_welsh_built_environment_Report.pdf
http://www.cewales.org.uk/files/8915/0227/7838/CEW_Awards_2017_winners_brochure_-_July_2017.pdf
http://www.cewales.org.uk/files/8915/0227/7838/CEW_Awards_2017_winners_brochure_-_July_2017.pdf
http://www.wtwales.org/greeninfrastructure
http://www.wtwales.org/greeninfrastructure
https://dcfw.org/about/
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/assets-cymru/national-assets-working-group/?lang=en


 

 

land and assets, such as Shared Assets, Nurture Development and Locality, with the aim of encouraging 

communities to thrive.  

 

Other PSBs seeking to create organisational change through their objectives include Torfaen, who are looking at 

organisational development in the context of the Act, Pembrokeshire and Carmarthenshire and you may wish to 

engage directly with them to share ideas and learning, again my office is happy to connect you if this is helpful. 

 

• Positive start: giving our future generations the best start in life. 

 

For each of your draft objectives and the steps you seek to take, I would advise you to be clear about what this 

means for Caerphilly in your well-being planning. What local evidence have you used (or will you use) to 

understand the specific areas of successful preventative interventions in Caerphilly? What local services will be 

impacted if you redirect investment to the first 1000 days of a child's life? How might taking an adverse childhood 

experience (ACE) informed approach play out in reality for your organisations?  

 

Have you considered the long-term trends of this objective? The complex socio-economic situations in many 

communities in Wales would suggest that families are not receiving the right support at the right time, and cycles 

are continuing to the next generation. The costs of the worst start in life are enormous, both to the individual's 

life and to public services. Late intervention services for young people are estimated to cost England and Wales 

£17bn per year (£6bn on child protection and safeguarding, £5.2bn on crime and anti-social behaviour, £3.7bn on 

youth economic inactivity, £680m on school absence and exclusion, £610m on child injuries and mental health 

problems, and £450m on youth substance misuse). Prevention is at the core of this objective and I would advise 

that your organisations recognise it is part of all of their responsibilities to prevent poor outcomes.  

 

As public services, we often treat the symptoms of ACEs, such as mental illness, substance misuse and domestic 

abuse, rather than the root causes. Taking a preventative approach means shifting resources to deal with root 

issues. In this way, dealing with ACEs is as much about having an ACE aware public service and identifying where 

ACEs have happened, as making sure that services families access are integrated. In the steps you take, it is 

important to not just focus on early years but to review initiatives that focus on mental health, substance misuse, 

criminal justice, housing, services and others to ensure they are preventative, joined up and actively seeking to 

better situations for families and for future parents to stop the cycle continuing to the next generation. Alyson 

Francis, Director of the ACE Support Hub, has also recently worked with my office to write to you outlining that 

ACEs are not another thing to do, but an opportunity to reconsider how we deliver services together that make 

sense for the families receiving them. The ACE Support Hub could also act as a central place for PSBs to share 

practice, as almost all of the PSBs in Wales have discussed early years, children and ACEs in their draft objectives 

and steps. 

 

I advise that understanding the lived experiences of people who have been through trauma in their lives also give 

a fresh perspective on shaping preventative services. Currently, our services are often not set up in a way that 

Page 130

http://www.sharedassets.org.uk/what-we-do/
http://www.nurturedevelopment.org/reports/
http://locality.org.uk/our-work/assets/what-are-community-assets/
http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/SPENDING-ON-LATE-INTERVENTION.pdf
http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/SPENDING-ON-LATE-INTERVENTION.pdf


 

 

would deliver this objective. We deal with people in neat 'service-user' categories, such as 'domestic abuse 

victim', 'anti-social behaviour perpetrator', 'substance misuser', 'problem tenant', which often create barriers for 

people to have equality of opportunity. This way of working means we fail to join up the dots, to integrate and to 

spot signs of a worsening situation. The five ways of working are intended to challenge how we currently do 

things and provide a different lens as a whole public service for dealing with problems. Involving people is central 

to challenging the system because only by understanding the lived experiences of people can we design services 

that are fit for current and future generations. This example 'Why poor people don't plan long-term' provides an 

insight into the barriers people face in overcoming inequality and the case studies contained in this report by 

Locality demonstrate the financial and social costs of not taking this holistic and preventative approach to 

people's lives.  

 

I am encouraged to see that your draft delivery plan for this objective is wider than focusing on 'health'. 

Pregnancy and the early years of life are often seen as a 'health issue' but I would advise you to take immediate 

steps towards better integration of services, co-locating teams, pooling resources and working in a way that 

makes sense for that community. Some families access many services and better integrating these provisions 

would help them to help themselves. 'Parenting' and the need for better support came up as several times in your 

engagement on well-being. As such, giving future generations a healthy start in life is not just down to you, but 

the families that children grow up in and the communities they live in, as well as the families they then start of 

their own. So, in considering what steps you might take, the New Economics Foundation work on investing in 

children might be helpful, which highlights the need to address both material wellbeing and external 

circumstances – such as housing, poverty, and schooling – as well as psychosocial well-being and inner resources. 

I would also advise you to use the knowledge gathered by Public Health Wales on the First 1000 days of a child's 

life and the benefits that can be realised from investing in the early years to determine what steps you can take 

now to improve the well-being of our future generations. Public Health Wales have established a national 'Health 

and Sustainability Hub' to co-ordinate their own work around the Act and, through your PSB representative, you 

might find it useful to link with the national team for further evidence and knowledge. 

 

Many things impact on the life chances of children and young people.  For example, a 2013 review carried out by 

the London School of Economics for the Joseph Rowntree Foundation found that children in lower-income 

families have worse cognitive, social-behavioural and health outcomes. Crucially, this study demonstrated that it 

was in part because they are poorer, not just because low income is correlated with other household and parental 

characteristics. How can the PSB collaborate with others to improve the economic well-being of families across 

the region? Your well-being assessment highlighted pockets of extreme deprivation in the Upper Rhymney Valley 

and in other parts of the county. How can these communities, in particular, be focused on? If we know that by the 

time children in some areas reach reception class in school, the circumstances of where they live already affects 

well-being, then we need to be intervening at a much earlier stage in responding to these trends.  

 

As well as income, we know that maternal and familial health has a big impact on a child's life, linking to your 

other objective on 'positive people'. A common theme emerging from your well-being assessment included a shift 

Page 131

https://www.theguardian.com/society/2014/sep/21/linda-tirado-poverty-hand-to-mouth-extract
http://locality.org.uk/resources/saving-money-local-default-replace-diseconomies-scale/
http://locality.org.uk/resources/saving-money-local-default-replace-diseconomies-scale/
http://neweconomics.org/2009/09/backing-the-future/
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/888/page/88523
http://www.lse.ac.uk/News/Latest-news-from-LSE/2017/07-July-2017/Income-directly-affects-childrens-outcomes
http://www.lse.ac.uk/News/Latest-news-from-LSE/2017/07-July-2017/Income-directly-affects-childrens-outcomes


 

 

from mental and physical ill-health and increasing behaviour change. Between 10% and 20% of women develop 

mental health problems during pregnancy of within a year of giving birth. These illnesses are one of the leading 

causes of death for mothers during pregnancy and the year after birth. Despite this, women in around half of the 

UK have no access to specialist perinatal mental health services and in other geographical areas, services are 

inadequate. Considering the impact of services like this on young families is important if you are to take a cross-

sector approach. The 'Mums and Babies in Mind' project in England has given a focus to local leaders to create a 

pathway across sectors that provide expectant and new mothers with the right support at the right time. 

 

Most PSBs have identified draft objectives connected to early years, giving children a good start in life and 

preventing ACEs including Cwm Taf, Bridgend, Blaenau Gwent, Newport and Conwy / Denbighshire. Alyson 

Francis and I are also on the panel of the Good Practice Exchange Wales webinar on understanding ACEs on the 

7th November, which may be helpful to you in considering your steps for this objective. 

 

• Positive people: empowering and enabling all our residents to achieve their own potential. 

 

Empowering your residents to achieve their potential requires building confidence and capability in communities. 

This objective is about health, education, employment, community life and people's natural and built 

surroundings. As you have started to do in your delivery plan, you should consider what meaningful positive steps 

you can take for residents to realise their own strengths, which should be about taking action rather than writing 

strategies or creating red tape.  

 

For each of the steps you decide to take, I am interested in the rationale of how you have used the five ways of 

working to shape your thinking and what the intended outcome of your step is. I am encouraged to see you want 

this objective to drive a move towards prevention and I advise that you involve people in understanding how this 

objective could be achieved as much as possible. Re-purposing resources to truly listen to and involve the people 

who live in the more deprived areas of the county is important to gain an understanding of how they perceive the 

assets and deficits of their community. What are the current barriers they encounter to addressing their health 

and well-being needs? How can services collaborate with different groups to ease these barriers? This is an 

opportunity to actively use the definitions of the seven well-being goals, in exploring the multiple benefits on 

well-being you could have.  

 

For example, people will only get involved in something if it's fun and of benefit to them. How can you use the 

heritage, language, traditions and natural environment of Caerphilly to enable people to meet their potential? 

There are some good examples of projects that seek to bring people together to learn new skills, socialise and 

build their resilience in later life, like Men's Sheds Cymru, happening across Wales that the PSB could encourage 

and support. Solva Care also demonstrates innovative initiatives that focus on the needs of the community first 

and integrate services to improve well-being. The Older People's Commissioner recently wrote to you as PSBs, 

outlining some of the approaches you may want to take in recognising this part of your population. 

Page 132

http://maternalmentalhealthalliance.org/mumsandbabiesinmind/about/
https://www.wao.gov.uk/events/how-understanding-adverse-childhood-experiences-aces-can-help-integrated-service-delivery
http://www.mensshedscymru.co.uk/
http://solvacare.co.uk/


 

 

Your well-being assessment found that people associate the Welsh language inextricably with the heritage of the 

region and that it is of importance to people's belonging, identity and employment prospects. With the long term 

national target set out in Cymraeg 2050, contributing to this goal by providing opportunities to use Welsh, 

encouraging the growth of the language and promoting it as a life skill would help people in reaching their 

potential. The Welsh Language Commissioner's team have been working with my office on how they might 

support PSBs in their role – please let me know when you'd like more details.  

 

In contributing to a Wales of vibrant culture, you may find the Arts Council for Wales' strategy useful, which 

outlines some of the benefits involvement in creative activity can have on the health, cohesion and skills of the 

population. As with other areas in Wales, your well-being assessment identified a number of stark trends in 

worsening lifestyle choices. Your assessment identifies the thriving arts and cultural scene in Caerphilly, which is 

to be celebrated and can help many people build capacity, confidence and reach their potential. The Cultural 

Commissioning Programme, funded by Arts Council England seeks to help commissioners of public services 

understand how they can improve outcomes by integrating arts and cultural activities into a range of services, 

including mental health and wellbeing, older people and place-based commissioning.  

 

For instance, change often 'sticks' when people are involved in wider social and cultural activities together; for 

example, the Nudjed 'Behaviour Change is a Team Sport' report found getting people together increased exercise 

patterns.  The Natural Resources Wales' 'Actif Woods' project is an example of getting people outside, protecting 

their environment and enjoying the positive effects on health and well-being. How does this relate to your other 

objectives and overall vision? What cultural activities can encourage children and adults to live healthier lives? 

How might people take part in cultural activities to help manage their health? This this is an opportunity to 

improve access to cultural activities and promote heritage, use of the Welsh language and encourage people to 

get together around a local cause, such as their environment. Collaborating with the national public bodies 

subject to the Act, such as Sport Wales, Arts Council for Wales, National Museum and National Library of Wales, 

may be able to help you see how your steps to meet this objective could maximise contribution to each of the 

goals.  

 
Your assessment identifies that educational attainment is improving, but the rate is slow. Plus, there are a high 
number of people in the county with no qualifications. Whilst providing opportunities for people to learn and 
develop is no bad thing, enabling people to take full advantage of these opportunities is most important. 
Therefore, I would advise that you need to dig deeper into the data here and understand the full causes of 
achievement levels not improving at pace before setting steps to how you might meet this draft objective. Ask 
yourselves, what would really make a difference to the learning and development of people in Caerphilly 
throughout their lives? What other things are having an impact of people’s life chances that you, as public 
services, can prevent? A study in Newcastle should be of interest to you in this respect. Social Finance are a not-
for-profit organisation who specialise in in-depth analysis and looking at social return on investment, and were 
commissioned by Newcastle City Council to do some deeper digging for them to help them address the problem 
with NEETs (those Not in Education, Employment and Training). Whilst traditional focus looks at GCSE attainment, 

Page 133

http://www.arts.wales/about-us/plans-and-strategies/inspire
http://neweconomics.org/2016/05/the-art-of-commissioning/
http://neweconomics.org/2016/05/the-art-of-commissioning/
http://get.nudjed.com/behavioural-change-white-paper/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sXAqO6VW2w4


 

 

what this analysis shows in reality is that academic achievement is not the most significant factor at all, instead 
showing that 67% of 17-19 year olds who were NEET had come from the 25% of 17-19 year olds who had multiple 
contacts with social services during their childhood. The research showed that those who had had as little as six 
interactions with social services spent almost three times longer out of education or training. This study 
demonstrates that looking at the issue in a more holistic way clarifies the steps you can take as a PSB to achieve 
your objectives. 
 

Your well-being assessment explored the current economic landscape in Caerphilly and identified assets, such as 

being strategically positioned between Cardiff and the valleys, with good road links to other parts of Wales, 

England and Ireland; risks, such as Britain's exit from the European Union; and opportunities, such as the City 

Region and work of the Valleys Taskforce. As with your other objectives, being ambitious with the role you can 

play as organisations in taking action and influencing others is important in agreeing the steps you will take. Your 

draft delivery plan has identified some collaborative actions you can take now that would begin to have a positive 

impact on well-being, such as all age apprenticeship programmes and introducing corporate volunteering 

opportunities. For each of these steps, use the definitions of the well-being goals to think about how you can do 

something different and achieve maxmimum impact, plus integrate across many of your draft steps. For example, 

how can you enable corporate volunteering opportunities that seek to enhance the resilience of the natural 

environment? What volunteering schemes could help to create a more globally responsible Caerphilly? How can 

people encourage equality through their volunteering and cohesion within some of the communities in 

Caerphilly? 

 

How have you thought about the long term economic landscape of Caerphilly? What skills might people need to 

achieve their potential? The future of employment and how we see 'work' is changing; the Future of Work report 

predicts that 65 percent of the children who are now starting school will find themselves working jobs as adults 

that don't even exist yet. And, according to McKinsey, technology could automate 45 percent of the tasks people 

are currently paid to do. Your well-being assessment identified that the majority of the population in Caerphilly 

are employed in manufacturing – an industry that will become more automated in the future. How have you 

considered the impact of many of these roles being replaced by automation? What action can you take now, as 

public service providers, to encourage learning and jobs in the foundational economy, around local care, retail 

and food industries, which are jobs less likely to be automated in future and good for the local economy? A recent 

report by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation highlights the value of the social economy in creating jobs, 

strengthening skills and employability. How have you considered these long term trends in setting your steps and 

enabling people to adapt their skills for future earning?  

 

It follows that the skills we will need in the future will clearly be different to what we need now. As this recent 

World Economic Forum blog quotes: "I believe in a future where the point of education is not to prepare you for 

another useless job, but for a life well lived." What life skills might your children need to make it in Caerphilly in 

the future? The Future of Work report suggests project-based work is likely to become more widespread, with 

skills like creativity, connectivity, communication and problem-solving being far more important than specific 

Page 134

https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/issues/talent/future-of-work/journey-to-2022.html
https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/issues/talent/future-of-work/journey-to-2022.html
http://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/digital-mckinsey/our-insights/four-fundamentals-of-workplace-automation
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/cities-social-economy-and-inclusive-growth
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/cities-social-economy-and-inclusive-growth
https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/issues/talent/future-of-work/journey-to-2022.html
https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/issues/talent/future-of-work/journey-to-2022.html


 

 

knowledge. As your local business leaders identified in responding to your well-being assessment, linking up 

school curriculums and future skills is needed if young people are to be work-ready and if businesses are going to 

find local people with the right skills, of any age. The Caerphilly Youth Forum echoed these comments, which is in 

line with the Prince's Trust recent Results for Life report, which explored how teamwork, communication and 

confidence are as valuable to young people entering the workplace.  

 

In thinking about the long-term skills required, who do you need to collaborate with to create the high quality 

education and skills needed? How can this maximise your contribution to the seven goals? For example, schools 

are often at the heart of a cohesive community and the right package of skills can lead to a much more equal 

society. How are schools and Coleg y Cymoedd collaborating with the PSB on this work? Keeping the Youth Forum 

and local businesses involved is also advantageous in helping you understand the issue. How can you encourage 

local businesses to use their social responsibilities, encourage better learning for people of all ages and link these 

to apprenticeship opportunities? 

 
I have previously spoken about the opportunity presented by the Cardiff City Region. There is clear interest at the 
PSB about taking advantage of the opportunities offered by the region and I would advise that you influence the 
current negotiations with your draft objectives for Caerphilly PSB in mind. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
estimates that poverty costs the whole region £2.2 billion per year. Increasing GDP has little impact on reducing 
inequalities, and in eight out of the ten Local Authority areas in the region, child poverty is above the Welsh 
average. I would therefore advise you to encourage that value within the City Region is not just placed on 
economic growth but on developing patterns of employment and work that are fit for the future, investing in the 
most deprived communities to encourage skills in technology, creativity and problem-solving to break inter-
generational patterns of poverty. I recently commented on the work of city regions in response to Dr Mark Lang 
and Professor Terry Marsden's recent report "Re-thinking Growth: Toward the Well-being Economy." 
 

A number of PSBs are drafting objectives to improve prevention, enable people to take more responsibility for 

their health, introduce behaviour change and seek to help people reach their potential; including Cwm Taf; 

Carmarthenshire; Ceredigion; Pembrokeshire; Conwy / Denbighshire and Monmouthshire. 

 

• Positive places: enabling our communities to be resilient and sustainable. 

 

As with all of your objectives and draft actions, this objective connects to the others, in empowering residents to 

achieve their full potential, building resilience in families to give future generations the best start in life and 

realising your own shared commitment to cross-sectoral change. As your well-being assessment identified, people 

of all ages said that the community spirit of Caerphilly is a great asset and one to be 'brought back'. As you have 

rightly identified, the natural and built environment of the county should also be celebrated to help people 

improve their well-being. Although you identified many areas of Caerphilly that are disadvantaged, communities 

branded as 'deprived' or 'in poverty' by statistics rarely define themselves like that. In reading the assessments, 

many people took pride in their local natural environment, community buildings and the way people get along 

Page 135

https://www.princes-trust.org.uk/about-the-trust/research-policies-reports/education-report-2017
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-41109833
http://www.cardiff.ac.uk/news/view/923006-rethinking-growth


 

 

together. Therefore, involving people in how you approach this objective is crucial, as you need to avoid putting 

your own assumptions on how to 'solve' issues. Identifying the assets of these areas and working with the local 

people in how you build upon them will help in coming up with solutions to reduce inequality together.  

 
I have been impressed with the range of people you have involved throughout your well-being assessment and 
subsequently in your planning. It is encouraging to see you have involved people in different ways, appropriate to 
their interests and levels of commitment to the PSB and I have said to every PSB that I expect to see this 
strengthened as you develop your steps and begin to deliver against your plan. I have recommended that PSBs dig 
deeper into data to inform your well-being plans and take time to better understand your communities, using the 
lived experiences of people that are living and working there every day. If you are committed to this, re-purpose 
your resources to do more work in communities, to begin to know a place as the people who live there know it 
and identify the community leaders and connectors. I would advise each of your organisations commit to the 
National Principles for Engagement and Participation Cymru can support your officers in gaining the skills vital for 
effective and meaningful involvement.  
 
Most people will only get involved in something that directly impacts them, their family or the place where they 
spend time and, often, this can lead to much bigger outcomes - shown by the work that 'Nurture Development' 
do around Asset Based Community Development. Co-production Network Wales could help you to identify and 
engage community leaders that can help you to deliver benefits for the community. The Centre for Regeneration 
Excellence Wales' 'Deep Place' study in Tredegar gives evidence on how an understanding of place can have 
multiple benefits on well-being and you are embarking on the results of your own 'Deep Place' study in Lansbury 
Park, which has the potential for real change. Your learning as a PSB of applying the Act in practice will be useful 
across Wales and beyond.  
 
Have you also considered what sort of changes you need to make to your organisational systems and policies to 
enable people to get more involved in communities and shape local services in the future? Currently, research 
shows that children aged between five and 16 years spend an average of six and a half hours a day in front of a 
screen; 28% of young people use social media as their primary news source; 43% of 'millennials' are driven to 
make financial donations through social channels; and according to the 2017 ONS survey, 87% of all adults in 
Wales were recent internet users (meaning they had used the internet in the last three months). Although some 
people are currently offline, and there is clearly a need for a tailored approach, this is a way to engage with 
people that is most convenient to them and is part of their daily life, not an additional chore. Your support team 
will be aware of "Monmouthshire Made Open", an example of an online platform that has anticipated how 
people might contribute to improving their area in the future, with opportunities to share ideas, ask the 
community, start a project and seek volunteers or resources. Matthew Gatehouse, working with Monmouthshire 
PSB, would be able to share their learning with you on establishing this website.  
 
As well as the strong community spirit, the natural environment was identified as a fantastic asset through your 
well-being assessment. With over 80% of the county borough classed as 'countryside', the green spaces of your 
area form an important factor in people's well-being. With much of the land maintained by farmers or farming 
businesses, your natural environment also has an important economic role to play and collaborating with these 

Page 136

https://participation.cymru/en/principles/
http://www.nurturedevelopment.org/reports/
https://coproductionnetworkwales.wordpress.com/
http://www.regenwales.org/project_9_The--Deep-Place--Study
http://www.regenwales.org/project_9_The--Deep-Place--Study
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-39457860
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-39457860
https://monmouthshire.madeopen.co.uk/


 

 

businesses in how you take steps to meet this objective will be important to protect and enhance the land and 
halt declining biodiversity and habitat loss (which your assessment identifies is mainly due to development and 
land management).  
 
It is pleasing to see you are considering how local communities can take more ownership of the local environment 
to become more resilient, but there is an absence currently of your demonstrated consideration of the long-term 
impacts of extreme weather events that will pose particular risks for your area. I urge you to consider the impact 
of climate change on Caerphilly, as an area with 12 community areas at severe or high risk of flooding, and 
identified negative impacts on water quality in extreme weather. Flooding affected homes and businesses last 
year in the county and well-being assessments show how flooding affects people's well-being long after the 
event. Expected annual damage to residential properties is estimated to be £22 million, so understanding how 
different weather events impact on communities is crucial to prevention. 
 
The long-term vision of some communities could be that they are cut off from fresh water supplies and unable to 
leave due to extreme weather. Many of the people in Caerphilly rely on their environment for income, food, 
water, and recreation. In the future, the effects of climate change are likely to cause droughts in the summer, 
meaning a shortage of water, declining bio-diversity and a knock-on effect for agriculture. As most of your land is 
either forestry or farmed, both of which are high susceptible to weather changes, how are you considering the 
potential economic effect of a changing climate? If you are seeking to use your natural resources for economic 
benefit, how have you considered the long-term impact of extreme weather events on these resources? How can 
you use scenarios to imagine what preventative action you could take to protect agriculture, water supplies and 
transportation in the event of extreme weather? Zero Carbon Britain's recent 'Making it Happen' report sets out 
what responsibilities we all have to future generations to acting on climate change now.  
 

Involving people in the running of their community can have a positive effect on improving perceptions (and 

realities) of community safety and help to make the local environment more resilient. NESTA has a guide to 

working with communities to tackle climate change, including the 'Big Green Challenge', where participants 

changed their lifestyles to reduce their carbon footprint. Projects such as 'Rainscape' through Dwr Cymru suggest 

ways that we can all mitigate the effects of floods, and an extreme example includes the Isle of Eigg in Scotland, 

where the community are having a positive impact on their environment by introducing renewable community 

energy schemes, building sustainable businesses and improving biodiversity. I would encourage you to use the 

asset of Town and Community Councils, as working with community councils, the third sector and other networks 

can help you to understand how best to engage people and encourage behaviour change focused on place. WCVA 

produced wider information on how the third sector play a role in contributing to the Act including resources on 

the seven well-being goals. 

 

In line with your draft objective of adopting a cross-sectoral change to your work as a PSB, you should also 

consider your own roles as organisations in developing resilience and becoming more globally responsible. The UK 

has pledged to have zero emissions by 2050 and every Welsh Government has pledged for more green jobs. But 

despite Wales being a place of great potential in providing natural energy, only 10% of Wales' electricity in 2013 

Page 137

https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/UK-CCRA-2017-Wales-National-Summary.pdf
http://zerocarbonbritain.com/images/pdfs/ZeroCarbonBritain-MakingItHappen.pdf
https://www.nesta.org.uk/sites/default/files/working_with_communities_to_tackle_climate_change.pdf
http://www.dwrcymru.com/en/My-Wastewater/RainScape/What-can-you-do-to-help.aspx
http://theconversation.com/what-other-communities-can-learn-from-this-islander-buy-out-in-scotlands-hebrides-75896
https://www.wcva.org.uk/media/5636168/the_goals_of_the_wellbeing_of_future_generations__wales__act_2015.pdf
https://www.wcva.org.uk/media/5636168/the_goals_of_the_wellbeing_of_future_generations__wales__act_2015.pdf


 

 

was provided through renewable energy. Last year, the National Assembly for Wales Environment and 

Sustainability Committee produced 'A Smarter Energy Future for Wales', with 19 recommendations for how 

Wales could transform its approach to energy. More recently, Smart Energy GB have produced a report on 'A 

Smart Energy Future for Rural Areas', giving examples and case studies of rural areas across the UK who are 

making that transition. You may find this seminar from the National Assembly for Wales' Research Service and the 

Learned Society for Wales, provides insights from the leading energy experts in Wales and their thoughts on the 

future of renewable energy in Wales. The Policy Forum for Wales keynote seminar takes place on the 7th 

December this year, with a focus on priorities for energy policy, growing the sector in Wales and increasing 

investment in renewables.  

 

Other PSBs that are drafting objectives around sustainability, cohesion and resilience include Ceredigion; 

Conwy/Denbighshire; Monmouthshire and Carmarthenshire. 

 

 I hope you have found this advice helpful in moving forward towards publishing a well-being plan for formal 

consultation. Please get in touch with my team if you want further contact details for any of the organisations 

and reports mentioned in this letter. 

 

I am also learning the best ways to advise, support and monitor how public bodies are seeking to apply the five 

ways of working and maximise their contribution to the seven well-being goals, so I would welcome any feedback 

from you, supporting officers and the Caerphilly PSB Scrutiny Committee on how I have chosen to approach this 

statutory duty and the advice I have given. 

 

I look forward to receiving your draft well-being plan and please keep in touch with me and my team. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Sophie Howe 

 

Page 138

http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld10610/cr-ld10610-e.pdf
https://www.smartenergygb.org/en/resources/press-centre/press-releases-folder/future-rural-energy
https://www.smartenergygb.org/en/resources/press-centre/press-releases-folder/future-rural-energy
https://assemblyinbrief.wordpress.com/2017/08/25/low-carbon-the-new-norm-for-wales/
http://www.policyforumforwales.co.uk/conference/energy-policy-in-Wales-2017


  Appendix 7 

1 

 

Response to Advice from the Future Generations 
Commissioner for Wales 

 

The Oxford Martin 'Now for the long-term' report shows global and national future trends that 

we all need to react to in carrying out sustainable development. 

 We are aware of the report.  We have drawn on information for trends and issues.  

Relevant information will be provided to each Action Area group, and we will consider the 

recommended approaches set out in the report. 

 

For instance, your draft delivery plan includes actions around procurement and I am aware 

the Council is part of the work my office are doing with Value Wales to pilot new approaches 

to procurement in the context of the Act. 

 The Council is part of the pilot work with Value Wales.  This work and any findings will be 

highlighted to other PSB organisations and will also be considered by Action Area groups. 

 

Alun Davies AM announced funding for growing bilingual small businesses recently to 

increase visibility of Welsh in our communities 

 We are aware of the funding to support the use of Welsh within small businesses and will 

promote this in our work with local businesses. 

 

Your draft actions include seeking to ensure the goods and services you procure are 

sustainable, low carbon and ethically responsible. You may find Forum for the Future 

resources useful in this respect. 

 We are aware of the Forum for the Future resources and these will be highlighted to be 

considered by relevant Action Area groups. 

 

The Welsh Government recently published carbon emission levels subdivided by Local 

Authority.  

 We are aware of this information and it will be considered as a potential local indicator.  

The information will be considered in detail as part of our work on asset management 

which includes carbon reduction. 

 

Page 139



  Appendix 7 

2 

 

The Closing the Circle report on the circular economy and the Welsh Environment is a useful 

report by Constructing Excellence in Wales, giving practical examples in where the public 

sector can look to minimise waste and resources in future projects. You can also take 

inspiration from some of the projects mentioned in the recent Constructing Excellence 

Awards, such as the Active Classroom. Having a consideration of how 'green' these buildings 

are, both in terms of energy efficiency and sustainable construction, is a quick win for you as 

a PSB. The Wildlife Trust in Wales report into green infrastructure outlines how green 

infrastructure delivers a wide range of proven, tangible, and cost-effective economic, social 

and environmental benefits. The Design Commission for Wales also has case studies and 

resources on design that focuses on users, maximises energy efficiency and has been 

shown to significantly improve patient recovery in health. In each of these areas my office 

can connect you to these people and organisations who may be able to assist you as you 

develop your work. 

 Reducing resource consumption is a key element running through all our work, and will be 

important for every Action Area.  The relevant practical examples highlighted in the report 

will be given to the appropriate Action Area group.  Information will also be considered in 

detail as part of our work on asset management which includes carbon reduction and 

resource efficiency. 

 

The Welsh Government National Assets Working Group captured some Welsh examples that 

you might wish to explore, but there are many national organisations promoting better use of 

publicly owned land and assets, such as Shared Assets, Nurture Development and Locality, 

with the aim of encouraging communities to thrive. 

 We are aware of the NAWG and its work, in particular the Asset Collaboration 

Programme Wales. This information will be considered in detail as part of our work on 

asset management which includes carbon reduction.  

 

Other PSBs seeking to create organisational change through their objectives include Torfaen, 

who are looking at organisational development in the context of the Act, Pembrokeshire and 

Carmarthenshire and you may wish to engage directly with them to share ideas and learning, 

again my office is happy to connect you if this is helpful. 

 Our “enablers” include Enabler 1 – Communications, Enabler 2 - Working differently and 

Enabler 3 – Procurement.  We will consider the information from the highlighted work as 

part of this work. 

 

The costs of the worst start in life are enormous, both to the individual's life and to public 

services. Late intervention services for young people are estimated to cost England and 

Wales £17bn per year (£6bn on child protection and safeguarding, £5.2bn on crime and anti-

Page 140



  Appendix 7 

3 

 

social behaviour, £3.7bn on youth economic inactivity, £680m on school absence and 

exclusion, £610m on child injuries and mental health problems, and £450m on youth 

substance misuse). Prevention is at the core of this objective and I would advise that your 

organisations recognise it is part of all of their responsibilities to prevent poor outcomes. 

Alyson Francis, Director of the ACE Support Hub, has also recently worked with my office to 

write to you outlining that ACEs are not another thing to do, but an opportunity to reconsider 

how we deliver services together that make sense for the families receiving them. The ACE 

Support Hub could also act as a central place for PSBs to share practice, as almost all of the 

PSBs in Wales have discussed early years, children and ACEs in their draft objectives and 

steps. 

 One of our 5 Action Areas (Action Area 1) is the “best start in life”.  This information and 

links will be passed on to the group working on this action area. 

 

This example 'Why poor people don't plan long-term' provides an insight into the barriers 

people face in overcoming inequality and the case studies contained in this report by Locality 

demonstrate the financial and social costs of not taking this holistic and preventative 

approach to people's lives. 

 The Locality Report will be passed to Enabler 3 – Procurement.  This group will be looking 

at buying locally and supporting local supply chains. 

 

The New Economics Foundation work on investing in children might be helpful, which 

highlights the need to address both material well-being and external circumstances – such as 

housing, poverty, and schooling – as well as psychosocial well-being and inner resources. 

I would also advise you to use the knowledge gathered by Public Health Wales on the First 

1000 days of a child's life and the benefits that can be realised from investing in the early 

years to determine what steps you can take now to improve the well-being of our future 

generations. 

 One of our 5 Action Areas (Action Area 1) is the “best start in life”.  This information and 

links will be passed on to the group working on this action area. 

 

A 2013 review carried out by the London School of Economics for the Joseph Rowntree 

Foundation found that children in lower-income families have worse cognitive, social-

behavioural and health outcomes.  The 'Mums and Babies in Mind' project in England has 

given a focus to local leaders to create a pathway across sectors that provide expectant and 

new mothers with the right support at the right time. 

Page 141



  Appendix 7 

4 

 

 One of our 5 Action Areas (Action Area 1) is the “best start in life”.  This information and 

links will be passed on to the group working on this action area. 

 

Alyson Francis and I are also on the panel of the Good Practice Exchange Wales webinar on 

understanding ACEs on the 7th November, which may be helpful to you in considering your 

steps for this objective. 

 One of our 5 Action Areas (Action Area 1) is the “best start in life”.  This information and 

links will be passed on to the group working on this action area. 

 

There are some good examples of projects that seek to bring people together to learn new 

skills, socialise and build their resilience in later life, like Men's Sheds Cymru, happening 

across Wales that the PSB could encourage and support. Solva Care also demonstrates 

innovative initiatives that focus on the needs of the community first and integrate services to 

improve well-being. 

 We are aware of the Men’s Shed Cymru project and have several schemes operating in 

Caerphilly.  We have researched the Solva Care scheme and this will be fed into Action 

Area 4 – Safer, Resilient Communities. 

 

With the long term national target set out in Cymraeg 2050, contributing to this goal by 

providing opportunities to use Welsh, encouraging the growth of the language and promoting 

it as a life skill would help people in reaching their potential. 

 We are aware of the Cymraeg 2050: A Million Welsh Speakers.  This will be taken into 

account in all our work. 

 

You may find the Arts Council for Wales' strategy useful, which outlines some of the benefits 

involvement in creative activity can have on the health, cohesion and skills of the population. 

 We will review the information in the Strategy and identify how it can best be incorporated 

into the work to deliver well-being in Caerphilly county borough. 

 

The Cultural Commissioning Programme, funded by Arts Council England seeks to help 

commissioners of public services understand how they can improve outcomes by integrating 

arts and cultural activities into a range of services, including mental health and wellbeing, 

older people and place-based commissioning. 

Page 142



  Appendix 7 

5 

 

 The New Economics Foundation Report will be passed to Enabler 3 – Procurement.  This 

group will be looking at how we can maximise the community benefits from the money we 

spend. 

 

The Nudged 'Behaviour Change is a Team Sport' report found getting people together 

increased exercise patterns.  The Natural Resources Wales' 'Actif Woods' project is an 

example of getting people outside, protecting their environment and enjoying the positive 

effects on health and well-being 

 Increasing the use of the natural environment for both health and to raise awareness of its 

value forms a key part of Action Area 5 – Protect and enhance the local natural 

environment.  We are aware of the Actif Woods programme and will consider the 

approach as part of the work. 

 

The future of employment and how we see 'work' is changing; the Future of Work report 

predicts that 65 percent of the children who are now starting school will find themselves 

working jobs as adults that don't even exist yet. And, according to McKinsey, technology 

could automate 45 percent of the tasks people are currently paid to do. Your well-being 

assessment identified that the majority of the population in Caerphilly are employed in 

manufacturing – an industry that will become more automated in the future. 

 This information will be provided to Action Area 2 – Volunteering & Apprenticeships.  

However a Regeneration Strategy for the county borough is currently being finalised, and 

the PSB have agreed that Cardiff Capital City Deal issues will be dealt with on a regional 

basis rather than directly through the PSB. 

 

A recent report by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation highlights the value of the social 

economy in creating jobs, strengthening skills and employability.  It follows that the skills we 

will need in the future will clearly be different to what we need now. As this recent World 

Economic Forum blog quotes: "I believe in a future where the point of education is not to 

prepare you for another useless job, but for a life well lived." What life skills might your 

children need to make it in Caerphilly in the future? The Future of Work report suggests 

project-based work is likely to become more widespread, with skills like creativity, 

connectivity, communication and problem-solving being far more important than specific 

knowledge.  The Caerphilly Youth Forum echoed these comments, which is in line with the 

Prince's Trust recent Results for Life report, which explored how teamwork, communication 

and confidence are as valuable to young people entering the workplace. 

 We are aware of this research and studies.  Whilst supporting young people will cut 

across the whole of the Well-being Plan, this work will be highlighted to Action Area 2 – 

Volunteering & Apprenticeships. 

Page 143



  Appendix 7 

6 

 

 

I recently commented on the work of city regions in response to Dr Mark Lang and Professor 

Terry Marsden's recent report "Re-thinking Growth: Toward the Well-being Economy." 

 We are aware of this study.  Dr Mark Lang has been involved in our work at Lansbury 

Park which will be part of Action Area 4 – Safer, Sustainable Communities. 

 

I would advise each of your organisations commit to the National Principles for Engagement 

and Participation Cymru can support your officers in gaining the skills vital for effective and 

meaningful involvement. 

 Caerphilly County Borough Council, Caerphilly LSB and several PSB member 

organisations have endorsed the National Principles for Public Engagement in Wales. 

 

Most people will only get involved in something that directly impacts them, their family or the 

place where they spend time and, often, this can lead to much bigger outcomes - shown by 

the work that 'Nurture Development' do around Asset Based Community Development. Co-

production Network Wales could help you to identify and engage community leaders that can 

help you to deliver benefits for the community.  

 We are aware of the Co-production Network Wales and will explore the potential for 

working with them on the delivery of the Well-being Plan. 

 

The Centre for Regeneration Excellence Wales' 'Deep Place' study in Tredegar gives 

evidence on how an understanding of place can have multiple benefits on well-being and you 

are embarking on the results of your own 'Deep Place' study in Lansbury Park, which has the 

potential for real change. Your learning as a PSB of applying the Act in practice will be useful 

across Wales and beyond. 

 We would be happy to share the learning from our work in Lansbury Park with other 

organisations and areas across Wales. 

 

Your support team will be aware of "Monmouthshire Made Open", an example of an online 

platform that has anticipated how people might contribute to improving their area in the 

future, with opportunities to share ideas, ask the community, start a project and seek 

volunteers or resources. Matthew Gatehouse, working with Monmouthshire PSB, would be 

able to share their learning with you on establishing this website. 

 We are aware of this work.  It will be considered as part of our enabler work on 

communications and working differently 

Page 144



  Appendix 7 

7 

 

 

Flooding affected homes and businesses last year in the county and well-being assessments 

show how flooding affects people's well-being long after the event. Expected annual damage 

to residential properties is estimated to be £22 million, so understanding how different 

weather events impact on communities is crucial to prevention. 

 Flooding and climate change adaptation issues will be covered by Action Area 4 – Safer, 

Resilient Communities.  This Action Area will include an element of geographically 

focused work.  Flooding has only been identified as an issue in one of our communities. 

 

Zero Carbon Britain's recent 'Making it Happen' report sets out what responsibilities we all 

have to future generations to acting on climate change now. 

 Climate change mitigation issues will be considered by Enabler 4 – Asset Management.  

Adaptation issues will be covered by Action Area 4 – Safer, Sustainable Communities 

 

Involving people in the running of their community can have a positive effect on improving 

perceptions (and realities) of community safety and help to make the local environment more 

resilient. NESTA has a guide to working with communities to tackle climate change, including 

the 'Big Green Challenge', where participants changed their lifestyles to reduce their carbon 

footprint. Projects such as 'Rainscape' through Dwr Cymru suggest ways that we can all 

mitigate the effects of floods, and an extreme example includes the Isle of Eigg in Scotland, 

where the community are having a positive impact on their environment by introducing 

renewable community energy schemes, building sustainable businesses and improving 

biodiversity. I would encourage you to use the asset of Town and Community Councils, as 

working with community councils, the third sector and other networks can help you to 

understand how best to engage people and encourage behaviour change focused on place. 

WCVA produced wider information on how the third sector play a role in contributing to the 

Act including resources on the seven well-being goals. 

 Climate change mitigation issues, including the shift to renewable energy, will be 

considered by Enabler 4 – Asset Management.  Adaptation issues will be covered by 

Action Area 4 – Safer, Resilient Communities.  We acknowledge the importance of 

working with local communities and the third sector and this is fundamental to our 

approach. 

 

Last year, the National Assembly for Wales Environment and Sustainability Committee 

produced 'A Smarter Energy Future for Wales', with 19 recommendations for how Wales 

could transform its approach to energy. More recently, Smart Energy GB have produced a 

report on 'A Smart Energy Future for Rural Areas', giving examples and case studies of rural 

Page 145



  Appendix 7 

8 

 

areas across the UK who are making that transition. You may find this seminar from the 

National Assembly for Wales' Research Service and the Learned Society for Wales, provides 

insights from the leading energy experts in Wales and their thoughts on the future of 

renewable energy in Wales. The Policy Forum for Wales keynote seminar takes place on the 

7th December this year, with a focus on priorities for energy policy, growing the sector in 

Wales and increasing investment in renewables. 

 Asset management including energy reduction and promoting renewable energy is part of 

Enabler 4 – Asset Management  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 146



  Appendix 8 

"  
 

Community Engagement Workshops 
 
Background and purpose  
 
Five community engagement workshops were held across the county borough, to give 
residents, organisations and groups a chance to review the Draft Plan and consider the 4 
Positives. The workshops were asked to comment on whether the Plan has the right steps 
in place to achieve the 4 Positives, as well as identifying any key missing steps. The 
workshops were also asked to consider what they could do to make the 4 Positives 
happen, as individuals and as part of their communities.   
 
Method 
 
The workshops were facilitated by officers from the Council’s Corporate Policy Unit, 
supported by members of the Public Services Board. 
 
The workshops were broken down into four parts, which considered:  
 

 The story so far – to help those attending understand the context and background to 

the workshop 

 What are your views on the 4 Positives and the steps to achieve them? 

 What steps are missing and why should they be included?  

 What could you or your community/organisation do to make the 4 Positives happen? 

 
3rd October 2017 – St David’s Centre, Rhymney 
 
What are your views on the 4 Positives and the steps to achieve them? 
 
General Comments: 
 
Overall attendees agreed with the 4P’s and felt it important to emphasise the positives 
instead of the negatives.  They felt the difficulty would be getting the community involved. 
Although they agreed it was important to engage with the public they felt the professionals 
tend to be isolated from communities. 
 
They agreed shared procurement would be good at all levels although there was some 
concern regarding specific set budgets and shared budgets, which can limit progress on 
joint working.  The question was asked, ‘Who will police collaboration?’ and attendees 
wanted to know if there would be a multi-agency approach to the issues? 
 

Page 147



  Appendix 8 

Positive Start:  
 
It was felt that Pontlottyn had an issue in not being considered deprived enough so not 
getting support with programmes such as Flying Start, which wasn’t fair on the deprived 
families in the area. They questioned who was measuring the need and how. 
 
It was felt that mental health issues are showing at a very young age and so more support 
is needed for all age groups. They agreed there needs to be more recognition of issues at 
an earlier age, instead of playing catch up in school. It was suggested that ACE’s need to 
recruit parents to support other parents. 
 
There were several comments about the fact childcare provision doesn’t support 
employment. In comparison with England, there isn’t enough money to cover the childcare 
costs, so it isn’t free. 
 
Attendees felt that the health boards have to collaborate and the Welsh Government has a 
duty of care to bring this about. 
 
Positive People: 
 
It was agreed that there needs to be a shift in health care practices to encourage residents 
to be more engaged in improving their own health, but to do this the GP’s and Health 
Service need to be on board to help make this change.  There were several comments 
regarding the closure of GP’s surgeries in various localities, which makes preventative 
health care difficult for people with no transport, for disabled people, older people and 
those relying on public transport. Better forward planning is required from the Health 
Service to ensure services are in the right place. The group felt there were no services left 
in Pontlottyn, where there used to be a wide range of services. 
 
Attendees discussed empowerment in the early 1980’s and the Welsh Government 
‘Community Programme’ as an example of good practice.  Abertillery Community 
Enterprise used retired, out of work people, to train young people and pass on skills. They 
felt we needed more of this to provide community based training opportunities for young 
people and that we should bring back the community programme. 
 
Many felt we need to encourage involvement and collaboration and develop strong links 
with volunteering. It was suggested that there are lots of missed opportunities which could 
focus on preventative health impacts, for example providing local keep fit classes for older 
people and supporting services, such as bowling greens that are being used to keep 
people healthy and active. 
 
Attendees felt that there needs to be a change from the constant cycle of short term 
funded projects that are run and then disappear, as it means we are constantly losing the 
knowledge and experience and have to repeatedly start again. Lots of small schemes 
have come and gone but ideally we should be aiming to retain good practice.  
 
 
 
Positive Places: 
 

Page 148



  Appendix 8 

Attendees felt we need equality of services. At the moment problems are moved through 
housing strategies and many felt the Lansbury Park problems were being moved to 
Rhymney. 
 
Everyone agreed fly tipping is getting worse. They felt small one man operations should be 
allowed to use public skips, and the charges should be removed to avoid rubbish being 
dumped in the environment. It was agreed there needs to be a more holistic approach for 
long term benefits. The budgets set need to be more flexible to meet the needs and 
environmental issues. 
 
There were several comments about the need to link public transport to employment 
opportunities. 
 
Community safety issues were raised across the wards including Rhymney High Street 
and Abertysswg.  Attendees felt that anti-social behaviour and poor mental health issues 
need to be addressed. 
 
Several attendees were worried about the Nant Lles opencast mining project going ahead. 
They were unsure if an appeal was being made to Welsh Government, which highlighted 
the lack of communication with the local community. 
 
Positive Change: 
 
Attendees felt a positive change was required in the Upper Rhymney Valley and they 
asked if the new finance situation will encourage or force people to work together more. 
 
It was suggested there should be an emphasis on the positives of Rhymney to encourage 
people to be aware of all the positives of their local area. They felt there was already a 
negative impact in the area from the closure of the Communities First programme, which 
needed to be overcome. 
 
What steps are missing and why should they be included?  
 
There were no comments on missing steps. 
 
What could you or your community do to make the 4 Positives happen? 
 
Attendees felt practical hubs in communities were needed, so people could learn from an 
early age. They agreed that people are essential to community cohesion, but not every 
community had a key link person, which needs to change. They also felt the PSB needs to 
support community groups and that it could also be a role for Primary Community 
Development, as tried in the early 1980’s. 
 
There needs to be a stronger approach to volunteering, especially as volunteering 
numbers have dropped.  Although a self-help approach is fine and sustainable, people 
require help getting started.  Attendees did agree that there was too much control and 
restriction for community activities, so people were unsure of what action they could take 
in their local community. If we had goals for each area we could invest in people to pass 
on the knowledge and achieve a sustainable approach to volunteering and community 
support. 
 

Page 149



  Appendix 8 

Attendees agreed that we need to focus on sustainable planning and adopt a Town Centre 
approach to develop communities. This would help address community safety issues, 
which impact on both the residents and local businesses. It was commented that more 
support is needed from the Police as they don’t respond to 101 calls. 
 
Attendees raised a few other issues, including the fact they felt schools were divorced from 
communities and there was a missed opportunity to bring professionals into schools to 
teach parents and children. 
 
Attendees also felt that when services close, they close forever, so more focus should be 
on keeping them going. Some buildings used as multi-use spaces were not always fit for 
purpose. 
 
It was felt that the issues being raised should be part of the core work, not something extra 
to consider. 
 
Attendees also asked who was the PSB and how does it work? They felt there was a lack 
of knowledge about this whereas it should be more open and transparent. They suggested 
the PSB should hold meetings in the community and let the public attend. 
 
 
10th October 2017 – Park Road OAP Hall, Risca 
 
What are your views on the 4 Positives and the steps to achieve them? 
 
General Comments: 
 
Attendees were generally happy with the 4 P’s, although they expressed concern that it 
seemed like a corporate plan. They felt it needed to be more local and based on people. 
The group did ask ‘What is the Caerphilly we want?’  They questioned whether it was an 
area, an organisation or the people. They also asked if the plan was a cost saving 
exercise, suggesting if it was that it would draw away from the local and make the steps 
harder to achieve, as well as causing people to get dismissive and working in silos. 
 
Positive Change: 
 
Attendees focused their discussion on the need for the third sector and voluntary sector to 
be engaged and to understand the need for change. They felt the third sector was lost in 
the plan. The group did give examples of services working together, such as the Fire & 
Rescue Service and Ambulance Service working and felt we should be promoting this best 
practice to encourage others to do the same. 
 
Many felt there weren’t enough services supporting mental health and that more training 
and advice was required to support this area. The difficulty was finding people or 
organisations to help or refer people to, to give them support. 
 
The group agreed volunteering was a key area and that there needs to be more 
information showing how it fits into the plan to support the local community. One issue 
raised around volunteering was the restrictions of working with other agencies and the 
access to funding. Greater engagement is required at a local level (and micro level) to 
encourage and support people to work together. 

Page 150



  Appendix 8 

 
Positive Start:  
 
There was a general understanding of the need to break the ACE’s cycle and agreement 
that some of it is health related. Attendees felt education can have a huge influence on 
this, providing information for parents to help support them. Many felt there were not 
enough school places and that services were already stretched to breaking point, causing 
a greater negative effect on local areas. 
 
Positive People: 
 
Everyone agreed there was a need for volunteering and apprenticeship to improve skills, 
but that you couldn’t have these opportunities if the work isn’t there. They felt we need to 
generate and maintain work opportunities in the local area to enable apprenticeship 
schemes to be offered.  An example was given of work done in Gloucester – when the 
Gloucester Quays were being developed, they worked with local employers to get local 
people into jobs. There was recognition that this approach requires a generational change 
in some instances, which will require commitment and resources. 
 
Many felt we need to keep it local for each area to ensure the work is preventative, and 
that delivery needs to be on the ground to empower people and show them what is 
actually happening. 
 
Positive Places: 
 
Many highlighted concern about people feeling vulnerable in the areas they lived and 
suggested the use of camera vans to help address the fear of crime, along with crime 
prevention volunteers. 
 
Attendees felt some areas of Risca had a particularly bad reputation and questioned how 
useful the housing allocation policies were to help improve certain areas. It was also 
commented that the housing boom is taking over spaces in the countryside, as well as 
taking over services such as education, transport etc., which also has a negative effect on 
the local area and people’s well-being. 
 
Everyone agreed more consultation with residents is required as they know the impact of 
the issues in their local area. 
 
What steps are missing and why should they be included?  
 
The group felt there were a few steps missing including mental health, the voluntary and 
third sector and education. They also agreed there needs to be a local level approach, 
which is missing from the plan. 
 
  

Page 151



  Appendix 8 

What could you or your community do to make the 4 Positives happen? 
 
Positive Change: 
 
Develop a Risca Action Plan to include a variety of approaches to engage with the local 
community, including a community day to engage with all services and organisations. This 
will break it down into a more local approach to bring local people together. 
 
Create community action plans and link with volunteers to help target issues and 
encourage a more joined up approach. 
 
Communications: 
 
Attendees asked how we plan on jointly communicating positive messages. It was felt that 
residents need a clear path for information that is accessible for everyone. At the moment 
people don’t know what’s in their area until they need to access it. 
 
Working together: 
 
It was suggested that in relation to Positive Start and children, there was a need for 
sharing information. There is an opportunity for teachers, social workers and health 
colleagues to come together informally to work together and help address the issues. 
 
Businesses need to be encouraged to showcase and promote their services to the local 
community. 
 
Procurement: 
 
It was commented that bigger firms are better prepared and set up for tendering exercises 
than smaller ones and that the Welsh ICE should provide more support to smaller 
organisations. 
 
Attendees also asked about community hubs in the county borough and how they are 
supposed to work, as it was felt they tend to be community run with little or no support. 
 
Asset Management: 
 
An example was given of a local church taking over Channel View Community Centre and 
working with the local authority, the local scout group and Pobl Housing Association to 
release an asset and in return develop a purpose built multi-use building suitable for 
community use. It was highlighted that more projects like this was needed in the local area 
and across the county borough, 
 
Positive Start: 
 
The network agreed there needs to be the right type of continuing support for all children, 
not just those with ACE’s. 
 
  

Page 152



  Appendix 8 

Positive People: 
 
More community action is required. Communication, voluntary groups and community 
hubs are essential to drive this forward. There is a need to identify community leaders for 
each area. 
 
Agape Church in Ty Sign also wants to create spaces for small businesses to reduce 
commuting and keep work local. 
 
Time banking was mentioned as a way of working with people to encourage them into 
volunteering, training and apprenticeships. Time banking rewards could be driving lessons 
to help get people off isolated estates and into work. Time banking can also be a bartering 
system for time and skills between people. The opportunities are endless. 
 
Create an apprenticeship portal for the PSB – put all the opportunities in one place. Do the 
same for volunteering and training etc.  
 
Positive Places: 
 
Sustainable planning – put housing estates (private or social) where there is good access 
to transport and facilities. We need to learn from previous mistakes. 
 
The group suggested using a community website www.nextdoor.co.uk which provides 
opportunities for local tradesmen, items for sale, lost dogs as well as promoting community 
events and local partnerships. 
 
Use community hubs to deliver many of the areas identified in the plan from a local centre. 
 
 
10th November 2017 – Libanus Christian Centre, Blackwood 
 
What are your views on the 4 Positives and the steps to achieve them? 
 
General Comments: 
 
Overall attendees felt the plan should be positive to help overcome the loss of apathy from 
residents and loss of community spirit currently seen in local areas. 
 
They felt there was too much emphasis of social media for consultations, which meant the 
majority of the population was missing out on participating. 
 
It was felt that vandalism, drugs, off road motorbikes and anti-social behaviour were real 
issues that need to be addressed. 
 
Positive Change: 
 
Attendees felt we need to use our assets and resources better, by identifying specific 
projects to be successful (such as electric vehicles) and looking for best value instead of 
just low cost as well as prioritising issues and joint procurement.  
 

Page 153

http://www.nextdoor.co.uk/


  Appendix 8 

It was also agreed that voluntary organisations need more support regarding procurement 
so they can find out what opportunities are coming up. Breaking larger contracts into 
smaller ones would help to ensure better quality and value for money. At the moment there 
is a risk of using larger suppliers instead of local companies as it’s difficult for the smaller 
companies to compete. 
 
It was also felt that we need to involve our residents and communities more. At the 
moment people don’t know what services are available to them or how to access them and 
this needs to change. 
 
Positive Start:  
 
Attendees felt there was too much support for early years and not enough for older 
children. There were several comments that volunteering is more difficult than it needs to 
be and that people are afraid to volunteer or work with older children due to the fear of 
society labelling them incorrectly. 
 
Many agreed that communities should be given the opportunity to make decisions on 
services in their area, to encourage ownership at all levels.  
 
Positive People: 
 
Attendees agreed that loneliness and isolation was a big issue that needed to be tackled. 
The difficult part is finding out who needs the help and to determine what opportunities are 
available to them. 
 
Some commented that there was a lack of community spirit. To turn this around we need 
to protect communities from cuts and encourage them to work together and challenge 
decisions where appropriate. 
 
Finance was also discussed as an issue. Activities and good food were classed as 
expensive and some people didn’t know what benefits they were entitled to as they were 
not informed by the relevant people or job centre and they have no access to a computer 
to find out for themselves. The high costs of public transport also limited people’s access 
to work if they didn’t have a car. 
 
Positive Places: 
 
Attendees agreed that green spaces need to be looked after, especially as open spaces 
are being used for anti-social behaviour and fly tipping. Some attendees did feel that car 
parking in the country parks was a barrier, especially as there were no facilities available 
for people to use. 
 
There were queries about how we could encourage people to use the local facilities and 
engage with communities to let them undertake projects they want to do in their local 
environment. 
 
The majority felt there was a requirement for new developments in the county borough, but 
that a partnership approach was needed to ensure a good mix of private and social 
housing. 
 

Page 154



  Appendix 8 

Attendees asked for more information on the Coalition for Change as they were unsure of 
what was involved for this project. 
 
What steps are missing and why should they be included?  
 
There were no comments on any missing steps. 
 
What could you or your community do to make the 4 Positives happen? 
 
Health and safety issues are a major barrier to volunteering, including DBS checks. There 
are also opportunities for training to develop skills to get more people involved. 
 
Attendees felt there could be more open days to advertise the services available to local 
communities. There needs to be more communication between the PSB and communities, 
although it was highlighted that all types of communications need to be used, as not 
everyone is able to use social media 
 
Need to get more young people involved in volunteering and engaging with their local 
community. 
 
The local bowls club tried to get involved with schools in the past but failed due to health 
and safety issues. This stops the schools learning new skills and participating in new 
activities. 
 
Many of the attendees felt there was a lack of police presence in the local community.  It 
was queried whether individuals serving community payback can undertake environmental 
projects, linking with other organisations. 
 
Several attendees suggested a garden competition to help bring back pride. There were 
several comments about asking residents what they would like to make a difference and 
what they thought the community could do together. Most of the group felt that Penllwyn 
has a negative image. 
 
Everyone agreed we need to build on our assets and look at regeneration opportunities to 
protect green spaces. The Town Council could act as an enabler to facilitate service 
provision in a partnership approach. 
 
It was felt that becoming regional has meant we’ve lost the local connection, so we need to 
work closer with communities to ensure we have engagement at all levels. A champion 
role could support this. 
 
 
21st November 2017 – Siloh Christian Centre, Ystrad Mynach 
 

What are your views on the 4 Positives and the steps to achieve them? 
 
General Comments: 
 
Attendees felt that if senior offices spent too much time on the plan then less time would 
be spent running services and that a balance needed to be struck. They agreed residents 
wanted good services, not people talking. 

Page 155



  Appendix 8 

 
Attendees discussed the issues Rhymney Valley Athletics are having in continuation of 
their services. They recently almost lost their facilities based at Blackwood Comp and are 
currently looking for land and track provision. They are a real hub for the community and 
the only county borough without one – good example of disadvantaged children. 
 

Positive Change: 
 
There were several comments about the need to have more transparency of services 
working together, along with more streamlined information. 
 

Positive Start: 
 
Attendees felt there needed to be a focus on well-being, mental health and sustainability 
and that the discussions required input from school communities, especially as schools 
see themselves as community hubs. It was suggested that schools are key in ensuring we 
work towards making a difference for our future generations. 
 

Positive People: 
 
Some attendees suggested the Communities First programme did a lot of the work being 
discussed, but its removal it had left gaps, while others felt the programme was all about 
empowerment and didn’t achieve what it set out to do. 
 
Attendees felt the FG Act will provide a better use of time and resources in the long term 
and that most groups were starting to realise that they need to do things for themselves. 
Most agreed that we need to increase volunteering opportunities for people and encourage 
cross generational working to help make a difference to people’s lives. 
 
The Fire Service was mentioned as an excellent example of partnership working with a 
preventative approach as they have changed the way they work to be responsive instead 
of proactive. 
 

Positive Places: 
 
Attendees didn’t provide any specific comments on this objective. 
 
What steps are missing and why should they be included?  
 
No comments 

 
What could you or your community do to make the 4 Positives happen? 
 
Procurement 

 Everyone agreed we need to share good practice to learn from one another, while also 
taking risks to try new approaches. 

 Everyone agreed we should focus on procurement. It was commented that the 
spending power of pooled resources could be a superb bargaining tool for partnership 
working. 

 

Page 156



  Appendix 8 

 Remove barriers to allow community action. The LA barriers are frustrating; people feel 
health & safety is used as an excuse to stop community activity. 

 
Adolescent mental health organisations: 
 

 Looking to inform health board of the needs of young people – a national issue, 
underfunded, needs to change – affects future generations. 

 Preparing to work with Community Project in Hengoed. One stop shop GP’s, 
councillors, social workers together with pooled funding – model on Central London. 

 Schools are starting to do mindfulness – this project will address ACE issues, but first 
check whether they have any issues – not just mental health once diagnosed. 

 Parents tried to get support for low level problems where young people are not bad 
enough. 

 Project using volunteer counsellors – originated in Hengoed in conjunction with Baptist 
Union using buildings in communities. 

 Nuances from Health Board to work with third sector – as lots of examples of working 
with third sector from ABUHB. 

 Word of mouth is important for disseminating information. Pensioners organisations 
have a role in sharing knowledge 
 

ABUHB: 
 

 Lots of things going on and not all linked, hear something new every week. Not very 
good for organisations’ wide view. 

 Also initiatives not well publicised even when you work in the field. Example of work 
stream around slips and falls – ABUHB working with Fire Service to train them to do 
falls assessment during home visits. 

 Discussion about people being safely trained who visit vulnerable people to maximise 
benefit of home visits. Befriending volunteers – no-one has a complete overview 

 Third sector role in joined up working. Getting money, synergy between orgs – vast 
opportunities for third sector action but we are not talking – fundamental problem!! 

 Young Fire Fighters Scheme – also work with private sector and third sector. 

 Children in athletics as mentors and coaches for future – building confidence – bring 
schemes together. 

 Mental health – risks to younger and older children.  

 Assessments of issues in homes – safety of staff versus approach to working with 
people. 

 
 
29th November 2017 – Twyn Community Centre, Caerphilly 
 
What are your views on the 4 Positives and the steps to achieve them? 
 
General Comments: 
 
Everyone agreed the 4P’s covered the main issues and it was good that it wasn’t 
prescriptive. Attendees did question if it was too ambitious and wondered where the 
money would come from to support the work.  
 

Page 157



  Appendix 8 

Attendees felt there were very few opportunities for SEN and young people because 
support staff are not allowed to cross boarders (physical/organisational) so there needed 
to be a change to encourage joined up services. 
 
It was agreed people have to want to change themselves, you can create the conditions to 
help them but you can’t make them change if they don’t want to. 
 
Attendees asked if and when the PSB would involve schools. They questioned what the 
LEA was doing and if they had action areas.  
 
Attendees felt communication was essential and that the PSB need to communicate with 
all areas. They commented it isn’t about just sharing assets; we need to open up spaces 
for community use. 
 
Positive Change: 
 
Most of the attendees agreed that the language in the documents need to change if we 
want to engage with young people and people in the local community. There needs to be 
an ‘easy read’ version. They did feel there is potential to work together with local residents, 
but it needs to be in positive approach. At the moment people from Lansbury Park wouldn’t 
attend an engagement event because they feel like they are treated as second class 
citizens. They feel their local community is neglected with a bad undeserved reputation. 
 
It was highlighted that there are no actions in the plan as it just seems to refer to delivery. 
The group also asked if the changes we’re planning to make are actually required, and if 
so, who is making this decision. 
 
Positive Start:  
 
No specific comments were made on a Positive Start 
 
Positive People: 
 
The group agreed volunteering was a pathway to improved mental health and well-being, 
not just a route to employment. 
 
It was also suggested to involve community groups in the delivery of the action areas. 
 
Positive Places: 
 
No specific comments were made on Positive Places. 
 
What steps are missing and why should they be included?  
 
No comments were made regarding any missing steps. 
 
What could you or your community do to make the 4 Positives happen? 
 

 Get more young people involved. 

 Not enough volunteers to run local groups. 

Page 158



  Appendix 8 

 Some people’s attitudes about “not doing something for nothing” – this needs to 
change. 

 Use volunteers to upskill themselves to find jobs. 

 Parent Network – providing volunteering and training opportunities already. All people 
currently working for organisation were parents/volunteers before getting paid 
employment – good model. 

 Champions within communities as ‘go to’ people for information etc. (sharing 
information). 

 Beeches Community Centre – can put things on an internet new web page. 

 PSB contact in all areas to spread info. 

 Strategic organisations driving it but communities need to own it. 

 Small actions can make a huge difference. 

 Look at what is working well and use it. 

 WHQS issues in refurbishment of Lansbury Park – need to have people on the ground 
talking to residents and listening to people to collect real concerns. Need people on 
ground now where work is going on for instance. Specific local issue – council 
departments need to communicate. 

 Single access point for information and support services 

 Transport for isolated young people – Aber YMCA is fabulous but not for everyone. 

 Youth groups closing during school holidays – youth workers needed – volunteers? 

 Need to brand some volunteers as apprenticeships. 

 Small voluntary organisations need their services advertised better across statutory 
bodies – promote what they do. 

 Need to promote volunteering. 

 People living in new estates drive in and drive out and shop online.  

 New estate design – no community hubs – bad planning for people to meet. 

 Break down barriers between communities and providers. 

 Dialogue needs to be constant – get people slowly. 
 
Digital Communities Wales – Wales Co-op: 

 Could get involved in people involved in each action plan area. 

 How can technology help/train staff/recruit volunteers? 

 Things will become more digital over 25 years. 

 Online gives savings but they need to bring people along. 

 Communication/places/digital infrastructure. 
 
Stroke Association 

 Volunteering & apprenticeships – recruit and using volunteers in our groups. Could 
help people access health related careers. 

 Recruit, train and register volunteers. 

 Regular volunteers who can commit on a weekly basis. 

 Volunteers for events – lots of different opportunities. 
 
Value of corporate volunteering: 

 An hour a month, good for staff. 

 Experience in different fields. 

 Supporting local communities. 
 
 

Page 159



  Appendix 8 

Fire service  

 Training Cardiff Uni students to do home fire safety checks. 

 Fire Cadets/Special Constables/Crime prevention panels/Police cadets. 

 Befriending programmes. 

 Giving young people, who may not have been inspired through schools, the opportunity 
to try different things. 

 Broaden horizons and create positive role models. 

 Employee Programmes 
o Take in generational unemployed families. 
o 6 week programme for young people from long term unemployed families.  
o Self-discipline and value of work and rewarding benefits. 

 Volunteering to improve the local environment – encourage people to take ownership 
of their own area 

 
Can local businesses be involved – can they join in? 

 Can they release staff, but need something to offer businesses very often. How could 
they be encouraged to get young people to enter the businesses and develop 
themselves? 
 

 Communication – events in Caerphilly Town centre – council events. Can there be 
volunteer stalls as part of this project? e.g. people notice flags advertising for these 
things. 

 Could we get people to sign up for updates by text/e-mail etc.? 

 People don’t read posters/leaflets that often – in general. 

 Communities don’t communicate – how do the PSB engage them? 

 Some community facilities withdrawn – less funding e.g. adult education. 

 A lot now geared to going back into work – not well-being classes 
 

  

Page 160



  Appendix 8 

 

 
Future Scenarios 3: Making It Happen!  

Thursday 25
th

 October 2017 – 10:15am to 1:00pm  
Ebenezer Chapel, River Terrace, Pengam, Blackwood  

 
 

Background and purpose of the meeting 
 
This was the third Future Scenarios event where professionals have gathered to input into 
the development of the Well-Being Assessment and Well-Being Plan. This session 
provided an opportunity to review the Draft Plan and consider the suggested approach.  
 

Method 
 
60+ individuals took part in the workshop representing organisations from across the 
county borough and those organisations operating on a Gwent or national basis. The 
event was facilitated by the Corporate Policy Unit.  
 
The discussion was broken down into sections, which looked at:  
 

 The story so far – to help those attending understand the context and background to 
the workshop. 

 Making it happen suggested approach – do you agree or disagree with this approach. 

 Who should be involved in each Action Area group and what other steps should be 
considered? 
  

Making it happen suggested approach – do you agree or disagree with this 
approach? (PSB Leads, Action Area groups, ICLIP, any other principles to consider) 
 

 Sensible - well thought out. 

 Agree with approach. 

 Fresh approach is welcomed.  The SIP was just reporting on the day job/tick box 
exercise. 

 The use of current language ‘positive’ is invigorating and liked. 

 Shared ownership, equal responsibility and accountability. 

 Able to challenge each other. 

 Collaboration, ensuring best person for the job, recognising the strengths of different 
organisations. 

Page 161



  Appendix 8 

 Consider resources of each organisation. 

 Doing things differently. 

 Changing of ‘mind-set’ is still one of our big challenges. 

 Leadership from top critical. 

 We agree the PSB should lead with 12 lead officers from the PSB organisations 
working with the champions. 

 Good to have a PSB champion – able to look from different perspective. 

 Will the champions sit on the action groups? If the 4 Champions end up sitting on or 
being responsible for certain (3?) action groups this will create silos again.  

 Lead officers going to PSB – good idea. 

 Lead Officers will need to be properly briefed and enthusiastic about what they are 
being asked to deliver. Should they have a job description? 

 One group felt strongly that we need to move forward positively and liked the 4Ps. 
They also felt strongly that Positive Change has to happen first to enable the other Ps 
to succeed. Positive Change should stand alone/above as an enabler for the others to 
be completed. 

 There is too much turnover of staff in groups when experience or progress is lost. The 
Champions/Leads must be consistent over a longer period of time and have the time to 
do the role properly. Group members must turn up every time for consistency.  

 Needs to be simpler to understand for members of public/professionals. 

 4P’s need to link with community values to deliver lasting change. 

 The Action Areas are written in corporate language and therefore not relatable - need 
to demystify them. 

 Generally happy with the 4P’s but not so much with the 12 AA’s - clarity needed! 

 Does the PSB have the teeth to challenge and change the way funding is paid and 
makes separate groups work together? We must develop ways of sharing our 
resources. 

 Possible negative observation – is the structure putting work areas in boxes?  How can 
we ensure we work together?  Better ways of sharing information are needed.  How will 
we know that Leads are looking across all areas? 

 Leads to work together – potentially at quarterly meetings to identify and work on areas 
of cross over.  

 Concerns over communication channels across bodies/businesses etc. 

 Achievable milestones, start small to grow able to track progress. 

 Quick wins build confidence. 

 Long term – it will take a number of years to know if our approach for each Action Area 
is working in the right way. 

 Regional working – whilst the current plan is Caerphilly specific, data shows areas of 
common ground across LA areas in Gwent and take into account that partners work 
across 5 or more LA areas.   

 Can we stagger the approach?  It could be too difficult for one organisation to do all of 
this. Could we take a regional approach where possible?  

 Working in action areas could mean everyone going back to working in their silos. How 
do we avoid this? 

 Statistics driven - not helpful. 

 Measurement – need info – output and outcomes. 

 Plans > reports > need to remain focused and deliver information on things that matter 
and lead to real changes in service delivery. 

 Worry – similar structure/Leads = fall back into old way of working (structure within 
organisations).  Needs to be more dynamic and partners take ownership! 

Page 162



  Appendix 8 

 What systems do PSB members need to consider in their own service to make this 
work? 

 Businesses need to be more involved in planning, part of community, engage with 
them – gather their views, not enough contact with businesses. 

 Social enterprises – links aren’t being made for delivery and they could be. 

 Engagement levels with services that haven’t really engaged as yet (e.g. Education. 
Health).  Very important for working together (e.g. Donaldson Review - schools). 

 What about those with disabilities/health problems? 

 Working groups should include members of the public, they have a right to be involved 
and with time constraints of officers.  Massive gap between what the Act says and the 
actualisation of it. How will it bring citizens into play throughout? Just democratic 
representatives or others? Will we think more widely? Really think about the people 
assets. Don’t be tokenistic, really demonstrate progress. 

 We need a strong commitment to collaborative working with the community and make 
sure we work with those, outside of the self-selecting parts of the community. We have 
to find a way to engage with other parts of the community in a meaningful way.  

 Links to young people need to be more explicit and a broader approach to engaging 
with young people is needed. 

 Closer ties to DWP. 

 Overlap in Action Areas could cause clashes. 

 Like the idea of the Action Areas and the opportunity for the third sector to work 
collaboratively with the PSB. 

 Organisations fall into more than 1 area (important to work together and support each 
other). 

 In terms of the structure proposed, success will depend on WHO is appointed as the 
Lead – commitment, drive and resources to achieve.  How are Leads to be appointed? 
Nomination isn’t always the best way forward.   A mix of task and finish groups as well 
as ongoing work streams will be needed. 

 Attendance at meetings needs to be relevant and meaningful. 

 Organisations/individuals need to challenge others where good practice is failing.   

 We must have the correct people involved with the right knowledge base.  

 How will the Action Areas be measured and monitored? 

 What does success look like?  

 The real test: Is/will it make a difference to people’s lives - whatever the PSB does or 
decides to do. 

 ICLIP - mustn’t become lip service. 

 All in all - ICLIP is perceived to be ok. 

 Need to take a positive view on those legislative issues that are often seen as negative 
blockers. They are there for a reason but often seen as a negative. Can give the 
impression that an organisation is being obstructive.  

 In the final plan some commonality from what’s been said i.e. if 30 people said more 
access to GP’s - this needs to be included to give context to why it’s in the plan - 
relatable. 

 Transport is a common thread for all 12 Action Areas but not specifically mentioned. 

 A statement in the plan looking at the Children’s Rights approach. 
 
 

  

Page 163



  Appendix 8 

Who should be involved in each Action Area group and what other steps should be 
considered?  

  
All attendees had time to discuss each of the 12 Action Areas at their tables and then join 
a carousel workshop to leave comments on flip charts covering the following questions: 
 

 Who do you think should be involved in this Task & Finish Group? 

 What other actions should be considered? 
 
The 12 Task and Finish groups discussed were:  
1. Communications  
2. Working together  
3. Procurement  
4. Asset management  
5. The best start in life  
6. Volunteering  
7. Apprenticeships  
8. Keeping people healthy across the life course 
9. Plan and secure sustainable and accessible health and social care services that 

meet current and future needs and address health inequalities  
10. Sustainable communities  
11. Safer communities  
12. Protect and enhance the local natural environment  
 
A wealth of information was captured via this carousel which will be shared with the Lead 
Officers/PSB Champions for each Action Area.  
  

Page 164



  Appendix 8 

 

Interact Workshop Report  
23rd November 2017 – Llancaiach Fawr Manor  

 
Background and purpose of the meeting 
 
This workshop was a return visit to the Interact Network to continue the consultation 
process during the development of the Well-being Plan. In March 2017 the Network were 
consulted for their views on the proposed 6 areas of further development.  
 
This session provided an opportunity to review the Draft Plan and consider the 4 Positives. 
The Network was asked to comment on whether we have the right first steps in place to 
achieve the 4 Positives, as well as identifying any key missing steps. The Network also 
looked at what they could do to make the 4 Positives happen, as organisations, individuals 
and as part of their community. 
 
Method 
 
60+ individuals who work with children and young people took part in the workshop, which 
was facilitated by the Corporate Policy Unit.  
 
The discussion was broken down into sections, which looked at:  
 

 The story so far – to help those attending understand the context and background to 
the workshop. 

 What are your views on the 4 Positives and the steps to achieve them? 

 What steps are missing and why should they be included?  

 What could you or your community/organisation do to make the 4 Positives happen? 
 
What are your views on the 4 Positives and the steps to achieve them? 
 
General Comments: 
 
Overall the Network agreed with the 4P’s and felt that they covered “all aspects of well-
being”. They added “the use of the word ‘positive’ is encouraging particularly as people 
don’t tend to like change”.  
 
There were lots of queries about how third sector organisations can feed into/be a part of 
the Action Areas and how information is fed back to them, and asked whether this be via 

Page 165



  Appendix 8 

GAVO?  Attendees felt that there is a danger of the third sector involvement being 
tokenistic and not meaningful. 
 
There were several queries about how targets will be set and whether these will conflict 
with organisations’ existing strategic targets/performance indicators, creating competing 
priorities. The group also asked how cross cutting themes will be reported on/monitored, 
such as anti-poverty. 

 
Positive Change: 
 
The opportunity for procurement to have a greater impact was recognised, along with a 
need for training to use assets and resources more intelligently.  
 
It was felt that it is “good to have leadership that is following same policies/procedures. 
Negative could be [removing] the responsibility from organisations”.  
 
There were several comments about the need for meaningful engagement with residents, 
organisations and staff.  Many felt that the PSB should  “jointly communicate positive 
messages about the county borough – listen to residents/service users – there seems to 
be a lot of negative comments being made about Caerphilly Council at present i.e. 
recycling bin issues, roadwork problems at Caerphilly roundabout, media coverage of 
Chief Officers etc."  
 
Positive Start:  
 
The group felt that it is good that early intervention is priority, but not at the expense of 
higher/end tier projects.  
 
Many felt the key to ACEs is to raise awareness. Empower parents and staff to know 
about ACEs and their impact, and what they can do to reduce impact. Needs a cultural 
change for people who experience ACEs, and a national push to bring all the info together.  

 
Positive People: 
 
The Network agreed that apprenticeships are very important – for adults and those low 
skilled and that it would be positive if the age range increases to over 25s. This would 
reduce the impact on welfare system and reduce funding in colleges for adults. All partners 
to offer placements, and can double up as volunteers also.  
 
The need to have coordinators to manage and support volunteers was stressed. Need to 
make volunteering meaningful and champion volunteers/parent peer advocates to bridge 
the gap to encourage families to engage in services (breaking down the barriers). 

 
Positive Places: 
 
The Network expressed the need to protect and promote communities by using schools, 
teaching and encouraging young children, keeping websites current and using display 
boards. Bring the community into the service and to target all communities in wider 
perspectives.   
 
 

Page 166



  Appendix 8 

What steps are missing and why should they be included?  
 

 Education providers to link with employers.  

 Networking events/more partnership events needed for engagement/networking.  

 Would like to see more support for young children – age specific.  

 Quicker referral system for children with mental health issues (young children), and 
more support for mental health.  

 
What could you or your community/organisation do to make the 4 Positives 
happen? 
 

 Interact Network organisations want to be part of this plan. Interact Network 
organisations can facilitate engagement. They can provide the view of parents/ 
residents/staff. Service users should be more important than targets – soft outcomes.  
 

 Action Areas should invite voluntary/statutory agencies to give their input – specialist 
areas. PSB should visit organisations. Information from organisations own evaluations 
should be fed through to the appropriate channels.  

 

 More flexibility in workforce to work together more, less silo working, too stats/target 
driven, too much reliance on postcodes. Use frontline workers from different 
organisations in a multi-agency approach to engage with residents and provide hands 
on experience information to decision makers.  

 

 Volunteering/apprenticeships – All partners can support this by providing funding, 
qualifications and one-to-one mentoring.  
 

 Harness the power of social media to promote community partnership working.  
 

  

Page 167



  Appendix 8 

 
Background and purpose of the meeting 
 
The meetings were an opportunity for groups involved in the Valleys Voices project to take 
part in the consultation process on the Well-being Plan. Meetings took place with the 
Stroke Association, Caerphilly Borough Mind and Caerphilly People First.  
 
The meetings provided an opportunity to review the Draft Plan and consider the 4 
Positives. The groups were asked to comment on whether we have the right first steps in 
place to achieve the 4 Positives, as well as identifying any key missing steps. The groups 
also looked at what they could do to make the 4 Positives happen, as organisations, 
individuals and as part of their communities. 
 
Method 
 
A total of 32 individuals took part across the four meetings, which were facilitated by 
project officers from the Valleys Voices project. 
 
The discussion was broken down into sections, which looked at:  
 

 The story so far – to help those attending understand the context and background to 
the workshop 

 What are your views on the 4 Positives and the steps to achieve them? 

 What steps are missing and why should they be included?  

 What could you or your community/organisation do to make the 4 Positives happen? 
 
2nd November 2017 – Caerphilly People First, Bargoed (7 adults with learning 
disabilities and 3 support workers) 
 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Change objective? 
 
Agree = 9 
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Change 
objective? 
 
Communication – who should tell people about the goals and how do we get people 
involved? 

 Listen to the voice of CPF and their family & friends – eventually we will get 
somewhere! 

Page 168



  Appendix 8 

 Include Community wardens – vital link between police and community. 

 The organisations who help & support people with learning difficulties live an 
independent life should be involved, these include: 
 REACH 
 Partnership of care  
 North Valley support services  
 All Wales people first  
 Track  

 Also, the PSB should be aware of the recent publication ‘Gwent Charter for Working 
Together’. 

 The following examples illustrate lack of awareness of Statutory professionals, 
businesses and other community members when meeting adults with LD: 
 Communicate with doctors/nurses to help understand what it’s like to deal with 

people with learning difficulties – “they told my mum to chuck me in a home out of 
the way”. 

 Discrimination against adults with LD at Weatherspoon’s – other customers thought 
she was drunk because of how she spoke and complained and a member of staff 
came and asked them for ID, they apologised and got £50 voucher but had to work 
hard with complaint to get it dealt with.  

 Morrison’s in Caerphilly have new tables in the café and when they sat at them they 
were asked if they were disabled which caused offence and the person hasn’t been 
back. 

 When they were queuing at a college the person in charge said out loud that people 
with LD needed to go first which caused embarrassment and isn’t necessary as they 
can queue like everyone else.  

 Businesses need awareness training for people with learning disabilities  
 
Working together – which organisations and community groups should be involved? 

 Need to get the middle level of professionals in Statutory Services e.g. Social Services 
to work with us 

 Children’s Social Services 

 CPF and All Wales People First to represent adults with learning disabilities 

 Police & Community Support Officer 

 Police commissioner  

 Fireman 

 Doctors  

 Ambulance Service 

 Neighbourhood watch  

 Keep Wales Tidy  

 Community Services to tidy up graffiti etc.  

 Mind awareness programme MAP  
 
Money – how can the organisations save money by working together? 

 Let other organisations use office space 

 Share printers and IT equipment 

 Sharing what we have – e.g. Bargoed YMCA rents space to CPF 
 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Start objective? 
 
Agree = 9 

Page 169



  Appendix 8 

 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Start objective? 
 
The best start in life – how can the PSB work together to help give all children the best 
start in life? 

 If you’ve had a bad childhood and then end up in trouble when older maybe you need 
support and help to change when you’re older too.   

 More support for parents rather than taking children away from parents.  

 Support for families to keep child in school.  

 Note: 70% of people in Park Prison have learning disabilities.  

 People with disabilities need more support with children to be a good parent.  

 Some youngsters light fires who helps? – Fire service, ambulance, police, but it needs 
to come from parents’ first. 

 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive People objective? 
 
Agree = 9 
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive People 
objective? 
 
Volunteering – What’s good about volunteering and is there anything that would help 
support you to be a volunteer? 

 CPF volunteer and encourage others. 

 When I was volunteering in a charity shop I was first put out of sight upstairs pressing 
clothes but now I am in sight on the shop floor and enjoy it. 

 
Apprenticeship programmes – Is there any job that you would like to be trained to do? 

 Difficult to find a job and if you do and it doesn’t work out you have to be assessed 
again for benefits – sometimes people are frightened to take the risk of coming off 
benefits. 

 Important to have representatives from Job Centre/benefits Agency/CAB on any 
apprenticeship or employment initiative, so that people can be properly advised e.g. if 
an adult is offered a job at 16 hours or a short term 6 month/one year.  

 
Keeping people healthy into old age - what’s the best way of encouraging people to live 
more healthily? 

 Support worker didn’t help me to cook and didn’t help her to do what she wanted. 

 I didn’t want to take tablets to lose weight, as I worried I would get addicted.  So I ate 
smaller portions of food following advice from a Community’s First Healthy Eating 
course and now I feel healthier and have lost weight. 

 Kitchen at CPF is being used to teach members basic cooking skills. 

 Every Tuesday I go to the gym and enjoy it and I have lost weight. 

 Some members confirmed they had Fitbits. 

 Walking with Groundwork has helped one member to walk more and carry her 
shopping home.  She has lost now lost weight and feels better.  

 Having pets helps some member’s wellbeing.   
 
 
 

Page 170



  Appendix 8 

 
 
 
Health and Social Services - when you go to the doctors/hospital/meet with social worker, 
some of them are good and some not very good, what is it about the good ones that 
makes them good – makes you like them, feel that you are listened to and want to work 
with them? 

 Social workers are working much better with CPF then they used to.  They used to tell 
us what to do, now they listen when we speak. 

 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Places objective?  
 
Agree = 9 
  
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Places 
objective? 
 
Housing 

 In Blackwood lots of houses are boarded up and used by criminals i.e. drug dealers.  
The council can’t do anything with these properties and they are not being used when 
lots of homeless in Caerphilly.  They could do them up and people could move into 
them but then you are putting people in a bad area surrounded by crime. 

 Issue with vulnerable adults being homed in areas with high anti-social behaviour & 
crime rate – cheap geographical areas for Housing Associations to secure homes? 

 
Safer Caerphilly - How can we make your community safer and make you feel safer?  

 Feel powerless to stop grass fires, fly tipping and off-roading. 

 Hate crime is an issue in Caerphilly, some members had experience of it. 

 Graffiti is a big problem in Caerphilly. 

 When you phone 101 there is a big delay in them coming out, sometimes don’t come 
out until the following day. 

 Community watch team – one member’s neighbour looks after her pets when she goes 
on holiday. People should look out for each other.  

 CPF have been a victim of Cyber-crime and they had a talk from police but haven’t 
been able to get hold of him since, everyone needs to spread the word and work 
together.  

 Do they teach cybercrime at college? No, only if you complete levels 1-3 and then go 
on an IT course. Some members of CPF didn’t know what cybercrime was. How can 
they protect themselves online if they’re not aware of the dangers – more resources on 
raising cybercrime awareness. 

 
Protect Caerphilly green spaces – do you visit any parks and are they easy to get to? 
How can people keep rivers, parks, mountains looking their best now and for the future? 
 

 Observation: Some young people vandalise parks in Caerphilly. 
 
 
  

Page 171



  Appendix 8 

30th November 2017 – Stroke Association, Blackwood (15 attendees) 
 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Change objective above? 
 
No feedback.  
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Change 
objective? 
 
No comments. 
 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Start objective? 
 
Agree = 15 
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Start objective? 
 
The best start in life – how can the PSB work together to help give all children the best 
start in life? 

 They need a good job not just an education. 

 They should be brought up with a better attitude, need more respect, need more 
discipline. 

 Less technology, more one to one time with parents and adults.  

 If you saw a policeman when we were young, we would run away but now they don’t 
have any respect for authority.  

 Teaching staff should set standards in dress.  

 Children have lost respect for their parents and grandparents. They need to be taught 
better manners.  

 Children are pampered too much and don’t get taught real basics at school. 
 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive People objective? 
 
Agree = 15 
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive People 
objective? 
 
Volunteering – What’s good about volunteering and is there anything that would help 
support you to be a volunteer? 

 Thursday is the best day of the week for me as I can have had a bad week but coming 
here to this group as a volunteer we have a laugh and share our news and I go home 
feeling 100% better.   

 Without volunteers we would struggle to get here once a week.   

 We are not a group we are a family. 
 
Keeping people healthy into old age - what’s the best way of encouraging people to live 
more healthily? 

 We have still got the legacy of people working down mines etc. that have influenced 
health and mortality, going forward this may alter and we may have less inequality 
across Caerphilly borough. 

Page 172



  Appendix 8 

 Encourage people to exercise, get out don’t sit in front of television, healthy eating, 
taking youngsters out to park etc. 

 
Health and Social Services - when you go to the doctors/hospital/meet with social worker, 
some of them are good and some not very good, what is it about the good ones that 
makes them good – makes you like them, feel that you are listened to and want to work 
with them? 

 What matters is Health Care worker’s attitude towards you, in times past they used to 
know you as a person not a number. 

 I don’t want to have to wait ages for test results, if we go for a scan then don’t want to 
wait 6 weeks for results (one member’s experience), some scans sent to Australia and 
results known in 24 hrs (another member’s experience). 

 Doctor used to know your name, Doctor doesn’t do house visits anymore, instead we 
are told to ring 999 or ambulance service which doesn’t respond. 

 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Places objective above?  
 
Agree = 15 
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Places 
objective? 
 
Safer Caerphilly - How can we make your community safer and make you feel safer?  

 Seeing more policemen on beat. 

 Better street lighting.   

 People won’t pay for council rubbish collection so this encourages fly tipping. 

 You won’t stop fires because its devilment and kids like to do it.  

 Do fire brigade go to schools to educate kids re effect of fires on wildlife?  
 
Protect Caerphilly green spaces – do you visit any parks and are they easy to get to? 
How can people keep rivers, parks, mountains looking their best now and for the future? 

 Many members of Stroke Club have disabilities – we can access parks as part of 
organised trip but difficult by ourselves, it would be helpful to have tarmac paths and no 
steps. 

 
 
12th December 2017 – Caerphilly Borough Mind, Lansbury Park, Caerphilly (5 
attendees with mental health problems and 2 project workers) 
 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Change objective? 
 
Strongly agree = 7 
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Change 
objective? 
 
No comments. 
 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Start objective? 
 
Strongly agree = 7 

Page 173



  Appendix 8 

Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Start objective? 
 

 Children shouldn’t be treated better because parents have more money and can send 
them to private schools, all children should have equality of education. 

 Children of all ages need support with mental health issues as bad experiences at a 
young age can affect the person all through their life if they do not get help to deal with 
it. Specialised child mental health officers should be placed in schools to identify 
problems early and stop it escalating and not wait for problems to reach crisis point.  
 Comment: ‘… I had a life changing experience aged 6 years and got no help to deal 

with what happened that day and it has affected me all my adult life and is still 
affecting me in adulthood’  

 Child in Caerphilly saw mother die at home, aged only six – she was alone with my 
younger sibling and had to go into the street and tell a stranger that mum wouldn’t 
wake up.  Is there anyone there during the school day – with the right skills – that a 
struggling child can talk to?  

 Self-help story: ‘I got a book privately that helped my daughter with her depression, it’s 
called “The Cloud that Couldn’t Cry”  

 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive People objective? 
 
Strongly agree = 8 
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive People 
objective? 
 

 My adolescent daughter had serious mental health issues and there was no support in 

Caerphilly where we lived.  As I don’t drive she had to have a funded taxi every day to 

go to Caerleon for full time care for 6 months.  This was expensive for the NHS and it 

caused her a lot of additional stress and anxiety having to meet different taxi drivers on 

a daily basis.  This is a big deal for someone already suffering with severe anxiety 

problems but was not understood.  If care had been available in Caerphilly, I believe 

her recovery would have been quicker.  At 18 her care with this service suddenly 

stopped whether she was better or not! This is traumatic for someone suffering with a 

mental health condition as they have just started to trust people and then are faced 

with having to start again with another team of health professionals.  

 When I needed counselling after a breakdown I went to my GP and he told me I had to 

wait 6-7 months on the NHS & in the meantime go to the cinema or go for a walk! He 

did not signpost me to any other services such as groups run by Mind or other 

charities.  I had to do all my own research on what other help was available.  I started 

going to a Mind group once a week and found it helpful to talk and listen to other 

people going through similar illnesses. People who have had mental health issues 

understand me better than professionals!  I got so bad that I didn’t work for 18 months, 

if I had got help quicker then I don’t believe I would have been off work for so long. 

 I found Communities First very useful when I had a breakdown as I knew I could go 

along and someone would talk to me and be friendly, I now volunteer there. 

 I have serious OCD and at my lowest I didn’t work for 6 years and found it very hard to 

get any help with my illness.  I now go to a weekly group run by Mind which helps and I 

am now back working part time which some days is a real struggle for me. 

Page 174



  Appendix 8 

 I volunteered for a number of years in a local charity shop and this helped me get a 

long term job in a shop. 

 The closure of Communities First office in Caerphilly has affected us as if I was having 

a bad day I knew that I had somewhere to go. 

 How you live your life is important regarding how long you live. 

Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Places objective above?  
 
Strongly agree = 7 
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Places 
objective? 
 
No comments. 
 
 
13th December 2017 – Caerphilly Borough Mind, Blackwood (5 attendees with mental 
health problems and 2 project workers) 
 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Change objective? 
 
Strongly agree = 7 
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Change 
objective? 
 

 Note relating to building assets – if arrested in Caerphilly, the police transport alleged 
offender to Newport Police Station. On release the person then has to make their own 
way back to Caerphilly. 

 The local Police Stations in Risca, Blackwood etc. only handle enquiries – think this is 
a waste of money. 

 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Start objective? 
 
Strongly agree = 7 
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Start objective? 
 

 When starting a new family there are difficulties with bedroom tax – until baby is aged 
one year, tenant is liable to pay bedroom tax. However, when the child is older this tax 
no longer applies.  Families don’t want to have to move house in order to avoid extra 
bedroom tax – having to move it’s disruptive to family living and children’s schooling. 

 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive People objective above? 
 
Strongly agree = 7 
 
 
 
 

Page 175



  Appendix 8 

Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive People 
objective? 
 
Volunteering 

 Well-being benefit of volunteering – feel good when helping others. Comment: ‘Made 
me feel good when I was a student to spend time with homeless people/people in Care 
Homes, styling their hair and giving beauty treatments’ (organised through college). 

 I volunteered for 5 years for a mental health charity and then got a job working in the 
sector – volunteering was very helpful in building my confidence and experience.  It 
was what helped me get the job - I have been long-term employment 3 years+. 

 
Apprenticeships/employment  

 After training for 3 years at college in hairdressing, can’t find a position in a Salon – 
over-qualified as employer is looking for younger, cheaper unqualified 16 year olds. 
Now gone back to college to do additional Health & Beauty qualifications in the hope of 
getting a local job. 

 More difficult to find a job as a young person if you don’t drive – public transport isn’t 
always able to get you top job at the right time and can’t afford driving lessons/test/car. 

 Caerphilly used to run initiative a number of years ago to provide mopeds for young 
people as transport to access employment – needs haven’t changed but this initiative 
has finished with nothing to replace it. 

 Unemployed need incentives like the Job Centres used to offer: 
 Help with transport costs 
 Help buying clothes for interview 

 
Seasonal Work 

 Poor experience – employers just use you when they want too. 

 Poor salary for very young employees - worked a whole day in a café for £20. 
 
Health 

 Comment from young smoker: ‘It would be helpful to know what help is available to 
support people to give up smoking.’  They were unaware of either Health or third sector 
support available. 

 
Do you agree or disagree with the Positive Places objective?  
 
Strongly agree = 7 
 
Are there any additional comments you would like to make on the Positive Places 
objective? 
 

 The Valleys look spectacular in the snow. 

 Stop taking away green space for housing development. 

 Don’t like it when police move homeless people on – they have nowhere else to go. 
  

Page 176



  Appendix 8 

 

PSB Workshop - 5th December 2017 

 

Background and purpose of the meeting 

 
To start the process of developing a reporting framework for the Caerphilly Well-being 
delivery plan.  This process is being called a ‘Performance Accountability Framework’ and 
will aim to measure the progress against the Well-being Plan. 
 
The purpose of the session was to seek understanding of how the PSB would want to 
receive information and what types of information would they want to see in order to 
understand if the action areas are making a difference.  This was broken down into three 
parts:  

 

 To gain agreement on whether the attendees agreed with the suggested action areas 
and how they would best be delivered. 

 How the group best thought the PSB could best show its ownership and leadership for 
the Plan? (who would be the owners of what area)   

 Agreement of specific reporting methods and measures   
 

Methodology 
 

The workshop was held on the 5th December 2017 for members of the PSB, facilitated by 
the Corporate Policy Unit.  A presentation was made to update attendees the story so far 
followed a discussion around the following topics:  

 

 The proposed Action Areas (to agree the number of Action Areas and what they cover). 

 Regional context and considerations. 

 Agree approach & agree who will be the Leads on each action area 
 
A presentation was then given to attendees of how previous reporting worked with the 
Local Services Board and the Single Integrated Plan.  The presentation identified the 
strengths and what needed to be improved within the current system.  Attendees were 
briefed on the feedback from an earlier workshop held with data collectors and data 
reporters as to their opinions on the best way to provide measurement. This led into a 
further discussion of the options for a possible measurement framework and what might 
work for the PSB. 
 

Page 177



  Appendix 8 

Discussion Session 1  
 
Prior to the workshop the 12 Action Areas in the Draft Well-being Plan had been redrafted 
to make them more succinct and potential suggestions for reducing the number down to 9, 
by merging some of the Action Areas.  Attendees agreed with the suggestions and then 
agreed to change the description of the following 4 Action Areas to become Enablers:    
 

 Communications 

 Working together 

 Procurement 

 Asset management 
 
Attendees felt these were better as important ‘enablers’ or underpinning principles that 
would help the other Action Areas. For example, to procure jointly in order to provide value 
for money would require good working together, and so this did not need to be a specific 
Action Area within its own right, rather an underpinning principle.  However, actions would 
still be required for each of the Enablers, as otherwise nothing would happen. 
 
Attendees discussed whether PSB Champions could also be the lead on Action Areas.  
They discussed the advantages and disadvantages of having someone with expertise in a 
subject verses having someone new to an area that would have a different perspective.  It 
was agreed there needed to be a commitment of whole the PSB to work on all the actions.   
 
Attendees discussed the possibility of changing the Leads on a rolling basis to find out 
what works best, or to start with an ‘expert’ and then change later.  It was agreed that the 
Leads for each Action Area would be the following:   
 

1. Best start in life  Public Health Wales (PHW) 

2. Volunteering/apprenticeships  Gwent Association of Voluntary Organisations 
(GAVO) 

3. Good health and well-being  Aneurin Bevan University Health Board  
(ABUHB) 

4. Safer, sustainable communities  Caerphilly County Borough Council (CCBC) 

5. Protect and enhance the local natural 
environment  

National Resources Wales (NRW) 

 
Discussion Session 2 
 
A presentation was given on reporting, followed by a discussion which asked attendees 
‘what would work for you?’.  Attendees were asked to consider several ways of reporting, 
such as:  

 Type of reporting: Should there be standardisation reporting in relation to each Action 
Area? Does one size fit all?  

 Should each Action Group be free to set their own measures, or should standardised 
principles be set? 

 Who would own the reporting?  

 How should it be presented? 

 How do we overcome difficulties of different organisations having to report more than 
once to different audiences or in different areas?  e.g. regional reporting verses local 
reporting. 

Page 178



  Appendix 8 

 Timing: How frequently should progress be reported? Structure verses emergent 
issues? 

 
Generally it was agreed that it was harder to agree specifics (look and feel of reporting) 
until the detail of the Action Areas were agreed, however, as general principles the 
following were suggested: 
 
General 
 

 The PSB would set defined ‘principles’ of reporting.  This would enable each Enabler 
and Action Area to set their own measures but within an agreed set of principles. This 
would provide flexibility for individual Action Groups to set as appropriate but within a 
overall structure.  

 Key principle – there must be mix of relevant measures, but the key concern was that 
the measures chosen should be meaningful and show if we are making a difference.  

 Some Action Areas may have many measures and others less, or they may have 
different types, but until the outcomes and purpose are determined specific types of 
measurement cannot be decided. 

 This means moving away from only data or metrics, although some attendees felt there 
needed to be some local measures and some Wales measures as appropriate. 

 The purpose of reporting has to be clear, as the PSB do not need a report on 
everything. 

 Use exception reporting with key points, otherwise important issues cannot get the 
attention they deserve.   

 Written reports should be supplemented with verbal presentations and the PSB should 
feed back to those who report the information. This is important and necessary for 
effective communication and showing action in response to information.  

 The quality of the narrative and an understanding of the situation is as important as 
data. 

 Action Areas to consider interrelated datasets so there can be improved analysis of 
cause and effect. 

 Clarity and plain writing – limit acronyms to ensure reporting is clear and focused. 

 PSB Champion to present reports. 
 
Timing  
 

 Attendees agreed 6 monthly performance reporting but also interim (shorter) exception 
based quarterly reports if decisions are needed or issues are emerging – balancing the 
need to have structure but allow for emerging discussion.  Will report ‘no progress’ if 
there is nothing to report.  Attendees agreed that there must be must be flexibility in the 
whole process (see Accountability).   

 
Content and Type  
 

 Easily read and clarity are key aims. However, some content is complex so should be 
supplemented with verbal presentations where appropriate. 

 Templates should build in risks or vulnerabilities and capture the ‘Happiness Pulse’. 

 Some suggestion that data be kept to a single page report per Action Area (or at least 
keep it brief – this is where exception reporting would be used). 

Page 179



  Appendix 8 

 Different views on whether all Action Areas should have a standard reporting style 
used or mix of styles depending on content.  No consensus was reached on style, 
however consensus was reached that this should be determined after outcomes and 
Action Areas are finalised – it will be for the Action Groups to determine the measures, 
which in turn will help to determine how best this could be presented to the PSB. 

 Arbitrary targets are not useful and not wanted. Police do not use them and they drive 
unintended consequences.   

 Each Action Area needs clear outcomes and some need detailed actions to aid the 
meaningfulness of measurement. 

 Capture the journey not just the outcome. 

 Use case studies. 

 Digital stories and other range of qualitative measurement. 

 Celebrate success. 

 Should be about the ‘added value’ not the day job. 
 
Accountability  
 

 A new relationship between the Action Area Lead (carrying out the reporting) and PSB 
Champion was agreed as important to effective reporting. This relationship will help the 
Action Areas to flag up information and updates to the PSB, who need to understand 
deeper issues affecting outcomes.  The PSB Champion should meet with the Action 
Area Lead prior to the PSB meeting, so they can help decide on types of information 
that will go to the PSB. 

 By working together the conflicting needs to have routine reporting but at the same 
time allow for more flexible reporting can be bridged. This will help in deciding what 
issues may need to be flagged up, for example, if a decision is needed that cannot wait 
until the next reporting period.  This will be a new way of connecting reporting with the 
narrative, exception reporting and feeding back.  This will also provide a mechanism for 
ensuring accountability if information has not been provided.    

 Clear accountability of who writes reports and by when must be decided at outset.  
 
Other issues 
 
Attendees agreed that how we engage with our own staff in our organisations was 
important, so individual organisations know what happens and can support activity at the 
PSB level. 
 
There was a discussion as to what are organisations doing to change the way they work to 
meet the greater goals, and this was an area that needs to be explored further.  An 
example was given where NRW are training their staff to identify mental health issues 
within parks and country parks, where they have frontline customer contact.  This supports 
health objectives.  
 
Information sharing between Action Areas will be important in response to the interrelated 
datasets noted earlier. 
 
Examples of measurement systems in practice for measuring well being  
 

 The Logic Model (Blaenau Gwent)  

 Systems leadership methodology being implemented in Torfaen  

Page 180



  Appendix 8 

 The Outcome Star (participant perception) 

 Edinburgh Warwick Well-being Scale  

 Caerphilly Borough Mind 

 5 ways to well-being  
 Neighbourhood Care Networks – well established 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 181



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 182



 

 
 

 

 

COUNCIL - 6TH MARCH 2018 
 

SUBJECT: DRAFT REGIONAL AREA PLAN 
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR – SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 

1.1 To present the draft regional Area Plan required under the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 
and set out how it complements the Well-being Plan required under the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act. 

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 

2.1 The Social Services and Wellbeing Act (2014) places a statutory duty on local authorities and 
health boards to prepare a regional Area Plan following the publication of the region’s 
population needs assessment (PNA).  A draft Area Plan has been jointly developed across 
the region (Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Monmouthshire, Newport and Torfaen) by Aneurin 
Bevan University Health Board and the Regional Partnership Team.  The draft Area Plan sets 
out the actions to achieve the priorities identified in the PNA and will closely align and share 
similar priorities to the Caerphilly Well-being Plan.  The draft Area Plan is best read as a 
working draft as there are still a number of details to be added such as the Integrated Care 
Funding profile. 

 
 

3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 

 Well-being Assessment (Well-being of Future Generations Act) 

 Well-being Plan 

 Draft Corporate Plan. 
 
 

4. THE REPORT 
 

4.1 The Social Services and Wellbeing Act (Act), in Part 2, section 14, requires that local 
authorities and local health boards jointly carry out an assessment of the needs for care and 
support in relation to the Gwent region’s population.  The Gwent regional population needs 
assessment (PNA) report was agreed and published on 1st April 2017 and set out priorities 
over specific core themes: 

 

 children and young people 

 older people 

 health / physical disabilities 

 learning disability/ autism 

 mental health 

 sensory impairment 

 carers who need support; and 

 violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. 

Page 183

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 8



 
4.2 Following the publication of the regional PNA report each local authority and health board are 

required to prepare and publish an Area Plan setting out the range and level of services they 
propose to provide in response to the PNA.  Area plans must include the specific services 
planned in response to each core theme identified in the population assessment.  As part of 
this, area plans must include:  
 

 the actions partners will take in relation to the priority areas of integration for Regional 
Partnership Boards;  

 the instances and details of pooled funds to be established in response to the population 
assessment;  

 how services will be procured or arranged to be delivered, including by alternative delivery 
models;  

 details of the preventative services that will be provided or arranged;  

 actions being taken in relation to the provision of information, advice and assistance 
services; and  

 actions required to deliver services through the medium of Welsh.  
 
4.3 The first area plans must be published by 1 April 2018 and there will be a need to ensure links 

between the Area Plan and the local authority Well-being Plans required under the Well-being 
of Future Generations Act.  Although the definition of well-being is slightly different in each 
Act, there are synergies to gain, and duplication to avoid by linking the plans.  Local officers 
have been working closely to avoid duplication and identify areas of synergy and joint 
working. Links to CCBC’s Draft Corporate Plan and ABUHB Intermediate Medium Term Plans 
will also need to be established, as well as alignment to the Neighbourhood Care Network 
plans in each of the GP cluster areas. 

 
4.4 The Area Plan and previously the PNA, were developed through extensive engagement with 

regional citizen panel, provider forum and regional executive director leadership group; as well 
as local groups such as youth forum, older people’s forums, carers groups and parenting 
networks.   

 
4.5 Engagement was also supported by CCBC and PSB through the ’The Caerphilly You Want’ 

and groups such as the ’Shout Out Group’.  A survey was developed and completed by 172 
people of which over a third (37%) had a disability, long term illness or health problem.  Some 
key points included: 

  

 Greatest health support needs - Mental health support 

 Greatest social care needs – Integrated care services, information on what is available, 

support for older people (to remain independent), support in the community – facilities 
such as day care, support for adults and children with disabilities, support for those with 
mental health issues – counselling, accessible and affordable 

 Health and social care services required - Ageing population needs to be provided for – 
homecare, joined up approach to health and social care 

 
4.6 Some of the wider regional emerging areas of interest are also set out below and further 

engagement is planned during the consultation period: 
 

 An ageing population brings many opportunities, however there are also challenges for 
service provision and increases in the number of people living with long term conditions. 

 Loneliness is a growing concern. 

 Across the region there are high levels of social capital and volunteering.  By taking an 
asset and placed based approach there is an opportunity to improving well-being. 

 Increasing support is required for Looked After Children across the region 

 Adverse childhood experiences have a negative impact on people’s long term health and 
economic prospects and can be perpetuated through the generations. 

 

Page 184



4.7 The draft Area Plan was presented to Health Social Care and Well-being scrutiny and a 
number of comments were received and will be included in the final Area Plan. 

 
4.8 The Area Plan will have to be signed off and agreed by the Regional partnership Board by 

March 31st 2018 and subsequently published on individual websites.  
 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 The Social Services and Wellbeing Act principles of working are similar to the sustainable 

principles identified under the Well-being of Future Generation Act.  The development of the 
draft Area Plan is consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable 
development principle in the WFG Act in that it is: 

 

 Long-term – It identifies issues that will affect the county borough and region over the next 
3-5 years. 

 Preventative – It sets out preventative action and how acting to prevent problems 
occurring or getting worse will improve local well-being. 

 Integrated – It considers how the issues may impact upon partners and how these are 
interrelated.  

 Collaborative – The Assessment was prepared in collaboration with partner organisations 
with an interest in the well-being of the area. It identifies how acting in collaboration could 
help improve local well-being. 

 Involvement – The Assessment was prepared involving people/organisations, and 
ensuring that those people reflect the diversity of the area. 

 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Promoting equalities is a fundamental requirement of the Social Services and Well-being Act 

legislation and an equality impact assessment will accompany the final Area Plan. 
 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no financial implications related to this report. 
 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Officers from the Gwent Regional Partnership Team have been working closely with Council’s 

Corporate Policy Unit who have played a key part in ensuring the alignment of both the 
regional Area Plan and Well-being Plan required under the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 
and Well-being of Future Generations Act respectively. 

 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 This report has been sent to the Consultees listed below and all comments received are 

reflected in this report. 
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 To note content of the report and recognise the alignment of the draft Area Plan and 

Caerphilly’s Well-being plan (the draft Area Plan is best read as a working draft as there are 
still a number of details to be added such as the Integrated Care Funding profile).   

 

Page 185



 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 To avoid duplication between the Area Plan and Well-being Plan and to explore joint 

processes to maximise partnership working across the Regional Partnership Board and Public 
Services Board. 

 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 Welsh Government. 
 
 
Author:        Phil Diamond, Regional Partnership Team  phil.diamond@torfaen.gov.uk  
Consultees: Dave Street, Corporate Director, Social Services 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1:  Draft Regional Area Plan 
Appendix 2:  Area Plan questionnaire 
 

Page 186

mailto:phil.diamond@torfaen.gov.uk


1 | P a g e  

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

Well-being Area Plan 
 

2018/19 
 

 

 

 

 

 

   
     

 
 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 1

Page 187



2 | P a g e  

 

 

CONTENT 
 
                  Page 
 
Foreword           3 
 
Introduction 
 

 What the Area Plan is and is not       4 

 Developing an integrated system of care and well-being for Gwent  5 

 What is the purpose of the plan?       11 

 Who developed the plan?        12 

 How will we keep track of what we’re doing?     13 
 

 
Part 1 OUTCOMES: Regional Priorities & Core Theme Sections 
 

 Children & Young People        16 

 Older People, including People with Dementia     20 

 Health & Physical Disabilities       25 

 Mental Health          26 

 Learning Disability         30 

 Sensory Loss & Impairment       31 

 Carers          33 
 Autism          37

           

Links to other Strategic Partnership work programmes including Violence   38 
Against Women, Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence 
 
Part 2 PROCESS: Principles of working 
 

 Links to Well-being of Future Generations Act     42 

 Integration          43 

 Joint Commissioning and Pooled Budgets     44 

 Prevention and Early Intervention       45 

 Information, Advice and Assistance       46 

 New models, user led services and third sector working   47 

 Workforce Development        48 

 Advocacy          49 
 
 
 
Annexes  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 188



3 | P a g e  

 

 

FOREWORD 
 
To be added 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 189



4 | P a g e  

 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 

What this draft Area Plan is and what it is not! 
 

 This draft Area Plan sets out the high level outcomes and priorities for 
regional working across health, social care and the third sector. 
 

 It does not contain all priorities as the plan would be too large but focuses on 
areas of work that are ‘larger’ than one partner and require partnership 
working 

 
 It focuses on priorities that have been highlighted by citizens 

 
 It is a starting point for formalised regional working under the Social Services 

and Well-being Act and aligns to the Well-being objectives in local Well-being 
Plans, under the Well-being of Future Generations Act 
 

 It also sets out how the principles of working under the Social Services and 
Well-being Act will be delivered especially in relation to integration and 
preventative working 

 
 It is not a huge collection of detailed actions lifted from partner’s work plans as 

this is duplication; instead the plan will ‘signpost’ to other statutory and 
formalised actions plans where necessary 

 
 It sets out the success measures that will ensure collective accountability 

and effectiveness of partnership working under the Regional Partnership 
Board, 

 
 This Area Plans sets the framework for all health and social care partners to 

work together to a common agenda for now, and in the future.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 190



5 | P a g e  

 

 

Developing an integrated system of care and well-being for Gwent 
 
Delivering integrated services, which improve the well-being of the population of 
Gwent is the shared objective of the Area Plan. This plan establishes our ambition to 
create a unified vision for the health and social care system which includes third 
sector partners and is underpinned by quality, improvement and prevention. 
 
The content of the plan is ambitious, and will be challenging in its delivery; it is 
structured around the 8 core themes from the Population Needs Assessment (PNA) 
and translates the agreed ‘Outcome Priorities’ into ambitious programmes of 
delivery. 
 
Across Gwent, there is already a strong commitment to partnership working to 
deliver effective health and social care services. We want to enhance the range of 
integrated services provided closer to home and within the community, and we want 
to do this in partnership with our communities, our partners in housing and our 
partners in the voluntary sector. The plan articulates how we intend to do this, and 
deliver integrated services, which improve the well-being of the population of Gwent 
over the next three years; it establishes a set of outcomes, measures and milestones 
and appropriate governance arrangements, to provide assurance to the Regional 
Partnership Board and Cabinet Secretary. 
 
Partnership Working 
 
The new legislative framework in Wales, requires a step change in the pace of 
integration, partnership working and collaboration. Whilst many challenges will 
remain in overcoming organisational boundaries, and cultures, a set of shared 
working principles in addition to the principles in the Act have been developed, and 
which provide a foundation for the implementation of the Area Plan. By working in 
collaboration, with a focus on long term sustainability we will transform services, to 
provide more care closer to home, improving well-being, and citizen outcomes. 
Principles of joint working: 

• An integrated approach to planning and service development 

• A shared approach to workforce development and sustainability 

• Development of shared financial arrangements 

• Enabling those with a care and support need to be informed and able to self-
manage their care 

• A seamless service pathway of care which is truly citizen centred 

 

Strategic Context 
 
The Plan has been written to reflect the national direction of travel established in 
Welsh Government’s ‘Prosperity for All’ and to translate the requirements of the 
Social Services and the Well-being (Wales) Act and Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act into deliverable, measurable and substantive action. In line 
with Welsh Government’s ambition outlined in ‘Prosperity for All’ and the new legal 

Page 191



6 | P a g e  

 

 

framework for well-being, there is a clear expectation of service transformation, to 
provide more integrated, sustainable and responsive care and support services. This 
includes an enhanced focus on prevention, early intervention and providing more 
care closer to home and the Area Plan is predicated on these services areas. 
 
The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act provides the new legal framework, 
for the development of a new statutory partnership landscape, in terms of planning, 
designing, funding and commissioning integrated services for those people with a 
care and support need in Gwent. It enables a stronger emphasis to be placed on the 
development of early intervention and prevention services, and promotes wellbeing 
as a priority across the public services. Underpinning the plan are the principles of 
working established in the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act, to ensure 
that in the planning and delivery of services, we are actively considering how the 
wellbeing of future generations is improved. The emphasis on new models of care, 
on ICT and on sustainability, reflect in practice the ambitions of the Act. 
 
As the plan has been developed, it has been done so in tandem with the 
development of the required Public Service Board’s (PSBs) Well-being Plans, to 
ensure duplication is avoided but a clear shared approach to improved well-being is 
established, to this end we will consider a Memorandum of Understanding between 
the PSB’s and the Regional Partnership Board for Well-being, ensuring our activity is 
complementary and aligned. 
 
Critically, the plan aligns with the emerging findings from the Parliamentary review of 
health and social care.  The review found that the case for change in the welsh 
health and social care system was ‘compelling’ with the system needing to adapt to 
the changing population needs of the future. It found that a ‘unified vision for the 
health and social care system’ was required ‘underpinned by quality, improvement 
and prevention'.  The review places an emphasis on the need to develop new 
models of care and the plan confidently articulates the intention to develop a range 
of new models of integrated services, e.g. ‘Integrated Wellbeing Networks’, further 
development of the Neighbourhood Care Networks model – which is unique to 
Gwent – models of care for children with complex needs, ‘Care Closer to Home’ and 
models of rehabilitation for sensory impairment and whole person model for mental 
health crisis. In addition, the infrastructure required to deliver the vision is a 
prominent commitment, with proposals to deliver new urgent care hubs, and primary 
care health and well-being centres including ones in Newport East and Tredegar by 
2021.  
 
Gwent 
 
Gwent, has a varied demography which presents a unique set of challenges in 
delivering both a sustainable and consistent offer of care. The provision of care and 
support in the county is provided by one health board, Aneurin Bevan University 
Health Board (ABUHB), but the social care element is met by five local authorities.  
Each borough has its own challenges however, at a strategic level, they can be 
summarised as:  
 

• Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly and Torfaen – deprived areas with high levels of 
child poverty, poor health and unemployment 

Page 192



7 | P a g e  

 

 

• Monmouthshire – affluent, increasing very elderly population, very rural  

• Newport – pockets of deprivation, high concentration of multi-cultural citizens, 
high demand on public services 

 
With a population of 601,000 by 2036, the Area Plan has focused on responding to 
the areas that matter most to our local population, as derived from the PNA, and 
which the evidence tells us will be areas of increased complexity and demand. This 
includes providing an integrated system of health and social care services for the 
over 65’s population, which is predicted to increase to every 1 in four people, and for 
the over 85 population, where the increase is predicted to spike by 147%. In addition 
there are high levels of poverty and economic deprivation, which result in a particular 
challenge for the prevention and early intervention agenda, and a need to enhance 
community based universal support through the development of more integrated 
working with local government, and a shared emphasis on developing new models of 
care and support.  Some transformative models are now embedding, including 
Neighbourhood Care Networks (NCN’S) and from 2017, the Care Closer to Home 
strategy.  
 
Governance & Assurance 
 
The aspirations encapsulated within this plan are ambitious, and for a step change in 
the pace of collaboration, of partnership working and service transformation. It is 
therefore crucial that there is effective governance and assurance mechanisms in 
place through the Regional Partnership structure.  
 

 
 
Enablers 
 
To deliver the ambition established within this Area Plan for Gwent, there are 
significant areas of challenge which must be overcome, to ensure ambition can be 

Page 193



8 | P a g e  

 

 

translated into reality. Whilst these are dealt with through the specific partnerships as 
overarching themes, it is prudent to identify them at the front of the plan. 
 
A) Information Technology  

There must be a strong emphasis on the ability of IT to help develop enhanced 
services including through the implementation of DEWIS, my health online, SMS 
reminder services, telehealth, telecare, the implementation of WCCIS, development 
of mobile working for professionals and ambulatory diagnostics. The WCCIS 
programme will deliver service redesign for care across health and social care.  
Mobility is being tested out as readiness to WCCIS, as part of patient flow evaluation 
and with corporate departments in the AGILE programme. A business case is being 
developed, this deliverable will be updated once the business case is complete. In 
addition Telehealth Pilots will be delivered for out of hours Care Homes, Prisons and 
Tele-swallowing (speech & language therapy).  The pilots will provide the learning for 
scaling up delivery and support of telehealth solutions.   
 
B) Integrated financial systems and incentives  

The development of a statutory regional board, will enable funding decisions to be 
made strategically and in partnership, for health and social care services, where 
partnership activity is required. Continued austerity has presented challenges for 
both local authorities and health boards in managing demand, whilst investing in new 
services. In line with the spirit of the legislation pooled budget arrangements, will be 
a valuable tool for some services areas, where we can align financial resources with 
outcomes, to create value for the whole system. But this remains an area of 
significant challenge, with governance arrangements and different organisational 
boundaries. As part of the delivery of the plan work will continue to consider how 
across Gwent, resources can be better aligned physically, and virtually to allow for 
mechanisms to allow resources to flow across organisational boundaries to achieve 
change. 
 
C) Workforce 

Ensuring there is a strong and sustainable workforce across health and social care is 
imperative, and that the spirit of the Act is translated into regional shared 
organisational development programmes. This is why in Gwent we have established 
a regional workforce development Board, the Board will work in partnership with the 
four strategic partnerships to ensure that workforce development needs, recruitment 
and retention remain prevalent. Critical challenges will be around the domiciliary care 
workforce and the establishment of ‘integrated multi-disciplinary community teams’. 
 
D) Housing 

Developing new models of care for vulnerable and older adults with complex needs 
is a critical need, it will ensure people are supported to remain in their homes, which 
are developed to accommodate the specific needs of an ageing population. The 
Health, social care and Housing forum, have developed a programme of work which 
will provide leadership and strategic direction from which to develop new service 
specifications, and the development of an older peoples housing needs assessment 
tool is a key step forward. 
 

Page 194



9 | P a g e  

 

 

E) Estates Infrastructure 

There is a need for appropriate, effective and modernised capital infrastructure 
across Gwent, in order to deliver the services described in the plan. Both primary 
care services and adult social care provision present significant challenges, 
alongside questions on future viability. Whilst Integrated Care Funding has provided 
resources, alongside local projects this area remains one where considerable and 
focused activity is required. Integrated capital planning and making better use of the 
public sector estate are necessary, and these are shared issues that will be taken 
forward in partnership with Public Service Boards.  
 
ABUHB Clinical Futures: An integrated system of health, care and well-being 
(including ‘Care Closer to Home’ and Neighbourhood Care Networks) 

 
ABUHB’s ambition is to create a new system of primary, community care and well-
being across Gwent, in partnership with local government and the third sector. They 
aim for people to be able to access the care they need in their own community and 
homes, improving independence and wellbeing, and avoiding the need for 
unnecessary hospital admission.  To do this they will require a radical transformation 
of services, and the development of new models of care, based in the community.  
ABUHB’s vision in is to create a system of primary, community and well-being 
services, based around the Neighbourhood Care Network (NCN) footprint, where 
there is a consistent regional service offer, and effective locality based multi-
disciplinary teams.  A framework has been developed to set out a vision, with a 5 
year programme plan developed from 2018/19 to deliver change. The four stages 
are: 
1. Keeping people healthy and well 

2. Self-care 

3. Primary Care and NCN Team 

4. NCN Hub with specialist and enhanced services 
 
ABUHB we will draw on the findings of the Parliamentary review, recognising their 
expectations of a community focused, seamless service. Integrated commissioning, 
and a clear set of service principles will underpin the development of a consistent 
NCN model 

 Establishing a Gwent wide unified vision for health and social care  

 Increasing the pace of transformative change and integration 

 Developing new models underpinned by the principles of prudent healthcare and 
the Social Services and wellbeing Act 

 
The system is predicated on the shared agreement by both Health and Local 
Government to provide more care closer to home, to reduce a reliance on primary 
care services, and prevent unnecessary hospital admissions.  The system will build 
on the existing innovation across Gwent, and use the NCN footprint, as the basis 
from which services will be planned and delivered, around a model of community 
well-being.  To drive action, a set of 10 high impact actions will be adopted to drive 
forward change, and which are focused on partnership working, the development of 
more productive flows, and the creation of a standard model of multi-disciplinary 
teams.  Taken together, these principles can be translated into high impact actions 

Page 195



10 | P a g e  

 

 

including: 
1. The development of a new model of integrated care predicated on improved 

wellbeing, based on an NCN/IWN footprint 

2. The development of active signposting through Information Advice and Assis-
tance (DEWIS) to empower citizens to make informed choices about their 
healthcare needs and actions 

3. Greater partnership working to deliver a consistent specification for  NCN’s 
across organisational boundaries to provide a seamless pathway to accessible 
local community services 

4. Developing an appropriate skills mix within a modernised and more integrated 
workforce, aligned to the population needs assessments  

5. Enhancing self-care through social prescribing, and new consultation methods in 
line with the principles of prudent health care. 

6. Further pathways establishing secondary care and primary care    
 responsibilities and enhancing the leadership of Primary Care,  
 Particularly for chronic conditions. 

 
Proposed Outcomes for ABUHB Integrated System 

  

 People are identified early if they need care or support and they are prevented 
from ill health or decline in wellbeing wherever possible 

 Improved community to capacity to support improved health behaviours 

 Reduced unnecessary hospital admissions through the provision of integrated 
community capacity, that is responsive and accessible 

 A seamless pathway of care for patients, by integrating social services, health 
and third sector provision at a local level 

 Improving the sharing of information across health and social care 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 196



11 | P a g e  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What is the purpose of the plan? 
 

 
The purpose of the Area Plan is to turn ‘priorities into action’ 

 
 

Population Needs Assessment 
 

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 introduced a duty on local au-
thorities and local health boards to prepare and publish a Population Needs As-
sessment (PNA) of the needs of people requiring care and support, including carers 
who need support.  A code of practice was published to support the PNA process 
and set out 8 core themes for the population assessment 

1. Children & Young People 
2. Older People, including People with Dementia 
3. Health & Physical Disabilities 
4. Mental Health  
5. Learning Disability & Autism 
6. Sensory Loss & Impairment 
7. Carers 
8. Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence 

 
Core themes are not addressed in isolation and there is an element of cross cutting 
working.  In addition to the above, the Regional Partnership Board identified other 
priority themes as cross cutting and include 

 Substance misuse 

 Adult protection, child protection and safeguarding 

 Housing 

 Autism 
 
The PNA code of practice also sets out the statutory duty to undertake an assess-
ment of need across the region, identification of the range and level of services re-
quired and the definition of Well-being, per the Social Services and Well-being Act.  
The regional PNA report also sets out, for each core theme, 

 What we know - what did the population assessment tell us? 
 What we are doing currently doing to address priorities 

 How the priorities meet the principles of the Act and how this fits with well-
being under the Act 

 Who helped us develop the priorities 
 High level key Actions 

 

Page 197



12 | P a g e  

 

 

The PNA report was developed by the Regional Partnership Board and was pub-
lished 1st April 2017 – a full report is included here and includes further detail in rela-
tion to above points, and the matrix used to identify the priorities under each core 
theme. 
 
Area Plan guidance 
 
This Area Plan sets out the response of the Regional Partnership Board to the find-
ings of the regional PNA report and has been prepared to meet the requirements of 
the Statutory Guidance in relation to Area Plans under section 14A of the Social Ser-
vices and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. The Act requires description of the range 
and level of integrated services proposed to be provided or arranged to deliver the 
priorities identified under each of the core themes. As part of this, joint area plans 
must include:  

 the actions partners will take in relation to the priority areas of integration for re-
gional partnership boards;  

 the instances and details of pooled funds to be established in response to the 
population assessment;  

 how services will be procured or arranged to be delivered, including by alternative 
delivery models;  

 details of the preventative services that will be provided or arranged;  

 actions being taken in relation to the provision of information, advice and assis-
tance services; and  

 actions required to deliver services through the medium of Welsh.  
 
Focussed work with minority groups 
 
We have engaged the views of those who would otherwise be hard to reach and 
marginalised including those of minority groups such as homeless people and 
travellers.  We have used existing mechanisms to engage with vulnerable groups 
such as those set out below 

 Looked After Children and young carers 

 People in secure estates and their families 
 Homeless people  
 Lesbian Gay Bisexual Transgender (LGBT) community  
 Black Minority Ethnic groups  
 Military veterans  
 Asylum seekers and refugees 

 
The Area Plan will consider how each of the above groups needs can be addressed 
across the core themes and will also consider separated families and role of fathers.  
An Equality Impact Assessment will accompany the final plan. 
 
 

Who developed the plan? 
 
 

This draft Area Plan has been developed by the Regional Partnership Board through 
engagement with citizens, partners and providers across the region (Blaenau Gwent, 
Caerphilly, Monmouthshire, Newport and Torfaen).  The views of citizens is 

Page 198

https://www.torfaen.gov.uk/en/HealthSocialCare/Strategies-Reports-Legislation/Social-Services-and-Wellbeing-Act/Population-Needs-Assessment.aspx


13 | P a g e  

 

 

paramount to the development of the Area Plan and to ensure the actions identified 
will be effective, and help develop support services required going forward to help 
people support themselves in the future.  The regional citizen panel and provider 
forum have also been key partners in ensuring the identified actions are focussed on 
the needs of citizens and partners. 
 
This Area Plan has been overseen by the Regional Partnership Board and third 
sector partners.  The individual core themes sections have been developed by 
strategic partnerships and supported by the regional Leadership Group.  The 
following strategic groups have coordinated related core theme sections 
 

Strategic Partnership Core Theme 

Children and Families Board Children and Young People 

Older People Strategic Partnership   Older People, Health and Physical 
Disabilities and Sensory Impairment 

Carers Board  
 

Carers 

Mental Health & Learning Disabilities 
Partnership 

Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and 
Autism 

VAWDASV Partnership Board Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse 
& Sexual Violence 
 

 
Other strategic partnerships such as: 

 Area Planning Board,  

 Safeguarding Boards and the  

 Health, Social Care and Housing Partnership  
 
will also play a lead role in ensuring cross cutting themes such as substance misuse, 
safeguarding and housing are aligned in this Area Plan.  The Regional Partnership 
Board (RPB) will set the partnership framework for the above partnerships to link, 
align priorities and avoid duplication. 
 
 

How we keep track of what we’re doing 
 
 

It is crucial that the RPB monitor and evaluate the core theme action plan sections to 
ensure effective governance.  Each core theme section will set out success 
measures to be reported to the RPB and a performance management framework 
and reporting structure will accompany the Area Plan and set out 

 Position statement – where we are and the curves we have turned 

 Progress factors – story behind the curves 

 Successes – good practice identified 

 Challenges – barriers to progress 

 Next steps – what the RPB are being asked to support 
 
 
What is being done elsewhere in the region and how do we know it is being 

Page 199



14 | P a g e  

 

 

addressed? 
 

The RPB will align the performance management process with existing reporting 
frameworks (Area Planning Board, VAWDASV Board, Safeguarding Boards) to 
ensure priorities are being supported.  The PRB will also explore governance 
arrangements and shared reporting with local Public Service Boards to ensure 
effective alignment across the Area Plan and 5 Well-being plans. 
 
Performance measures 
  
The success measures identified in the core theme sections reflect performance 
measures in the National Outcome Framework and Public Health Outcome 
Framework.  The RPB will also reference and align to the performance measures in 
local Well-being Plans and Local Authority Improvement Plans; and consider data 
development through the implementation of the Area Plan as some success 
measures may not be currently measured. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 200



15 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part 1 OUTCOMES:  

Regional Priorities,  

 & Core Theme Sections

Page 201



16 | P a g e  

 

 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  
 To improve outcomes for children and young people with complex needs through earlier intervention, community based 

support and placements closer to home & 
 To ensure good mental health and emotional well-being for children young people through effective partnership work-

ing (priority under Mental Health core theme) 

 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 

 

NATIONAL OUTCOME FRAMEWORK measures 

Priority 1 (below) 

 Proportion of looked after children per local authority area 

 Proportion of looked after children placed in different types of accommodation per 10,000 of under 18 population 

 The percentage of children supported to remain living within their family 

 The percentage of looked after children returned home from care during the year 

 The percentage of looked after children who have experienced (1) or more changes of school, during a period or periods of being looked 

after, which were not due to transitional arrangements, in the year to 31 March 

 

Priority 2 (below) 

 The percentage of re-registrations of children on local authority Child Protection Registers (CPR)  

 The average length of time for all children who were on the CPR during the year 

 Number of children assessments of need for care and support undertaken during the year and of those, the number that led to a care and 

support plan 

 Number of requests for repeat assessment of need for care and support and need for support made by a child, young carer or person with 

parental responsibility during the year Of those, the number of repeat assessments undertaken Of those, the number of repeat assess-

ments that led to a care and support plan or support plan 

 

P
age 202



17 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

Priority 3 (below) 

 Number of ACE awareness/training sessions 

 Number of Information Advice and Assistance contacts 

 ACE related programme measures (TBC) 
 

 

QUALITATIVE QUESTIONNAIRE – below measures are currently measured using national survey but are subject to review.   
 Young adults reporting they received advice, help and support to prepare them for adulthood 

 Children and young people reporting that they are happy with who they live with 

P
age 203



18 | P a g e  

 

 

(WHAT we are 
doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales / 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including 
ICF projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Support Children 
and Family Partner-
ship Board’s review 
of local arrange-
ments for children 
with complex needs 
and delivery of work 
programme with a 
focus on Looked Af-
ter Children. 

Children & 
Family Board 
 
 
 

Respond to recommendations in consultant reports and 
implement appropriate next steps 

 Cordis Bright - Research on children & young people 
with escalating & complex needs 

o Recruitment of (and potentially use of) foster 
carers.  

o Supporting children who are experiencing at-
tachment and trauma based problems.  

o More in-region residential care.  
 Institute of Public Care – Development of 

accommodation and support for care leavers with 
complex needs and regional Integrated Implementation 
Plan.  Considerations in relation to 

o Emergency, respite and crisis accommodation 
o Practical and psychological therapeutic support 
o Expand the provision of suitable move-on 

accommodation 
 
Develop business case and appropriate service models (to 

include mechanism to identify cohort) where required  
 
Review and coordinate integration and alignment of existing 
programmes e.g Integrated Family Support Services 
 
Explore new programmes e.g. Roots of Empathy 
 

April 2019 ICF funded 
projects to be 
confirmed  

Working 
Pathway step 
up and step 
down in a 
planned way 
 
Increased 
investment in 
children’s 
services 

P
age 204



19 | P a g e  

 

 

Consistent models 
of practice and 
alignment of Welsh 
Government’s early 
intervention and 
preventative pro-
grammes including 
development and 
delivery of a regional 
ACE approach with a 
focus on earlier in-
tervention and men-
tal health support for 
children and young 
people through 
community based 
assets. 

Regional 
Partnership 
Board & 
Public 
Service 
Boards 

 Explore consistent use of Social Services and Well-
being Act assessment principles across all pro-
grammes to aid ‘pass porting’ of assessments across 
agencies and local authority boundaries 

 Explore joint commissioning across all programmes  

 Align and develop joint training across programme 
workforces with common language and awareness 

 Explore consistent resilience model across the region 

 Link to ‘Flexible Funding’ pilot sites to explore good 
practice in maximising funding across prevention pro-
grammes 

 
Develop a regional approach for organisations to become 
ACE aware and aligned to national ACE hub programme 
and to include 

 ACE awareness 

 ACE prevention/detection including the use of an ACE 
‘lens’ when undertaking risk assessment included as 
part of assessment process 

 Develop and strengthen existing trauma services to 
ensure effective ACE intervention 
 

April 2019 N/A See success 
measures 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All PSBs 
commit to 
becoming ACE 
aware 
 
Number of 
ACE 
awareness 
sessions and 
training 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 205



20 | P a g e  

 

 

OLDER PEOPLE (1) 

 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  
To improve emotional well-being for older people by reducing loneliness and social isolation with earlier intervention and 
community resilience   
 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 

 
NATIONAL OUTCOME FRAMEWORK measures 

1. The percentage of unscheduled admissions of older people (aged 65 or over) to hospital who were receiving care and support services 
2. The rate of delayed transfers of care for social care reasons per 1,000 population aged 75 or over 
3. The percentage of adults at the end of a completed period of reablement phase who: 

a. have no package of care and support 6 months later 
b. have no package of care and support 12 months later 

4. The percentage of adults who have received advice and assistance and have not contacted social services for 6 months for the same out-
come during the year 

5. The percentage of people supported to remain in their own home with a home adaptation 

 
QUALITATIVE QUESTIONNAIRE – below measures are currently measured using national survey but are subject to review.   
1. I have been treated with dignity and respect (aged 10+);  
2. I have received the right information, advice or assistance when I have needed it (aged 10+); 
3. I have been given written information about a named team in social services (aged 10+); 
4. I have been involved in decisions made about my care and support (aged 10+); 
5. The care and support I have received has helped me to live in a home that is right for me (aged 10+); 
6. The care and support I have received has helped me to do the things that matter to me (aged 10+); 
7. The care and support I have received has helped me to feel safe (aged 10+); 
8. The care and support I have received has helped me to feel like I belong to my community (aged 18+). 
 

 

P
age 206



21 | P a g e  

 

 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

 

Develop place based 
approach ‘Care Closer to 
Home’ including 
consistent delivery of 
community connectors 
across the region to 
reduce social isolation 

Adult Strategic 
Partnership 
 
 

Development of a placed-based approach via 
Care Closer to Home Strategy which will 
include a focus on social isolation & include 
 Develop a sustainable work force. 
 Links to Housing Associations 
 Support to carers 
 To develop health and well-being hubs 
 To identify opportunities to "shift" care from 

secondary services to primary care, 
providing care closer to home. 

 
Frailty Service - The future direction is captured 
as part of Care Closer To Home strategy.  As 
the Borough action plans develop, the 
contribution of the Frailty service will need to be 
incorporated as part of the range of interventions 
available in each Neighbourhood Care Network 
and Borough. This development will tackle the 
“stand alone” issues. 
 
Continuing Health Care and Gwent Wide 
Integrated Community Equipment. Services 
(GWICES) action plans to be aligned to Care 
Closer to Home 

Final CC2H 
draft near 
completion 
and Health 
Board sign-off 
(Sept 2017) 
Local Councils 
sign-off (Nov 
2017)  
Links to the 
Regional 
 
 
 

ICF funded projects 
to be confirmed 

Workforce 
Development 
Partnership 
and the 
development 
of a regional 
workforce 
strategy and 
the work of 
Social Care 
Wales. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 207



22 | P a g e  

 

 

OLDER PEOPLE (2) 

 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  

 To improve outcomes for people living with dementia and their carers 

 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 

 
1. Number of people receiving Dementia Friends awareness 
2. Number of Dementia Champions trained 
3. Number of organisations awarded Dementia Friendly Community kitemark 
4. Increase dementia diagnosis rate 
5. Number of people living with dementia and their carers supported through Dementia Support Workers and reporting positive support 

 
*Welsh Government will be launching a new national Dementia Strategy and success measures will be updated accordingly 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

 

Further develop 
‘Dementia Friendly 
Communities’ 
 

Dementia Board Dementia Board coordinates delivery of work 
programme* and is currently reviewing to align 
with new national dementia strategy with a focus 
on 

 Dementia diagnosis 

 Training 

 Dementia Friendly Communities 

 Accurate information and advice 

 Support for carers 
 
*Dementia Board programme plan to be 
published alongside Area Plan to provide 
more details. 

TBC – 
awaiting WG 
sign off of 
national 
strategy 

 Dementia 
Board review 
work 
programme as 
standing 
agenda 

 

P
age 208



23 | P a g e  

 

 

OLDER PEOPLE (3) 

 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  

 Appropriate housing and accommodation for older people 

 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
 
*Success measures will be included and reflect Health, Housing & Social Care Partnership programme of work 
 
 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

 

Develop and implement 
Health, Housing and 
Social Care Partnership 
delivery plan 
 

Health, Housing 
and Social Care 
(HHSC) 
Partnership 

The Health, Housing and Social Care 
Partnership are updating their delivery 
programme in line with the regional Population 
Needs Assessment with the main focus of 
activity 

 Older Persons wellbeing and housing needs  

 Analysis of current older person specialist 
accommodation provision 

 Priority regional accommodation needs 
identified by Children & Families Partnership 

 Priority regional accommodation needs 
identified by LD & MH Partnership 

 Analysis and evidence base for ICF capital 
projects linked to the above 

 
 
*HHSC programme plan to be published 
alongside Area Plan to provide more details. 

TBC in work 
programme 

TBC in work 
programme 

TBC in work 
programme 

 

P
age 209



24 | P a g e  

 

 

 

HEALTH & PHYSICAL DISABILITIES (1) 

 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  
 To support disabled people through an all age approach to live independently in appropriate accommodation and ac-

cess community based services, including transport. 

 
HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
 

* Measures to be included and reflect Care Closer to Home Strategy 
** Measures will reflect ICF projects e.g. Community Connectors 
*** To include quantitative measures from national survey where relevant 
 
(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Implement ‘Care Closer 
to Home’ Strategy 

Adult Strategic 
Partnership 
 
 

See Older People section above. 
 
 
 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 210



25 | P a g e  

 

 

HEALTH & PHYSICAL DISABILITIES (2) 

 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  
 Align with 5 local Wellbeing Assessments required under Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and explore joint action 

planning for wider detriments to health 
 
 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
 

*Success measures will link to 5 Well-being Assessments and Well-being Plans required under the WFG Act – to be included following 
publication of draft plans 
**Link to Public Health Outcome Framework 

 
(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Align with 5 local Wellbe-
ing Assessments re-
quired under Wellbeing of 
Future Generations Act 
and explore joint action 
planning for wider detri-
ments to health 
 

Regional 
Partnership Board 

Align this area plan with Public Service Board 
Well-being Plans to ensure objectives are 
aligned and avoid duplication 

 Map priorities across plans 
 Identify which board is best placed to 

deliver priorities 
 Develop common action planning and 

outcome framework 
 Develop governance and reporting 

framework between boards 
 Explore joint development/workshop 

sessions 

April 18 N/A TBC 

 

 

P
age 211



26 | P a g e  

 

 

MENTAL HEALTH (1) 
 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  

 To improve emotional well-being and mental health for adults and children through early intervention and community 
support. 

 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
There are a number of measures included in the national strategy ‘Together for Mental Health Delivery Plan 2016/19’ and the Mental Health 
& Learning Disability Partnership will identify key measures to be included in the Area Plan including qualitative measures. 
 
Public Health Outcome Framework 

 Mental well-being among adults  

 Mental well-being among children and young people - Not currently available 

 The gap in life expectancy at birth between the most and least deprived - Not currently available 

 The gap in healthy life expectancy at birth between the most and least deprived - Not currently available 

 Gap in mental well-being among children and young people - Not currently available 
 The gap in mental well-being between the most and least deprived among adults - Not currently available 

 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales / 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including 
ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Review and align regional 
strategies to Together for 
Mental Health Delivery 
plan 

Mental Health & 
Learning Disability 
Partnership 
 
 
 

The MH&LD Partnership are currently reviewing 
the regional Mental Health Strategy and will set 
out how priorities in  

 ‘Together for Mental Health’ 

 ‘Talk 2 Me’ and 
 ‘Together for Children and Young People’ 

April 18 TBC To be identified 
in new regional 
strategy  

P
age 212



27 | P a g e  

 

 

Coordination of con-
sistent community based 
services such as com-
munity connectors/social 
prescribers 

Heads of Adult 
Services, ABUHB 
officers 

Respond to recommendations from Integrated 
Care Funding (ICF) evaluation of community 
connecter projects across the region. 
 
To align with ‘Ffrind I Mi’ befriending programme 

April 2018 TBC TBC 
 
 
 
Number of 
Befrienders 
trained 
Number of 
people 
supported by 
befriender 

Multi-agency place based 
models which include 
wider partners such as 
Housing Associations, 
employment support and 
community programmes 

ABUHB/ Integrated 
Partnership Boards/ 
 
Neighbourhood 
Care 
Networks/Housing 
Social Care 
Network 

Development of a placed-based approach via 
Care Closer to Home Strategy which will include 
a focus on social isolation & include 
 Develop a sustainable work force 
 Links to Housing Associations 
 Support to carers 
 To develop health and well-being hubs 
 To identify opportunities to "shift" care from 

secondary services to primary care, providing 
care closer to home. 

 

Final CC2H 
draft near 
completion and 
Health Board 
sign-off (Sept 
2017) 
Local Councils 
sign-off (Nov 
2017)  
 

TBC To be identified 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 213



28 | P a g e  

 

 

MENTAL HEALTH (2) 
 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  

 Increased understanding and awareness of mental health amongst the public to reduce stigma and help people to seek 
support earlier. 

 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
  
There are a number of measures included in the national strategy ‘Together for Mental Health Delivery Plan 2016/19’ and the Mental Health 
& Learning Disability Partnership will identify key measures to be included in the Area Plan.   
 
NATIONAL OUTCOME FRAMEWORK Relevant performance indicators 

 The percentage of adults who have received support from the information, advice and assistance service and have not contacted the 
service again during the year 

 
QUALITATIVE QUESTIONNAIRE – below measures are currently measured using national survey but are subject to review.  Success measures 
to include quality measures 

 People reporting they have received the right information or advice when they needed it  

 People reporting they have received care and support through their language of choice  

 People reporting they were treated with dignity and respect 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 214



29 | P a g e  

 

 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales / 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including 
ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Accurate Information, 
Advice and Assistance 
through DEWIS and Five 
Ways to Wellbeing 

DEWIS regional 
group & GAVO & 
TVA 
 
Public Service 
Boards 

 DEWIS regional group will continue to 
coordinate accurate IAA with a focus on 
mental health 

 Continue to deliver 5 ways to well-being and 
consider roll-out in schools 

 Consider a communication campaign to raise 
awareness of mental health amongst public 
and in schools 

TBC TBC Number of 
DEWIS 
website hits 
 
Number of 
people 
accessing 5 
Ways to Well-
being 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 215



30 | P a g e  

 

 

PEOPLE WITH LEARNING DISABILITIES 

 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  
 To support people with learning disabilities to live independently with access to early intervention services in the 

community; and greater public awareness and understanding of people with learning disabilities needs 
 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 

 
To be identified through review of regional Mental Health & Learning Disability strategy. 
 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Support Mental Health 
and Learning Disability 
Partnership Board review 
Gwent Strategy for Adults 
with a Learning Disability 
2012/17 and set out key 
regional commissioning, 
integration actions  
 

Mental Health & 
Learning Disability 
Partnership 
 
 
 

The MH&LD Partnership are currently reviewing 
the regional Learning Disability Strategy and will 
identify key actions and progress measures. 
 
 

 
 

April 18 TBC To be 
identified in 
new regional 
strategy  

 

 

 

P
age 216



31 | P a g e  

 

 

SENSORY IMPAIREMENT 
 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  
 Ensure people are supported through access to accurate information, assistance and  ‘rehabilitation’ where required 

and to include the need to Improve emotional well-being especially through peer to peer support 
 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 
 

The percentage of adults who have received support from the information, advice and assistance service and have not contacted the service 

again during the year (National Outcome Framework) 

 

QUALITATIVE QUESTIONNAIRE – below measures are currently measured using national survey but are subject to review.   
1. People reporting that they live in the right home for them  

2. People reporting they can do what matters to them 

3. People reporting that they feel safe  

4. People reporting that they feel a part of their community  

5. People reporting they feel satisfied with their social networks  

6. People reporting they have received the right information or advice when they needed it  

7. People reporting they were treated with dignity and respect  

8. Young adults reporting they received advice, help and support to prepare them for adulthood  

9. People with a care and support plan reporting that they have been given written  information of their named worker in social services  

10. People reporting they felt involved in any decisions made about their care and support  

11. People who are satisfied with care and support that they received  

12. Parents reporting that they felt involved in any decisions made about their child’s care and support  

P
age 217



32 | P a g e  

 

 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales / 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including 
ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Use good practice and 
effective pathways to de-
velop regional commis-
sioning principles 

Integrated Eye 
Care Collaborative 
Board 
 

 
 

Deliver Integrated Eye Care Collaborative Board 
regional programme 
 
Link to regional commissioning group 
 
 
 

 
 

TBC TBC TBC 

Ensure accurate, acces-
sible and timely Infor-
mation, Advice and As-
sistance through DEWIS 
and other means 

DEWIS regional 
group & GAVO & 
TVA 
 
 

 DEWIS regional group will continue to 
coordinate accurate IAA with a focus on 
sensory impairment 

 

TBC TBC Number of 
DEWIS 
website hits 
 
 

Work in partnership with 
third sector to identify 
new models to support 
rehabilitation process 
and supply of low vision 
tools. 

GAVO/TVA TBC TBC TBC TBC 

 

 

 

P
age 218



33 | P a g e  

 

 

CARERS 
 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  
o Support carers to care through flexible respite, access to accurate information, peer to peer support and effective care 

planning 
o Improve well-being of young carers and young adult carers through an increased public understanding (this is a priority 

highlighted in Together For Mental Health) 
 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS 
  
NATIONAL OUTCOME FRAMEWORK Relevant performance indicators: 

 The percentage of adults who have received advice and assistance and have not contacted social services for 6 months for the same out-
come during the year 

 Number of assessments of need for support for carers undertaken during the year 
a. Of those, the number that led to a support plan 
b. Number of carers who refused an assessment during the year 

 
QUALITATIVE QUESTIONNAIRE – below measures are currently measured using national survey but are subject to review.  
Success measures to include quality measures 
 I have been treated with dignity and respect (aged 10+);  

 I have received the right information, advice or assistance when I have needed it (aged 10+); 

 The care and support I have received has helped me to do the things that matter to me (aged 10+); 

 Carers reporting they feel supported to continue in their caring role  

 Carers reporting they felt involved in designing the care and support plan for the person that they care for 
 

 Further quantitative measures to be identified by Carer’s Reference Group 
 

P
age 219



34 | P a g e  

 

 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales / 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including 
ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Coordination of con-
sistent community based 
services such as com-
munity connectors/social 
prescribers to identify 
and support carers 

Lead Partner: 
Heads of Adult 
Services, ABUHB 
officers 

 Respond to recommendations from Integrated 
Care Funding (ICF) evaluation of community 
connecter projects across the region. 

 

April 2018 ICF  Number or 
people 
supported 
through 
community 
connectors 

 Qualitative 
measures 
TBC 

Accurate Information, 
Advice and Assistance 
through DEWIS and Five 
Ways to Wellbeing 

DEWIS regional 
group & GAVO & 
TVA 
 
Public Service 
Boards 

 DEWIS regional group will continue to 
coordinate accurate IAA with a focus on 
carers 

 Continue to deliver 5 ways to well-being and 
consider roll-out in schools to target young 
carers 

 Consider a communication campaign to raise 
awareness of carers amongst public and in 
schools to identify young carers 

 Review local authority IAA ‘front doors’ 
performance management information and 
identify good practice and lessons learnt 1 
year on. 

Ongoing 
 
 
 

TBC through 
consultation 
exercise 

 Number of 
DEWIS 
website 
hits 

 

 Number of 
people 
accessing 
5 Ways to 
Well-being 

Ensure that the 
implementation of the 
care closer to home 
strategy increases the 
community level support 
for carers 

ABUHB/ 
Integrated 
Partnership 
Boards/ 
 
Neighbourhood 
Care 
Networks/Housing 
Social Care 

Development of a placed-based approach via 
Care Closer to Home Strategy which will include 
a focus on social isolation & include 
 Develop a sustainable work force 
 Links to Housing Associations 
 Support to carers 
 To develop health and well-being hubs 
 To identify opportunities to "shift" care from 

secondary services to primary care, providing 

Final CC2H 
draft near 
completion and 
Health Board 
sign-off (Sept 
2017) 
Local Councils 
sign-off (Nov 
2017)  

TBC through 
consultation 
exercise 

To be identified 

P
age 220



35 | P a g e  

 

 

Network care closer to home.  

Review of and align third 
sector commissioning 
principles to support 
befriending for carers 
requiring support 

ABUHB & 
Regional 
Commissioning 
Group 

Work with Third Sector Partner 

 Carers Trust South East Wales (cross re-
gion survey of young adult carers and devel-
opment of a sustainable model for supporting 
young carers in school); 

 Barnardos Cymru (scoping a regional Young 
Carers ID Card Scheme); 

 Dewis Centre for Independent Living (de-
veloping an evidence base for a regional ad-
vocacy for carers service model). 

Befriending 

 Support ABUHB rollout  ‘Ffrind I Mi’ 
befriending programme across partners and 
consider inclusion through wider regional 
commissioning priorities. 

 

April 2018 TBC through 
consultation 
exercise 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 No of 
people 
supported 
by 
befriender 

 No of 
Befrienders 
trained 

Consistent 
commissioning across 
health and social care to 
ensure equitable, region 
wide and effective 
models of carer support 
including  

 flexible respite 

 Training and 
awareness 

 Support to Young 
Carers 

 Advocacy provision 

Regional 
Commissioning 
Group 

 Welsh Government will be reviewing respite at 
a national level through new Dementia 
Strategy 

 Respond to national recommendations 

 Develop regional task and finish group 

 Rollout of small grants scheme 
 

 
 

TBC through 
consultation 
exercise 

TBC through 
consultation 
exercise 

TBC through 
consultation 
exercise 
 
 

 No of staff 
trained 

 Sustaining staff awareness raising and train-
ing of staff 

 Consider bronze level Investors in Carers (IiC) 
scheme across GP 

 

P
age 221



36 | P a g e  

 

 

 Rollout of Young Carers in Schools Award 
Scheme and Young Carers ID Card Scheme 

 

Advocacy for Carers 

 Develop a regional advocacy service model 
and service specification linked to 
Independent Professional Advocacy (IPA) for 
adults and ‘Golden Thread of Advocacy’ 
national model service specification for 
advocacy.   

  

Review of medical 
prompting to better 
support carers 

Carers Board  Develop task and finish group to develop 
scope 

 Consider development of new models and 
assisted technology to support carers in the 
community 

TBC through 
consultation 
exercise 

TBC through 
consultation 
exercise 

 T&F group 
established 
with Terms 
of 
Reference 

 Scoping 
report  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 222



37 | P a g e  

 

 

PEOPLE WITH AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS 

 
Regional Priority / Outcome:  

 To provide more timely diagnosis of Autistic Spectrum Disorder and access to support services and information and 
advice 

 

HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS 

TBC through new regional strategy but will consider 

 Reduction in waiting time for adult diagnostic assessment  

 Adults with autism who do not have a learning disability and/or moderate – severe mental health difficulty access to multi-disciplinary health in-
terventions 

 Children with a diagnosis have access to support and interventions 

 Adults with a diagnosis of ASD (who do not have an LD and/or moderate – severe mental health difficulty)  access to post diagnostic support & in-
terventions 

 Individuals with autism and their families have direct access to specialist support through a self-referral model 

 Increasing awareness of service (number of referrals) 

 Parents, carers and families of individuals with autism access advice, information and support. 
 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

P
age 223



38 | P a g e  

 

 

Local implementation of 
Welsh Strategic Action 
Plan including 
development of new 
Integrated Autism 
Service. 

New Regional ASD 
Strategy Group 

The development of the Integrated Autism 
Service is the main delivery objective of the 
refreshed ASD Strategic Action Plan which will 
include 
 debvelopment of a Regional Strategy Group 
 

 post diagnostic support & interventions for 
children/parents of children with autism 

 

 training program for parents/carers of 
children with autism. 

 

 Analysis of regional data 

 
 
 

TBC TBC TBC 

P
age 224



39 | P a g e  

 

 

LINKS WITH OTHER PARTNERSHIPS 

 

Violence Against Women Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) 
Board. 
 

The Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015 
focusses on the prevention of issues, the protection of victims and support for those 
affected by such issues.  Welsh Ministers are required to prepare and publish a Na-
tional Strategy in relation to these matters and appoint a National Adviser on Vio-
lence against Women and other forms of Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse 
and Sexual Violence.  Relevant authorities are required to prepare and publish strat-
egies to contribute to the pursuit of the purpose of the Act.  A South East Wales 
VAWDASV Board has been established and supported by a VAWDASV regional 
team.  The board has identified a number of emerging regional priorities and the 
RPB will support the work of the VAWDASV Board in achieving the required out-
comes. 
  

 Strategic Priority 1: Increase awareness and challenge attitudes of violence 
against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence across Gwent. 

 Strategic Priority 2: Increase awareness in children and young people of the 
importance of safe, equal and healthy relationships and that abusive behaviour is 
always wrong  

 Strategic Priority 3: Increase focus on holding perpetrators to account and pro-
vide opportunities to change their behaviour based around victim safety 

 Strategic Priority 4: Make early intervention and prevention a priority  
 Strategic Priority 5: Relevant professionals are trained to provide effective, 

timely and appropriate responses to victims and survivors  
 Strategic Priority 6: Provide victims with equal access to appropriately re-

sourced, high quality, needs led, strength based, gender responsive services 
throughout the region. 

 

Area Planning Board 
 
The substance misuse Gwent Area Planning Board Board works across the Gwent 
region to reduce substance misuse through a combination of education, prevention, 
treatment and rehabilitation.  The current priorities the board are working to address 
are below and the RPB will work in partnership to avoid duplication and create a 
synergism across partners. 
 
Priorities 

 Improving emergency service substance misuse training and Naloxone roll 
out  

 Increasing alcohol provision both in terms of treatment and education 

 Improved primary prevention  

 Co-occurring mental health and substance misuse  

 Improved housing options 

 Securing capital estates funding (impact to service delivery if reduced) 
 
 

Page 225



40 | P a g e  

 

 

 
Safeguarding Boards 
 
As of the 6th April 2016, the Gwent-wide Adult Safeguarding Board and South east 
Wales Safeguarding Children Board became statutory boards as set out in the Social 
Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014. The boards were formed in 2011 cover-
ing the local authority areas of Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Monmouthshire, Newport 
and Torfaen.  Both boards have developed work programmes which ensuring the 
continued effectiveness of safeguarding practice during the implementation and 
transition of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  The individual 
priorities are set out below and the RPB will support the delivery of priorities through 
joint working. 

 
Adult Board Priorities 
 Targeting Interventions towards adults who are at risk of specific types of abuse  
 Improving the Quality of Care across the region  
 Improving the effectiveness of the Regional Adult Safeguarding Board  
 
Children Board Priorities 
 Reducing the effects of compromised parenting on children’s well-being 

 Improving our work with adolescents who exhibit risky behaviours  
 Improving the effectiveness of the Regional Safeguarding Children Board  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 226



41 | P a g e  

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Part 2 PROCESS: 

Principles of working  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 227



42 | P a g e  

 

 

 

Links with Public Service Boards under the Well-being of Future Generations 
Act 

 
The Social Services and Well-being Act (the Act) shares similar principles with a 
number of national strategies and legislation.  However, the Act shares almost 
identical principles with the Well-being of Future Generations Act with the main 
difference between the acts being the time frame: the Area Plan under the Act 
reflects the Population Needs Assessment and covers a 3-5 year period based on 
electoral cycle and the Well-being Assessment under the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act covers a suggested period of 20-30 years. 
 

Social Services and Well-being Act 
Principles 

Sustainable Principles: Well-being of 
Future Generations 

Services will promote the prevention of 
escalating need and the right help is 
available at the right time 
 

Prevention: How acting to prevent 
problems occurring or getting worse  
 

Partnership and co-operation drives 
service delivery 
 

Collaboration: how acting in 
collaboration with any other person or 
any other part of an organisation could 
help meet wellbeing objectives  
 

Integration: Consider how the 
proposals will impact on wellbeing 
objectives, wellbeing goals, other 
objectives or those of other public 
bodies 
 

People are at the heart of the new 
system by giving them an equal say in 
the support they receive 
 

Involvement: The importance of 
involving people with an interest in 
achieving the wellbeing goals, and 
ensuring that those people reflect the 
diversity of local communities. 
 

The Act supports people who have care 
and support needs to achieve well-
being 

 

Long term: the importance of balancing 
short- term needs with the need to 
safeguard the ability to also meet long – 
term needs  
 

 

A strategic network of PSB managers and partners has been established to ensure 
good practice is shared when developing individual Well-being Plans and an 
opportunity for PSBs to undertake joint planning against regional priorities.  The 
Gwent Strategic Well-being Assessment Group (GSWAG) includes wider partners 
from Gwent Police, Public Health Wales, Welsh government and South Wales Fire 
Service.  The Regional Partnership Team is also represented on the group and 
promoting a consistent approach to the plans where they can easily be read and 

Page 228



43 | P a g e  

 

 

referenced in tandem to promote alignment.   Appendix 1 sets out a mapping of Well-
being Plan priorities against the Area Plan and a common definition of terms used 
across the plans – which could be the basis of a Memorandum of Understanding.  
Going forward an alignment of success measures will be required with the ultimate 
aim to avoid duplication across the plans and apportion priorities across the RPB 
and PSBs.   

 

Integration: Why we are taking an integrated approach?   

 

The Well-being of Future Generations Act sets out integration as one of five 
sustainable development principles however there is no set definition for ‘Integration’ 
under the Social Services and Well-being Act or supporting codes of practice.  Under 
Part 9 of the Act Regional Partnership Boards (RPB) are required to prioritise the 
integration of services in relation to: 

 Older people with complex needs and long term conditions, including dementia. 
 People with learning disabilities. 
 Carers, including young carers. 
 Integrated Family Support Services. 
 Children with complex needs due to disability or illness. 
 

For the purpose of this Area Plan the Regional Partnership Board will adopt a 
principle of integration based on the following areas of working 

 Joint commissioning of services and pooled budgets 

 Joint workforce development and training 

 Consistent and portable assessment processes including outcome and dis-
tance travelled toolkits 

 Co-located teams 

 Sharing of resources 

 Similar understanding of information provision and consistent key mes-
sages to citizens 

 

The above definition of integration will be adopted when implementing the Area Plan 
and there is an expectation that the strategic partnerships charged with 
implementing the Area Plan will consider the above areas of work when delivering 
actions to achieve the identified outcomes.  

Page 229



44 | P a g e  

 

 

REGIONAL JOINT COMMISSIONING PRIORITIES 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Implement Regional Joint 
Commissioning Group  
 (RJCG) action plan to 
deliver joint 
commissioning 
arrangements for 
identified priorities for 
Act Part 9 requirements. 

Regional Joint 
Commissioning 
Group  
 
 

Regional group developed and Governance, 
Terms of Reference and outline Project Plan 
agreed.  Regional Partnership Board 
appraised.  Member briefing drafted 
 
Task & finish Groups and their briefs established 
- Finance Modelling and alignment of 
commissioning functions. Stakeholder 
engagement.  Section 33 Agreement and 
appointment of Pooled Fund Manager. 

 
Final Section 33 Arrangement for Care Homes 
for Older People selected and agreed by RPB 
 
 
 

Completed 
September 
2017 
 
 
December 
2017 
 
April 2018 
 
 
April 2018 

 Completed 
Completed 
 
 
April 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
January RPB 
will 
recommend 
decision to 
Councils and 
Health Board 

Develop domiciliary care 
joint commissioning 
process with National 
Commissioning Board 
and linked to Care 
Standards Social 
Improvement Wales 
‘Above and Beyond’ 
Report and the ‘Care and 
Support at Home’ 
Strategic Plan currently 
being developed by 
Social Care Council for 
Wales. 
 

 Develop regional approaches where it makes 

sense to do so: Medication and Falls policies, 

feasibility of developing a local social care 

academy, workforce challenges and alignment 

of contact management functions 

Initial review 
report 
completed. 
Work streams 
being 
progressed by 
end of 2017 
 
Interim report 
due early 2018 

  

P
age 230



45 | P a g e  

 

 

Continue to link with Na-
tional Commissioning 
Board to progress na-
tional work priorities and 
proposals across the re-
gion 

National 
Commissioning 
Board 

To consider recommendations from NCB and 
respond as a region 

TBC TBC TBC 

 

 

Prevention and Early Intervention 
 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Explore a single preven-
tion agenda across the 
region with PSBs and 
linked to Wellbeing of 
Future Generations and 
SSWB Acts which also 
includes Housing Asso-
ciations. 

RPB and PSB 
Health Housing and 
Social Care 
Partnership 

Develop a task and finish group to identify 
common principles of prevention 

Sept 2018 N/A Report 
submitted to 
RPB, PSBs 
and G7 group 

Align anti-poverty pro-
grammes across the re-
gion to set out a single 
preventative model based 
on consistent assess-
ment principles, joint 
workforce and joint 
commissioning 

See Children and Young People section 

Through the implementa-
tion of the ‘Care Closer to 
Home’ strategy ensure 
that prevention and early 

See Older People section 

P
age 231



46 | P a g e  

 

 

intervention is supported 
and enabled in a con-
sistent manner across 
the region 
Delivery of Regional Joint 
Commissioning Group  
(RJCG) work plan with 
third sector to maximise 
and align activity to pre-
vent escalation of need 
and build on existing 
models of good practice 
such as befriending, so-
cial prescribing etc. and 
to promulgate the devel-
opment of social enter-
prises and co-operatives 
where possible. 

RPB GAVO and 
TVA 

*Work has started but will need to be revisited 
within year 2 of the Area Plan as limited capacity 
amongst partners 

TBC   

Support Early Years Path-
finder pilot and use key 
messages to shape early 
intervention models 

Early Years 
Pathfinder group 

 Identify key messages and good practice 
from pathfinder project and share with RPB 
and PSBs 

 Incorporate good practices across the region 

 Respond to recommendations from national 
EYP board 

April 18   

 
Information, Advice and Assistance  
 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Further support and de-
velop DEWIS website so 
it becomes the ‘go to’ 
place for information on 

Dewis regional 
group 

Deliver the regional Dewis action plan and 
review progress annually 

April 18 TBC Number of hits 
on website 
Number of 
pages 

P
age 232



47 | P a g e  

 

 

support, advice and as-
sistance. 

populated 
Number of 
DEWIS 
authors 
trained 

Continue to support con-
sistent information dis-
semination and stake-
holder engagement 
through regional com-
munications group 

Regional 
Communication 
Group 

Regular newsletters April 18 TBC  

Use IAA performance 
management data to in-
form design of services 

Local Authorities Annual review of IAA data and development of 
annual report 

April 18 TBC  

To support further initia-
tives across the region 
that supports consisten-
cy of approach to IAA e.g. 
self-assessment exercis-
es, peer reviews 

Citizen Panel  Citizen Panel to review IAA across region 
once per year and identify recommendations 
for RPB 

 Develop RPB website 

April 18 and 
annually 

TBC  

To work with regional 
workforce managers and 
Social Care Wales to en-
sure that cultural change 
programmes are embed-
ded and on-going 

Workforce 
Development Board 
& Social Care 
Wales 

Deliver and review WFD board regional plan April 18 TBC  

 

New models, user led services and third sector working 
 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Work with Wales Wales Cooperative     

P
age 233



48 | P a g e  

 

 

Cooperative Centre to 
increase and support 
number of voluntary led 
services in local 
communities through 
‘Care to Co-operate’. 

Centre & Provider 
Forum 

 

Workforce Development 
 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Integration of care and 
support provision to key 
client  groups as set out 
in Part 9 of the Act and 
emphasised through 
RPBs Statements of Stra-
tegic Intent for older peo-
ple, children with com-
plex needs and carers, as 
well as strategy state-
ments for Mental Health 
and Learning Disability 
(including Autism) 

Workforce 
Development 
Regional Board 

Deliver WFD programme plan and review 
progress annually 
-breakdown of priorities to be added 

April 18 TBC TBC 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 234



49 | P a g e  

 

 

Advocacy 

 

(WHAT we are doing)  
Action 

(WHO)  
Partner 
Agencies 

(HOW)  
will we deliver 
 
 

(WHEN) 
Timescales 
/ 
Milestones  
 

Resources 
(including ICF 
projects)  

Progress 
measures 

Work with the Golden 
Thread Advocacy Pro-
gramme across the re-
gion through regional 
provider forum with focus 
on 
 

 Alignment of advoca-
cy provision to identi-
fied priorities across 
partner agencies 

 

 Joint approach to ad-
vocacy provision with 
third sector partners 
especially in promo-
tion of independent 
advocacy 

 
 

Golden Thread 
Advocacy 
Programme (GTAP) 
& Regional 
Provider Forum 

Deliver regional Advocacy programme with 

GTAP 

1. Establishing a Gwent Advocacy Commis-

sioners’ Group. 

2. Establishing a Gwent Advocacy Providers’ 

Forum. 

3. Progressing towards a regional approach to 

advocacy commissioning. 

4. Adopting a co-productive approach to advo-

cacy commissioning, including a multi-

stakeholder workshop in early 2018. 

5. Developing a strategic plan for advocacy 

commissioning in the region in 2019-2024, 

covering both IPA and wider forms of advo-

cacy 

April 2018 TBC TBC 

Support Children’s Ser-
vices joint commission-
ing of a single advocacy 
service 

HOCS NYAS Develop new service and review annually April 2018 TBC  

P
age 235



50 | P a g e  

 

 

 

Page 236



51 | P a g e  

 

 

Annexe 1 : Mapping of draft Area Plan priorities against draft local Well-being Plan priorities 
 

CORE THEME Outcome Priority Actions to be progressed 
through regional Area 
Plan 

Lead Partner 
(ship) 

BG 
 
31/01/18 

Caer 
 
18/12/17 

Mon 
 
15/01/18 

Newp 
 
14/02/18 

Torf 
 
7/1/18 

Children & 
Young People 

 To improve outcomes 
for children and 
young people with 
complex needs 
through earlier inter-
vention, community 
based support and 
placements closer to 
home 

 To ensure good men-
tal health and emo-
tional well-being for 
children young peo-
ple through effective 
partnership working 

 Support Children and 
Family Partnership 
Board’s review of local 
arrangements for chil-
dren with complex 
needs and delivery of 
work programme with 
a focus on Looked After 
Children. 

 Consistent models of 
practice and alignment 
of Welsh Government’s 
early intervention and 
preventative pro-
grammes  

 Develop and deliver a 
regional ACE action 
plan with a focus on 
earlier intervention and 
mental health support 
for children and young 
people through com-
munity based assets. 

Children and 
Families Board 

Best Start 
in Life 

Positive Start 
 
Early years 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ACEs 

Best possible 
start in life 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ACEs 
 
Childhood 
Obesity 
 
Well-being 
resilience 

Best possible 
start in life. 

Best Start 
 
 
Early years 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ACEs 
 
Childhood 
obesity 
 
Parenting 
 

Older People  To improve emotional 
well-being for older 
people by reducing 

 Develop place based 
approach ‘Care Closer 
to Home’ including 

Adult Strategic 
Partnership 

Age 
friendly 
communiti

Positive 
People 
 

 
 
 

People have 
access to 
stable homes 

Limit the 
impact of 
chronic 

P
age 237



52 | P a g e  

 

 

loneliness and social 
isolation with earlier 
intervention and 
community resilience   

 To improve outcomes 
for people living with 
dementia and their 
carers 

 Appropriate housing 
and accommodation 
for older people 

consistent delivery of 
community connectors 
across the region to re-
duce social isolation 

 Further develop ‘De-
mentia Friendly Com-
munities’ 

 Develop domiciliary 
care joint commission-
ing process with Na-
tional Commissioning 
Board and linked to 
Care Standards Social 
Improvement Wales 
‘Above and Beyond’ 
Report and the ‘Care 
and Support at Home’ 
Strategic Plan currently 
being developed by 
Care Council for Wales 

es prevention 
to address 
current and 
future health 
and well-
being 
challenges 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Care Closer 
to Home 

Respond to 
the challenges 
associated 
with 
demographic 
change 
 
Housing 
Intergeneratio
nal living 
 
Volunteering 
 
Community 
support 
 
Social 
prescribing 

in a 
sustainable 
supportive 
community 
 
Long and 
healthy lives 
for all  
 
Ensuring 
people feel 
safe in their 
communitie
s  
 
People feel 
part of their 
community 
and have a 
sense of 
belonging  

health 
conditions 
through 
supporting 
healthy 
lifestyles and 
enabling 
people to 
age well. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Care Closer 
to Home 

Health & 
physical 
disabled 
people 

 To support disabled 
people through an all 
age approach to live 
independently in ap-
propriate accommo-
dation and access 
community based 
services, including 
transport. 

 To help people re-
duce the risk of poor 
health and well-being 

 Implement ‘Care Closer 
to Home’ Strategy 

 Align with 5 local Well-
being Assessments re-
quired under Wellbeing 
of Future Generations 
Act and explore joint 
action planning for 
wider detriments to 
health 
 

Adult Strategic 
Partnership 

Healthy 
Lifestyle 
Choices 

Positive 
People 
physical and 
mental 
health and 
well-being 
needs 
 
programme 
volunteering 
maximising 
route to 

 Long and 
healthy lives 
for all equalise 
up health life 
expectancy 
and life 
expectancy 
and health 
inequalities). 

Limit the 
impact of 
chronic 
health 
conditions 
through 
supporting 
healthy 
lifestyles and 
enabling 
people to 
age well. 

P
age 238



53 | P a g e  

 

 

through earlier inter-
vention and commu-
nity support 

well-being 
 
prevention 
to address 
current and 
future well-
being 
challenges 

People with 
Learning 
Disabilities 
and Autism 
Spectrum 
Disorders 

 To support people 
with learning disabili-
ties to live inde-
pendently with access 
to early intervention 
services in the com-
munity; and greater 
public awareness and 
understanding of 
people with learning 
disabilities needs 

 To provide more 
timely diagnosis of 
Autistic Spectrum 
Disorder and access 
to support services 
and information and 
advice  

 Support Mental Health 
and Learning Disability 
Partnership Board re-
view Gwent Strategy 
for Adults with a Learn-
ing Disability 2012/17 
and set out key region-
al commissioning, inte-
gration actions  

 Local implementation 
of Welsh Strategic Ac-
tion Plan including de-
velopment of new In-
tegrated Autism Ser-
vice. 
 

Mental Health 
& Learning 
Disabilities 
Partnership 

     

Mental 
Health 

 Increased under-
standing and aware-
ness of mental health 
amongst the public to 
reduce stigma and 
help people to seek 
support earlier. 

 Review and align re-
gional strategies to To-
gether for Mental 
Health Delivery plan 

 Coordination of con-
sistent community 
based services such as 

Mental Health 
& Learning 
Disabilities 
Partnership 

 Positive 
People 
 
physical and 
mental 
health and 
well-being 

Emotional 
well-being for 
children and 
young people 

Participation 
in sports and 
physical 
activity is 
important for 
people’s 
physical and 

 

P
age 239



54 | P a g e  

 

 

 To improve emotional 
well-being and men-
tal health for adults 
and children through 
early intervention 
and community sup-
port. 

community connect-
ors/social prescribers 

 Multi-agency place 
based models which 
include wider partners 
such as Housing Asso-
ciations, employment 
support and communi-
ty programmes 

 Accurate Information, 
Advice and Assistance 
through DEWIS and 
Five Ways to Wellbeing 
 
 

needs 
 
programme 
volunteering 
maximising it 
as a route to 
personal 
well-being 

mental well-
being and 
resilience.  
 
Participation 
in arts, 
heritage and 
history is 
important for 
people’s well-
being.  
 

Sensory 
Impairment 
 

 Ensure people are 
supported through 
access to accurate in-
formation, assistance 
and  ‘rehabilitation’ 
where required 

 Improve emotional 
well-being especially 
through peer to peer 
support 

 Use good practice and 
effective pathways to 
develop regional com-
missioning principles 

 Ensure accurate, acces-
sible and timely Infor-
mation, Advice and As-
sistance through DEW-
IS and other means 

 Work in partnership 
with third sector to 
identify new models to 
support rehabilitation 
process and supply of 
low vision tools. 

 

Adult Strategic 
Partnership 

     

Carers who 
need support

 Support carers to care 
through flexible res-

 Coordination of con-
sistent community 

Carers Board      

P
age 240



55 | P a g e  

 

 

  pite, access to accu-
rate information, 
peer to peer support 
and effective care 
planning 

 Improve well-being of 
young carers and 
young adult carers 
through an increased 
public understanding 

based services such as 
community connect-
ors/social prescribers 
to identify and support 
carers 

 Review of medical 
prompting to better 
support carers 

 Accurate Information, 
Advice and Assistance 
through DEWIS and 
Five Ways to Wellbeing 

 Review of and align 
third sector commis-
sioning principles to 
support befriending for 
carers requiring sup-
port 

 Ensure that the imple-
mentation of the care 
closer to home strategy 
increases the commu-
nity level support for 
carers 

 Consistent commis-
sioning across health 
and social care to en-
sure equitable, region 
wide and effective 
models of carer sup-
port including flexible 
respite. 
 

P
age 241



56 | P a g e  

 

 

Violence 
against 
women 
domestic 
abuse and 
sexual 
violence 

 Provide earlier inter-
vention and safe-
guarding arrange-
ments to potential 
victims through ‘Ask 
and Act’ 

 Safeguard victims, 
including men, 
through effective 
partnership support  

 

 Implementation of ‘Ask 
and Act’ as part of 
Welsh Government pi-
lot. 

 Strategic alignment 
with VAWDASV Board, 
needs assessment and 
strategic plan. 

VAWDASV 
Board 

Safe 
communiti
es 
 

Positive 
Places 
 
Support our 
most 
disadvantage
d 
communities 
to be 
resilient, 
cohesive and 
enable them 
to help 
themselves 

 Ensuring 
people feel 
safe in their 
communitie
s  
 

Create safe, 
confident 
communities 
and promote 
community 
cohesion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annexe 2 : Common language across Area Plan and local Well-being Plans 
 

P
age 242



57 | P a g e  

 

 

Common Term Area Plan Well-being Plan(s) 

  Blaenau Gwent Caerphilly  Monmouthshire Newport  Torfaen 

National  Core Themes Well-being 
Goals 

Well-being 
Goals 

Well-being 
Goals 

Well-being Goals Well-being 
Goals 

Outcome 
Priority 
expressed in 
public speak 
 

Outcomes 
Priority 

Well-being 
Objectives 
Best Start 
Safe 
Communities 
Healthy 
lifestyles 
 

Well-being 
Objectives 
Positive Start, 
People and 
Place 

Well-being 
Objectives 
Best Start 
Demographic 
challenges 

Well-being 
Objectives 
Good place to live 
Skills  for work  
Empowered well-
being  
Healthy/safe/resilient 
environments  

& 
Emerging Priorities  

Well-being 
Objectives 
Best Start 
Healthy 
Lifestyles 
Mitigate 
poverty 

Primary 
Action 

High Level 
Action 

What do we 
need to do next 

High Level 
Action 

Delivering the 
solution 

What steps will we 
take (S,M, L) 

What we will do 
short, medium 
and long term 

Secondary 
Action 

The HOW 
actions 

What activity 
could look like 

    

Indicators Success 
Measures 

   How will we 
measure success 

 

 

P
age 243



G
adew

ir y dudalen hon yn w
ag yn fw

riadol

P
age 244



 

 
Population Needs Assessment report 

https://www.torfaen.gov.uk/en/HealthSocialCare/Strategies-Reports-
Legislation/Social-Services-and-Wellbeing-Act/Population-Needs-Assessment.aspx 
 

 

Regional Area Plan Consultation Questionnaire 

Social Services and Well-being Act  

The regional Area Plan is required under the Social Services and Well-being Act and 
sets out the joint priorities and actions for health, social care and the third sector for 
the next 3-5 years.  The priorities were identified through the regional Population 
Needs Assessment and sets out how partners needs to work together to improve 
outcomes for the population of ‘Gwent’.  The draft Area Plan does not contain all the 
actions required, as it will simply be too large, but focuses on priorities identified by 
citizens that require partnership working. 

1. Does the plan adequately reflect the shared ambition to create an integrated 
system of health, care and wellbeing across Gwent? 

YES      NO     

Comment 

 

2. Does the plan deal with the challenges of integrating services, aligning financial 
planning arrangements and placing people at the heart of everything we do? 

YES      NO     

Comment 

 

3. Are the measures of success clear? 

YES      NO     

Comment 

 

4. What do you think the main challenges around delivery are? 

YES      NO     

Comment 

 

 

5. What role will your organisation play in delivering the Plan and ensuring it remains 
a visible priority? 

YES      NO     

Comment 

 

6. Does the Area Plan include reference to sufficient legislation, national strategies 
and support a vision of service delivery under the SSWB Act? 

APPENDIX 2

Page 245

https://www.torfaen.gov.uk/en/HealthSocialCare/Strategies-Reports-Legislation/Social-Services-and-Wellbeing-Act/Population-Needs-Assessment.aspx
https://www.torfaen.gov.uk/en/HealthSocialCare/Strategies-Reports-Legislation/Social-Services-and-Wellbeing-Act/Population-Needs-Assessment.aspx


 

 
Population Needs Assessment report 

https://www.torfaen.gov.uk/en/HealthSocialCare/Strategies-Reports-
Legislation/Social-Services-and-Wellbeing-Act/Population-Needs-Assessment.aspx 
 

YES      NO     

Comment 

 

7. Do you have any comments on the look of the document? 

YES      NO     

Comment 

 

8. Do you have any further comments on the Area Plan? 

YES      NO     

Comment 

 

 

Please return questionnaire to claire.selmer@torfaen.gov.uk by Friday 9th February. 

 

Page 246

https://www.torfaen.gov.uk/en/HealthSocialCare/Strategies-Reports-Legislation/Social-Services-and-Wellbeing-Act/Population-Needs-Assessment.aspx
https://www.torfaen.gov.uk/en/HealthSocialCare/Strategies-Reports-Legislation/Social-Services-and-Wellbeing-Act/Population-Needs-Assessment.aspx
mailto:claire.selmer@torfaen.gov.uk


 

 
 

 

 
COUNCIL - 6TH MARCH 2018 

 
SUBJECT: PUBLICATION OF PAY POLICY STATEMENT - LOCALISM ACT 2011 
 
REPORT BY: ACTING HEAD OF HUMAN RESOURCES AND ORGANISATIONAL 

DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek approval from full Council for the publication of the Authority’s Pay Policy.  
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Localism Act 2011 requires Local Authorities to develop and make public their Pay Policy.  

This includes all aspects of Chief Officer Remuneration (including on ceasing to hold office), 
and also in relation to the “lowest paid” in the Council, explaining their Policy on the 
relationship between remuneration for Chief Officers and other groups.  

 
2.2 The provisions in the Localism Act 2011 which relate to Pay Policy statements only apply to 

employees directly appointed and managed by the Council.  Employees who are appointed 
and managed by school head teachers/Governing Bodies are, therefore, not required to be 
included within the scope of Pay Policy statements.  This reflects the unique employment 
legislation position whereby all schools employees are employed by the local authority, but 
decisions about the appointment and management of such employees are mostly discharged 
by head teachers/governing bodies, as appropriate.  

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 The report links to the efficient and effective management of the Council’s activities.  The 

remuneration of employees is an integral feature of our People Strategy and frameworks, and 
is a fundamental feature of the employment relationship. 

 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
 The Pay Policy Statement  
 
4.1 The Pay Policy Statement attached contains the full details of the remuneration position for 

the Council that it is required to publish under legislation. 
 
4.2 The Pay Policy will be published on the Council’s Website, and will be available for access by 

members of the public, press and interested pressure groups.  
 
4.3 It should be noted that the Pay Policy is required to be published on an annual basis, once 

accepted by Council.  There is a requirement under the Localism Act for this to be undertaken 
before the 31st March each year. 

Page 247

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 9



 
4.4 To meet the requirement to publish the statement by the 31 March 2018, the Pay Policy 

presented to Council includes salary details in place in February 2018.  National pay 
negotiations are still ongoing.  

 
4.5 The Hutton Review - “Review of Fair Pay in the Public Sector” (2010) – highlighted issues 

around Senior Pay, and the relativities with others in the organisation.  The policy statement 
publishes these relativities, and CCBC is well within the advisory guidelines provided.  The 
salary utilised for the Chief Executive calculations is the salary of the Interim Chief Executive, 
and not that of the substantive post holder. 

 
4.6 Members will be aware that the Council is currently a Living Wage Employer.  The previous 

Living Wage rate was £8.45 per hour as covered in last year’s Pay Policy.  With effect from 
the 1 November 2017 this rate increased to £8.75 per hour.  

 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 Having considered the five ways of working, payment of the Living Wage illustrates the 

Council’s commitment to the prevention of poverty. 
 
5.2 Long term, this should also support the Council’s ability to retain employees. 
 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no direct potential equalities implications of this report, as it is a statement of 

current arrangements; therefore no specific Equalities Impact Assessment has been 
undertaken.  Any previous changes to terms and conditions have been assessed for 
equalities issues, as have other reports relating to CCBC employee pay issues such as the 
Living Wage report. 

 
6.2 In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council will comply with 

all relevant employment legislation, including: 
 

• The Equality Act 2010, including the requirements specifically in relation to Equal Pay 
• Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000 
• The Agency Workers Regulations 2010 
• The Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006, where 

relevant;  
• The National Minimum Wage Act 1998. 

 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The pay award is still subject to agreement but the latest employer offer is a weighted average 

increase of 2.2% for both 2018/19 and 2019/20.  This latest offer will add £2.387m to the pay 
bill for the 2018/19 financial year with a risk still remaining that the offer will be rejected. 

 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The personnel implications arising from the Pay Policy statement and the measures proposed 

are outlined in the body of the report. 
 
 

Page 248



9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 All consultation responses have been reflected in this report.  
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Council is asked to agree the attached Pay Policy Statement (Version 7) for publication on the 

Council’s website. 
 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 To comply with the legislative requirements of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 Local Government Act 1972  
 Localism Act 2011  
 Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011  
 Local Government (Wales) Act 2015 
 The Council’s Constitution. 
 
 
Author: Lynne Donovan, Acting Head of Human Resources and Organisational 

Development 
Consultees: Corporate Management Team 

Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Corporate Finance 
Lisa Downey, Acting HR Service Manager 
Shaun Watkins, Acting HR Service Manager 
Cllr Colin Gordon, Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 
Cllr Barbara Jones, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Performance 
and Governance 

 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Pay Policy Statement – Version 7  
 

Page 249



 
 

Page 1 of 17 
 

 APPENDIX 1 
 

 
 

Pay Policy Statement 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 

Version: Version 7 

Policy Ratified by: Full Council 

Date: 6 March 2018 

Area Applicable: All Caerphilly employees (including Agency 
Workers) except School contracted employees.   

Review Year Financial Year 2018 - 19  

Impact Assessed Yes 

Page 250



 
 

Page 2 of 17 
 

INDEX 

CONTENT PAGE NUMBER 

1. Introduction & Purpose 
 

3 

2. Legislative Framework 
 

3 

3. Scope of the Pay Policy 
 

3 

4. Pay Structure and Arrangements 
 

4 

5. Chief Officer Remuneration 
 

6 

6. Publication 
 

8 

7. Pay Relativities within the Council 
 

8 

8. Accountability and Decision Making 
 

9 

9. Re-Employment 
 

9 

10. Reviewing the Policy 
 

9 

Appendix A  CCBC NJC Pay Structure  10 

Appendix B    Soulbury Pay Structure 11 

Appendix C   JNC Youth and Community Workers Pay Structure  13 

Appendix D   CCBC Senior Management Pay Structure (Hay) – JNC Staff 14 

Appendix E  All Employee Groups - Main Conditions of Service 15 

Appendix F – CCBC Election Fees 17 

  

Page 251



 
 

Page 3 of 17 
 

1. Introduction & Purpose  
 
1.1 Under Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972 the Council has the power “to appoint 

officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the Authority thinks fit”. This Pay Policy 
statement sets out Caerphilly CBC’s approach to Pay Policy in accordance with the 
requirements of Section 38 to 43 of the Localism Act 2011. This requires English and Welsh 
Local Authorities to produce and publish a Pay Policy Statement for 2012/2013 and for each 
financial year after that, detailing: 

  
a) The Council’s policies towards all aspects and elements of the remuneration of Chief 

Officers (Chief Officers are as defined in para 5.1 of this policy); 
b) The approach to the publication of, and access to, information relating to all aspects of 

the remuneration of Chief Officers; 
c) The Council’s policy on the remuneration of its lowest paid employees (including the 

definition adopted and reasons for it); 
d) The relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers and other employees. 

 
1.2 Guidance regarding these matters has been issued in Wales by the Minister for Local 

Government and Communities and, in accordance with section 40 (2) of the Act, Local 
Authorities in Wales must have regard to this Guidance when performing their functions in 
preparing and approving Pay Policy statements.   

 
1.3   This is an update to the previous Pay Policy statement first issued in June 2012, and last 

updated with Council approval on 7 March 2017. This statement will come into immediate 
effect once fully endorsed by Council at its meeting on the 6 March 2018.   

  
1.4 This pay policy statement needs to be placed in context. Caerphilly County Borough Council is 

a large complex organisation with a multi-million pound budget. CCBC for 2017/18 financial 
year has a workforce of almost 9,000 employees and a combined revenue and capital budget 
for 2017/2018 of nearly £600 million. We are in addition the largest single employer based in 
the County Borough.  

 
1.5 As an employer we have a very wide range of functions and are responsible for the provision of 

many essential services at a local level.  The general approach to employee remuneration 
levels may therefore differ from one group of employees to another to reflect specific 
circumstances at a local, Welsh or UK national level.  The approach also needs to be flexible 
when required to address a variety of changing circumstances, whether foreseeable or not.  

    
2. Legislative Framework 

 
2.1 In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council will comply with all 

relevant employment legislation.  This includes the Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment 
(Prevention of Less Favorable Treatment) Regulations 2000, The Agency Workers Regulations 
2010 and where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Earnings) Regulations.   

 
2.2 With regard to the Equal Pay requirements contained within the Equality Act 2010, the Council 

aims to ensure there is no pay discrimination within its pay structures and that all pay 
differentials can be objectively justified through the use of equality proofed Job Evaluation 
mechanisms which directly relate salaries to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of 
the role.   

 
3. Scope of the Pay Policy 
 
3.1 The Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to develop and make public their Pay Policy 

on all aspects of Chief Officer remuneration (including on ceasing to hold office), and also in 
relation to the “lowest paid” in the Council, explaining their Policy on the relationship between 
remuneration for Chief Officers and other groups.  

 
Page 252



 
 

Page 4 of 17 
 

3.2 The provisions in the Localism Act 2011 which relate to Pay Policy statements only apply to 
employees directly appointed and managed by the Council. Employees who are appointed and 
managed by school head teachers/Governing Bodies are, therefore, not required to be included 
within the scope of Pay Policy statements. This reflects the unique employment legislation 
position whereby all schools employees are employed by the local authority but decisions 
about the appointment and management of such employees are mostly discharged by head 
teachers/governing bodies, as appropriate. 

 
4. Pay Structure and Arrangements  
 
4.1 Caerphilly utilizes the Greater London Provincial Job Evaluation process, and uses the 

nationally negotiated pay spine referred to as the National Joint Council (NJC) for Local 
Government Services, as the basis for its local grading structure. Our localised Pay & Grading 
structure was achieved through a collective agreement with the Trade Unions, and 
implemented with effect from the 1st of April 2009.  In terms of Chief Officers, the council uses 
the Hay Job Evaluation process which allows the posts to be effectively benchmarked against 
the internal and external markets, as approved by Cabinet in 2004.   This determines the 
salaries of the large majority of the non teaching workforce, together with the use of other 
nationally defined rates where relevant.   

 
4.2 The Council employs Chief Officers under Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) terms and 

conditions which are incorporated in their contracts. The JNC for Chief Officers negotiates on 
national (UK) annual cost of living pay increases for this group, and any award of same is 
determined on this basis. Chief Officers employed under JNC terms and conditions are 
contractually entitled to any national JNC determined pay rises and this Council will therefore 
pay these as and when determined in accordance with current contractual requirements. 

 
4.3 The terms and conditions for Chief Executives are agreed by a separate body i.e. the Joint 

Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives, which also negotiates on a national basis.   
 
4.4 In addition to the NJC and JNC arrangements referred to above, the Council recognises other 

Nationally negotiated arrangements including National Pay Grades under the Soulbury 
Agreement and the National Pay Grades under the JNC for Youth & Community Workers. The 
details of these scales are contained in Appendices A – D.  

 
4.5 The Council also has in place local agreements achieved via collective agreements with the 

Trade Unions for these staff groups. 
 
4.6 New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant grade, although this 

can be varied where necessary, subject to the approval of Head of Service.  From time to time 
it may be necessary to take account of the external pay market in order to attract and retain 
employees with particular experience, skills and capacity.  Where necessary, the Council will 
ensure the requirement for such is objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent 
evidence of relevant market comparators, using appropriate data sources available from within 
and outside the local government sector and is incorporated in the Market Supplements Policy. 

 
 Pay Supplements 
 
4.7 All other pay related allowances are subject to either nationally or locally negotiated rates, that 

are determined in accordance with collective bargaining machinery and/or Council Policy.  In 
determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for all posts, the Council takes 
account of the need to ensure value for money against the ability to recruit and retain 
appropriately skilled and experienced employees that can deliver high quality services to the 
public. 
 

4.8 The Council has committed itself to being a Living Wage Employer. The previous Living Wage 
rate was £8.45 per hour as covered in last year’s Pay Policy. With effect from the 1 November 
2018 this rate was increased to £8.75 per hour. . The Council will therefore continue to pay the 

Page 253



 
 

Page 5 of 17 
 

difference between the relevant Spinal Column Point (NJC SCP’s 6 – 14 are affected) as a 
supplement. This supplement is included in the hourly rate as pensionable pay. This is 
demonstrated in the Council’s NJC Payscales as provided in Appendix A.   

 
  Honoraria / Acting Up arrangements 
 
4.9 Periodically individuals may be assigned temporary duties or responsibilities over and above 

their normal role. The Council operates its Acting Up and Honoraria Schemes to ensure that 
individuals are appropriately remunerated in accordance with the evaluation policy that applies 
to their terms and conditions.  

 
 Early Retirement, Voluntary Severance & Redundancy 
 
4.10 The Council has agreed polices in relation to Early Retirement by Mutual Consent, 

Redundancy and Voluntary Severance.  Any cost to the Council for employees to leave its 
employment with unreduced access to pension (except for compulsory redundancy) must be 
agreed by the Pensions Compensation Committee i.e. the group of Elected Members with 
delegated powers to approve such payments.  The schemes are in accordance with 
Regulations 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006 and Regulations 12 and 13 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contribution) Regulations 2007.  All 
these Policies (except compulsory redundancy) are underpinned by the requirement for a 
robust business case which balances service delivery with cost and with Head of Service, 
Director, Section 151 Officer and Head of Human Resources and Organisational Development 
approval.  The Policies are all available on the HR Portal via the following links: 

 
 http://sc-aptdken1/KENTICO/Departments/HR/Policies-Procedures/Early-Retirement-By-

Mutual-Consent-On-The-Grounds.aspx 
 
 http://sc-aptdken1/KENTICO/Departments/HR/Policies-Procedures/Redundancy-Scheme.aspx 
 
 http://sc-aptdken1/KENTICO/Departments/HR/Policies-Procedures/Voluntary-Severance-

Scheme.aspx 
  
4.11 The Council is the major employer in the area. Indeed, a majority of the employees who work 

for the Council live within Caerphilly County Borough. As such, the Council must have regard to 
its role in improving the economic well-being of the people of the County Borough.  
 

4.12 The availability of good quality employment on reasonable terms and conditions and fair rates 
of pay has a beneficial impact on the quality of life in the community as well as on the local 
economy. The Council also has a role in setting a benchmark on pay and conditions for other 
employers in the area for the same reasons. 
 

4.13 The Council is committed to working in partnership with its recognised Trade Unions in relation 
to all pay and conditions of service matters. The 2009 Collective Agreement to achieve our 
New Pay & Grading Structure was achieved with the support of our Trade Union partners. We 
continue to review the impacts of the Medium Term Financial Plan on our workforce.  
 
Mileage 
 

4.14 The mileage rate is currently 45p per mile in accordance with the HMRC approved exempt 
amount. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 254

http://sc-aptdken1/KENTICO/Departments/HR/Policies-Procedures/Early-Retirement-By-Mutual-Consent-On-The-Grounds.aspx
http://sc-aptdken1/KENTICO/Departments/HR/Policies-Procedures/Early-Retirement-By-Mutual-Consent-On-The-Grounds.aspx
http://sc-aptdken1/KENTICO/Departments/HR/Policies-Procedures/Redundancy-Scheme.aspx
http://sc-aptdken1/KENTICO/Departments/HR/Policies-Procedures/Voluntary-Severance-Scheme.aspx
http://sc-aptdken1/KENTICO/Departments/HR/Policies-Procedures/Voluntary-Severance-Scheme.aspx


 
 

Page 6 of 17 
 

5. Chief Officer Remuneration 
 
5.1 Definitions of Chief Officer / Pay Levels 
 
5.1.1 For the purposes of this Pay Policy statement, “Chief Officers” are as defined within Section 43 

of the Localism Act.  The table below details the current numbers of Chief Officers: 
 

Post Title Number of 
posts 

Chief Executive 1 
Director 3 
Head of Service 16 

(10 x Grade A 
6 x Grade B) 

 
5.1.2 There is currently an interim arrangement in place relating to the post of Chief Executive, which 

is funded from the core revenue budgets for these posts.   There are also other Chief Officers 
in interim and acting arrangements and these are also funded from existing revenue budgets.   

 
5.1.3 Following the Council meeting on the 17 January 2013, the pay structure for Chief Officers is 

as follows:-  
 

•     The substantive Chief Executive Officer’s salary is set at a one off spot salary of 
£137,000, to remain frozen for the period of the current administration (May 2017). It 
should be noted that this payment is not in line with the official pay range for the role (see 
Appendix D), but it is in accordance with the decision made by full Council on 17 January 
2013. 

 
• It should be noted that the current Interim Chief Executive was appointed on the first 

increment point of the approved Chief Executive salary range as per Appendix D;  
 
• Corporate Directors - The salary of the posts falls within a range of four incremental 

points between £109,555 rising to a maximum of £121,727 per annum; 
 
• Heads of Service (Band A) - The salary of the posts fall within a range of four incremental 

points between £83,621 rising to a maximum of £92,912 per annum 
 
• Heads of Service (Band B) - The salary of the posts fall within a range of four incremental 

points between £64,612 rising to a maximum of £71,792 per annum 
 
• No bonus or performance-related pay mechanism is applicable to any Chief Officers’ pay.  
 
• The higher band A+ has not been used for the period of the previous  administration. The 

issue of Chief Officer pay has not been revisited in the lifetime of the previous 
administration  Any future proposal at any time would require a final decision by Full 
Council.   

 
5.2 Recruitment of Chief Officers 
 
5.2.1 The Council’s Policy and Procedures with regard to the recruitment of Chief Officers is 

contained within the Officer Employment Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of the Council’s 
Constitution. 

 
5.2.2 The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed Chief Officer will 

be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant Council policies in place at the time of 
recruitment.   

 

Page 255



 
 

Page 7 of 17 
 

5.2.3 Where the Council is unable to recruit a Chief Officer under a contract of service, or there is a 
need for support for a specific project or to provide cover for a vacant substantive Chief Officer 
post, the Council will, where necessary, consider engaging individuals under “contracts for 
service”. These will be sourced through a relevant procurement process (in accordance with 
standing orders and financial regulations), ensuring the Council is able to demonstrate value 
for money from competition in securing the relevant service. There are however no current 
examples of this arrangement. 
 

5.2.4 Welsh Government recommends in addition to agreeing the parameters for setting the pay of 
chief officers, full Council should be offered the opportunity to vote on large salary packages 
that are to be offered in respect of new appointments in accordance with their agreed pay 
policy statements.  The Welsh Ministers consider £100,000 is the right level for that threshold.  
 

5.2.5 For this purpose, salary packages should be consistent with the categories defined for 
remuneration in the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014.  This will include salary, 
bonuses, fees, allowances routinely payable, any expenses allowance chargeable to UK 
income tax, the relevant authorities’ contribution to the officer’s pension and any other benefits 
in kind to which the officer is entitled as a result of their employment. 
 

5.2.6 There is a requirement to specifically consult the Independent Remuneration Panel on any 
future changes to the salary of the Head Of Paid Service (in our case Chief Executive) that is  
‘not commensurate with a change to the salaries of the authorities other staff’. The Council is 
then required to give due regard to their recommendations on the salary of the Head of Paid 
Service prior to considering any changes. 

 
5.3 Additions to Salary of Chief Officers 
 
5.3.1 In addition to basic salary, set out below are details of other elements of Chief Officer 

remuneration: 
 

• The Council pays a standard mileage rate of 45p pence per mile to Chief Officers 
(consistent with all other employees) with effect from the 1 July 2015, where the Chief 
Officer uses his or her private vehicle on Council business. The Council also reimburses 
any other reasonable expenses, incurred by the Chief Officer on behalf of the Council 
whilst on Council business, on production of receipts and in accordance with JNC 
conditions and other local conditions 

 
• The cost of registration with a regulatory body if there is a requirement to be registered in 

order to practice and undertake their specific job role.  This currently only applies to the 
post of Head of Legal Services. 

 
5.3.2 The Council has a statutory duty to appoint a Returning Officer for specified Elections and 

Referenda. The post of Chief Executive holds responsibility to be the Returning Officer for the 
Council for all Elections held within the County Borough.  The Returning Officer is personally 
responsible for a wide range of functions in relation to the conduct of Elections and Referenda 
and is paid for discharging these functions in accordance with prescribed fees. The prescribed 
fees for Caerphilly County Borough Elections are attached in Appendix F. Fees for other 
organisation's elections are not determined by or paid for by the Council. e.g. the Welsh 
Government set the fees for their election etc. All the Returning Officer's payments in any 
election are publicised as part of the council accounts on an annual basis.     
 

5.4 Payments on Termination 
 
5.4.1 The Council’s approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination of employment 

of Chief Officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is set out within its policy statement 
in accordance with Regulations 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early Termination of 
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006 [and if adopted] Regulations 12 
and 13 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contribution) 

Page 256



 
 

Page 8 of 17 
 

Regulations 2007.  For clarity the Authority does not provide any augmentation (“added years”) 
of pension, in its payments on termination. 

 
5.4.2 Any other payments falling outside the provisions or the relevant periods of contractual notice 

shall be subject to a formal decision made in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation as 
contained within the Council’s Constitution. 

 
5.4.3 Full Council will be required to approve any severance package in excess of the current 

threshold determined by Welsh Ministers at £100,000. Members will be advised of any 
contractual or statutory elements of the severance package, along with the consequences of 
withholding these from an employment law context. 

 
6. Publication 
 
6.1 This is an update of the Pay Policy Statement. This statement will come into effect, once fully 

endorsed by Council in March 2017.  
 
6.2 In addition, the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 require the Authority to disclose 

the following information in respect of remuneration in its annual Statement of Accounts: 
 

• The number of employees whose remuneration, excluding pension contributions, was 
greater than £60,000 

 
• The remuneration and the components of remuneration for statutory chief officers and 

designated head of paid service who have responsibility for the management of the 
Authority 

 
• The total number and cost of exit packages 
 
• The remuneration ratio between the Chief Executive and the median remuneration of all 

employees. 
 
7. Pay Relativities within the Council 
 
7.1 The “lowest paid” persons employed under a contract of employment with the Council are 

employed at the new Living Wage (Foundation) rate of £8.75 per hour. All roles within our 
grading structure previously paid in accordance with the spinal column point 6 (SCP 6) to 
spinal column point 14 (SCP 14) of the NJC pay spine for Local Government Services 
employees, receive a supplement to make the rate £8.75 per hour.  As at 1 November 2017, 
this is £16,881 (Full Time Equivalent Earnings) per annum for a 37 hour standard working 
week. 
 

7.2 The relationship between the rate of pay for the “lowest paid” employees and the Council’s 
Chief Officers is regulated by the processes used for determining pay and grading structures 
as set out in this Pay Policy Statement.  

 
7.3 The statutory guidance under the Localism Act recommends the use of pay multiples as a 

means of measuring the relationship between pay rates across the workforce and that of senior 
managers, as included within the Hutton “Review of Fair Pay in the Public Sector” (2010).  

 
7.4 Will Hutton was asked by the UK Government to explore the case for a fixed limit on dispersion 

of pay through a requirement that no public sector manager can earn more than 20 times the 
lowest paid person in the organization. Hutton concluded that the relationship to median 
earnings was a more relevant measure and the Government’s Code of Recommended 
Practice on Data Transparency recommends the publication of the ratio between the highest 
rate of pay and the median average pay of the whole of the Council’s workforce (but excluding 
teachers and other employees appointed and managed by schools, in the case of local 
authorities).  

Page 257



 
 

Page 9 of 17 
 

 
7.5 The salary utilised for the Chief Executive calculations of all the pay multiple data is £143,949 

i.e. the salary of the Interim Chief Executive.  
 
Pay Multiple Data 
 
The data for the Authority is contained in the table below: 
 
Salary Multiple Ratio 
the multiple between the annual salary of the lowest paid Council employee 
and the Chief Executive (full-time equivalent basis) as a ratio 1 : 8.53 

the multiple between the annual salary of the lowest paid Council employee 
and the average Chief Officer (full-time equivalent basis) as a ratio 1: 5.50 

the multiple between median earning of Council employees and the Chief 
Executive (full-time equivalent basis) as a ratio 1 : 7.15  

the multiple between median earning of Council employees and the average 
Chief Officer (fulltime equivalent basis) as a ratio 1 : 4.61 

 
7.6 As part of its overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay markets, both 

within and outside the sector, the Council will use available salary benchmarking information as 
appropriate.  
 

8. Accountability and Decision Making 
 
8.1 In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Chief Executive is responsible for 

decision-making in relation to the recruitment, pay (apart from those detailed in 8.2), conditions 
of service and severance arrangements for all employees of the Council, except Teachers, as 
their main pay and conditions of service are determined on a legislative basis by the UK 
Government. 

 
8.2 The Council will set remuneration for the Chief Executive and Chief Officers (as defined in 

paragraph 5.1.2).    
 
8.3 The Council has established a delegated Sub Committee i.e. the Pensions Compensation 

Committee, to consider any requests by employees to leave the employment of the Council  
with unreduced access to pension with a cost to the Council (except compulsory redundancy), 
that are supported by the agreed business case process. 

 
9. Re-Employment 
 
9.1 It has been the Council’s custom that no Chief Officer, or any other employee, who leaves the 

employment of the Council on the grounds of early retirement, severance or voluntary 
redundancy will be later re-employed as an employee of the Council or contracted under a 
“contract of service” (as per 5.2.3), without the express permission of the Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for HR and Governance. Where the re-employment is 
regarding the post of the Chief Executive or a Chief Officer (as defined in paragraph 5.1.1), this 
decision will require full council approval. 

 
9.2 An exception to this occurs where an employee leaves under an agreed Flexible Retirement 

arrangement, where their ongoing employment is approved as part of the business case for 
release of accrued pension benefits. 

 
10. Reviewing the Policy 
 
10.1 This Pay Policy outlines the current position in respect of pay and reward within the Council 

and it will be reviewed at least annually, and reported to the full Council, to ensure that it meets 
the principles of fairness, equality, accountability and value for money for the authority and its 
residents. 

Page 258



 
 

Page 10 of 17 
 

Appendix A  CCBC NJC Pay Structure – with effect from 1 April 2017 
 

GRADE 
STRUCTURE 

SCP  1st April 2017 
 

Hrly Rate Living 
Wage  

Living Wage 
Hourly Rate 

  Grade 1 6 £15014 £7.78 £16881 £8.75 

Grade 2 
  7 £15115 £7.83 £16881 £8.75 

  8 £15246 £7.90 £16881 £8.75 

Grade 3 

9 £15375 £7.97 £16881 £8.75 
  10 £15613 £8.09 £16881 £8.75 
  11 £15807 £8.19 £16881 £8.75 
  12 £16123 £8.36 £16881 £8.75 

Grade 4 

13 £16491 £8.55 £16881 £8.75 
  14 £16781 £8.70 £16881 £8.75 
  15 £17072 £8.85   
  16 £17419 £9.03   

Grade 5 

17 £17772 £9.21   
  18 £18070 £9.37   
  19 £18746 £9.72   
  20 £19430 £10.07   

Grade 6 

21 £20138 £10.44   
  22 £20661 £10.71   
  23 £21268 £11.02   
  24 £21962 £11.38   

Grade 7 

25 £22658 £11.74   
  26 £23398 £12.13   
  27 £24174 £12.53   
  28 £24964 £12.94   

Grade 8 

29 £25951 £13.45   
  30 £26822 £13.90   
  31 £27668 £14.34   
  32 £28485 £14.76   

Grade 9 

33 £29323 £15.20   
  34 £30153 £15.63   
  35 £30785 £15.96   
  36 £31601 £16.38   

Grade 10 

37 £32486 £16.84   
  38 £33437 £17.33   
  39 £34538 £17.90   
  40 £35444 £18.37   

Grade 11 

41 £36379 £18.86   
  42 £37306 £19.34   
  43 £38238 £19.82   
  44 £39177 £20.31   

Grade 12 

45 £40057 £20.76   
  46 £41025 £21.26   
  47 £41967 £21.75   
  48 £42899 £22.24   
  49 £43821 £22.71   

 
Notes: 
 
1. The Living Wage rate applies from the 1 November 2017. 
 

Page 259



 
 

Page 11 of 17 
 

2. Appendix B   Soulbury Pay Structure  
 

EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGISTS – SCALE A 
SPINE POINT 01/09/2017 

 
1 35,731 
2 37,545 
3 39,359 
4 41,171 
5 42,984 
6 44,797 
7 46,504 
8 48,211 
9 49,810* 
10 51,411* 
11 52,903* 

 
Notes: 
 
1. Pay scales to consist of 6 consecutive points, based on the duties and responsibilities attaching 

to posts and the need to recruit, retain and motivate staff. 
2. * Extension to scale to accommodate structured professional assessment points. 
 

SENIOR & PRINCIPAL EDUCATIONAL 
PSYCHOLOGISTS - SCALE B 

SPINE POINT 01/09/2017 
 

1 44,797 
2 46,504 
3 48,211* 
4 49,810 
5 51,411 
6 52,903 
7 53,516 
8 54,661 
9 55,795 
10 56,950 
11 58,081 
12 59,235 
13 60,409 
14 61,543** 
15 62,731** 
16 63,908** 
17 65,093** 
18 66,276** 

 
Notes: 
1. Pay scales to consist of not more than four consecutive points, based on the duties and 

responsibilities attaching to posts and the need to recruit, retain and motivate staff. 
2. * Normal minimum point for the Principal Educational Psychologist undertaking the full range of 

duties at this level. 
3. ** Extension to range to accommodate discretionary scale points and structured professional 

assessments 
4. Principals are paid on a 4 point scale 8 - 14 (this includes 3 spa points) 
 

Page 260



 
 

Page 12 of 17 
 

 
TRAINEE EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGISTS 

SPINE POINT 01/09/2017 
 

1 22,955 
2 24,636 
3 26,314 
4 27,996 
5 29,675 
6 31,355 

 
ASSISTANT EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGISTS 

SPINE POINT 01/09/2017 
 

1 28,218 
2 29,371 
3 30,523 
4 31,669 

 
EDUCATION IMPROVEMENT PROFESSSIONALS   

SPINE POINT 01/09/2017 
 

1 34,067 
2 35,287 
3 36,439 
4 37,606 
5 38,767 
6 39,928 
7 41,148 
8 42,321 
9 43,689 
10 44,908 
11 46,112 
12 47,277 
13 48,597 
14 49,773 
15 51,073 
16 52,248 
17 53,426 
18 54,582 
19 55,775 
20 56,391 
21 57,575 
22 58,607 
23 59,744 
24 60,762 
25 61,851 
26 62,914 
27 64,001 
28 65,102 
29 66,207 
30 67,309 
31 68,402 
32 69,512 
33 70,623 
34 71,761 

Page 261



 
 

Page 13 of 17 
 

Appendix C   JNC Youth and Community Workers Pay Structure  
 
YOUTH AND COMMUNITY SUPPORT WORKER 

SPINE POINT 01/09/2017 
 

2 15,807 
3 16,417 
4 16,931 
5 17,491 
6 18,006 
7 18,634 
8 19,260 
9 20,055 
10 20,677 
11 21,682 
12 22,665 
13 23,679 
14 24,730 
15 25,446 
16 26,194 
17 26,929 

 
 

YOUTH AND COMMUNITY SUPPORT WORKER 
SPINE POINT 01/09/2017 

 
13 23,679 
14 24,730 
15 25,446 
16 26,194 
17 26,929 
18 27,670 
19 28,404 
20 29,141 
21 29,969 
22 30,907 
23 31,820 
24 32,737 
25 33,662 
26 34,585 
27 35,511 
28 36,446 
29 37,375 
30 38,304 
31 38,930 
32 39,961 

Page 262



 
 

Page 14 of 17 
 

Appendix D   CCBC Senior Management Pay Structure – JNC Staff –  
 with effect from 1 April 2017 

 
All of the levels in the grading structure are linked to their evaluation under the Job Evaluation 
deployed for Senior roles i.e. Hay. This currently comprises of the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief 
Executive & Directors posts, and 6 further bands from A+ to E.  Band A & B are Heads of Service and 
band C - E covers all other senior posts in the JNC arrangements.  
 

  Increment 1 Increment 2 Increment 3 Increment 4 

Chief Executive 143,949 149,275 154,602 159,944 

Deputy Chief Executive 121,647 126,148 130,650 135,163 

Director 109,555 113,609 117,661 121,727 

Band A+ Heads Of Service 93,324 96,777 100,230 103,694 

Band A - Heads Of Service 83,621 86,715 89,808 92,912 

Band B 64,612 67,003 69,394 71,792 

Band C 50,636 52,325 54,011 55,702 

Band D 44,912 46,410 47,909 49,403 

Band E 40,020 40,937 41,848 42,746 
 
In accordance with the decision of full Council on 17 January 2013: 
 
• there are no Officers employed currently in the Band A+ 
 
• the substantive Chief Executive will be employed on a spot salary of £137,000 for the duration 

of the previous administration (May 2017).    
 

Page 263



 
 

Page 15 of 17 

Appendix E  All Employee Groups - Main Conditions of Service  
 

ANNUAL LEAVE 
 

• Chief Executive & Directors 
(JNC) 

 

 
33 days pa (No access to flexi leave) 

 
• Chief Officers (JNC) 
• NJC 
• Soulbury 
 

 
28 days pa * 
24 days pa rising to 28 days after 5 years’ service. 
24 days pa rising to 28 days after 5 years’ service. 
 
Where relevant individual employees are members of the flexible 
working hours scheme, they are entitled to 6 days flexi leave per 
12 week period.  
 
*There are four officers  who have protected leave at 33 days pa 
 

 
• Youth & Community Workers 

 

 
24 days pa rising to 28 days after 5 years’ service. 
 

HOURS OF WORK 
 

• Chief Executive (JNC) 
• Chief Officers (JNC) 
• NJC 
• Soulbury 
• Youth & Community Workers 

 

 
Standard working week is 37 hours, unless contractually employed 
on set hours. 
 
 

OVERTIME PAYMENTS 
 

• Chief Executive (JNC / Hay) 
• Chief Officers (JNC / Hay) 
 

 
None 
 

 
• NJC 
• Soulbury 
• Youth and Community 

Workers 
 

 

 
All employees who are required to work additional hours beyond 
the 37 hour working week (or beyond their contracted working 
pattern that averages a 37 hour working week (e.g. rota/annualized 
hours) are entitled to receive enhancements at the rate of basic 
pay at time and a half except for Public and Extra Statutory 
holidays where basic pay at double time will be paid. 
 
Part-time employees are entitled to these enhancements only at 
times and in circumstances in which full-time employees would 
qualify. Otherwise a part-time employee shall work a full working 
week (i.e. 37 hours) before these enhancements apply. 
 
Employees required to work on an a Public and / or extra bank 
holiday as part of their normal working week shall, in addition to 
the normal pay for that day, be paid at plain time for all hours 
worked and will, in addition, receive a day’s leave in leave in lieu 
on each day. 
 
Employees required to work on a Public or extra bank holiday on 

Page 264



 
 

Page 16 of 17 

their rest day shall be paid at double time for all hours worked and 
will, in addition, receive a day’s leave in lieu on each day. 
 

SICK PAY SCHEME 
 

• Chief Executive (JNC / Hay) 
• Chief Officers (JNC / Hay) 
• NJC 
• Soulbury 
• Youth & Community Workers 
 

 
During 1st year of service – 1 month’s full pay and (after completing 
4 months service), 2 months half pay. 
 
During 2nd year of service – 2 months full pay and 2 months half 
pay. 
 
During 3rd year of service – 4 months full pay and 4 months half 
pay. 
 
During 4th and 5th year of service – 5 months full pay and 5 months 
half pay. 
 
After 5 years’ service – 6 months full pay and 6 months half pay. 
 

 

Page 265



 
 

Page 17 of 17 

Appendix F 

CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL  -  LOCAL ELECTION FEES  
 
 
A) RETURNING OFFICERS FEE 
 

For conducting the Election(s) giving the prescribed Notices, preparing and supplying Nomination papers, 
deciding on validity, appointing and remunerating staff, arranging and / or conducting the Poll, conducting 
the Count, declaring the result(s), making all necessary returns and generally performing all the duties 
which a Returning Officer is required to do under the Representation of the People Acts and Regulations – 
including all payments, disbursements and expenses as may be necessary. 

 
 
1) CONTESTED ELECTIONS                1/4/2017         
 
 For each Electoral Division / Community Ward        £ 
 
 For each 1000 Electors (or part)        81.55 
 
 For next 1000 Electors (or part)        46.39 
 
 For every subsequent 250 Electors (or part)       15.67 
 
 
2) UNCONTESTED ELECTIONS 
 
 For each uncontested Division / Ward       73.92 
 
 
3) POSTAL VOTES – (Supervision)* to be paid to DRO and or Asst. DRO’s 
 

*NB – in this event no fee should be claimed by the DRO or Asst. DRO’s from the clerical fund 
for these duties. 

 
Issue (for each paper)                  0.32p 
   (minimum per Division / Ward)     (24.72) 
   (minimum per casual vacancy)     (71.41) 
 
Receipt (for each paper)                 0.32p 
   (minimum per Division / Ward)     (24.48) 
   (minimum per casual vacancy)     (72.12) 

 
 
4) POLL CARDS (Supervision)*  to be paid to DRO and or Asst. DRO as above 
 
 Per 1000 or part issued          29.87 
    (minimum per casual vacancy)     42.24 
 
 

Page 266



 

 
 

 

 

COUNCIL – 6TH MARCH 2018 
 

SUBJECT: QUESTION(S) RECEIVED UNDER RULE OF PROCEDURE 10(2)  
 
REPORT BY: INTERIM HEAD OF LEGAL SERVICES AND MONITORING OFFICER  
 

 

1. ASBESTOS WITHIN PONTLLANFRAITH COUNCIL OFFICES 
 
 To the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and the Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood 

Services from Councillor G. Simmonds.   
 
 To ask the Cabinet Members 

 
 1.  If Caerphilly Council is to establish a compensation scheme to deal with any asbestos 

related claims for compensation arising from the admission of Pontllanfraith Council offices 
“being riddled with asbestos” from memory the building was built in 1972 so exposures in 
excess of forty years working in an asbestos riddled work environment is not unthinkable? 

 
2. Is Caerphilly Council to establish a screening programme for employees who worked in 

Pontllanfraith Council offices? 
 
3.    When did Caerphilly Council become aware of the Pontllanfraith Council Offices were 

riddled with asbestos, Please list the frequency of checks carried out on the Pontllanfraith 
offices? 

 
4. For mesothelioma, it may take 40 years. Generally, asbestosis takes between 15 to 20 

years to show up on a chest x-ray. The most common symptoms of asbestos-
related lung disease are shortness of breath and coughing. The symptoms may be 
mild to severe, depending on the extent of the scarring. 
(www.workerhealth.org/asbestosreldisease.html) Is Caerphilly aware of any cases or 
pending cases of asbestos related claims for compensation against Caerphilly Council? 

 
5. In view of the claim the Pontllanfraith Council offices were closed due to cost running into 

hundreds of thousands of pounds to make safe, has Caerphilly’s insurers been made 
aware that potentially harmful work environments were tolerated because of cost 
pressures. 

 
6.    Is it the case vulnerable people were seen as more important than employees of Caerphilly 

Council and were our employees made aware of the potential risk to their health and future 
health? 

Page 267

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 10

http://www.workerhealth.org/asbestosreldisease.html


 
2. ASBESTOS WITHIN CAERPHILY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL LEISURE CENTRES 
 
 To the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and the Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood 

Services from Councillor A. Farina-Childs.   
 
 To ask the Cabinet Members 

1.   Have any surveys been undertaken into the presence of asbestos in Caerphilly’s Leisure  
Centres? 

 
2.   If so when were the surveys last undertaken? 
 
3.   Please can you list any Leisure Centres found to have asbestos present?  
 
4.   Have any condition surveys been undertaken on Caerphilly’s Leisure Centres? 
 
5.   If so when were the surveys last undertaken? 
 
Please can these findings be made available to Council together with any costs necessary to 
bring each Leisure Centre up to an acceptable standard?   

 
 
3.  PWLL-Y-PANT ROUNDABOUT 

 
To the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economy, Infrastructure and Sustainability from 
Councillor Kevin Etheridge. 
 
1. To ask the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member when the traffic impact assessment, 

feasibility study and cost benefit analysis was undertaken on the Pwll-y-Pant Roundabout 
and its impact and provide a summary of the conclusions. 

  
2. To ask the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member to provide a breakdown of the cost in 

regard to the original tender, who undertook the valuation of the work with details of the 
consultation procedures prior to the commencement of the work, and the original and 
current timescales involved. 

 
 

Page 268


	Agenda
	5 Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 23ain Ionawr 2018.
	6 Diwygiadau i Awdurdodi swyddogion o fewn Is-adran Diogelu’r Cyhoedd - Cabinet 31ain Ionawr 2018.
	Amendments to Authorisation of Officers within the Public Protection Division
	COUNCIL - 6TH march 2018
	SUBJECT: AMENDMENTS TO AUTHORISATION OF OFFICERS WITHIN THE PUBLIC PROTECTION DIVISION
	REPORT BY: ACTING DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES AND SECTION 151 OFFICER

	Amendments to Authorisation of Officers within the Public Protection Division App 1

	7 Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Caerffili - Cynllun Lles 2018-2023.
	Wellbeing Plan
	Wellbeing Plan
	Wellbeing Plan App 1
	Wellbeing Plan App 2
	Wellbeing Plan App 3
	Wellbeing Plan App 4
	Wellbeing Plan App 5
	Wellbeing Plan App 6
	Wellbeing Plan App 7
	Wellbeing Plan App 8


	8 Cynllun Ardal Ranbarthol Drafft.
	Area Plan DRAFT 4
	Area Plan questionnaire

	9 Cyhoeddi Datganiad Polisi Talu - Deddf Lleoliaeth 2011.
	Publication of Pay Policy Statement - Localism Act 2011
	COUNCIL - 6TH march 2018
	SUBJECT: publication of PAY POLICY statement - localism act 2011
	REPORT BY: ACTING HEAD OF HUMAN RESOURCES AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. LINKS TO STRATEGY
	4. THE REPORT
	5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	9. CONSULTATIONS
	10. RECOMMENDATIONS
	11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	12. STATUTORY POWER

	Publication of Pay Policy Statement - Localism Act 2011 App 1
	Pay Policy Statement
	1. Introduction & Purpose
	2. Legislative Framework
	3. Scope of the Pay Policy
	4. Pay Structure and Arrangements
	5. Chief Officer Remuneration
	6. Publication
	7. Pay Relativities within the Council
	8. Accountability and Decision Making
	9. Re-Employment
	10. Reviewing the Policy
	Appendix A  CCBC NJC Pay Structure 
	Appendix B    Soulbury Pay Structure
	Appendix C   JNC Youth and Community Workers Pay Structure 
	Appendix D   CCBC Senior Management Pay Structure (Hay) – JNC Staff
	Appendix E  All Employee Groups - Main Conditions of Service
	Appendix F – CCBC Election Fees
	1. Introduction & Purpose
	2. Legislative Framework
	3. Scope of the Pay Policy
	4. Pay Structure and Arrangements
	5. Chief Officer Remuneration
	6. Publication
	7. Pay Relativities within the Council
	8. Accountability and Decision Making
	9. Re-Employment
	10. Reviewing the Policy

	Appendix A  CCBC NJC Pay Structure – with effect from 1 April 2017
	2.  Appendix B   Soulbury Pay Structure
	Appendix C   JNC Youth and Community Workers Pay Structure
	Appendix D   CCBC Senior Management Pay Structure – JNC Staff –
	with effect from 1 April 2017
	Appendix E  All Employee Groups - Main Conditions of Service


	10 I dderbyn ac i ateb cwestiynau a dderbyniwyd o dan Reol Gweithdrefn 10 (2).



